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)
FINANCIAL SUMMARY
M E

2019 HIGHLIGHTS — = — (W &BE

NET ASSETS PER SHARE
BREEFE

+29.9-

3.5% increase from 2018
BT — \F EH3.5%

REVENUE

6,893

1.2% decrease from 2018

BT — \FTHE1.2%

2

DIVIDENDS PER SHARE
BRKE

rm$() E;E

71.4% decrease from 2018
BT \FTFET1.4%

TOTAL EQUITY
s

19,6427

3.3% increase from 2018

BT N\FL3.3%

PROFIT FOR THE YEAR
FEEF

HK$ million
BET ARNINGS ,
28.0% decrease from 2018 SREN

BT \ETFE28.0% % v! |l"
i) .nl

TOTAL EMPLOYEE NUMBERS
HBETAY

full time staff 4 000
FRHET 7

2018: 4,000

CHEVALIER INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS LIMITED | ANNUAL REPORT 2019



FINANCIAL SUMMARY

HBEHRE

¥

RIBUTABLE TO SHAREHOLDERS OF THE COMPANY
- ADRRRREMSER

REVENUE
LGN

(HK$ million B¥ B & L)

6,893 6,980

5,638
4,759 I
17 16

Year &1

4 19 18
Year Efﬁ

T

MJ ﬁ

EARNINGS AND DIVIDENDS PER SHARE
FRE N R K E

(HKS$ &%)

SHAREHOLDERS' FUNDS
BREE

(HK$ million &% 5 &)

: 9,021 g 733
: : : 7969 7750 7889
19 18 17 16 15
Year 15
[ Earnings 2% @ Dividends %8
19 18 17 16 15

Year 17
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FINANCIAL SUMMARY
HMBEHE

SEGMENT REVENUE 7% WA

7% 6%

27%
30%

45% 45%

9%

1% 6%
1% 12% 1%

SEGMENT PROFIT/(LOSS) 2 %%,/ (&#8)

2019 2018

166 128 115 57

269 279
[ J [ ]
200 18
[ ] [ ]
[ J ([ J
[ J ([ J
N (HK$ million S# B &) (HKS$ million # B ET)
@ Construction and engineering @ Healthcare investment ©® Subsidiaries
BEREWIRE RIGERIRE B & X 7]
@® Property investment © Car dealership @ Associates and joint ventures
MERE BRI BE AR REERE
@ Property development and operations ® Others
MEERLEE Hith
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FINANCIAL SUMMARY
HMEBE

The following is a summary of the total assets, total liabilities, results and other financial information of Chevalier
International Holdings Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (together, the “Group”) as of year ended 31 March
for the last five years.

T RELEBREBERAR([ARAD REMBAR (5HE [ AEE ) RBERFRABE=A=T—"BILFE BEE -
BBE FENHGBHBERE -

Financial Information (HK$ million) H#&X (B¥BER)
Total assets BEE 17,093 16,105 15,064 14,520 15,329
Total liabilities RaE 7,451 6,769 6,561 6,282 6,930
Total equity BiEn 9,642 9,336 8,503 8,238 8,399
Non-controlling HERER 621 603 534 488 510
Shareholders’ funds REED 9,021 8,733 7,969 7,750 7,889
Share capital e
—in number (million) -¥E8 (BBR) 302 302 302 302 300
— in value (HK$1.25 per share) —ZE(SlRE%1.257) 377 377 377 377 375
Revenue WA 6,893 6,980 4,759 5,538 5,013
Profit attributable to shareholders RRRIREE
of the Company JE ks 7l 655 908 540 315 1,637
Per Share Basis (HK$) BRFE(BY)
Earnings - basic B -EK 217 3.01 1.79 1.05 5.21
Dividends g8 0.50 1.75 0.60 0.70 1.20
Net assets value BEFE
- excluding non-controlling interests ~ — ANEIEIEIEIRIES 29.9 28.9 26.4 25.7 26.3

2019 2018
—F-NF —F)\F
HK$ million HK$ million
BEEETL BB BT
Segment Revenue” aEBRA
® Construction and engineering SR N M T AR 4,262 4,175
® Property investment MERE 140 136
® Property development and operations YIEB R N EE 1,021 1,105
® Healthcare investment (REEEIRIRE 866 598
Car dealership VRE IR 2,595 2,754
Others Eib 679 533
Total it 9,563 9,301
Segment Profit/(Loss)" 2EBRA,(EE)"
® Construction and engineering RN T2 294 172
© Property investment MERE 269 279
® Property development and operations MEHENEE 218 859
® Healthcare investment REEEEIRE 144 3
Car dealership HERIE (10) 5
Others Hib 47 73
Total B 962 1,391
* Included share of revenue/results of associates and joint ventures

BEMABEARRAEREZIA T HEE
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CORPORATE INFORMATION

CHAIRMAN EMERITUS
The late Dr. CHOW Yei Ching

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. KUOK Hoi Sang (Chairman and Managing Director)
Mr. TAM Kwok Wing (Deputy Managing Director)

Mr. HO Chung Leung

Mr. MA Chi Wing

Miss Lily CHOW

NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS
Dr. KO Chan Gock, William
Mr. CHOW Vee Tsung, Oscar

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS
Mr. YANG Chuen Liang, Charles

Professor POON Chung Kwong

Mr. Irons SZE

Mr. SUN Leland Li Hsun

SECRETARY
Mr. MUI Chin Leung

AUDITOR

PricewaterhouseCoopers

Certified Public Accountants, Hong Kong
22nd Floor, Prince’s Building

Central, Hong Kong

PRINCIPAL BANKERS

Berkadia Commercial Mortgage LLC

Capital One, National Association

Chong Hing Bank Limited

DBS Bank Ltd., Hong Kong Branch

Hang Seng Bank Limited

The Bank of East Asia, Limited

The Hongkong and Shanghai Banking Corporation Limited
Shanghai Commercial Bank Limited

SOLICITORS
Appleby

Deacons

Mayer Brown JSM
Robertsons

REGISTERED OFFICE
Victoria Place, 5th Floor
31 Victoria Street
Hamilton HM 10
Bermuda

REIR
E#EMEIE T

HITES

S Se (LR E FAATIE)
B S (B FATTE)

Al RS

BREREE

RN

FHITES
=EEEt
EHIESLE

BAFHITES
BEzEE
ERINH
B BEE

WE
BRRSEE

BN

&K EERTAN ST
BB EGETAD
EBPIR
AFRE-+=#

FEERBRIT

Berkadia Commercial Mortgage LLC

Capital One, National Association
BIERITAR A A
ERBITAERARBANTT
BAERITER AR
RIGRITBER AT

BB DBECRITARADA
LB RITARAR

e

RIBRAN BT
AT ERRDAT
FFETRETT
RN A E TSN

SR

Victoria Place, bth Floor
31 Victoria Street
Hamilton HM 10
Bermuda
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CORPORATE INFORMATION

EER

PRINCIPAL PLACE OF BUSINESS FTEEEME

22nd Floor, Chevalier Commercial Centre BE

8 Wang Hoi Road, Kowloon Bay B RFE )\

Hong Kong HErmFEh o+

Telephone: (852) 2318 1818 E5E ¢ (852) 2318 1818

Facsimile: (852) 2757 5138 {EE : (852) 2757 5138

PRINCIPAL SHARE REGISTRAR AND FERBBE

TRANSFER AGENT BB

MUFG Fund Services (Bermuda) Limited MUFG Fund Services (Bermuda) Limited

4th Floor 4th Floor

North Cedar House North Cedar House

41 Cedar Avenue 41 Cedar Avenue

Hamilton HM 12 Hamilton HM 12

Bermuda Bermuda

BRANCH SHARE REGISTRAR AND ERERBBE

TRANSFER OFFICE IN HONG KONG BRDE

Tricor Standard Limited BERERRAT

Level 54, Hopewell Centre BEREFRER—N\=9%

183 Queen’s Road East, Hong Kong AR OTE I

SHARE LISTING R L

The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited BEBBAERZBRAF

Stock Code: 25 &SR 25

WEBSITE Mt

http://www.chevalier.com http://www.chevalier.com
FINANCIAL CALENDAR Bt i A&
Announcement of Results EF-@NiH
Interim Results 29 November 2018 rhEREAE —=2—\E+—A=+hH
Final Results 26 June 2019 REAZESE —E-NFAAZ+NH
Book Close Dates BB F A
Interim Dividend 17 December 2018 rh HARR & - N\Ft+=-A++tH
Annual General Meeting 22 to 28 August 2019 RERE RS —E-AFENA-+=-HZ=-1+/\H
Final Dividend 5to 11 September 2019 FREARZ B —E-NFhARHE=+—H
Annual General Meeting 28 August 2019 BEAEAS —E-hAENAZFTNH
Payment of Dividends RERE
Interim dividend of 21 December 2018 o ERRR B —E2—\&E+=-_A=+—H

HK$0.15 per share A 0.157T
Final dividend of 18 September 2019 R EARS B —E-NFhA+N\H
HK$0.35 per share SR AR 0.35 7T
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LETTER TO SHAREHOLDERS
AR R 2 R

Dear Shareholders,

| am pleased to report that the Group recorded a healthy profit
growth during the year under review.

In the past year, Hong Kong has become even more connected
with the surrounding cities immediately across the borders, and the
Guangdong-Hong Kong-Macao Greater Bay Area (the "GBA") has
continued to be one of the hottest topics in town. The integration
plan of Hong Kong, Macau and nine cities in the GBA will further
facilitate the flow of people, logistics and capital within GBA, hence
the need for comfortable living accommodations will not cease and
housing will continue to be in high demand in the long run to cater
for Hong Kong's role in the GBA. This special role that Hong Kong
plays in the GBA is likely to offset any complex and volatile element
and help Hong Kong to continue to grow.

Under the 2018 Policy Address announced by the Chief Executive,
the Government of the Hong Kong Special Administrative Region
(the "HKSAR") has targeted to increase land and housing supply. In
addition, the Long-Term Housing Strategy Annual Progress Report
2018 has also given strategic directions to solve the shortage of land
supply and ease the housing problem by providing more public rental
housing and steadily increasing land supply. Meanwhile, in order
to enhance the safety level of aged lifts and further safeguarding
public safety, the Government of the HKSAR has also launched
a HK$2.5 billion Lift Modernisation Subsidy Scheme to facilitate
building owners to expedite lift modernisation. Further, in light of
the need to rehabilitate ageing buildings in Hong Kong's urban area,
the likelihood of the ending of the current interest rate hike cycle
and also the general population’s ability to purchase real estate
has stabilized thereby sustaining home prices, there will be plenty
of opportunities for the Group's construction and engineering,
property investment and property development businesses. Being
in a healthy financial position and with expertise in all areas of
our businesses, | am confident that the Group will grasp suitable
opportunities as they arise.

One of the issues that does raise concern for not only the Group,
but for Hong Kong’s construction and engineering industry as a
whole, is that some of the large-scale public works projects have yet
to receive funding from the Finance Committee of the Legislative
Council of the HKSAR due to unforeseen circumstances. Players in
the construction industry including the Group do hope the Legislative
Council will expedite the approval process for granting the funding
for construction projects. The Group will in the meantime adopt a
prudent approach not only for private sector projects, but also when
tendering for projects from the Government of the HKSAR.
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The demand for healthcare services due to the growth in the ageing
population worldwide and the ever-increasing awareness in health
has not shown any sign of slowing down. The Group is confident
that our investment in healthcare business will contribute steady
income for the Group and we will capture any capital appreciation
of existing projects as and when opportunities arise. In addition, the
Group will also continue to seek investment opportunities in medical
office buildings which demand will continue to rise given the need
for outpatient healthcare services in the United States.

Looking ahead, although the investment atmosphere is full of
uncertainties in the coming year, with the driving forces from the
internal demand for properties in light of the GBA plan and the policy
of the Government of the HKSAR and the revitalisation of aged
buildings in Hong Kong, the Group is optimistic yet prudent, about
the potentials of Hong Kong's operating environment.

2018 was a sad year for the Group. We bade farewell to our founder
Dr. Chow Yei Ching in July, and then in October to our Independent
Non-Executive Director Ir. Dr. Chow Ming Kuen Joseph. Dr. Chow
Yei Ching's vision and untiring dedication laid the solid foundation
on which the Group thrives today, and Ir. Dr. Chow Ming Kuen
Joseph made much invaluable contributions in the 16 years he
was with us as an Independent Non-Executive Director. They have
both played important roles in leading the Group to where it stands
today. Chevalier Group will step into its 50th year next year. With a
professional and experienced management team and dedicated staff
member, we look forward to another wonderful year ahead.

On behalf of the Board, | wish to extend my sincere appreciation
to my fellow directors, our management and all employees of
the Group for their passion and professionalism, as well as to all
stakeholders for their unwavering support.

KUOK Hoi Sang
Chairman and Managing Director
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BEEER R

The Group's consolidated revenue was HK$6,893 million (2018:
HK$6,980 million), representing a slight decrease of 1% when
compared with the last financial year. Taking into account its share of
revenue in its associates and joint ventures, total segment revenue
was HK$9,563 million (2018: HK$9,301 million), representing an
increase of 3%. Excluding the one-off gains resulting from the
disposal of an interest in the Chengdu project and the disposal of
an interest in a wholly-owned subsidiary in Hong Kong in the last
financial year, profit for the year ended 31 March 2019 reported a
healthy increase of 67% to HK$699 million. Profit attributable to the
Company's shareholders for the year ended 31 March 2019 was
HK$655 million (2018: HK$908 million), and earnings per share was
HK$2.17 (2018: HK$3.01).

CONSTRUCTION AND ENGINEERING

The Construction and Engineering segment’s revenue for the year
ended 31 March 2019 recorded a slight increase of 2% to HK$4,262
million (2018: HK$4,175 million) while segment profit increased by
71% from HK$172 million to HK$294 million. The increase in profit
was mainly due to the increase in the profit contribution from the
Group's associates.

Private and public sectors projects remained as the core businesses
of our building construction division. Innovative construction
methods such as Building Information Modelling has been used
to enhance the productivity while the application of automation
technology like pre-fabricated parts or the Modular Integrated
Construction (MiC) has eased the setback caused by manpower
shortage in the industry. Through innovations and technologies, we
believe that the construction industry can save costs and improve
workforce productivity in the long-run.

Contribution from the electrical and mechanical engineering division
maintained steady growth in Hong Kong and Macau. The division
continued to secure major contracts from Galaxy Resort & Casino
at Cotai City, Macau for the provision of mechanical, electrical and
plumbing works during the year under review.

The aluminium windows and curtain walls division maintained
steady growth in profit during the year in spite of stretched labour
supply. This division will actively look for opportunities in both Hong
Kong and Australia in the coming year.

The building supply division experienced decrease in both revenue
and profit due to keen market competition during the year. This
division will continue to seek reliable suppliers to explore and expand
business opportunities.

The environmental engineering division reported loss during the year
due to the increase in labour cost. With seasoned experts in this
field, this division has formed joint ventures with partners in carrying
out sewage treatment and water treatment works projects for the
Drainage Services Department and Water Supplies Department,
respectively. Given there will be a number of large-scale sewage
and water treatment tenders to be issued by the Government of
the HKSAR in the coming financial year, it is expected that the
contribution performance of this division will turnaround in the
coming year.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

As a result of positive profit contribution from the associates
in Mainland China, the lift and escalator division recorded an
encouraging result during the year. With an increase in the
awareness of lift safety and the advocacy for rehabilitation of lifts
in ageing buildings in Hong Kong, it is anticipated that the demand
for the supply and installation of lifts and related equipment to
replace aged lifts under the Government Lift Modernisation Subsidy
Scheme will increase. The Group believes that it will bring plenty of
opportunities to this division in the coming years.

As at 31 March 2019, the total value of all outstanding construction
and engineering contracts of the Group’s subsidiaries amounted to
HK$5,885 million. Major contracts include:

1. Construction of the extension of Operating Theatre Block for
Tuen Mun Hospital, New Territories;

2. Construction of Commercial Development at A.l.L. 462 Yip Kan
Street & Wong Chuk Hang Road,;

3. Construction of Heated Swimming Pool at Morse Park;
4.  Upgrade of Kwun Tong Preliminary Treatment Works;

5. Mechanical and Electrical works for Galaxy Resort & Casino
Phase 3C Multi-Functional Hall Convention Complex and Hotel
at Cotai City, Macau;

6.  Design, supply and installation of tower and podium facade for
No. 3, A Kung Ngam Village Road, Shau Kei Wan, Hong Kong;
and

7. Supply of kitchen cabinets for residential units at Lohas Park 6,
Tseung Kwan O, New Territories.

PROPERTY INVESTMENT

The Property Investment segment primarily comprised of the
properties rental businesses in Hong Kong, Singapore and Mainland
China during the year under review. This segment experienced a
slight increase in revenue from HK$136 million to HK$140 million,
representing an increase of 3% while profit decreased by 4% from
HK$279 million to HK$269 million. The slight increase in revenue
was mainly attributable from the stable income arising from the
letting of the properties.

The Group acquired a property located at 1B and 1C Davis Street,
Hong Kong in the last financial year. The property comprises of
residential and commercial units and has a total gross floor area of
about 9,100 square feet. The property provided stable rental income
during the year and offers potential capital appreciation of the
properties to the Group. Subsequent to the financial year, the Group
disposed the property at the consideration of HK$280 million. The
transaction will be completed on or before 31 October 2019 subject
to the satisfaction of due diligence and other condition precedents.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

EHEE R

PROPERTY DEVELOPMENT AND OPERATIONS

During the year under review, the Property Development and
Operations segment recorded a decrease in both revenue and profit
by 8% from HK$1,105 million to HK$1,021 million and by 75% from
HK$859 million to HK$218 million. The decline of the results were
mainly due to (i) the exclusion of the one-off disposal of an interest in
the last year financial year the Chengdu project and a wholly-owned
subsidiary in Hong Kong, and (ii) the reduction in the recognition of
the sales of residential properties in Changchun.

“City Hub"” is a project of a development right granted to a 50-50
joint venture of the Group by Urban Renewal Authority (“URA")
for the redevelopment of the site located at Chi Kiang Street/Ha
Heung Road, To Kwa Wan, Kowloon. It is a 28-storey building which
comprises residential units and two-level shopping centre. Saleable
area of the residential units fall between 221 and 1,551 square
feet. Almost 90% of the total residential units have been sold since
the issuance of the Certificate of Compliance in January 2018. The
remaining residential units and shopping centre are open to market
for sale.

Foundation works of the redevelopment project jointly developed
by URA and the Group at 8 Fuk Chak Street, Tai Kok Tsui, Kowloon
was completed at the end of May 2019 and superstructure works
commenced in June 2019. Leased site area of this project is
approximately 8,300 square feet and the project will be developed
into small to medium sized residential units with gross floor area of
about 55,000 square feet and commercial area of 7,000 square feet.
The project is scheduled for completion by 2020/2021.

The Group commenced and completed relevant demolition work
at the redevelopment project located at 4 Tai Yip Street, Kowloon
during the year. The site was subsequently sold to Hong Kong
Baptist Hospital in April 2019 and the Group has since the disposal
been appointed as Project Manager for this project.

Demolition works of the redevelopment project at 292A-D Prince
Edward Road West, Homantin, Kowloon was completed during the
year under review. Foundation works commenced in April 2019.
Since the site is situated in an upmarket area in Kowloon, the Group
intends to redevelop it into a luxurious residential block with a total
gross floor area of approximately 39,200 square feet. The project is
expected to complete in 2021/2022.

Demolition works for the redevelopment project at 5 Hang Lok Lane,
Shatin completed in April 2019 and the Group plans to redevelop
this project into a luxurious residential development. The Group
believes that, in view of demands of the Hong Kong property market,
together with the Group’s past experience in real estate projects, the
acquisition represents a good opportunity for the Group to further
expand its property development business.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Units of "My Villa” in Beijing and units of Phase Il of “Chevalier
City” in Changchun remain for sale in the market during the year.
Construction work of Phase Ill of “Chevalier City"”, covering
approximately 100,000 square metres and providing about 1,100
residential units, commenced during the year. It is expected to
complete by 2020/2021.

The cold storage and logistics business maintained growth in both
its turnover and profit. The improvement in the occupancy rate of
two cold storage warehouses located in Kwai Chung led to the rise in
contribution from this division during the year under review. For the
logistics business, the Group will continue to focus on its cold chain
logistics business in international freight forwarding, and maintain
close co-operation with key account clients by providing additional
quality in-store service and all-in-one total logistics reefer service
solution to back those clients in facing the keen competitive and
demanding market.

HEALTHCARE INVESTMENT

This segment’s revenue experienced an increase by 45% from
HK$598 million to HK$866 million and an increase in profit from
HK$3 million to HK$144 million after taking into consideration the
transaction costs of the acquisition of various new investments in
this segment.

During the year, the Group completed the acquisition of 10 senior
housing properties with an aggregate of approximately 1,000 units.
As at 31 March 2019, the Group owned 35 senior housing facilities
across 6 states in the United States providing over 3,000 units or
beds covering a wide spectrum of independent living, assisted living,
memory care and skilled nursing services; which are in addition to
3 medical office buildings located in New York, Pennsylvania and
Rhode Island comprising a total gross floor area of approximately
428,000 square feet. In view of the expected rise in aged population
and increase in healthcare spending, the Group believes that
demand for senior housing facilities and medical office buildings will
continue to grow in the United States.

Leveraging on our experience in the healthcare business in the
United States, the Group has partnered with Mitsui & Company
(Hong Kong) Limited and Hong Kong-Macao Conference Limited,
to engage in the redevelopment of Ventria Residence in Happy
Valley, Hong Kong. Construction works are underway and the target
opening date of the residence is in 2021/2022.

CAR DEALERSHIP

During the year, revenue of this segment reported a slight decrease
by 6% from HK$2,754 million to HK$2,595 million. According to
the China Association of Automobile Manufacturers, China’s auto
sales negative growth rate in 2018 was 2.8%, making it the first
negative growth in the past 28 years. Adverse factors including
the Sino-US trade dispute, slowing macroeconomic growth, exit of
car purchase tax preferential policy, stock clearance of National V
Emission Standard vehicles in order to meet the implementation of
the National Six Emission Standards on 1 July 2019 and lack of tax
incentives for new energy vehicle buyers in Chengdu affected the
results of this segment.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

EHEE KD

In Chengdu, a group of companies which generates over 86%
revenue of this segment provides coverage of 6 import and domestic
car brands and operates a total of 12 4S shops. About 14,000 units
of cars were sold during the year putting us in a leading position in
Chengdu’s domestic car market.

In Canada, the overall performance of our two automobile
dealerships was also affected by the slowing of the macroeconomic
growth for the year under review. Our Canada team will continue to
explore opportunities for car dealership business.

OTHERS

During the year, segment revenue recorded an increase from
HK$533 million to HK$679 million. Segment profit recorded
decrease of 36% from HK$73 million to HK$47 million. The decrease
of profit was mainly due to the decrease in the realised and
unrealised gain in investment.

The contribution of the Total Gross Premium Written of the
insurance maintained a steady increase during the year under
review, supported by expanding Employees’ Compensation
Insurance business with underwriting numerous construction
projects including the construction of Integrated Retail, Dining and
Entertainment Development in SKYCITY at Hong Kong International
Airport. The performance of the Employees’ Compensation
Insurance and Property Insurance maintained positive and continues
to contribute significantly to this segment’s revenue and profit.
To diversify the risks and to protect against extreme events, the
Group always reviews and ensures its reinsurance programs are
sufficient in meeting current and future situations. In the volatile
and competitive market in Hong Kong, the business will continue to
adopt a prudential underwriting approach and focus on building its
capability to ensure sustainable growth.
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CONSOLIDATED INCOME STATEMENT

Revenue

Revenue of the Group slightly decreased from HK$6,980 million
in the year 2017/18 to HK$6,893 million in the year 2018/19. The
decrease was mainly due to less revenue recognised from the sale
of residential units in the property development in Changchun but
partially offset by higher revenue recognised from the Healthcare
Investment segment.

Gross profit

Gross profit increased from HK$875 million in the year 2017/18 to
HK$887 million in the year 2018/19 and gross profit margin slightly
increased from 12.5% to0 12.9%.

Other income, net

Other income, net of HK$68 million was recorded in the year
2018/19 (2017/18: HK$74 million). The decrease was mainly due to
decrease in gain on investments at fair value through profit or loss
from HK$12 million in the year 2017/18 to HK$1 million in the year
2018/19 but offset by turnaround of investment loss of HK$2 million
in the year 2017/18 to gain of HK$2 million in the year 2018/19.

Other gains, net

Other gains, net of HK$182 million were recorded in the year
2018/19 (2017/18: HK$154 million). The increase was primarily due
to the absence of impairment losses on properties for sale, interest
in an associate and retention receivables totalling HK$49 million but
offset by lower increase in fair value of investment properties to
HK$166 million (2017/18: HK$191 million).

Gain on disposals of subsidiaries
Disposals of interests in Chengdu project and Talent Luck resulted in
gain on disposals of subsidiaries totalling HK$713 million in 2017/18.

Selling and distribution costs

Selling and distribution costs increased from HK$147 million in the
year 2017/18 to HK$157 million in the year 2018/19. The increase
was mainly due to the sale of residential units in the property
development in Changchun.

Share of results of associates

The Group's share of results of associates increased from HK$58
million in the year 2017/18 to HK$125 million in the year 2018/19
mainly due to the absence of impairment losses on certain assets
held by an associate.

Share of results of joint ventures

The Group's share of results of joint ventures recorded a profit of
HK$171 million in the year 2018/19 from loss of HK$60 million in
the year 2017/18. The turnaround was mainly come from the joint
ventures in the US under Healthcare Investment segment and in
Hong Kong under Property Development and Operations segment.
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FINANCIAL REVIEW
R %Pt

Finance costs, net

Finance costs, net of HK$80 million were recorded in the year
2018/19 (2017/18: HK$71 million). Finance costs increased by
HK$31 million to HK$123 million (2017/18: HK$92 million), mainly
due to the rise in interest rates and the acquisition of ten senior
housing properties in the US, which offset by the increase in finance
income by HK$22 million to HK$43 million (2017/2018: HK$21
million).

Taxation

Taxation of HK$140 million in the year 2018/19 (2017/18: HK$296
million) was derived from the current tax expenses of HK$90 million
(2017/18: HK$271 million) and the deferred tax expenses of HK$50
million (2017/18: HK$25 million). Decrease in current tax expenses
mainly due to the tax expenses on disposal gain of Chengdu project
of HK$160 million in the year 2017/18.

Profit attributable to shareholders of the Company

Profit attributable to shareholders of the Company of HK$655
million was achieved in the year 2018/19 (2017/18: HK$908 million).
Excluding the aforementioned gain on disposals of Chengdu project
(net of tax) and Talent Luck totalling HK$553 million in the year
2017/18, profit attributable to shareholders of the Company surged
by 85%.

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

Investment properties

The carrying value of investment properties decreased by HK$21
million to HK$3,770 million as at 31 March 2019 (2018: HK$3,791
million) mainly due to the transfer of a property to assets held-
for-sale of HK$146 million, but partially offset by fair value gain of
HK$166 million and the transfer from properties for sale of HK$47
million (including remeasurement gain on transfer of HK$26 million).

Property, plant and equipment

The carrying value of property, plant and equipment increased by
HK$376 million to HK$3,161 million as at 31 March 2019 (2018:
HK$2,785 million) which resulted from the acquisition of ten senior
housing properties in the US.

Goodwill

The carrying value of goodwill slightly increase to HK$684 million
as at 31 March 2019 (2018: HK$682 million), mainly comprised of
goodwill from the Healthcare Investment segment.

Interests in associates (under non-current assets) and amounts
due from associates (under current assets)

Interests in associates consisted of interests in associates, including
goodwill, of HK$472 million (2018: HK$468 million) and non-current
portion of amount due from an associate of HK$3 million (2018:
HKSnil).
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Interests in joint ventures (under non-current assets) and
amounts due from joint ventures (under current assets)

Interests in joint ventures consisted of interests in joint ventures,
including goodwill, of HK$829 million (2018: HK$696 million) and
non-current portion of amounts due from joint ventures of HK$429
million (2018: HK$416 million).

The increment of interests in joint ventures mainly represented
the share of results of joint ventures of HK$171 million mainly
contributed by the Healthcare Investment segment in the US.

Properties under development (under non-current and current
assets)

Properties under development (under non-current and current
assets) increased by HK$86 million to HK$2,214 million (2018:
HK$2,128 million) representing the addition of a new property
development project in Hong Kong and the development costs
incurred for properties development projects totalling HK$491
million, which partially offset by transfer of a property development
project in Hong Kong to assets held-for-sale of HK$367 million.

Properties for sale

The decrease in properties for sale of HK$212 million to HK$367
million (2018: HK$579 million) mainly due to sales of properties of
a development project in Changchun and transfer of a property to
investment property.

Bank balances and cash

As at 31 March 2019, bank balances and cash increased to HK$1,833
million (2018: HK$1,723 million), of which 46.2% (2018: 64.6%) of
bank balances and cash were denominated in Hong Kong and US
dollars while 44.2% (2018: 27.6%) were denominated in Renminbi.

Bank and other borrowings (under current and non-current
liabilities)

Bank and other borrowings increased to HK$3,740 million as at 31
March 2019 (2018: HK$3,377 million) as a result of payment for
acquiring ten senior housing properties during the year. 57.8% and
38.3% of the balance as at 31 March 2019 (2018: 62.1% and 33.8%)
were denominated in Hong Kong dollar and US dollar respectively.

The Group’s within one year bank and other borrowings in respect
of the portion was increased from 22.7% as at 31 March 2018 to
29.7% as at 31 March 2019.

Majority of the borrowings in Hong Kong and the US carry floating
interest rates, of which most of them are based on Hong Kong or
London Interbank Offered Rates.
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FINANCIAL REVIEW
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SHAREHOLDERS' EQUITY

As at 31 March 2019, the Group’'s net assets attributable to
shareholders of the Company amounted to HK$9,021 million, an
increase of HK$288 million when compared with 31 March 2018
of HK$$8,733 million. Such increase was mainly resulted from
the profit attributable to shareholders of the Company of HK$655
million offset by exchange difference on translation of operations
of overseas subsidiaries, associates and joint ventures of HK$233
million and dividend payment of HK$121 million.

LEVERAGE RATIOS

The Group generally finances its operations with internally generated
cash flow and credit facilities provided by its principal bankers mainly
in Hong Kong and the US.

As at 31 March 2019, included in the Group's total debt amounted to
HK$3,740 million (2018: HK$3,377 million), HK$1,431 million (2018:
HK$1,137 million) was attributable to senior housing business,
in which HK$1,385 million (2018: HK$1,102 million) was without
recourse to the Company.

Analysis of the net debt is set out below:
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Secured: BEM
— senior housing business —ZEREE
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Total debt RIET
Bank balances and cash RITHEGF MRS
Net debt FET

As at 31 March 2019, with the increase in bank and other
borrowings, total debt to equity ratio increased to 38.8% (2018:
36.2%), which was expressed as a percentage of bank and other
borrowings over the Group's net assets of HK$9,642 million (2018:
HK$9,336 million). Net debt to equity ratio increased to 19.8% (2018:
17.7%), which was expressed as a percentage of net bank and other
borrowings (representing total bank and other borrowings net of
bank balances and cash) over the Group’s net assets. Ratio of total
debt to total assets of HK$17,093 million (2018: HK$16,105 million)
increased from 21.0% to 21.9% as at 31 March 2019.
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With the existing banking facilities and the recurrent cash generation
from its operations, the Group has sufficient financial resources to
meet the funding requirements for its ongoing operations as well as
its future expansion.

TREASURY POLICIES

The Group adopts conservative treasury policies in cash and financial
management. The Group's treasury activities are centralised in order
to achieve better risk control and minimise cost of funds. Cash is
generally placed in short-term deposits with majority denominated in
Hong Kong dollar, Renminbi or US dollar. The Group's liquidity and
financing requirements are frequently reviewed. In anticipating new
investments or maturity of bank and other borrowings, the Group
will consider new financing while maintaining an appropriate level of
gearing.

EXPOSURE TO FLUCTUATIONS IN EXCHANGE RATES AND
INTEREST RATES

The major currencies used to operate the businesses are Hong Kong
dollar, Renminbi and US dollar. As at 31 March 2019, the Group had
arranged foreign currency swap contracts amounting to HK$9 million
(2018: HK$57 million) to hedge part of its foreign currency risk from
various foreign currencies used for business operations. The Group
had no outstanding interest rate swap contract as at 31 March 2019
(2018: HK$427 million).

CHARGE ON ASSETS

As at 31 March 2019, bank and other borrowings of HK$2,023 million
(2018: HK$1,276 million) and other unutilised banking facilities
were secured by charges on investment properties of HK$1,521
million (2018: HK$1,226 million), property, plant and equipment
of HK$1,337 million (2018: HK$922 million), properties under
development of HK$1,083 million (2018: HK$nil), other non-current
assets of HK$22 million (2018: HK$22 million), inventories of HK$91
million (2018: HK$78 million), debtors, contract assets, deposits and
prepayments of HK$55 million (2018: HK$69 million) and deposits at
bank of HK$55 million (2018: HK$54 million).

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

Details of the contingent liabilities are set out in note 42 to the
consolidated financial statements.

COMMITMENT

Details of the commitment are set out in note 43 to the consolidated
financial statements. The commitment is to be financed by
borrowings and internal funds.
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MR. KUOK HOI SANG M.H., Executive Director, Chairman and
Managing Director, chairman of the Executive Committee and
the Nomination Committee, a member of the Remuneration
Committee, aged 69, joined Chevalier Group in 1972. He is also a
director of certain companies of the Group. Mr. Kuok has extensive
experience in business development and is responsible for the
strategic planning and management of the operations of lift and
escalator, building construction, building supplies, aluminium
windows and curtain walls, electrical and mechanical engineering,
civil engineering, property investment and development as well as
investment projects of Chevalier Group. Mr. Kuok is the President
of The Lift and Escalator Contractors Association in Hong Kong,
the Chairman of the Hong Kong — China Branch of The International
Association of Elevator Engineers, Vice President of The Hong
Kong Federation of Electrical and Mechanical Contractors Limited,
a Registered Lift and Escalator Engineer in Hong Kong and Vice
President cum Chairman of Northern China Regions of The Hong
Kong Real Property Federation.

Mr. Kuok has served on a number of the Government of the HKSAR
Boards and Committees, including the Election Committee, the
Examination Committee (Registration of Lift Engineers and Escalator
Engineers) and the Lift and Escalator Safety Advisory Committee
of the Electrical and Mechanical Services Department. Mr. Kuok
was awarded the Medal of Honour by the Government of the
HKSAR in 2016 for his dedicated public service, particularly for his
contributions to the development of the electrical and mechanical
services industry. He was also a member of the Guangzhou
Committee of the Chinese People's Political Consultative
Conference from the 9th to 12th sessions.

MR. TAM KWOK WING, Executive Director, Deputy Managing
Director and a member of the Executive Committee, aged 58, joined
Chevalier Group in 1986. He is also a director of certain companies
of the Group. Mr. Tam is responsible for the operations of cold
storage and logistics; insurance services; property investment and
development; property management; and travel agency businesses.

Mr. Tam holds a Bachelor Degree in Laws from Peking University of
the People’s Republic of China; a Master of Arts Degree from City
University of Hong Kong; and a Postgraduate Diploma in Corporate
Administration from the Hong Kong Polytechnic University. Mr. Tam
is a Fellow Member of each of the Chartered Institute of Arbitrators;
the Royal Institution of Chartered Surveyors; the Institute of
Chartered Secretaries and Administrators in the United Kingdom;
and the Hong Kong Institute of Chartered Secretaries. Mr. Tam is
also a Chartered Member of the Chartered Institute of Housing.
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At present, Mr. Tam is a Councillor of the General Insurance
Council in the Hong Kong Federation of Insurers; the Past President
and a Council Member of the Hong Kong Institute of Chartered
Secretaries; a Council Member and the Chairman of Membership
Committee of the Hong Kong Association of Property Management
Companies. He is also an appointed Member of each of the
Property Management Services Authority; the Occupational Safety
and Health Council; the Employees’ Compensation Insurance
Levies Management Board; the Property Management Industry
Training Advisory Committee of the Education Bureau; the Advisory
Committee on Water Supplies; and the Steering Committee on
the Promotion of Electric Vehicles. In addition, he is an Honorary
Secretary of the Insurance Complaints Bureau. Mr. Tam is also
a member of The Board of Directors of Bao Minh Insurance
Corporation in Vietnam.

Mr. Tam is also appointed as the Honorary Vice Consul of the
Kingdom of Bahrain to Hong Kong. He also serves as the Secretary
General of the Hong Kong Bahrain Business Association. In China,
Mr. Tam is appointed as a Standing Committee Member of the
13th Changchun Committee of the Chinese People’s Political
Consultative Conference. Mr. Tam is also a Council Member of the
Guangdong Chamber of Foreign Investors.

MR. HO CHUNG LEUNG, Executive Director and a member of the
Executive Committee, aged 69, joined Chevalier Group in 1985.
He is also a director of certain companies of the Group. He is
responsible for the internal audit of the Group. Mr. Ho is a fellow
member of the Association of Chartered Certified Accountants in the
U.K. and a member of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants.

MR. MA CHI WING, Executive Director and a member of the
Executive Committee, aged 50, joined Chevalier Group in 1993.
He is also a director of certain companies of the Group. He is
responsible for the human resources and general administration of
the Group. Mr. Ma has extensive experience in project management
and is currently in charge of the healthcare investment, car
dealership, hotel investment and trading businesses of the Group.
Mr. Ma holds a Master Degree in Business Administration from
The University of Warwick, U.K., a Bachelor Degree in International
Business Studies from City University of Hong Kong, a Corporate
Finance Certificate from UC Berkeley, the U.S., and a Professional
Certificate in China Construction from Tsinghua University, Mainland
China.

MISS LILY CHOW, Executive Director and a member of the
Executive Committee, aged 56, joined Chevalier Group in 1990.
She is also a director of certain companies of the Group. She is
responsible for strategic planning and business development of
the Group. Miss Chow holds a Bachelor of Arts degree from the
University of British Columbia, Canada. Miss Chow is currently
a Standing Committee member of the Ningbo Committee of the
Chinese People’s Political Consultative Conference. She is also
a Vice-chairman of Ladies’ Committee of The Chinese General
Chamber of Commerce, the Hong Kong non-voting member of
the All-China Women's Federation and a member of the board of
Governors of Hong Kong Sinfonietta. Miss Chow is the daughter of
the late Dr. Chow Yei Ching, Chairman Emeritus of the Company,
and a sister of Mr. Chow Vee Tsung, Oscar, Non-Executive Director
of the Company.
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DR. KO CHAN GOCK, WILLIAM S.B.S., Ph.D., Non-Executive
Director, aged 73, joined the Company in 2009. Dr. Ko graduated
from The University of Hong Kong in 1968. He served in the
Government of the HKSAR for more than 38 years, having worked
in a wide range of departments including the Water Supplies
Department, the Highways Department, the Civil Engineering and
Development Department and the Works Branch. In 2001, he was
appointed as the Director of Water Supplies. Dr. Ko retired from the
civil service in January 2007.

MR. CHOW VEE TSUNG, OSCAR, Non-Executive Director,
aged 45, joined Chevalier Group in 2000. He is also a director of
certain companies of the Group. He holds a degree in Master of
Engineering from The University of Oxford, U.K. and is currently a
General Committee Member of the Hong Kong General Chamber
of Commerce and a General Committee Member of The Chinese
Manufacturers’ Association of Hong Kong. Mr. Chow is the Honorary
Consul of the Kingdom of Bahrain in Hong Kong and currently the
Chairman of Hong Kong Bahrain Business Association. He is also
a member of the Shanghai Committee of the Chinese People's
Political Consultative Conference. Mr. Chow is also a court member
of The Hong Kong Polytechnic University. Mr. Chow is the son of the
late Dr. Chow Yei Ching, Chairman Emeritus of the Company, and a
brother of Miss Lily Chow, Executive Director of the Company.

MR. YANG CHUEN LIANG, CHARLES B.B.S., J.P., Independent
Non-Executive Director and chairman of the Audit Committee,
a member of each of the Remuneration Committee and the
Nomination Committee, aged 60, joined the Company in 2008. Mr.
Yang obtained a Master Degree in Business Administration from
Cass Business School London, U.K. in 1983 and is currently a sole
proprietor at S. Y. Yang & Company, Practising firm of Accountants
and member of the Institute of Chartered Accountants in England
and Wales as well as the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants. His community duties include the Director and Fourth
Vice President & Admissions, Budgets & Allocations Committee
chairman of the Community Chest, member of the Insurance
Appeals Tribunal, an independent director of the Travel Industry
Council of Hong Kong, member of Hospital Governing Committee
of Yan Chai Hospital and member of the Council Committee of The
Hong Kong Academy for Performing Arts. Mr. Yang was selected as
“Qutstanding Accountant Ambassador” by the Hong Kong Institute
of Certified Public Accountants. He was appointed as Justices of the
Peace by the Government of the HKSAR in 2004 and awarded the
Bronze Bauhinia Star by the Government of the HKSAR in 2011.
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PROFESSOR POON CHUNG KWONG G.B.S., J.P., Ph.D.,
D.Sc., Independent Non-Executive Director and chairman of
the Remuneration Committee, a member of each of the Audit
Committee and Nomination Committee, aged 79, joined the
Company in 2012. Professor Poon obtained a Bachelor of Science
(Honours) degree from the University of Hong Kong, a Doctor of
Philosophy degree and a Higher Doctor of Science degree from
the University of London, U.K.. He was a postdoctoral fellow at
the California Institute of Technology and University of Southern
California. He also held the Honorary Degree of Doctor of
Humanities from The Hong Kong Polytechnic University in 2009.
Professor Poon is currently the chairman of Virya Foundation Limited
(a registered non-profit charitable organisation). He is an Emeritus
Professor and the President Emeritus of The Hong Kong Polytechnic
University and had devoted 40 years of his life to advancing
university education in Hong Kong before he retired in January
2009 from his 18-year presidency at The Hong Kong Polytechnic
University. Professor Poon was appointed a non-official Justices of
the Peace in 1989 and received the OBE award in 1991, the Gold
Bauhinia Star award in 2002, and the “Leader of the Year Awards
2008 (Education)”. In addition, Professor Poon was appointed as a
member of the Legislative Council (1985-1991) and a member of the
National Committee of the Chinese People’s Political Consultative
Conference (1998-2013). Professor Poon is a non-executive director
of Lee & Man Paper Manufacturing Limited and an independent
non-executive director of Henderson Land Development Company
Limited and The Hong Kong and China Gas Company Limited. All of
those companies are public companies listed on the Main Board of
The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”).

MR. IRONS SZE B.B.S., J.P., Independent Non-Executive Director
and a member of the Audit Committee, aged 57, joined the Company
in 2016. Mr. Sze graduated with a Bachelor's degree in Science from
University of Wisconsin-La Crosse, United States in 1985. Mr. Sze
has extensive experience in investment and corporate management.
Mr. Sze is an independent non-executive director of Continental
Holdings Limited and a non-executive director of China Weaving
Materials Holdings Limited. He is also an independent non-executive
director, chairman of the nomination committee and member of
the audit committee of ST International Holdings Company Limited,
and an independent non-executive director, chairman of the
remuneration committee and member of the audit committee of
Best Mart 360 Holdings Limited, all of which are listed on the Stock
Exchange. He is also an executive director of a private company,
Hang Tung Resources Holding Limited and holds directorship
in various private companies. Mr. Sze is a member of the 13th
National Committee of the Chinese People’s Political Consultative
Conference, Deputy Director of the Population Resources and
Environment Committee and an executive member of the Beijing
Municipal Standing Committee of the Chinese People’s Political
Consultative Conference, and the Permanent Honorary President of
the Chinese Manufacturers’ Association of Hong Kong. He was also
elected as a member of Election Committee of the Chief Executive
of the HKSAR in 2016. Mr. Sze was appointed the Justices of the
Peace and awarded the Bronze Bauhinia Star by the Government of
the HKSAR in 2011 and 2015 respectively.
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MR. SUN LELAND LI HSUN, Independent Non-Executive Director
and a member of the Audit Committee, aged 57, joined the
Company in February 2019. Mr. Sun obtained his Master of Business
Administration in 1986 from the UCLA Anderson School of Business.
Mr. Sun is an independent non-executive director of Quanzhou
Huixin Micro-credit Co., Ltd.. He was an independent non-executive
director of Chongqing Rural Commercial Bank Co., Ltd. and resigned
on 6 June 2019. All of those companies are public companies listed
on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange. He is also an independent
non-executive director, chairman of the Audit Committee and a
member of Remuneration Committee of Mizuho Securities Asia
Limited. Mr. Sun is the founder and director of Pan Asian Mortgage
Company Limited, an innovative non-banking financial services
company specialising in residential mortgage financing in Hong Kong
since 2001.

Mr. Sun is a Vice Chairman of the General Committee of the Hong
Kong General Chamber of Commerce, a Chairman of the Nominating
Committee of English Schools Foundation and a member of the
Executive Committee and Honorary Treasurer of the Servicemen'’s
Guides Association.

Mr. Sun was elected as a member of Election Committee of the
Chief Executive of the HKSAR in 2017. He was also appointed
by the Financial Secretary of the Government of the HKSAR as
the first Chief Operating Officer of The Hong Kong Mortgage
Corporation Limited in 1997. Previously, he was a Senior Managing
Director of Bear Stearns Asia Limited and an Executive Director of
Goldman Sachs (Asia) LLC. Mr. Sun was also the President of The
American Club Hong Kong and member of the Executive Committee
(Treasurer) and Board of Governors of the American Chamber of
Commerce in Hong Kong.
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SCHEDULE OF MAJOR PROPERTIES

REENARE AHZ EZYERFIIMT

Particulars of major properties held by the Group as at the date of
this report are as follows:

() HELD AS INVESTMENT PROPERTIES/PROPERTIES FOR
OWN USE

() HEREWE BRUE

Approximate

Location

it B BHERAH*

Hong Kong &

Units 1011 to 1019 on 10th Floor,
19th to 23rd Floors and one-third
interest in 201 car parking spaces of
Chevalier Commercial Centre,

8 Wang Hoi Road, Kowloon Bay
NEEERFE SRA LT EEFL

HE-E——E-F-NE

TREZFT=ERE=D —#xm

Z 20 {EfFE iz
Chevalier Warehouse Building,

3 On Fuk Street, On Lok Tsuen, Fanling
MELEBLEE=—RHELTEERE
29-33 Tsing Yi Road, Tsing Yi
BRBXRE - THE=T=%

8 Kwai Hei Street, Kwai Chung

EREEE/\R

124-130 Kwok Shui Road and
79-85 Yau Ma Hom Road, Kwai Chung
FTRENE — A T HE—B =15 &b
MR+ NENT R
No. 20, Shek O Road
ARE 15
Nos. 1B-1C Davis Street, Hong Kong
EEEZTHBI RICHE

Mainland China F E i
Chevalier Place, 168 An Fu Road,

Xuhui District, Shanghai
EEMRERLEE -8B/ T/ SRIE
Units 3-9 of 18th Floor, Dongshan Plaza,

69 Xianlie Zhong Road, Guangzhou
BT SRR ST SRR I E S

+N\E=Z2NZE

Singapore 713

Chevalier House, 23 Genting Road,
Singapore 349481

The Blue Building, 10 Genting Road,
Singapore 349473

Office premise and

carpark

MRERZES

Industrial

T%

Industrial

I3

Cold storage
warehouse

RIEEE

Cold storage
warehouse

REEE

Residential

*=

Residential and
commercial

FEREE

Residential, shop and

carpark

= BmHhEES

Office premise
WA

Industrial
T
Industrial

I

gross The Group’s

floor area* Lease term interest

RAFH AEEFGER

sq. ft. L5 R %

174,600 Medium 100
HHY

118,300 Medium 100
A HY

253,500 Medium 87.5
o HY

380,000 Medium 75
A

427,500 Medium 75
A

5,300 Long 100
K

9,100 Long 100
~H

142,600 Long 80
31

13,000 Medium 100
i

106,500 Freehold 100
KA ZERE

16,900 Freehold 100
KA ERE
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SCHEDULE OF MAJOR PROPERTIES
TEYER

() HELD AS INVESTMENT PROPERTIES/PROPERTIES FOR
OWN USE (CONTINUED)

Approximate

gross
Location floor area*
b B BHEBEAE
sq. ft. L AR
Us £H
430 East Grand Avenue, Industrial/Warehouse 37,000
South San Francisco, CA 94080 T% &F
13258 Nelson Avenue, City of Industry, Industrial/Warehouse 31,400
Los Angeles, CA 91746 T%/2E
4510 Duraleigh Road, Raleigh, Senior Housing 52,700
NC 27612 zZERE
1700 Montana Drive, Charlotte, Senior Housing 34,400
NC 28216 ZERE
3060 SE Stark Street, Portland, Senior Housing 150,500
OR 97214 ZERE
14420 SW, Farmington Road, Beaverton, Senior Housing 35,000
OR 97005 wEh s
535 U.S Highway 158W, Yanceyville, NC Senior Housing 38,900
27379 &
2560 Willard Road, Winston-Salem, Senior Housing 33,300
NC 27107 ZERE
37501 Joy Road, Westland, Senior Housing 77,800
Wayne County, Michigan ZERE
2725 N Pennsylvania Avenue, Senior Housing 113,500
Roswell NM 88201 & ZERE
2801 N Kentucky Avenue,
Roswell NM 88201
6031 Cheyenne Avenue, Senior Housing 109,100
Las Vegas, NV 89108 wERE
Canada & X
838 Hamilton Street, Vancouver, B.C. Hotel 66,000
B
4334-4340 Kingston Road, Ontario, Office and workshop 20,200
MIF 2M8 for automobile
dealership
BYERBEHEZIHAE
Jran
14535-14583 Yonge Street, Aurora, Office and workshop 25,000
Ontario for automobile
dealership
FRIEABEHE I AE
KT
Thailand % El
Chevalier House, Office premise and 21,300

showroom

MRERRIZE

540 Bamrungmuang Road,
Debsirin Sub-district,
Pomprab District, Bangkok Metropolis
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Lease term

RHFH

Freehold
KA ZERE
Freehold
KAZERE
Freehold
KA ZERE
Freehold
e
Freehold
KA R
Freehold
KAZERE
Freehold
KAZERE
Freehold
KA ERE
Freehold
KA
Freehold
KA FERE

Freehold
KA

Freehold
KA
Freehold
KA FERE

Freehold
KAZERE

Freehold
KA ZERE

() BHEREWE BRYE(F)

The Group's

interest
AEE TR
%

100

100

98.6

100

100

100

98.6

98.6

100

100

100

100

100

100

100



SCHEDULE OF MAJOR PROPERTIES
FEYEE

() PROPERTIES FOR SALE ) &M=

Approximate
gross The Group'’s

Location floor area* Lease term interest
ith B BEHEEAE* ZNEFEH KEEFEER
sq. ft. FHFR %

Hong Kong &8

Units 1601-1603 on 16th Floor, Chevalier House, 3,800 Medium 100
45-51 Chatham Road South, Tsim Sha Tsui AR HA

9%/J\DH/?JEJTLF'?E—Fﬁiﬂi-k—sﬁﬁi?(}*-h\ﬁ

RE—ZF—RE=F

/\7 INT ZF

Mainland China # B it

Phase | of Chevalier City — 240 apartment units, 31 residential units 595,000 Medium 96
and 134 shop units, Luyuan District, Changchun R HA
REMLERE BN 82401 - 31EET K& 134ME &
Phase Il of Chevalier City — 9 residential units and 19 shop units, 37,500 Medium 96
Luyuan District, Changchun  EA
REMGEREE AW 2HAEFER19ERH
My Villa = 11 villas and 6 shop units, Huairou District, Beijing 150,000 Medium 44
bR RS [ AR 1 1 M8 51 22 B L K 6 ]
(111) PROPERTIES UNDER DEVELOPMENT (In) BREAHYE
Estimated
gross floor
Stage of Expected date Approximate area after The Group's
Location completion of completion  Major usage site area completion* interest
1t 2 EE EEEIBH TEMAR 188 + it TREEE AEEMRGER
HENE RO
sq. ft. £ AR sq. ft. £ HR
Hong Kong &3
URA project at Fuk Chak In progress 2021 Residential and 8,300 61,800 100
Street/Li Tak Street, TiR#ETH T —F commercial
Tai Kok Tsui, Kowloon FEREE
NEXBBEEY,/ FEHD
MEREE
Nos. 292A-D Prince Edward  In progress 2022 Residential 7,800 39,200 100
Road West, Homantin, TiE#TH —EC-CF =
Kowloon
TS A FHEF292A-D5:
No.5 Hang Lok Lane, Shatin  In progress 2023 Residential 47,900 28,800 100
DHELEERR TRR#ETH e Sk = =

Mainland China FE&it:
Luyuan District, Changchun  In progress 2021 to 2027 Residential and 1,921,000 4,607,000 96
REMHER TR :'2: Fx commercial

—ToEF EEREE

*  Excluding carparks * TRIEESBS

+  TEEMTE SH5 AREERDEBRECE
EETE

+ Excluding the floor areas of basements, carparks, public amenities and resettlement
buildings
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The Board is committed to maintaining a high standard of corporate
governance practices and business ethics in the firm belief that they
are essential for maintaining and promoting investors’ confidence
and maximising shareholders’ returns. The Board reviews its
corporate governance practices from time to time in order to
meet the rising expectations of stakeholders and comply with the
increasingly stringent regulatory requirements, and to fulfill its
commitment to excellence in corporate governance.

The Code on Corporate Governance Code (the “CG Code”) as set
out in Appendix 14 of the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities
(the “Listing Rules"”) on the Stock Exchange sets out two levels of
corporate governance code, namely code provisions that a listed
company must comply with or explain its non-compliance, and
recommended best practices that a listed company is encouraged
to comply with but need not disclose in the case of non-compliance.
The Company is in compliance with the code provisions of the CG
Code except for the following deviations:

Code Provision A.2.1 stipulates that the roles of chairman and chief
executive should be separate and should not be performed by
the same person. The Chairman is responsible for overseeing the
Board while the Managing Director is responsible for managing the
Group’s businesses. Mr. Kuok Hoi Sang serves as both the Chairman
and Managing Director of the Company. The Board believes that
with Mr. Kuok’'s comprehensive knowledge in the history and
various business segments, and his extensive experience in the
operation of the Group, vesting the roles of both Chairman and
Managing Director in Mr. Kuok provides the Company with strong
and consistent leadership and facilitates the implementation and
execution of the Group’s business strategies which is in the best
interest of the Company.

Code Provision A.4.1 stipulates that Non-Executive Directors should
be appointed for a specific term and subject to re-election. All the
Non-Executive Directors of the Company are not appointed for a
specific term but are instead subject to retirement by rotation and re-
election at annual general meetings of the Company in accordance
with the Company’s Bye-Laws.

Code Provision A.6.7 stipulates that the Independent Non-Executive
Directors and other Non-Executive Directors should attend general
meetings and develop a balanced understanding of the views of
shareholders of the Company. The late Ir. Dr. Chow Ming Kuen,
Joseph was unable to attend the annual general meeting of the
Company held on 29 August 2018 due to health condition.
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Following the passing of Ir. Dr. Chow Ming Kuen, Joseph, an
Independent Non-Executive Director, chairman of the Remuneration
Committee, and a member of each of the Audit Committee and the
Nomination Committee of the Company, on 13 October 2018, the
number of the independent non-executive directors of the Company
fell below the minimum number required under Rules 3.10A and
3.21 of the Listing Rules. In addition, the Company no longer meets
the composition requirement of the Remuneration Committee under
Rule 3.25 of the Listing Rules and the composition requirement
of the Nomination Committee under Code Provision A.5.1 of the
CG Code. Following the announcement of the Company made on
26 February 2019 regarding the appointment of Mr. Sun Leland Li
Hsun as Independent Non-Executive Director and a member of the
Audit Committee of the Company, Professor Poon Chung Kwong
as a member and chairman of the Remuneration Committee and
a member of the Nomination Committee and, Mr. Irons Sze as a
member of the Audit Committee of the Company, the Company is
now in compliance with Rule 3.10A, Rule 3.21 and Rule 3.25 of the
Listing Rules and Code Provision A.5.1 of the CG Code.

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

The Board is charged with providing effective and responsible
leadership for the Company. The Directors, individually and
collectively, must act in good faith and in the best interests of the
Company and its shareholders. The Board sets the Group's overall
objectives and strategies, monitors and evaluates its operating
and financial performance and reviews the corporate governance
standard of the Company. It also decides on matters such as annual
and interim results, notifiable transactions, director appointments
or re-appointments, and dividend and accounting policies.
Management profile of the Company as at the date of this report is
set out on pages 20 to 24.

The Board comprises five Executive Directors, two Non-Executive
Directors and four Independent Non-Executive Directors. The Board
met six times during the year under review. The attendance of
Directors at the Board Meetings, the Board Committees Meetings
and General Meeting is set out in the table below:

TREEHE

EARRRZBIYIENITES  FHEES
Z2ER RAEAEZZESRREREZESE
BZKEZEAREREL R N\FE+A
+=HEME%E  KRAFZBIYIFATEER
BABUERN F TR BIE3.10A 321 I§FTHE
EZEAE o AN RRBIRBEFE LT
HAEI 2B EETHFWHEESEKXER 1B
ERGEERTANEEALTIEETIREGE
EEEKENR - BEERARINR T —LFE=
AZ+NBAMEERILBEEBARAE
VIHRTEENEZZEEGNE  BRHAHY
BRAeEGFWNEEeRERTREMELZTE K
8 MmAErEABEREREERE AR
FIIRE BT ETARAIE 3. 10AK « 53.211K
T 32615 A R EEARTANENEAL K
ZHE °

Exg

BECRAMARREEREEUERMEE
EWEE - FEE - ERER R ERM -
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P RBIBAARB ZOEEAKE - &
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NAHEE BT RAMGHNRS - BRI
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS (CONTINUED) =8 ()

Meetings Attended/Held
SRR BTRY
Board Audit Remuneration Nomination General
Directors Meeting Committee Committee Committee Meeting
5= =g ENRZES FMzES REZES BEXE
Executive Directors
HITEE
Mr. Kuok Hoi Sang (Chairman and Managing Director) 6/6 - 7 2/2 il
SBELE (TEFEFLIE)
Mr. Tam Kwok Wing (Deputy Managing Director) 5/6 - - - il
BRI (Bl EFLBAHE)
Mr. Ho Chung Leung 6/6 - - - N
RS A
Mr. Ma Chi Wing 6/6 - - - 71
Miss Lily Chow 6/6 - - - 1N
[EFFNME
Non-Executive Directors
HHTEE
Dr. Ko Chan Gock, William 6/6 - - - il
=EERT
Mr. Chow Vee Tsung, Oscar 6/6 - - - 1N
E#EESE
Independent Non-Executive Directors
BUHHTEE
Ir. Dr. Chow Ming Kuen, Joseph @ 3/3 7 7 7 0/1
[EIRARE L
Mr. Yang Chuen Liang, Charles 5/6 3/3 7 2/2 il
HESEAE
Professor Poon Chung Kwong ® 6/6 3/3 - - il
BRI
Mr. Irons Sze ° 5/6 7 - - il
ik
Mr. Sun Leland Li Hsun ¢ 11 11
AV
a. Deceased on 13 October 2018. a. RIZ-N\F+A+=B#l-
b.  Appointed as a member and chairman of the Remuneration Committee and a b. RIZZE-—NFZAZF+RAEZTARREZEHH
member of the Nomination Committee of the Company on 26 February 2019. ZESREREENIREREZESKE -
c.  Appointed as a member of the Audit Committee of the Company on 26 February c. RIZE-NF-_A-+AEZRITALRRRZEX
2019. EZEEKE -
d.  Appointed as an Independent Non-Executive Director and a member of the Audit d RIZE-NFZAZ+AEZERARRZEIL
Committee of the Company on 26 February 2019. HPITEERBEREZEGKE -
The Board members have no financial, business, family or other MBI A4 (RARIZIERITESE) AFF
relationships with each other except that Mr. Chow Vee Tsung, F/NB(RRBIZWITESE) Z2BHI - §F
Oscar, Non-Executive Director of the Company, is a brother of Miss EENE CEEYG - X5 - BB EM
Lily Chow, an Executive Director of the Company. B -
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS (CONTINUED)

Throughout the year ended 31 March 2019 (except for the period
from 13 October 2018 to 25 February 2019, the number of
Independent Non-Executive Directors fell below the minimum),
the Company met at all times the requirements of the Listing
Rules to have at least three Independent Non-Executive Directors
or representing at least one-third of the Board and with at least
one Independent Non-Executive Director possessing appropriate
accounting and financial management expertise and professional
qualifications.

The Company received from its Independent Non-Executive
Directors annual confirmation of independence in accordance
with Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules. The Board assessed their
independence and concluded that all the Independent Non-
Executive Directors are independent.

Pursuant to Code Provision A.6.5, all directors should participate in
continuous professional development to refresh their knowledge
and skills to ensure that their contribution to the Board remains
informed and relevant. The Company also provides reading materials
and updates to the Directors on the latest developments and
changes to the Listing Rules, applicable laws and regulations relating
to directors’ duties and responsibilities.

During the year under review, the Company arranged seminars for
the Directors on matters relating to (i) anti-money laundering, (ii)
new requirement of maintaining significant controllers register and
(i) new transfer pricing requirements in Hong Kong. All Directors
attended and/or received the materials at the seminars. Directors’
training is an ongoing process and all Directors are encouraged
to attend relevant training courses at the Company’s expenses.
Directors are requested to provide records of training they received
to the Company Secretary of the Company for records.

APPOINTMENT AND RE-ELECTION OF DIRECTORS

The Board shall have the power to appoint any person as a director
either to fill a vacancy or for expansion of the Board. The Company
has set up a Nomination Committee for formulating nomination
policy for consideration by the Board and making recommendations
to the Board on the selection, appointment and re-appointment of
directors. All candidates must also meet the standards as set forth
in Rules 3.08 and 3.09 of the Listing Rules. A candidate who is to
be appointed as an Independent Non-Executive Director should also
meet the independence criteria set out in Rule 3.13 of the Listing
Rules.

In accordance with the Bye-Laws of the Company, all Directors
are subject to retirement by rotation and re-election at annual
general meetings of the Company. New directors appointed by the
Board during the year are required to retire and submit themselves
for re-election at the annual general meeting or general meeting
immediately following their appointments. Further, at each annual
general meeting, one-third of the Directors, or, if their number is not
a multiple of three, then the number nearest to but not less than
one-third are required to retire from office by rotation and no later
than the third annual general meeting since the last re-election or
appointment of such Director.
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APPOINTMENT AND RE-ELECTION OF DIRECTORS (CONTINUED)

Mr. Kuok Hoi Sang, Mr. Ho Chung Leung, Professor Poon Chung
Kwong, Mr. Chow Vee Tsung, Oscar and Mr. Sun Leland Li Hsun
shall retire from office at the forthcoming annual general meeting
of the Company to be held on Wednesday, 28 August 2019 (the
“AGM") in accordance with the Company’s Bye-Laws. All the
retiring Directors, being eligible, shall offer themselves for re-
election at the AGM.

The following appointments were recommended by the Nomination
Committee to the Board for consideration and confirmed by the
Board of the Company on 26 February 2019:

(i)  Mr. Sun Leland Li Hsun, was appointed as Independent Non-
Executive Director and a member of the Audit Committee of the
Company;

(i) Professor Poon Chung Kwong, was appointed as a member and
chairman of the Remuneration Committee and a member of the
Nomination Committee of the Company; and

(i) Mr. Irons Sze was appointed as a member of the Audit
Committee of the Company.

AUDIT COMMITTEE

Written terms of reference, which describe the authority and
duties of the Audit Committee, have been adopted and posted on
the websites of the Company and the Stock Exchange, and are
regularly reviewed and updated by the Board. Mr. Yang Chuen Liang,
Charles, Independent Non-Executive Director, is the chairman of
the committee. He has extensive experience in financial reporting
and controls. Other members include the remaining Independent
Non-Executive Directors, namely Professor Poon Chung Kwong,
Mr. Irons Sze and Mr. Sun Leland Li Hsun. The Audit Committee
is responsible for, among others, reviewing the nature and scope
of audit performed by external auditors and their appointments,
reviewing the Group's financial information and overseeing the
Group’s financial reporting system, risk management and internal
control systems, and reviewing and monitoring the effectiveness of
the internal audit function. It is also responsible for reviewing the
interim and final results of the Group prior to recommending them to
the Board for approval.

The Audit Committee held three meetings during the year ended
31 March 2019. At the meetings, they reviewed the connected
transactions (if any), last year’s final results and accounts for the year
ended 31 March 2018, the interim results and financial statements
for the six months ended 30 September 2018 and reviewed with
management the accounting policies and practices adopted by
the Group and discussed the auditing, financial reporting, risk
management and internal control systems of the Group. The final
results and financial statements for the year ended 31 March 2019
were reviewed by the Audit Committee in the meeting held on 18
June 2019. They also reviewed and approved the engagement of
external auditors for providing non-audit services, the remuneration
in respect of audit and non-audit services provided by external
auditors, risk management and internal control systems and the
effectiveness of the internal audit function.
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REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

Written terms of reference, which describe the authority and duties
of the Remuneration Committee, have been adopted and posted
on the websites of the Company and the Stock Exchange, and are
regularly reviewed and updated by the Board. The Remuneration
Committee currently comprises two Independent Non-Executive
Directors, namely Professor Poon Chung Kwong (chairman of the
committee) and Mr. Yang Chuen Liang, Charles; and one Executive
Director, namely Mr. Kuok Hoi Sang. The Remuneration Committee
is responsible for making recommendations to the Board based
on the Company’s policy and structure on the remuneration for
all Directors and senior management of the Company, and on the
establishment of a formal and transparent procedure for developing
remuneration policy for approval by the Board. The Remuneration
Committee has adopted the operation model where it has the
responsibility, powers and discretion to determine, with delegated
responsibility, the remuneration packages of individual Executive
Directors and senior management of the Company.

The Remuneration Committee held a meeting during the year
ended 31 March 2019 to review the remuneration packages
paid to Directors and senior management for the year ended 31
March 2019. Details of the emoluments of Directors and senior
management by bands are set out in note 41 to the consolidated
financial statements.

NOMINATION COMMITTEE

Written terms of reference, which describe the authority and duties
of the Nomination Committee, have been adopted and posted on
the websites of the Company and the Stock Exchange, and are
regularly reviewed and updated by the Board. The Nomination
Committee currently comprises Mr. Kuok Hoi Sang (chairman of the
committee) and two Independent Non-Executive Directors, namely
Professor Poon Chung Kwong and Mr. Yang Chuen Liang, Charles.
The Nomination Committee is responsible for reviewing and making
recommendations to the Board on relevant matters relating to the
appointment or re-appointment of directors and succession planning
for directors, in particular the chairman and the chief executive.
The Nomination Committee has the responsibility to consider and
identify individuals suitably qualified to become Board members, and
select or make recommendations to the Board on the selection of
individuals nominated for directorships. The Nomination Committee
discusses and reviews annually the structure, size and composition
of the Board and agrees on measurable objectives for achieving
diversity of the Board and makes relevant recommendations to the
Board for adoption with reference to the Board Diversity Policy of the
Company.

The Nomination Committee held two meetings during the year
ended 31 March 2019 to review the structure, size and composition
of the Board, assess the independence of Independent Non-
Executive Directors, recommend the re-election of retiring directors
and make recommendation on new appointment or any proposed
changes to the Board to complement the Company’s corporate
strategy.
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BOARD DIVERSITY POLICY

The Board adopted a Board Diversity Policy in August 2017. The
aim of this policy is to set out the approach to achieve diversity on
the Board of Directors. The Company recognises and embraces
the benefits of diversity in Board members. The Nomination
Committee will discuss and agree annually measurable objectives
for implementing diversity on the Board and recommend them to the
Board for adoption.

The Company aims to build and maintain a Board with a diversity of
Directors based on a range of diversity perspectives, for example
skills, experience, knowledge, expertise, culture, independence,
age, gender, race and length of services. The Nomination
Committee will monitor the implementation of the Policy from
time to time with a view to enhancing the Board’'s performance.
The Nomination Committee will review the Policy periodically and
amend it as appropriate to ensure its continued effectiveness.
The Nomination Committee will discuss any revisions that may be
required, and recommend any proposed changes to the Board for
consideration and approval.

NOMINATION POLICY

The Board adopted a Nomination Policy in November 2018. The aim
of this policy is to assist the Nomination Committee in identifying
individuals suitably qualified to become Board members and select
and make recommendations to the Board on the selection of
individuals for directorship, for the appointment or re-appointment
of directors and succession planning for directors, in particular the
Chairman and the Managing Director. The Nomination Committee
shall consider the following criteria in assessing the suitability of a
proposed candidate:

e Essence: The proposed candidate shall possess high ethical
standards, good character, and act with integrity.

e Availability: The proposed candidate should be able to devote
time to understand the affairs of the Company in order to enable
him/her to make value-added contributions to the Board.

e Qualification, expertise and experience: The proposed
candidate shall have ascertained qualification, expertise and
experience in an area of business or public affairs in line with the
Company’s corporate strategy.

e Diversity: The diversity of the Board will be considered
including but not limited to gender, age, cultural and educational
background, race, skills, knowledge, religion, industry and
professional experience and length of service in accordance with
the Diversity Policy of the Company.

Additional criteria are required for assessing the independence of
the proposed Independent Non-Executive Director as appropriate:

¢ Independence: comply with the independence requirements
set under the Listing Rules.
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NOMINATION POLICY (CONTINUED)

e Time commitment: ensure that sufficient time can be devoted
to discharge the duties/responsibilities as Independent Non-
Executive Directors. For Independent Non-Executive Directors
who serve more than seven listed companies’ directorship,
the Board will need to satisfy that the proposed candidate can
devote sufficient time to the Board. The Nomination Committee
will consider the following factors which can affect the
individual’s time commitment to the Company:

1. whether at the time of nomination the Company is
undergoing a period of particularly increased activity, such
as an acquisition or takeover;

2. the frequency of having to chair the Board and/or the
committee(s);

3. being multiple members of committees;

4. whether the candidate is a chief executive officer or full-
time executive director of another listed issuer; and

5. an Independent Non-Executive Director for multiple boards
and the number of significant commitments at government
or non-profit making bodies.

The Board shall have the final decision on all matters relating to its
recommendation of candidates to stand for re-election at any general
meeting. This policy shall be reviewed on a continuous basis and,
when necessary, can be revised by the Board from time to time.

EXECUTIVE COMMITTEE

The Board has delegated the authority and responsibility for
implementing business strategies and managing the daily operations
of the Group’s business to an Executive Committee which was
established in 1991. The terms of reference of the Executive
Committee were revised on 26 June 2017 so as to incorporate
governance function as stipulated in the CG Code. Written terms of
reference, which describe the authority and duties of the Executive
Committee, have been adopted and are regularly reviewed and
updated by the Board. Members of the Executive Committee
comprise five Executive Directors, namely Messrs Kuok Hoi Sang
(chairman of the committee), Tam Kwok Wing, Ho Chung Leung, Ma
Chi Wing and Miss Lily Chow.

RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROL

The Board is responsible for evaluating and determining the nature
and extent of the risks it is willing to take in achieving the Group's
strategic objectives, and ensuring that the Group establishes and
maintains appropriate and effective risk management and internal
control systems and reviewing their effectiveness. The Board is
also responsible for overseeing the design, implementation and
monitoring of the risk management and internal control systems.
The risk management and internal control systems are designed to
provide reasonable, but not absolute, assurance against material
misstatement or loss, and to manage, rather than eliminate, risks
of failure in operating systems or in achievement of the Group's
business objectives.
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THREEHE

RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROL (CONTINUED)

The Board, through the Audit Committee, conducts a review of
the effectiveness of the Group's risk management and internal
control systems, which cover all material controls, including
financial, operational and compliance controls, on an annual basis.
It also considers the adequacy of resources, staff qualifications
and experience, training programmes and budget of the Group's
accounting, internal audit and financial reporting function. Significant
issues in the management letters from both internal and external
auditors will be brought to the attention of the Audit Committee to
ensure that prompt remedial action is taken. All recommendations
will be properly followed up to ensure they are implemented within
a reasonable period of time.

Under the enterprise risk management framework, policies and
procedures are in place to identify, assess, manage, control
and report risks. Such risks include strategic, credit, operational
(administrative, system, human resources, tangible and reputation),
market, liquidity, legal and regulatory risks. Exposure to these risks is
continuously monitored by the Board through the Audit Committee.

The internal control system includes a defined management
structure with specified limits of authority. The Board has clearly
defined the authorities and key responsibilities of each division
to ensure adequate checks and balances. The internal control
system has been designed to safeguard the Group's assets
against unauthorised use or disposition, to ensure the maintenance
of proper accounting records for producing reliable financial
information; and to ensure compliance with applicable laws,
regulations and industry standard.

During the year under review, there were no major issue but areas
for improvement have been identified by the Audit Committee and
both the internal and external auditors with appropriate measures
taken. The Board is of the view that the risk management and
internal control systems in place for the year and up to the date of
issuance of the annual report is effective and adequate.

The Company's Internal Audit Department monitors the Group's
internal governance and strives to provide objective assurance to
the Board that appropriate, adequate and effective risk management
and internal control systems are in place. It has unrestricted access
to review all aspects of the Group's activities and internal controls.
It also conducts special audits of areas of concern identified
by management or the Audit Committee. The Internal Audit
Department adopts a risk-based audit approach. All audit reports
are circulated to the Audit Committee and key management. The
Internal Audit Department is also responsible for following up the
implementation of recommendations and corrective actions.
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DIRECTORS’ AND AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The Directors acknowledge their responsibilities for preparing the
consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 March
2019, which give a true and fair view of the financial position of
the Company and its subsidiaries and of the Group's financial
performance and cash flows. In preparing the consolidated financial
statements, the Directors have adopted generally accepted
accounting standards in Hong Kong and suitable accounting policies
and applied them consistently, made judgements and estimates
that are fair and reasonable and prepared the consolidated financial
statements on a going concern basis. The Auditor of the Company
acknowledge their reporting responsibilities in the Independent
Auditor’'s Report on the consolidated financial statements for the
year ended 31 March 2019 as set out in the Independent Auditor’s
Report on pages 64 to 72.

AUDITORS' REMUNERATION

For the year ended 31 March 2019, the fees paid/payable to the
auditors in respect of the audit and non-audit services provided by
the auditors to the Group were as follows:

Nature of services
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Amount (HK$'000)

R E SHE (BT T
Audit services — PricewaterhouseCoopers and other firms of the worldwide network of 7,363
RS PricewaterhouseCoopers
BB SR EBET REMB IR S BUKE R IR R BT
— other auditors 6,752
E A Az EHD
Non-audit services — PricewaterhouseCoopers and other firms of the worldwide network of 144
FEAZBRTE PricewaterhouseCoopers
BEROKEGSTANE AT R EME N E S RUKE R IR R EBA
— other auditors 4,170

H At i BHED

MODEL CODE FOR SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS

The Company has adopted the Model Code for Securities
Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuer (the “Model Code”) as set
out in Appendix 10 of the Listing Rules. Following a specific enquiry
of all Directors, each of the Directors confirmed that he/she has
complied with the Model Code throughout the year.

COMPANY SECRETARY

The Company Secretary is a full-time employee of the Company and
has day-to-day knowledge of the Company's affairs. During the year
under review, the Company Secretary had duly complied with the
relevant professional training requirement under Rule 3.29 of the
Listing Rules.
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THREGHE

SHAREHOLDERS' RIGHTS

Convening a general meeting

Shareholders holding at the date of deposit of the requisition not
less than one-tenth of the paid up capital of the Company carrying
the right of voting at general meetings of the Company shall at
all times have the right, by written requisition to the Board or the
Company Secretary, to require a special general meeting to be called
by the Board for the transaction of any business specified in such
requisition. The requisition must be signed by the requisitionist(s)
and deposited at the principal place of business of the Company in
Hong Kong.

The meeting shall be held within two months after the deposit
of such requisition. If within twenty-one days of such deposit the
Board fails to proceed to convene such meeting the requisitionist(s)
themselves, or any of them representing more than one half of
the total voting rights of all of them, may themselves convene a
meeting, but any meeting so convened shall not be held after the
expiration of three months from the said date.

Putting enquiries to the Board

Shareholders may send their enquiries and concerns to the Board by
addressing them to the Company Secretary and deposit the same at
the Company’s principal place of business in Hong Kong or by e-mail
to enquiry@chevalier.com.

Putting forward proposals at general meetings (“GM”)
Shareholders can submit a written requisition to move a resolution at
a GM. The number of shareholders shall represent not less than one-
twentieth of the total voting rights of all the shareholders having at
the date of the requisition a right to vote at the GM, or shall not be
less than one hundred shareholders.

The written requisition must state the resolution, accompanied by
a statement with respect to the matter referred to in any proposed
resolution or the business to be dealt with at the GM. It must also
be signed by all of the shareholders concerned and be deposited at
Company'’s principal place of business in Hong Kong for the attention
of the Company Secretary.

The shareholders concerned must deposit a sum of money
reasonably sufficient to meet the Company’s expenses in giving the
notice of the resolution and circulating the statement submitted by
the shareholders concerned under applicable laws and rules.

The procedures for shareholders of the Company to propose a
person for election as a director is posted on the website of the
Company.
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INVESTOR AND SHAREHOLDER RELATIONS

The Group's Board and senior management maintains close
communications with investors and the media through various
channels including individual interviews and meetings. The Group
also responds promptly to request for information and queries (if
any) from investors.

The Board welcomes the views of shareholders on matters affecting
the Group and encourages them to attend shareholders’ meetings to
communicate any concerns they might have with the Board or senior
management directly.

The Company provides extensive information of the Group to its
shareholders and the public through the publication of interim and
annual reports, circulars, notices and announcements. The financial
and other information relating to the Group is disclosed on the
Company's website at http://www.chevalier.com.

DIVIDEND POLICY

The Board adopted a dividend policy in November 2018 in
accordance with the applicable laws and regulations as well as the
Bye-Laws of the Company. The aim of this policy is to establish the
parameters for the Board of the Company when they make decision
on the declaration or recommendation of the dividend. It also allows
shareholders of the Company to participate in the Company's profits
whilst preserving the Company’s liquidity to capture future growth
opportunities. This policy shall be reviewed on continuous basis, and
when necessary, and can be revised by the Board from time to time.

MEMORANDUM OF ASSOCIATION AND BYE-LAWS OF THE
COMPANY

During the reporting period, no amendment had been made to the
Memorandum of Association and Bye-Laws of the Company.

THREGHE

BREENRRZBRE
AEEEERLERERABREBRRER
B BREASHKNERERES RERR
RETER AKBENIEDEREERR
BEMEER(INE) 28R -

EEQIRREFEAKRENSZRRELE
R UBBRELHERRAS - #EAEER
EFedEEERRBEMIMNESR -

RArEBRTIEPARFERE  BER - B
ERDEBNARRERABRATRHAEE
MEEmER MERAEEMNTFREME
FLIRER AR BAEYE http://www.chevalier.
commA °

IR EBUR

BEEen T \F+-ARBEREERK
ERARA R B 2 A B A RIBRAR AL R -
IR B O RIRE BB E M S E R
RAREESHELH - ZBERNMAFRA
BIR2E A RN ENRERE QRN REBE
SUAMIERRNERRS - ZBRRGRHER
B WHENBERHEFTSTREF -

ANRABERAMAR AR

RI|BEIA - NAR 2 BEEEAM AR
W EAEHIEET

HI-EHEERRLF | F% 2019 39



ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT

E-#HEgRkE

INTRODUCTION

A E

This is the Environmental, Social and Governance Report (“ESG
Report”) prepared by the Group pursuant to the Environmental,
Social and Governance Reporting Guide provided in Appendix 27 to
the Listing Rules of the Stock Exchange.

The Group has varied business operations in Hong Kong and other
countries. Due to the differences in reporting standards across
regions and given our main operation remains in Hong Kong, this
report only covers the business operations of the Group in Hong

Kong.

The Group believes that communication with its stakeholders helps
the Group gain a better understanding of their needs, expectations
and concerns which in turn enables us to attain sustainable
development in economic, environmental and social terms. The
table below shows how we communicate with our key stakeholders.

Stakeholders

&

Needs, expectations and concerns
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Communication channels

BERE

Shareholders and investors

BREEEE

Employees

i
i

Sub-contractors

S
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Suppliers

AR

General public and community

DRt ER

Return on investments
Corporate strategy and governance

& B2k
TERBERER

Compensation and benefits
Career development opportunities
Occupational health and safety
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Effective project management
Occupational health and safety
Ethical business practices
Sub-contractors assessment criteria
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Long-term relationship
Ethical business practices
Supplier assessment criteria
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Environmental issues
Community participation
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Company website

Interim and annual reports

Annual General Meeting
Announcements, notices of meetings,
circulars
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Employee activities
Staff newsletter and intranet
In-house training programmes
Job performance reviews and appraisals
Regular meeting/training sessions
EEEH
B Timal & A4

mERIE I 2
THYERIRATZ AT
EHEE B IIRE

Training sessions

Health, safety and environment
committee

Regular operation meeting
Audits and assessments
IR
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Procurement processes
e Regular review and assessment

o EEME
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Corporate news

Volunteer community work
Sponsorships and donations
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT

INTRODUCTION (CONTINUED)

Sustainability is essential to the Group's development, as well as for
the viability of its business and for the benefit of the community. We
are dedicated to offering premium products and services to achieve
all round customer satisfaction. The Group believes in environmental
protection and cares for the community through engaging in various
charitable initiatives to make positive contributions to society. We
also nurture our staff and offer career development opportunities
to further ensure business continuity. During the year under
review, the Group committed itself to a high standard of corporate
social responsibility and strictly complied with relevant laws and
regulations reporting. The two key subject areas for reporting are: (A)
Environmental, and (B) Social.

(A) ENVIRONMENTAL
Emissions
During the year, the Group recorded carbon emissions mainly
from its construction sites. Please refer to the table below
which sets out the Group's total carbon emissions by category
for the year.

Greenhouse gas emissions
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Tonnes of carbon CO,

Carbon Emissions ST E (1)
Scope 1: Direct greenhouse gas emissions FE  EERAEREHN 1,059.60
Scope 2: Energy indirect greenhouse gas emissions  #[E 2 : fE/REIE A= REEHK 2,045.67
Scope 3: Other indirect greenhouse gas emissions #HES : HabEEZREREHEM 85.03
Total greenhouse gas emission BERBHENRE 3,190.30

Scope 2 covers carbon emissions generated by the electricity
purchased by our construction sites, and is the largest
carbon emissions for the Group. Due to the large demand for
machineries and equipment, and the size of the construction
sites, 2,045.67 tonnes of carbon emissions was recorded,
representing over 60% of the total recorded greenhouse gas
emission. Electricity is also used for air-conditioners and lighting
of construction work sites and other workplaces.

The second largest carbon emissions under scope 1 came from
the consumption of fuel used for the operation of generators
at the construction sites and for our corporate motor vehicles
which recorded 1,059.60 tonnes of carbon CO,,.
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BE HERERKE

(A) ENVIRONMENTAL (CONTINUED) (A) IRI5 (&)
Emissions (continued) By (&)
In general, the key air pollutants generated include nitrogen BE EENTETRSGEVBERSE
oxides (NO), sulphur oxides (SO, and respiratory suspended E¥(NO) - ALY (SO RFREKL
particles (also known as Particulate Matter (“PM")). (BRI ([PM])) -
Air emissions SR HE
Emissions (kg)
Type of Air Pollutants ZERISEY M ER HHE (Tx)
Nitrogen oxides (NO,) ALY (NO) 1,967.42
Sulphur oxides (SO,) el (So) 3.46
Particulate Matter (PM) AR (PM) 145.65
Waste is generated by the Group mainly from the disposal of K%Z%%IE%QE%I%E@M%
materials from our construction sites and the disposal of papers. &%ﬁfbﬁﬁ ° Fﬁﬁ@%ﬁ%ﬁ%ﬂaﬂﬁ
All wastes are non-hazardous and have been properly disposed ERE - TRIHMELNENHEE
of. The total amount of waste generated is set out in the table
below:
Waste =22
Tonnes
Type of Non-hazardous Waste mERYIER Mg
Landfill by 3,713.44
Papers BEAR 178.11
During the year under review, the Group did not violate any laws REEERN NEBWEENGEER
and regulations in relation to emissions. TSR AR o
Nevertheless, we have implemented various energy saving R BRI B S ESEE - B
measures to help reduce our carbon emissions (please refer to BR KB IR (R 2B Tt [IRE KA
the “The Environment and Natural Resources” below). BB o
Use of Resources EEFEH
Our commitment to protect the environment is well reflected N B Y IR (R R R R RIE
by our continuous efforts in promoting green measures and VERFTIREMIB RN S Hh B
awareness in all business practices. During the year, resources ERDRER o RER - AEBSEELNE
consumed by the Group are listed in the table below: FREBIN T
Consumption
Type of Resources ERER Ag
Electricity 3 280,941.73 kWh T B
Water X 3,574.11 m33 F5K
Paper R 54.82 tonnes M
We implemented various energy saving measures to help BMERT STEEREE  LEBRD
reduce our resources consumption (please refer to the “The MM ERBREGBLE T 3R
Environment and Natural Resources” below). BRAAER]) -
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(A) ENVIRONMENTAL (CONTINUED)

The Environment and Natural Resources

The Group recognises the importance of enhancing the
awareness about environmental protection among staff with
the aim of saving energy, fully utilising resources and recycling
wastes in our daily office operation. The mission of maintaining
environmental sustainability is engrained in all levels of staff
members and is a long-term commitment driven by our top
management.

The Group took measures to reduce paper usage including the
promotion of the use of electronic devices, and encouraged
the use of websites and online versions of corporate
communications. Since 2008, Forest Stewardship Council-
certified papers have been used for the production of our annual
and interim reports to reduce the impact on the environment.
The Group also engaged waste dealer to collect regularly used
papers for recycling. In order to facilitate the collection of used
papers, recycle bags are placed beside photocopiers to collect
used papers.

In line with the Group’s promotion of environmental protection
and to save energy consumption, devices such as occupancy
and motion sensor which automatically turn lights off when
the office is not occupied, daylight sensor which reduces
electric lighting inside the building when it is daylight; and other
measurements such as, the adoption of light-emitting diode
(LED) type high energy efficiency lamps, the reduction of the
number of light tubes by replacing them with T5 florescent
tube in the lighting basins in some offices one adopted. Most
of our office equipment carries the Energy Label issued by the
Electrical and Mechanical Services Department which further
helps decrease energy consumption in our offices.

Our construction and engineering division puts much effort
into protecting the environment and uses energy in the most
efficient, cost-effective, and environmentally responsible
manner possible for new equipment, major work and new
design at project sites. Measures implemented, to name a few,
include noise control, waste water discharge, dust control,
controlled chemical waste disposal, use of recyclable waste
materials and prevention of chemical leakage. Another example
was the use of biodiesel in some of our machineries on site.
Environmental protection policies and plans as well as energy
policies and energy management system manuals were set
up for different projects. Some of our group companies have
obtained the ISO14001 and ISO50001 certifications which also
demonstrate our commitment to environmental protection and
energy management.

Our property management business has obtained the 1ISO14001
certification since 2006 and is committed to enhancing
environmental awareness and promoting various recycling
activities through its managed estates. Activities were held
for recycling and for the promotion of green living lifestyle
for residents and tenants of properties managed by the
Group. During the year, in addition to the prize of the Highest
Collection Volume Estate organised by Po Leung Kuk's Eastern
Community Green Station, the property management division
was also awarded prizes under the campaign named “Kwun
Tong Community Green Station”, “Certificate of Commendation
Scheme of Source Separation of Domestic Waste 2017-18",
“Champion & The Best Environmental Hygiene Building Award
of Kowloon City Quality Building Management Competition” and
“the Best Environmental Hygiene Building 2018-19", which all
demonstrate its endeavor to promote environmental awareness
and green living lifestyle.
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BE HERERKS

(B) SOCIAL

Employment and Labour Practices

Employment and Labour Standards

To attract, develop and retain qualified employees, the Group is
committed to offering professional development opportunities
and a healthy working environment for all employees and on-
site staff. In addition, we have implemented equal opportunity
employment practices.

As at 31 March 2019, the Group had a total of approximately
4,000 full-time employees globally. Below is an analysis of
the Group’s Hong Kong workforce by employment category,
gender, age group, employee turnover rate by gender and by
age group.

(B) &

ERRSETESR
fEfR 5 55 T 2RI
"W BERBRECERREES KK
BMENRREERERERBTHEE TR
HEEERME LEFHTIERE - It
Sh - RAPEETFERENRRBRA -

RZZ-NF=A=+—0 KxEER
2HEMREHLO4000E2BEES - T
RILEBER - 1R - FERARIZ S A
SENE BN EE) H DM A RIRMER K
FEAR BN REIRKLEDHT

Employee Category By Gender By Age Group
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Female

71 31%

10%
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Male
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Employee Turnover Rate
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Above 51
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Employee Turnover Rate

By Age Group
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(B) SOCIAL (CONTINUED)

Employment and Labour Practices (continued)

Employment and Labour Standards (continued)

There are four employee levels in the Group. General/operational
staff, representing approximately 80% of the total workforce,
forms the major component of the Group's workforce.
Gender diversity is challenging to the Group, especially for the
construction and engineering segment. During the year, male
employees make up approximately 69% of the total workforce.
The largest group of employees falls in the age category over
50 while the highest turnover rate of employees falls in the age
category of 31-60 who have all left at their own accord.

The Group reviews its compensation and benefits programs
regularly to ensure that its compensation and benefits packages
remain competitive. In addition, the Group continues to conduct
annual review of its pay and benefits packages including its
medical scheme, health check programmes, travel insurance,
training subsidies and retirement benefits to align them with
prevailing offers in the market. Different recreational activities
were also arranged by our Human Resources Department.
Interest classes, workshops and language classes were
organised during the year under review to increase the sense
of belonging of our employees. The Group also strives to help
our employees maintain a work life balance and to meet needs
of working mothers. A new Chevalier Staff Recreation Centre
where staff members can rest, relax and socialise and a new
lactation room were opened for use in May 2019.

The Group advocates a community spirit that thrives on mutual
respect and equal opportunities. The Group complies strictly to
equal opportunities legislation, such as the Sex Discrimination
Ordinance, Race Discrimination Ordinance, Disability
Discrimination Ordinance and Family Status Discrimination
Ordinance. To ensure diversity and equality, we recruit,
remunerate and promote employees based on their experience,
skills and performance, without prejudice to age, race, disability,
gender or family status. In addition, the Group is strongly
committed to compliance with relevant laws and regulations and
does not engage in any forced or child labour.

The Group upholds high standards of business ethics and
promotes good personal conduct of its employees. Our Personal
Conduct and Staff Conduct Code in the Human Resources
Policies and Procedures Manual can be easily accessed by staff
members through our intranet.

BE  HERERKE

(B) #& (&)

EBRERETIER(E)

BERS TR (&)

REBHRENERERE - —iR121E
BTHETHRHEAN80%  AXEEET
MEBEKIG - NEBGFEERZT
FERE LEEEREREWIESE -
RER - FHEBEEIBELG69% °
FHRE0B U EHNEEBE AZEES - B
350N ERANNRAZR RS KBS
HABBERMBER

R 62 B 7E B A 5 5 B K 4@ A R B A RE AR
ZEFMERADEBREF ] - I KE
EEFRTEETRT - REERTN
AEFMTEEEMREN BRER
itEl - RERE - SMEARRR - F
A NRIKIEH o ANEIREBFIINZ B
TEIBREES) - 7 E A R R
BE - TAESTRONGEIL - LAIE SR (R B eV ER
R o REEBOE B E B M1 TR
AR 2 RGP EY ZR RIS GNE
Eo—EMNELTETHEEDL B
TR ALYERRR - BUR KRB EE 77
L—MeHnRIlze R —F—-NFh
HFREER -

AEERNREEHEERFEREN
HREW  AREBRRETRETS
SOAR - BRI RIEAR RA - R
ARG ~ AR IS AR 16191 % 2R B e 2 5
BRD - BIEREHRZ TN FFRE
#e  KNEBRIEE - HE R EARA
DENEE R TIERSR - SeEMITIER
B BIT2REFHK Bk BK- &
Pl 2% 51 BE R 32 T 52 BIMEAT AR © e
AEBERETHRBERZERLBT
SEEMEH S THIERETL -

AEEZREEHESRENHEER
RERE RS EARST - ANERBEK
MEFFMASAEARTRETTR
SR BT RBEBAKEE ZE -

HI-EBREERRAE | £% 2019 45



ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT
BE HERERKE

(B) SOCIAL (CONTINUED)

46

Employment and Labour Practices (continued)

Health and Safety

The Group is committed to providing a safe and healthy
working environment to all employees and on-site staff. We
regularly monitor our work environment and staff facilities.
The Group has stringent guidelines for employees who are
assigned to work on construction sites to minimise and
prevent exposure to occupational hazards and to ensure a
high standard of occupational safety. Safety and health care
trainings are provided from time to time for newcomers and
relevant personnel at our construction sites so as to improve
their awareness of safety in a working environment. Moreover,
we offer, and it is mandatory for our colleagues on sites to use,
special safety equipment such as safety helmets, ear plugs, dust
masks, goggles and safety shoes. Additional rest periods and
shelters, ventilation facilities and potable water for workers are
also provided during hot weather.

Occupational Health and Safety Committee

Our property management business has obtained OHSAS18001
as a recognition of its compliance with occupational health
and safety requirements since 2006. Head office and selected
sites are audited periodically by the British Standards Institution
for renewal of the certificate. We have a Safety Committee
which consists of property management staff members from
head office and site level operation staff which formulates
site safety measures and policies. Regular meetings are
scheduled every 3 months for post-implementation review of
audited sites, as well as information exchange on accidents
or injuries and precautionary measures that can be taken for
other sites to follow. Trainings are organised every 3 months
in various districts of audited sites and encourage staff of non-
audited sites to participate to promote the occupational health
and safety culture. Further, one of our group companies,
representing the Hong Kong Association of Property
Management Companies, is a member of the Occupational
Safety & Health Council — Property Management, Environmental
Hygiene and Recycling Services Safety and Health Committee,
thereby helping to foster and promote occupational safety and
health standards in the property management trade.

Site Safety Subgroup

Our construction and engineering colleagues ensure site safety
inspections are carried out on a regular basis and any finding
of major breaches and unsafe condition are rectified promptly.
The site safety subgroup comprising representatives from our
project companies and subcontractors, held operation meetings
frequently. During the year under review, no work related
fatalities was recorded.
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(B) SOCIAL (CONTINUED)

Employment and Labour Practices (continued)

Development and Training

The Group recognises that the knowledge and skills of our
employees are vital to the Group's continued business
development and success, we, therefore, encourage our staff
to pursue further with their professional development. The
Group nominates staff to attend internal and external training
programs from time to time and when appropriate. Our training
programs also range from professional and technical training to
personal development skills. The Group also provides education
subsidies to encourage staff to further develop their skills and
broaden their knowledge. To continuously attract new talents,
the Group also organises apprenticeship programs and provides
apprentices with on-the-job training. The table below shows the
training provided to our staff members during the year under
review.

BE HERERKE

(B) #& (&)

BRRETIESR (H)

R KA
REERBREEBAH L AR E
MEBHBERIKNTHER - KAE
EENSBE I T oS RE S HEHE
B ARETERIRE B T2 MAEE N
SR IERAZ  JAlRIPREFTE M
M IA E B ARBER R - AEBETTE
HHE R USBETE - THRRK
B M IRFE A - REEWSIFEAT
REETFEMBED - AR ERHE
ERE - TRIVIAEEFARE T
RAEMEIIEER] -

( 2%

67%

Training Category
K IR

31%

B In-house Training
AEBEH

B External Training
HhEREEHI

Apprenticeship Program
BiEatEl

J

Operating Practices

Supply Chain Management

The Group carefully selects qualified suppliers to ensure that
the entire production process is in line with our standards
and rules. We not only require our new suppliers to submit
all relevant documents for review, but also conduct rigorous
checks to assess their reliability. We carry out inspections and
assessments regularly to review our suppliers’ standards and
terminate collaboration with unqualified suppliers.

The Group upholds fair operating practices in its relationship
with subcontractors and suppliers through an efficient
procurement system. We have also adopted systems for
competitive tendering and subcontractors’ performance
monitoring and reporting. The Group conducts regular reviews
of terms and conditions of subcontracts and supply contracts
between the Group and our subcontractors and suppliers which
enables the development of effective and strong partnerships.
Such reviews cover the potential enhancement of social, ethical,
environmental and gender equality criteria in subcontracts and
supply contracts.
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Operating Practices (continued)

Product Responsibility

The Group recognises that good customer and after-sales
services are keys to the success and sustainability of the
Group. In order to cater for prompt response in meeting with
the needs of our customers, the Group has, therefore, set up
customer service teams for its different business units to handle
customers’ queries efficiently.

The Group respects the privacy of personal data and has developed
policies on the collection and usage of personal data. Review and
revision of the personal data and privacy policy are carried out to
ensure its effectiveness and compliance with relevant laws.

Since the Group is a customer focused organisation, its
environmental project team commits to make every effort to
achieve customer satisfaction through continual improvement
in our quality management system in accordance with the
requirements of 1ISO9001:2015. The project team has a quality
policy statement which serves as a guideline to its team.

For our property management business, the Group discusses
issues with site managers and members of the Safety
Committee, and regularly provides updates to site managers
and/or person-in-charge for maintaining the recognition of
ISO9001, 1ISO14001, OHSAS18001 or to fulfil statutory
requirements. The Group also reminds site managers to
regularly review existing contractors’ terms and take necessary
precaution measures whenever applicable.

Customer needs and satisfaction have always been the priorities
of the Group. Our information technology related businesses
provide comprehensive order processing, fulfilment and back-
office services to consumers. Our customer service centre
provides a wide range of information and assistance to answer
customers’ inquiries and to offer repair and maintenance
services to consumers.

Intellectual properties are our Company’s vital assets, as such,
we have exercised our utmost endeavours to safeguard our
intellectual properties rights and interests. The Group has also in
place certain procedures and safeguards to protect customers’
information from unauthorised access, usage and leakage and to
maintain their data privacy.

Anti-Corruption

The Group has in place a series of corporate governance
policies which ensure that the Group has in place a sound
corporate governance system. Anti-corruption and business
gift and entertainment, conflicts of interests, privacy and
confidentiality of information are some of the areas covered. The
corporate governance policies assures the adoption of standard
procedures across the Group and provides guidelines, and the
anti-corruption and business gifts and entertainment policy spell
out the Group’s position in relation to these issues clearly. As
part of the Group’s orientation training, new employees receive
anti-corruption training materials and such policies are also made
available to staff members in the course of their execution of
duties. No cases of corruption were reported within the Group
during the year under review.
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(B) SOCIAL (CONTINUED)

Community

Community Investment

Taking roots in Hong Kong for nearly 50 years, Chevalier Group is
committed to corporate social responsibility with a strong belief
in "giving back to society”. It strives to serve the community
by actively participating in community services, charitable
sponsorships, education, cultural and sports activities and in the
promotion of environmental protection.

During the year under review, the Group sponsored a variety
of charitable events, including “Sing Out”, the charity show of
Suicide Prevention Services Limited, “"HKGCC Free Ride Day”
organised by the Hong Kong General Chamber of Commerce
and “Chevalier Blood Donation Day"” co-organised with the
Hong Kong Red Cross. To promote the CSR culture of sharing
and collaboration among companies and the community in Hong
Kong, the Group supported the 6th "“Industry Cares Recognition
Scheme” established by the Federation of Hong Kong Industries
as a Caring Partner. The Group’s outstanding performance in
community services is recognised and it has been conferred the
award of “Caring Company Logo” by the Hong Kong Council of
Social Service since 2011.

Education and Culture

Chevalier Group believes that young people are the future
leaders of the society and education plays an important role
in cultivating young talents. The Group established “Chevalier
Culture & Education Foundation” in 1998, with an aim to foster
cultural, academic and educational exchanges amongst Hong
Kong and other countries. To nurture young professionals for
the Hong Kong construction industry, the Group established
“Chevalier Group Scholarship” for all full-time students of the
Vocational Training Council (VTC) in the Engineering Discipline.
Moreover, the Group also financed the Chinese Manufacturers’
Association of Hong Kong's Scholarship Programme and
made donation to the H.K.U. Engineering Alumni Association
(HKUEAA) Education Foundation for the HKUEAA Ir. Dr. Joseph
CHOW Ming-kuen Memorial Learning Fund. In addition, the
Group sponsored the Fund-raising Dinner 2018/2019 of The
Hong Kong Polytechnic University in order to support the
University's development.

The Group has long demonstrated its full support for promoting
local arts and culture development. During the year, it was
a Platinum Sponsor of Opera Hong Kong, and also the Main
Sponsor of the 7th “Argentina Festival Hong Kong” which was
organised by the Consulate General of the Argentine Republic
in Hong Kong with the aim to promote Argentina culture and
tradition within Hong Kong and Macau.
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Community (continued)

Community Investment (continued)

Sports and Environment

The Group has sponsored the “Chevalier Cup Race Day” of the
Hong Kong Jockey Club for 23 consecutive years. The Group
also co-sponsored the “Everbright Sun Hung Kai Hong Kong
Squash Open 2018" which was organised by the Hong Kong
Squash and participated in “The Community Chest Corporate
Challenge 2019" to encourage healthy lifestyle and sport, as
well as to raise fund for the needy.

As a responsible corporate citizen, the Group strives to build
a greener and sustainable community. It gave full support
to various green advocates to promote public awareness of
environmental protection. It has a committed partnership with
WWEF and is the Silver Member of WWF-Hong Kong Corporate
Membership Programme for 2018-2019.The Group also became
the Hong Kong Green Building Council Limited's Silver Patron
Member.

Volunteering

The Group has in place a volunteer team — “Chevalier Cares”
since 2011. During the year under review, Chevalier Cares
arranged various visits with the non-profit organisations such
as the Hong Kong Young Women's Christian Association,
Evangelical Lutheran Church of Hong Kong, Hong Kong
Family Welfare Society and Hong Kong PHAB Association. It
participated in different volunteer programs and served those
in need including the elderly, children, disabled and low income
families. The volunteer team contributed over 700 hours of
voluntary work for the aforementioned events during the year.
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BREENER EERZM (RIR - HERER/BEES) RE BB
A. Environmental
A RIZEE
Aspect A1 Emissions
JETH A1 HER
General disclosure Information on: Emissions
the policies; and compliance with relevant laws and
regulations that have a significant impact on the issuer
relating to air and greenhouse gas emissions, discharges
into water and land, and generation of hazardous and non-
hazardous waste.
— MR ER BHERIREREIN - KR TinEEs - BERESE i7133587)
BEEMNESSNBE RETHETARTERZENERE
ERAGINER -
KPI'A1.1 The types of emissions and respective emissions data. Emissions
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KPIs

RREAMER
KPI' A1.2

RASRIEBUIEIR A2

KPI' A1.3

R EIEIZA1.3

KPI'A1.4

FASAERIEIR A4

KPIA1.5
BASARUIEIR AL
KPI A1.6

FASHERIEIRAL1.6

Aspect A2
[EmE A2

General disclosure
—RR IR EE

KPI'A2.1

RAsAERER A2

KPI A2.2
BARAERUEIRA2.2
KPI A2.3

FARESIEIRA2.3

KPI A2.4

PREIEIRA2.4

HKEx ESG Reporting Guide Requirements
EBRZ (BE - tERERH|EES) RE

Greenhouse gas emissions in total (in tonnes) and, where
appropriate, intensity (e.g. per unit of production volume, per
facility).

RERBANE (UBEETE) R (ER) ZE (e
iz ~ GIEZHETH) o

EEE

Total hazardous waste produced (in tonnes) and, where
appropriate, intensity (e.g. per unit of production volume, per

facility).
FMEAAEREEYAE (LABETE) X (WER) BE (A EE
SH - FEEMETE)

Total non-hazardous waste produced (in tonnes) and, where
appropriate, intensity (e.g. per unit of production volume, per
facility).

FrE4ABREREEDES (ATE
S8 - BEZME)

1) R (iEm ) BE (AAZE

Description of measures to mitigate emissions and results
achieved.

BRI BRI HE S P SRCR

Description of how hazardous and non-hazardous wastes are
handled, reduction initiatives and results achieved.
HARIEEERBEFEEYNTE  BUKES SR NAT
BRE -

Use of resources

BRER

Policies on efficient use of resources, including energy, water
and other raw materials.
BRERER (BEREIR - KREMERMED BIBEER -

Direct and/or indirect energy consumption by type (e.qg.
electricity, gas or oil) in total (kWh in '000s) and intensity (e.g.
per unit of production volume, per facility).
REAEDMERE R SHEEER(WE - felohn) BFEE (A
FRERTERAE) RBE (MASES SN - BERMBAHE)

Water consumption in total and intensity (e.g. per unit of
production volume, per facility).
BIKEREE (WABESEN - BERBIE) °
Description of energy use efficiency initiatives and results
achieved

Rt LR (L FA e 5t 8 PTG AR ©

Description of whether there is any issue in sourcing water
that is fit for purpose, water efficiency initiatives and results
achieved.

SR EGE KR ERI B R RERE - A RIRF ARt &l
K PSER o

ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT

5 HEREEGHE

Section/Remarks

B EE

Emissions

Z3.¢7)

No hazardous waste was
produced.

WEELREERY -

Emissions

B

Environment and Natural
Resources

RERRAER

Emissions; Environment
and Natural Resources
e RIRRRAER

Environment and Natural
Resources
RIBRKRAER

Use of Resources

BIR{E A

Use of Resources
BIREA

Environment and Natural
Resources

RIENRABR

[t is not a major issue for our
business

BWIFRMIRGNEEN

%o

HI-EBREERRAE | F% 2019 H1



KPIs

BAREMER
KPI'A2.5

FASAENIEIRA2.6

Aspect A3

EEA3

General disclosure
—REH R

KPI'A3.1

PASAESIRIR AB.1

B. Social
B. #g

HKEx ESG Reporting Guide Requirements
ERRE (BE - tERER|ER) RE

Total packaging material used for finished products (in
tonnes) and, if applicable, with reference to per unit
produced.

S TR BEMBNEE (BEETE) & (ER) BEES

fZfh& -

The environment and natural resources
RIBRRAER

Policies on minimising the issuer’s significant impact on the
environment and natural resources.

BEEITABRBELRAERERERTENBE

Description of the significant impacts of activities on the
environment and natural resources and the actions taken to
manage them.

I EB R IRR LR RAERNEATEREHKNEER
R ENITE

Employment and Labour Practices

EENSTER

Aspect B1
BT

General disclosure

—RIKE

KPI B1.1
BARAARURIR BT
KPI B1.2

R ENIEIZB1.2

Employment

(A

Information on:

the policies; and compliance with relevant laws and
regulations that have a significant impact on the issuer
relating to compensation and dismissal, recruitment and
promotion, working hours, rest periods, equal opportunity,

diversity, anti-discrimination, and other benefits and welfare.

EMFHRLRE - ARRET - TIBg - B - P2
& S5 - R RSB REFMEE © LT
BITAE BAY EHRMERRIANI AR -

Total workforce by employment type, gender, and age group.

REREEE - MR RFRARNE S HIESHEE -
Employee turnover rate by gender and age group.

BRI R FRARIBI D MERIRAKLE -
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BE HERERKE

Section/Remarks

B EE

Our operation does not
involve significant use of
packaging material.
BMMEETSIRAEFER
BEME -

Environment and Natural
Resources
RIERARNE IR

Environment and Natural
Resources

RIENKRABR

Employment and Labour
Standards

e K 55 T#ER)

Employment and Labour
Standards
B {E R & TA8|

Employment and Labour
Standards
TEE R85 T 4R



KPIs

RREAMER

Aspect B2
R B2

General disclosure

— AR
KPI B2.1
BASAABUIEIR B2.1

KPI B2.2
BRI B2.2

KPI B2.3

RASAEIERB2.3

Aspect B3
[ B3

General disclosure

—RIRE

KPI B3.1
RS AARUIEIR B3
KPI B3.2

BASAERUIEIR B3.2

Aspect B4
[ B4

General disclosure

—fRIEE

KPI B4.1

BASAEIER B4

KPI B4.2

FASHEIEIR B4.2

HKEx ESG Reporting Guide Requirements
EBRZ (BE - tERERH|EES) RE

Health and safety
fEREZ R

Information on:

the policies; and compliance with relevant laws and
regulations that have a significant impact on the issuer
relating to providing a safe working environment and
protecting employees from occupational hazards.
BRRHT 2 TERBERREREH B ENBENHER
BTHETABEATENEBER LRI ER -

Number and rate of work-related fatalities.

B T B R TSE T M AU 2 o

Lost days due to work injury.

ATBEXTIEEH

Description of occupational health and safety measures
adopted how they are implemented and monitored.
PR B R R 218 - A SBBIT REER T
V% o

Development and training
e RIET

Policies on improving employees’ knowledge and skills for
discharging duties at work. Description of training activities.
BRI E B BT TIEBE A A LR RE A BUR - et
EED ©

The percentage of employees trained by category.
RERIBIDNRIMEEB L

The average training hours completed per employee by
gender and employee category.
EMRIREESERNED - BEEETRZIIN TR

Labour standards
& 2R

Information on:

the policies; and compliance with relevant laws and
regulations that have a significant impact on the issuer
relating to preventing child and forced labour.
BB 1L E T akea 4 THBUR RIE T ¥ 8T
AR ERE KRBV ERS o

TABEARZE

Description of measures to review employment practices to
avoid child and forced labour.

R R ESMER AR RET RRHIST -

Description of steps taken to eliminate such practices when
discovered.

R ERE R BN E R GRS RER A 5 -

ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT

5 HEREEGHE

Section/Remarks

B EE

Health and Safety

BEERZE
Health and Safety
BERERZE

Health and Safety
EERZER

Health and Safety

fREEZE

Development and Training
B RIET

Development and Training
R KIET

Not available

TNEH

Employment and Labour
Standards

&l K55 TR

Employment and Labour
Standards
BB R4 T4

Employment and Labour
Standards
1% & 55 TAR)
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B HERERKE

KPIs

BAREMER

Operating Practices

LEED

Aspect B5
[ETE B5

General disclosure
—AEH R

KPI B5.1
BASRAR RUIRIR B, 1

KPI' B5.2

FAsAE K IE1R Bb.2

Aspect B6
BT B6

General disclosure

—RIKE

KPI B6.1

PR AR SN IR1R B6.1

KPI B6.2
PR RIE1R B6.2
KPI B6.3
FABAE IG5 B6.3
KPI B6.4
FASAARIEIRB6.4
KPI B6.5

PR AE N IE1R B6.6

HKEx ESG Reporting Guide Requirements
ERRE (BE - tERER|ER) RE

Supply chain management

HiEsEE R

Policies on managing environmental and social risks of the
supply chain.
ERHEENRE I ERBEE -

Number of suppliers by geographical region.
i Bl DB EREEE o

Description of practices relating to engaging suppliers,

number of suppliers where the practices are being

implemented, how they are implemented and monitored.

?“E%%%Tﬁﬁ%?% MEBITA BRI RS
C ARE BT RERTE

Product responsibility
EmEE

Information on:

the policies; and compliance with relevant laws and
regulations that have a significant impact on the issuer
relating to health and safety, advertising, labelling and privacy
matters relating to products and services provided and
methods of redress.

BHFMRMERNREOHRERLZS BE  REIILES
BEARBROTENBER RETHBITABERZENEBE
ERBRDINER -

Percentage of total products sold or shipped subject to recalls
for safety and health reasons.
PENEEXERAHT AL R EERIEAMARKN E S
Lt -

Number of products and service related complaints received
and how they are dealt with.

REANEmMRB R B AREEH X -

Description of practices relating to observing and protecting
intellectual property rights.

1ol S 4 S AR IR AN B EE R A AR 1B B o

Description of quality assurance process and recall
procedures
S SR E BIR R EmBIYGRT

Description of consumer data protection and privacy policies,
how they are implemented and monitored.

flE B & B RHRIE RALRHEOR - ARBREHITRERTE -
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Section/Remarks

B EE

Supply Chain Management
HEEER

Not applicable
NiE A

Supply Chain Management

HiEsEE R

Product Responsibility

Not applicable

TEA

Product Responsibility

]
nn =

i

i

5

Product Responsibility

jm]
[a15]

i
Tt
H

Product Responsibility

]
An E

mt
it
o

Product Responsibility

mafE

i



KPIs

RREAMER

Aspect B7
[ B7

General disclosure

—fRINFR

KPI B7.1

FASE M IEIR BT 1

KPI B7.2
BASRAERUIEIR BT .2

Community

o

Aspect B8
EEBS

General disclosure

—fRINER

KPI B8.1

FASEAE M E1R BB

KPI B8.2
B RIE1R B8.2

HKEx ESG Reporting Guide Requirements
ERREM (BE - £ ERERBERESD) AE

Anti-corruption
REE

Information on:

the policies; and compliance with relevant laws and
regulations that have a significant impact on the issuer
relating to bribery, extortion, fraud and money laundering.
BN EARES - BR - BGFROAREMNBER KETHEITA
BEATENEBERIROINER -

Number of concluded legal cases regarding corrupt practices
brought against the issuer or its employees during the
reporting period and the outcomes of the cases.
RERAANH T ARHEBRE W E BENETHARMT
BB KRR o

Description of preventive measures and whistle-blowing
procedures, how they are implemented and monitored.

T E e R IRAZ T - A RABBRIT RER A o

Community investment

HEREE

Policies on community engagement to understand the
needs of the communities where the issuer operates and to
ensure its activities take into consideration the communities’
interests.

BRANE2HER T BBITALSEREHRFEEMBREE
THEEEE BALE MBS ©

Focus areas of contribution (e.g. education, environmental
concerns, labour needs, health, culture, sport).
FIEREE (HE RREEE  SIHFK #ER b

B 2=
BEg5)-

Resources contributed (e.g. money or time) to the focus area.

EZISBMPRER(MSBERFEH) -

ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT
BE HERERKE

Section/Remarks

B EE

Anti-Corruption

REF

During the year, no cases of
corruption were proven

RER A MBERSE
fi o

Anti-Corruption

REF

Community Investment

HERIEE

Community Investment

HEREE

Community Investment

HEIE
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS
EEEHRE

The Board presents to shareholders their annual report together with
the audited financial statements of the Company and of the Group
for the year ended 31 March 2019.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The principal activity of the Company is investment holding. The
principal activities of the Group are construction and engineering,
property investment, property development and operations,
healthcare investment and car dealership. Other ancillary and
supporting businesses of principal subsidiaries, associates and joint
ventures that are integrated with the main businesses of the Group
are shown on pages 199 to 204.

The Group’'s revenue and results for the year ended 31 March
2019, analysed by operating segments, are set out in note 6 to the
consolidated financial statements.

BUSINESS REVIEW

A fair review of the businesses of the Group during the year,
particulars of important events affecting the Group that have
occurred subsequent to the year ended 31 March 2019 (if any), a
description of principal risks and uncertainties facing the Group and
discussion on the Group's prospects are provided in the Letter to
Shareholders on pages 8 to 9, Management Discussion and Analysis
on pages 10 to 14, Financial Review on pages 15 to 19 and note 4
to the consolidated financial statements. In addition, discussions on
the Group's compliance with relevant laws and regulations which
have a significant impact on the Group, relationships with its key
stakeholders and environmental policy are provided in the Corporate
Governance Report and Environmental, Social and Governance
Report on pages 28 to 39 and pages 40 to 55, respectively.

RESULTS AND APPROPRIATIONS

The results of the Group for the year ended 31 March 2019 are set
out in the consolidated income statement on page 74. The Board
now recommends the payment of a final dividend of HK$0.35 (2018:
HK$0.25) per share payable in cash to shareholders whose names
appear on the Register of Members of the Company on Wednesday,
11 September 2019. Together with an interim dividend of HK$0.15
(2018: HK$0.10 and a one-off special interim dividend of HK$1.40)
per share paid on Friday, 21 December 2018, the total dividends
for the year amounted to HK$0.50 (2018: HK$1.75) per share.
Subject to the approval by shareholders at the AGM, the proposed
final dividend will be payable in cash to shareholders on or about
Wednesday, 18 September 2019.

56 CHEVALIER INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS LIMITED | ANNUAL REPORT 2019

EXZgREARANAEERE _T—NF
— A=t BULFEFHREEELVHRER
HEBRME -

FEEK

ARBIZEBEBARELER  MALEEZ
FTEEBLAEZERBWIE DERE D
E¥HRENEE  REEERERTERE -
HEMEEEBERAANEREBTERITH
REB199BE204B 2 T EHBRAR] - BER
RANAEIER -

REBBE-_ZT-NFZA=Z+—HILEFE
(AZENE) 2 WA REEHNEAMBER
=<MIFE6 -

XBESR

REBEBEBFNFRANZTEES - LEERE
E_E-NE=ZA=t—RILEE AL
AREENEAEH(INE) AEEEHHE
DA & TR E AR A EB RS0
HRBR R KEESEEIE - BEE W
EAWMBI0ER14E « B FuE158E
198 MR BT IEIRRMIGES o 1oh » HASE
BEEAZEMNEBEERREEN® - ©
FTERFMHENBRIIRBBER D BIENEE
ERAMEF28ERI9ENIBE - HERER
WEFA0OBEELLE

XERRA

AREFHE - T-NFZA=+—HILFE
CEBEHNETABZEAWNER -EFER
HE IR SRR B FIEE0.35 0 (=
T—\F: BE0T)FR_E—HLER
A+—B(EH=)A5ARARELM 2%
R-#BREENR_Z—\F+-_A=-+—H(E
B IR 2 R ERRR B BRI A 015 T (=
—\FF B 0.10 7T M — R 14 Bl R #AR B
FRBH1.4070) © AFEALRERS TR
BEE0LOTT(ZZE—NF  BEE1.7570) o £
REREFASERRIER  EZ AR
BHR_ZE—NEFEALATNB(EH=)UIR
X e



CLOSURE OF REGISTER OF MEMBERS

For determining the entitlement to attend and vote at the AGM, the
Register of Members of the Company will be closed from Thursday,
22 August 2019 to Wednesday, 28 August 2019, both days inclusive,
during which period no transfer of shares will be effected. In order
to be eligible to attend and vote at the AGM, all transfer documents
accompanied by the relevant share certificates must be lodged with
the Company's branch share registrar in Hong Kong, Tricor Standard
Limited, at Level 54, Hopewell Centre, 183 Queen’'s Road East,
Hong Kong for registration not later than 4:30 p.m. on Wednesday,
27 August 2019.

For determining entitlement to the proposed final dividend (subject
to the passing of an ordinary resolution by the shareholders of the
Company at the AGM), the Register of Members of the Company
will be closed from Thursday, 5 September 2019 to Wednesday,
11 September 2019, both days inclusive, during which period
no transfer of shares will be effected. In order to qualify for the
proposed final dividend, all transfer documents accompanied by
the relevant share certificates must be lodged with the Company’s
branch share registrar in Hong Kong, Tricor Standard Limited, Level
54, Hopewell Centre, 183 Queen’s Road East, Hong Kong for
registration not later than 4:30 p.m. on Wednesday, 4 September
2019.

SHARES ISSUED

Details of the shares issued by the Company during the year are set
out in note 36 to the consolidated financial statements.

RESERVES
Movements in reserves of the Group and the Company during the
year are set out in note 37 and note 49 to the consolidated financial
statements.

As at 31 March 2019, the Company's reserves available for
distribution to shareholders amounted to HK$1,533,178,000 (2018:
HK$1,496,619,000).

INVESTMENT PROPERTIES

Movements in investment properties of the Group during the year
are set out in note 15 to the consolidated financial statements.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Movements in property, plant and equipment of the Group during
the year are set out in note 16 to the consolidated financial
statements.
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS
EFEHE

BANK AND OTHER BORROWINGS

Details of bank and other borrowings of the Group as at 31 March
2019 are set out in note 35 to the consolidated financial statements.

FINANCIAL SUMMARY/FINANCIAL REVIEW

Financial summary and financial review of the Group are shown on
pages 2 to 5 and on pages 15 to 19, respectively.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

The Group's revenue and purchases for the year attributable to the
Group’s five largest customers and suppliers were less than 30%
respectively. None of the Directors, their respective close associates
(as defined in the Listing Rules) or any shareholder (whom to the
knowledge of the Directors owns 5% or more of the issued share
capital of the Company) as at 31 March 2019 has any interest in the
Group’s five largest customers and suppliers.

MAJOR PROPERTIES

Particulars of major properties of the Group as at 31 March 2019 are
set out on pages 25 to 27.

EMPLOYEES AND REMUNERATION POLICIES

The Group employed approximately 4,000 full-time staff under
its subsidiaries globally as at 31 March 2019. Total staff costs
amounted to HK$1,149 million for the year ended 31 March 2019.
The remuneration policies of the Group are reviewed periodically on
the basis of the nature of job, market trend, company performance
and individual performance. Other staff benefits include bonuses
awarded on a discretionary basis, medical schemes and retirement
schemes.

The remuneration package of the Directors and the senior
management is based on their contribution to the performance of
the Group and is supervised by the Remuneration Committee of the
Company.

Details of the Directors’ remuneration are set out in note 41 to the
consolidated financial statements.

DONATIONS

During the year, the Group made donations of HK$2,343,000 to
charitable bodies.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There is no provision for pre-emptive rights under the Company’s
Bye-Laws although there is no restriction against such rights under
the laws in Bermuda where the Company is incorporated.
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PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF LISTED SECURITIES

There was no purchase, sale or redemption of listed securities of the
Company by the Company or any of its subsidiaries during the year.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY

Pursuant to the Company's Bye-Laws, every Director shall be
indemnified out of the assets of the Company against all losses
or liabilities which he/she may sustain or incur in the execution of
his/her office or otherwise in relation thereto. The Company has
taken out insurance against the liability and costs associated with
defending any proceedings which may be brought against the
Directors of the Group.

DIRECTORS

The Directors who held office during the year and up to the date of
this report were:

Executive Directors
Mr. KUOK Hoi Sang
Mr. TAM Kwok Wing
Mr. HO Chung Leung
Mr. MA Chi Wing
Miss Lily CHOW

(Chairman and Managing Director)
(Deputy Managing Director)

Non-Executive Directors
Dr. KO Chan Gock, William
Mr. CHOW Vee Tsung, Oscar

Independent Non-Executive Directors

Ir. Dr. CHOW Ming Kuen, Joseph (Deceased on 13 October 2018)
Mr. YANG Chuen Liang, Charles

Professor POON Chung Kwong

Mr. Irons SZE

Mr. SUN Leland Li Hsun (Appointed on 26 February 2019)

In accordance with the Company's Bye-Laws, Mr. Kuok Hoi Sang,
Mr. Ho Chung Leung, Professor Poon Chung Kwong, Mr. Chow Vee
Tsung, Oscar and Mr. Sun Leland Li Hsun shall retire from office at
the AGM and, being eligible, may offer themselves for re-election.
The Non-Executive Directors are subject to the same retirement
requirements as the Executive Directors. The biographical details of
the Directors of the Company as at the date of this report are set out
in the “Management Profile” section on pages 20 to 24.

DIRECTORS" MATERIAL INTERESTS IN TRANSACTIONS,
ARRANGEMENTS OR CONTRACTS

Save as disclosed in the section headed “Related Party
Transactions” in note 46 to the consolidated financial statements,
no other transactions, arrangements or contracts of significance
in relation to the Company’s business to which the Company’s
subsidiaries was a party or were parties and in which a director of
the Company or his or her connected entity had a material interest,
whether directly or indirectly, subsisted at the end of the year or at
any time during the year.
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS
EFEHE

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN COMPETING BUSINESS

During the year, none of the Directors have an interest in any
business constituting a competing business to the Group.

DIRECTORS" AND CHIEF EXECUTIVES' INTERESTS IN

SECURITIES

As at 31 March 2019, the interests and short positions of the
Directors and the chief executive of the Company in the shares,
underlying shares and debentures of the Company and its
associated corporations, within the meaning of Part XV of the
Securities and Futures Ordinance (the “SFO"), which have been
notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to
Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO (including interests and short
positions which they were taken or deemed to have taken under
such provisions of the SFO), or which were required to be recorded
in the register to be kept by the Company pursuant to Section 352 of
the SFO or as otherwise required to be notified to the Company and
the Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model Code were as follows:

EERHFMURB 2 ES
RER - BEEENEAEAEEBKES
ZEBP AR

EERFETRAR RS &R

R_ZE-NF=ZA=1+—H EFKAQA
TETRABRARR NEAEB AR (EE
REZREEGRD) ([ F5 REEERR]) % XV
B8 2 Bty - MBRAR D KB T PR ORI
EFRHEHRAIEXVEE7 RESHIMNE
RRB B2 Em MR (BRERERE
Ll FE 5 K B R RSO 5 R SR E R
ZHEENER) - AN D RENARAIR
EEF MIERIIFEB2FEREATHREFL
Bt @asMEe - RBIRESTRIZA
HEARR LM s BRI

Numbers of ordinary shares held

FEFEBERROHE

Personal
interests

EPN

Name of Directors

Capacity
E=EB 14

KUOK Hoi Sang Beneficial owner 173,460
4 BB A
TAM Kwok Wing Beneficial owner 209,583
RIS EmlaA
HO Chung Leung Beneficial owner 40,000
fal SRR BEmEEA

As at 31 March 2019, so far as is known to the Directors and the
chief executive of the Company, no other person has interests or
short positions in the shares, underlying shares and debentures
of the Company and any of its associated corporations (within the
meaning of Part XV of the SFO) which are required to be notified to
the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8
of Part XV of the SFO (including interests and short positions which
he is taken or deemed to have taken under such provisions of the
SFO); or are required, pursuant to Section 352 of the SFO, to be
recorded in the register referred to therein; or are required, pursuant
to the Model Code, to be notified to the Company and the Stock
Exchange.
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DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

No Director offering for re-election at the AGM has a service contract
with the Company which is not determinable by the Company within
one year without payment of compensation (other than statutory
compensation).

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

No contract of significance concerning the management and
administration of the whole or any substantial part of the business of
the Company or any of its subsidiaries was entered into or subsisted
during the year.

RETIREMENT SCHEMES

The Group has established various retirement benefit schemes for
the benefit of its staff in Hong Kong and overseas.

In Hong Kong, the Group participates in both defined contribution
schemes which are registered under the Occupational Retirement
Schemes Ordinance (the “ORSO Schemes”) and Mandatory
Provident Fund Schemes (the “MPF Schemes”) established under
the Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes Ordinance in December
2000. The ORSO Schemes are funded by monthly contributions
from both employees and the Group at rates ranging from 5% to
7.5% of the employee’s basic salary, depending on the length of
service with the Group. For members of the MPF Schemes, the
Group contributes 5% of the relevant payroll costs per employee,
at a maximum of HK$1,500 per month for the year ended 31 March
2019, to the mandatory contribution of the MPF Schemes.

The Group also participates in the employee pension schemes
in countries or locations where the Group operates. The Group
is required to make defined contributions at rates calculated as a
certain percentage or sum of the monthly payroll.

The Group's total contributions to these schemes charged to the
consolidated income statement during the year amounted to HK$36
million against which no forfeited contributions had been deducted.

Particulars of the retirement benefit schemes are set out in note 45
to the consolidated financial statements.

REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS

EFEHS

EEHEBAL
BECARBERBFAGHREFNERR
ADEFEET A — FANMERHEOEEEEE
oM T a] FUARRLE 2 RIS A 4T

EEAHN
RERNLEFEFWER RIEEARFRH
EAMBARZBAARBHOEBZEEAH -

BAREETE
AEEARES RINE TR SRS
Fltal -

NEE - NEE2 BRI B R RN E1ED)
Az SUEHRET S ([ ARSI kR —
TERF+ - ARCRHIE RS E GG
R ZBHIERTESFE ([BERETE]) -
AoEREE BEMASEEAREER
5% E75% /ERE  BFEENAK
SEZFEME - AEERBERFT 82K
B REBAHESAANEZ%TE (BE_
E-NFZA=T-HUEFERABARZR
7B #1,6007T) pLog TR AT BIVEH SR HINE (R o

REE RS RLCL LT BRAE S E
SERSHE - AEBERT HEST
SRHFMZ ETE L AMAE T -

AEBRFANELFAIEFARAERER
ZRHERRER36008TT - WREHRZE
SRR

BRRENEEFBEANGEE M EHRRM T
45 -

HTEBREERRLF | F% 2019 G1



REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS
EFEHE

SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS' INTERESTS IN SECURITIES

As at 31 March 2019, so far as is known to the Directors and the
chief executives of the Company, the interests and short positions
of the persons or corporations in the shares or underlying shares of
the Company which have been disclosed to the Company under the
provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO and as recorded
in the register required to be kept by the Company under Section
336 of the SFO were as follows:

Substantial shareholders

Capacity
FERRK 14

CHOW Yei Ching® (Deceased)

Beneficial owner

Aripe (FHt) EnlEEA
MIYAKAWA Michiko Beneficial owner
BIEST EnEEA

@ The executrixes of the estate of the late Dr. Chow Yei Ching (“the late Dr. Chow")
are Ms. Miyakawa Michiko, Ms. Chow Wai Wai, Violet and Ms. Chow Vi Vi. Ms.
Miyakawa Michiko, Ms. Chow Wai Wai, Violet and Ms. Chow Vi Vi have each
reported that they have interest in the shares of the late Dr. Chow and in addition,
Ms. Chow Wai Wai, Violet has also reported to have interests in 14,551,162 shares
(held as to 104,607 shares as beneficial owner, and as to 14,446,555 shares through
wholly-owned corporations) of the Company.

* Under Part XV of the SFO, Ms. Miyakawa Michiko, the spouse of the late Dr. Chow,
is deemed to be interested in the same parcel of 189,490,248 shares held by the late
Dr. Chow.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 March 2019, so far as is known
to the Directors and the chief executives of the Company, no other
person has interests or short positions in the shares, underlying
shares and debentures of the Company or any of its associated
corporations which were required to be disclosed to the Company
under the provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO and
recorded in the register required to be kept by the Company under
Section 336 of the SFO, or, were directly or indirectly, interested
in 5% or more of the nominal value of any class of share capital
carrying rights to vote in all circumstances at general meetings of the
Company.

ARRANGEMENT FOR ACQUISITION OF SHARES OR
DEBENTURES

At no time during the year was the Company or any of its subsidiaries
a party to any arrangement to enable the Directors of the Company
to acquire benefits by means of the acquisition of shares in or
debentures of the Company or any other body corporate.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

The Board is committed to maintaining high standards of corporate
governance. In the opinion of the Directors, the Company has
complied with the code provisions as set out in the CG Code
contained in Appendix 14 of the Listing Rules throughout the year
ended 31 March 2019, with deviations from code provisions A.2.1,
A.4.1, A5.1 and A.6.7 and Rules 3.10A, 3.21 and 3.25 of the Listing
Rules which have already been stated in the Corporate Governance
Report of the Annual Report. Detailed information on the Company's
corporate governance practices is set out in the Corporate
Governance Report on pages 28 to 39.
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CHANGES IN DIRECTORS’ BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS

Pursuant to Rule 13.51B(1) of the Listing Rules, the change of
Directors’ biographical details since the date of the Company’s
Interim Report 2018-2019 is set out as follows:

(a) Professor Poon Chung Kwong, an existing Independent Non-
Executive Director of the Company, was appointed as a member
and chairman of the Remuneration Committee and a member of
the Nomination Committee on 26 February 2019;

(b) Mr. Irons Sze, an existing Independent Non-Executive Director
of the Company, was appointed as a member of the Audit
Committee of the Company on 26 February 2019. In addition,
he was appointed as an Independent Non-Executive Director,
chairman of the Remuneration Committee and a member of
the Audit Committee of Best Mart 360 Holdings Limited on 28
December 2018. He ceased to act as a Non-Executive Director
of Bel Global Resources Holdings Limited with effect from 24
August 2018; and

(c) Mr. Sun Leland Li Hsun was appointed as an Independent Non-
Executive Director and a member of the Audit Committee of the
Company on 26 February 2019. He resigned as an Independent
Non-Executive Director of Chongging Rural Commercial Bank
Co., Ltd. on 6 June 2019.

Save as disclosed above, there is no other change of Directors’
biographical details required to be disclosed pursuant to Rule
13.51B(1) of the Listing Rules.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

According to the information that is publicly available to the
Company and within the knowledge of the Board, the percentage
of the Company's share which is in the hands of the public exceeds
25% of the Company’s total number of issued shares as at 26 June
2019, the latest practicable date to ascertain such information prior
to the issue of this Annual Report.

AUDITOR

The consolidated financial statements have been audited by
PricewaterhouseCoopers who shall retire and being eligible, offer
themselves for re-appointment at the forthcoming AGM.

On behalf of the Board

KUOK Hoi Sang
Chairman and Managing Director
Hong Kong, 26 June 2019
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

B AR

TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF CHEVALIER
INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS LIMITED
(incorporated in Bermuda with limited liability)

OPINION

What we have audited

The consolidated financial statements of Chevalier International Holdings
Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (the “Group"”) set out on pages
74 to 204, which comprise:

e the consolidated statement of financial position as at 31 March 2019;

e the consolidated income statement for the year then ended;

e the consolidated statement of comprehensive income for the year then
ended;

e the consolidated statement of changes in equity for the year then
ended;

e the consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then ended; and

e the notes to the consolidated financial statements, which include a
summary of significant accounting policies.

Our opinion

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and fair view
of the consolidated financial position of the Group as at 31 March 2019, and
of its consolidated financial performance and its consolidated cash flows
for the year then ended in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standards (“HKFRSs") issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants (“HKICPA") and have been properly prepared in compliance
with the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on
Auditing (“HKSAs") issued by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities under those
standards are further described in the Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit
of the consolidated financial statements section of our report.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

Independence

We are independent of the Group in accordance with the HKICPA’s Code of
Ethics for Professional Accountants (the “Code"”), and we have fulfilled our
other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
BT E

KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgement,
were of most significance in our audit of the consolidated financial
statements of the current period. These matters were addressed in the
context of our audit of the consolidated financial statements as a whole, and
in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on

these matters.

Key audit matters identified in our audit are summarised as follows:

e revenue recognition from construction works;

e  valuation of investment properties;

e recoverability of properties under development and properties for sale;

and

e impairment assessment of goodwill.

Key audit matter

How our audit addressed the
Key audit matter

Revenue recognition from construction works

Refer to notes 5(g) and 7 to
the consolidated financial
statements

For the year ended 31 March
2019, the Group recognised
revenue from the construction
works of HK$2,506 million.

Our procedures in relation to management'’s
recognition of revenue from construction
works included:

e tested the key controls around the
construction cycle with particular focus
on, but not limited to, controls over
cost budgeting and periodic review of
estimated total construction costs and
contract sum;
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

BUZHENERE

KEY AUDIT MATTERS (CONTINUED)

Key audit matter

The recognition of revenue from
the construction works involves
a high degree of management
judgement in relation to the
determination of gross profit
margin of each construction
contract, which is determined
based on the estimated total
construction costs, estimated
total construction contract sum
(including variation orders and
claims), as well as the progress
of construction works. Most
of the construction works take
more than one year to complete
during which the project scope
may change from time to time.
Management estimates the
contract revenue and budgeted
cost at the commencement
of the contracts and regularly
reassesses these amounts
and the financial impact with
reference to the progress of
construction works.

Due to the existence of significant
management judgement
required to determine the amount
and timing of revenue recognised
from the construction works, we
considered it a key audit matter.

How our audit addressed the
Key audit matter

e in our testing of management’s
estimation on gross profit margin of
each construction contract, which
is determined based on the total
construction costs, total construction
contract sum and the progress of
construction works at the end of
the reporting period, we selected a
number of construction works on a
sample basis and:

e discussed with management and
the respective project teams on
the progress of the projects;

e  assessed management’s estimates
in relation to matters that may
impact the estimated contract sum
and contract costs arising from the
variation to the original contracts,
such as claims, disputes, variation
orders and liquidation damages with
reference to the correspondence
between the Group, subcontractors
and suppliers which support
management’s estimate of
changes to construction works;

e  tested the contract costs incurred
on construction works during
the reporting period by tracing to
supporting documents including
architect’s certificates issued to
subcontractors and invoices from
subcontractors and suppliers;

e recalculated and tested the
progress of construction works
based on the latest estimated
total construction sum and the
value of work done as referred
to architect’s certificates or other
correspondence as appropriate.

We consider management’s estimates in
determining the budgeted revenue and
costs and the progress of construction
works and revenue recognised to be
supported by the available evidence.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
BT E

KEY AUDIT MATTERS (CONTINUED) BRETEE(E)

Key audit matter How our audit addressed the BEENEE KR ERH M

Key audit matter EREREETSEE
Valuation of investment properties REVMENEE
Refer to notes 5(a) and 15  Our procedures in relation to management'’s HLEGAUKESR BRAHUESEBREREY

to the consolidated financial
statements

The Group’'s investment
properties were carried at
HK$3,770 million as at 31
March 2019 and a revaluation
gain of HK$166 million was
recognised in the consolidated
income statement as part of
other gains, net. The Group's
investment property portfolio
comprises of commercial,
residential and industrial
properties in Hong Kong,
Mainland China and overseas.

Management has engaged
independent external valuers,
to estimate the fair value of the
Group's investment properties as
at 31 March 2019 based on the
income capitalisation approach
and where appropriate, direct
comparison approach.

The valuation of investment
properties depends on certain key
assumptions that require significant
nmanagement judgement, including
capitalisation rates and prevailing
market rents.

Due to the existence of significant
management judgement in
assumptions used in the valuation
of investment properties, we
considered it a key audit matter.

valuation of investment properties included:

evaluated the independent valuers’
competence, capabilities and
objectivity;

obtained the valuation reports including
the market comparable data used
and met with independent valuers to
discuss the valuation methodologies;

checked the accuracy of input data, on a
sample basis, used by the independent
valuers including rental income and
occupancy rates by agreeing them back
to management'’s records, historical
actual information or other supporting
documentation including key terms of
lease agreements and rental income
schedules; and

involved our internal valuation experts
to assess the methodologies used
and the appropriateness of the key
assumptions used in the valuation of
sample of properties by comparing
the data used by the independent
valuers against the published market
yields for capitalisation rates, prevailing
market rents of leasing transactions
of comparable properties and recent
market transaction prices of properties
with comparable conditions and
locations, where appropriate.

We consider management’s valuation of

investment properties to be supported by
the available evidence.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

BUZHENERE

KEY AUDIT MATTERS (CONTINUED)

Key audit matter

How our audit addressed the
Key audit matter

Recoverability of properties under development and properties for

sale

Refer to notes 5(e), 25 and 28
to the consolidated financial
statements

The Group had HK$2,214 million
and HK$367 million of properties
under development and
properties for sale respectively
as at 31 March 2019. The
Group’s development property
portfolio comprises of completed
properties and properties under
development in Hong Kong and
Mainland China.

Management assessed the
recoverability of properties
under development and
properties for sale based
on an estimation of the
net realisable value of the
underlying properties which
involves considerable analyses
of the current market price of
properties of a comparable
standard and location,
construction costs to be
incurred to complete the
development and a forecast of
future selling price or reference
to the valuation report from
the independent valuer, if
applicable.

If the actual net realisable
values of the underlying stock
of properties are more or less
than expected as a result of
changes in market condition
and/or significant variation in
the budgeted development
cost, material reversal of or
provision for impairment losses
may result.

Due to the existence of estimation
uncertainty and management
judgement in assessing the
recoverability of properties under
development and properties for
sale, we considered it a key audit
matter.

Our procedures in relation to management'’s
assessment on the recoverability of
properties under development and
properties for sale included:

e tested the key controls around the
property construction cycle with
particular focus on, but not limited
to, controls over cost budgeting for
estimated costs to completion;

e evaluated the independent valuer's
competence, capabilities and objectivity;

e  obtained the valuation report and met
with the independent valuer to discuss
the valuation methododlogies for
certain properties; and

e assessed the reasonableness of
key assumptions used/adopted in
management’'s assessment, on
a sample of properties selected,
including:

e expected future sales prices
which we compared to the
contracted sales price of the
underlying properties or current
market prices of properties
with comparable standards and
locations, where applicable;

e anticipated cost to completion
and committed contracts,
for which we compared total
construction costs to latest
approved budgets and checked
those budgets to supporting
documentations such as signed
contracts.

We found that management’s assessment
on recoverability of properties under
development and properties for sale is
supportable in light of available evidence.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
BT E

KEY AUDIT MATTERS (CONTINUED) RETEE(E)

Key audit matter How our audit addressed the ARETTEE BB EF A

Key audit matter EERRESEE
Impairment assessment of goodwill EEWRE
Refer to notes 5(c) and 40  The procedures performed to assess B2ERAUBR BMOAVEEERTEEE

to the consolidated financial
statements

the methodologies and assumptions
used by management in the impairment

assessment of goodwill are summarised

FH5E5(c) K40

EE FTE R B % R
RETRHAMETORRF
e

The Group had HK$612 million  below: RZZE—-h&=H

of goodwill as at 31 March 2019 =+—8 > &&£H

relating to the senior housing ®  tested the key controls surrounding MREMBERE o BIERETHBEN
business in the United States of the impairment assessment process; B b & EBE RAgR IS

America.

evaluated the valuation methodologies

EREEEe 128
ﬁo

o HHEREETRE

used in the impairment assessment AT AR PR A A (E
Management assessed whether prepared by management; EEERBELRAN Dbz
goodwill has suffered any TR MTTE 2(c) Frask
impairment in accordance with e agreed the input data used by G BRAEEE o BEEEMEANR
the accounting policy stated in management to supporting evidence =GB HREMR AEUE BB 1R [E Pt
note 2(c) to the consolidated such as actual results, financial B REEEEBEN ENEREE - U
financial statements. The budgets approved by management (TBREELENMN]) TEE SR ST
recoverable amounts of cash and other supporting documents; and KA e £%EE R ENEE 5
generating units (“CGU”) EEEENERE
have been determined by e assessed the reasonableness of key Bt ETUBE- o TEBEREMERN
management based on value- assumptions such as discount rate FREEFESE ARIR R R F & B A
in-use calculations. The value- and net operating income applied by FRZEEEHE LZHBERENEE
in-use calculations use cash management, including discussion R RTEEHEITHY M BEREREER
flow projections based on with management to understand and RERmEREE - & 0 OARR R M G E B IR
financial budgets approved by evaluate management’s basis for P REAERRE BEEFHRRENE
management which involve selecting the assumptions, compared FTE B MY fE 28 5 Bb £ UREAFEE
the use of judgement applied the current year actual results with the BERRFEEWRA BREERBTFERE

by management such as
determining discount rate and
net operating income.

prior year forecast and benchmarked
to available market information
to assess the reasonableness of
management forecasts.

EITEEHIE -

BIVELLEL » WIART 1S
MHERAREE - )
FEEBEEEINSG
bR

Due to the existence of AR EEENT
estimation uncertainty and  We considered the assumptions used REEREGFEMFTT HMRE THEEURHE

management judgement
in assessing the potential
impairment of goodwill, we
considered it a key audit
matter.

by management in the impairment
assessment of goodwill to be supported by
available evidence.

BEMRERRERN
HE - BPIHEE
ERAAREAF
15 o

VERE RT 1 B P A RO R
REFAGERDS
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
BB

OTHER INFORMATION

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other information. The
other information comprises all of the information included in the annual
report other than the consolidated financial statements and our auditor’s
report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover the
other information and we do not express any form of assurance conclusion
thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements,
our responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so,
consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the
consolidated financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit or
otherwise appears to be materially misstated.

If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a
material misstatement of this other information, we are required to report
that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS AND THE AUDIT COMMITTEE
FOR THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of the
consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view in accordance
with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and the disclosure requirements of
the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for such internal control as the
directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated
financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due
to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors are
responsible for assessing the Group's ability to continue as a going concern,
disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the
going concern basis of accounting unless the directors either intend to
liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or have no realistic alternative but
to do so.

The audit committee is responsible for overseeing the Group's financial
reporting process.

Hitpfz 8

EAREFANHMESAR -
BANMARES  ETEESE
R BN o

Ht{E R BEF
BT #R R S A

HAPYGAFBHRRNERL NREEMES
IR E 2 S H A E RERE AT ANEES

A
A ©

HEARMYEEAMBRENEST > RANEER
BEAMES  FUBREd  ZERAMESSSE
HFAMBRRIAMEETBETHR T RS
NEEBABBAEUFFEERBERRANE
e

ERBEMERTHIIE  UREMBREMLER
FHEEAHERRL  RMTBEREZFE - £
IE - BFPEBEARS -

ESRERZEERGAMBRRAE
EHEE

BERRIEFAAARBEELSMAGRME
BRI HE R R BB B D ) EB BR 47 5 ik
BEEMTENEAMBRET  YHERRAE
RAMBRROBE T FERNRFFRERME
B BRI NFENOAEEHE S -

ERBRAMBHRRE  EEAANE E5E
FAKEMEE N WEERIBER T RE BSEK
EEMNEER  ARERSBLERITER
BFERAEN BEREBERNIEILLEE L5
BEHMEROERTE -
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

BT E

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report
that includes our opinion. We report our opinion solely to you, as a body, in
accordance with Section 90 of the Companies Act 1981 of Bermuda and for
no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility towards or accept liability
to any other person for the contents of this report. Reasonable assurance is
a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in
accordance with HKSAs will always detect a material misstatement when
it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered
material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected
to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these
consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise professional
judgement and maintain professional scepticism throughout the audit. We
also:

e identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or error, design
and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit
evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our
opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from
fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve
collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the
override of internal control.

e obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order
to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but
not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the
Group's internal control.

e evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the
reasonableness of accounting estimates and related disclosures made
by the directors.

e conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the going
concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit evidence obtained,
whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions
that may cast significant doubt on the Group’s ability to continue as a
going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we
are required to draw attention in our auditor’'s report to the related
disclosures in the consolidated financial statements or, if such
disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are
based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s
report. However, future events or conditions may cause the Group to
cease to continue as a going concern.

RBMRET REMBERAENEE
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
BN

AUDITOR’'S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

e evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the
consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures, and
whether the consolidated financial statements represent the underlying
transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

e  obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial
information of the entities or business activities within the Group to
express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements. We are
responsible for the direction, supervision and performance of the group
audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with the audit committee regarding, among other matters,
the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit findings,
including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify during
our audit.

We also provide the audit committee with a statement that we have
complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding independence, and
to communicate with them all relationships and other matters that may
reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where applicable,
related safeguards.

From the matters communicated with the audit committee, we determine
those matters that were of most significance in the audit of the consolidated
financial statements of the current period and are therefore the key audit
matters. We describe these matters in our auditor’s report unless law
or regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or when, in
extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter should not be
communicated in our report because the adverse consequences of doing so
would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of
such communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this independent auditor’s
report is Chu Ho Kwan Raphael.

PricewaterhouseCoopers
Certified Public Accountants

Hong Kong, 26 June 2019
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CONSOLIDATED INCOME STATEMENT

e R

For the year ended 31 March 2019
HE_Z—NWF=ZA=1+—HIFE

Note
FfaE
Revenue A 7 6,892,714 6,980,400
Cost of sales HEMA (6,005,433) (6,105,507)
Gross profit EH| 887,281 874,893
Other income, net EAbUA - F5E 8 68,327 73,878
Other gains, net Efblas - 58 9 182,400 154,484
Gain on disposals of subsidiaries HEHTE A mldEs 9 231 715,075
Selling and distribution costs SHE A SHAR AR (157,438) (146,941)
Administrative expenses TH (357,347) (330,318)
Operating profit Pl 623,454 1,341,071
Share of results of associates Fa = UNCIE S 19 125,003 57,918
Share of results of joint ventures FriE & &R 20 171,448 (60,490)
919,905 1,338,499

Finance income iR L ON 10 43,216 21,636
Finance costs % ER 10 (123,239) (92,309)
Finance costs, net WISER - F8E 10 (80,023) (70,673)
Profit before taxation BB A A 11 839,882 1,267,826
Taxation IE 12 (140,480) (296,344)
Profit for the year FEREF 699,402 971,482
Attributable to: PR

Shareholders of the Company ARG 654,561 907,929

Non-controlling interests IR 44,841 63,553

699,402 971,482

Earnings per share BREF
— basic and diluted (HK$ per share) —EAR RS (ZREE) 13 2.17 3.01

The notes on pages 82 to 204 are integral parts of these consolidated F82HEE 2048 2 MLk Eig & BB RE 2 /88K
financial statements. 25 o
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
meEmElER

For the year ended 31 March 2019
HE-_Z—NWF=ZA=+—HILFE

Profit for the year FERA 699,402 971,482
Other comprehensive (expenses)/income FEHM2E () W
for the year
Items that will not be reclassified to profit or loss TEEHREERRNEE
Change in fair value of investments at fair value BAREIAHM 2R
through other comprehensive income BEZEEN AR EE (16,154) -
Fair value gain/(loss) of properties for own use BRAMEZ AR B (EE) 1,447 (22,447)
Items that may be reclassified subsequently HATRENBEZEARNER
to profit or loss
Exchange difference on translation of BREFINMHBAR - B AR
operations of overseas subsidiaries, REBRIE T EBREES
associates and joint ventures HNE IR =R (251,026) 393,900
Change in fair value of available-for-sale investments AREEZRENAREED) - 1,248
Impairment loss on available-for-sale investments A E 2 AR RERSE
transferred to consolidated income statement EREREREE - 3,377
Fair value adjustments on the derivative financial EE AR MEEFHITEN
instruments designated as cash flow hedge TEMAREFE 162 2,443
Other comprehensive (expenses)/income for the year, FEEME2E(ZH) S -
net of tax Bz (265571) 378,621
Total comprehensive income for the year FEXEKREEE 433,831 1,350,003
Attributable to: FEET
Shareholders of the Company rN/NG 3 406,960 1,259,846
Non-controlling interests IS 26,871 90,157
433,831 1,350,003
Note: Bt EE
Items shown within other comprehensive (expenses)/income are disclosed net of tax. REMZE(EZE), WSR2 BB HEIBRHEERE
= o
The notes on pages 82 to 204 are integral parts of these consolidated F82EE 2048 2 MIFE It FER A IS TRE 2 MK
financial statements. {5 o
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

e BRIR R

As at 31 March 2019
RZE—-NF=A=+—H

Note
Gh:

Non-current assets
Investment properties
Property, plant and equipment
Goodwill
Other intangible assets
Interests in associates
Interests in joint ventures
Investments at fair value through

other comprehensive income

Available-for-sale investments
Investments at fair value through profit or loss
Investments at amortised cost
Properties under development
Deferred tax assets
Other non-current assets

Current assets
Amounts due from associates
Amounts due from joint ventures
Amounts due from non-controlling interests
Investments at fair value through profit or loss
Investments at amortised cost
Inventories
Properties for sale
Properties under development
Debtors, contract assets,
deposits and prepayments
Amounts due from customers for contract work
Derivative financial instruments
Prepaid tax
Bank balances and cash

Assets held-for-sale

Current liabilities

Amounts due to joint ventures

Amounts due to non-controlling interests

Amounts due to customers for contract work

Derivative financial instruments

Creditors, bills payable, deposits,
contract liabilities and accruals

Unearned insurance premiums and
unexpired risk reserves

Outstanding insurance claims

Deferred income

Current income tax liabilities

Bank and other borrowings

Liabilities directly associated with assets
held-for-sale

Net current assets

Total assets less current liabilities

FRBEE
REME

W BB RERE
g

Hhmp & E
YN I -
BEDEER
BRAAE AR MRS
BRI IRE
A E 2 IRE
BAREFIANBREEE 2 A
TR AT IR 2 1R
BREPYE

EEFRIEEE
HIEReEE

REBEE
JRE LAz Bt i X A AR R
fEU A AR
JRE A S E 2 P e R K
BAREIIANBRERE ZKE
REERAS IR 2 R E
78
FEMX
BRAYE
JEUARAR - BHVEE
e RIAN IR
e K TR EME P UELZ FE
PTAERMBTA
BTIA
RITEFLRE

FIFHEEE

RBEE

et & AR EIRR

JE A IE R A A 2 R K
HANTIREAEP XN 2R
DT TA

e - BURE TARS -

BHABRIARER
BRI B N B R

RRRBERE
RIEUA
SHIMEHARE
RITREMIEK

HRFNEEEEREMZBE

REBEEFE

REERRBRE

47

34

35

47

3,769,835 3,791,245
3,161,325 2,784,738
684,138 681,839
63,521 31,362
474,452 468,411
1,258,318 1,112,486
47,404 -

- 265,766

331,013 -
30,851 -
434,051 642,713
29,916 42,171
107,615 89,636
10,392,439 9,910,257
18,371 18,575

56 9,085
41,382 39,025
415,261 430,805
3,970 -
326,865 344,577
366,619 578,665
1,779,646 1,485,681
1,375,643 1,466,445
- 88,563

397 373
23,069 9,138
1,833,084 1,723,452
6,184,363 6,194,284
516,549 -
6,700,912 6,194,284
6,490 7,524
259,713 325,166

- 639,791

66 233
2,523,047 1,642,245
47,028 59,636
237,913 255,438

- 22,403

66,276 69,028
1,109,840 767,670
4,250,373 3,789,034
34 -
4,250,407 3,789,034
2,450,505 2,405,250
12,842,944 12,315,507
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
FEHBHR R

As at 31 March 2019

R=ZF-—NF=HA=+—H

Note
B s
Capital and reserves BRARFEiE
Share capital A& AR 36 377,411 377,411
Reserves #f 37 8,644,073 8,355,324
Shareholders’ funds BRES 9,021,484 8,732,735
Non-controlling interests IR 620,589 603,005
Total equity Feb 9,642,073 9,335,740
Non-current liabilities FREBEE
Amount due to a non-controlling interest FEA — 8 FE R AR 2 PR 5K 21 118,137 -
Unearned insurance premiums IR B 89,500 30,606
Bank and other borrowings HRITREMER 35 2,630,370 2,608,832
Deferred tax liabilities IR A (F 38 362,864 340,329
3,200,871 2,979,767
Total equity and non-current liabilities HMERRFERBEE 12,842,944 12,315,507
Approved by the Board of Directors on 26 June 2019 and signed on its behalf KERGN T NFNAZ+BH#0E - WA
by: THEENEREE -
KUOK Hoi Sang HO Chung Leung
gL fARR
Director Director
E EE
The notes on pages 82 to 204 are integral parts of these consolidated FB82E E204 8 ZMIFE I FER A BISTRE 2 MK
financial statements. B -
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
mEEmSBR

For the year ended 31 March 2019
HE_Z—NWF=ZA=1+—HIFE

At 1 April 2018, as previously reported

R=E-N\FHNA—H"

Equity
attributable

to shareholders
of the Company
ARATRE
FEfhER
HK$’000
BT T

Non-controlling
interests

FEIERR R
HK$’000
BETT

Total equity

A
HK$000
BETT

BRERER 8,732,735 603,005 9,335,740
Impact of change in accounting policy FETEER B TE (M5E3)

(note 3) 6,002 - 6,002
Restated at 1 April 2018 R-ZE-N\FEA—-BRES 8,738,737 603,005 9,341,742
Profit for the year FERF 654,561 44,841 699,402
Change in fair value of investments BARBEINAREMEEEE

at fair value through other B ZIRERN AR EZE)

comprehensive income (16,154) - (16,154)
Fair value gain of properties forown use B AWZE 2 A4 ERES 1,447 - 1,447
Exchange difference on translation BEGINNB AT - BE QA

of operations of overseas subsidiaries, LEaEbETEBREEZ

associates and joint ventures HNE R IR ERE (233,056) (17,970) (251,026)
Fair value adjustments on the EERREREBLENITE

derivative financial instruments B TANARERE

designated as cash flow hedge 162 - 162
Total comprehensive income for the year FE & E k1258 406,960 26,871 433,831
Dividends paid BfRE (120,771) - (120,771)
Dividends paid to non-controlling interests 01 F2EH fAE 5 AL 2. - (18,092) (18,092)
Change in ownership interests in R AN S 2 — M B A )

a subsidiary without loss of control WHEEREERES (3.442) 3,442 -
Acquisition of a subsidiary U B — BB A R - 3,360 3,360
Capital contributions by FEIEREREAREA

non-controlling interests - 2,003 2,003
At 31 March 2019 R-B-NE=A=+—H 9,021,484 620,589 9,642,073
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
e RSB

For the year ended 31 March 2019
BE T NF=A=1+—HIFE

Equity
attributable

to shareholders
of the Company

ARFRE
i s
HK$'000
BT

Non-controlling
interests

IR
HK$'000
BETT

Total equity

At 1 April 2017 R-ZT—+tFWA—H 7,969,456 533,863 8,503,319
Profit for the year FE 5 907,929 63,553 971,482
Fair value loss of properties for own use B RW¥2 AR (EEE (22,447) - (22,447)
Exchange difference on translation BMEGINHB AR - BE QA

of operations of overseas subsidiaries, REEE I EBREEL

associates and joint ventures HNE HIRERR 367,296 26,604 393,900
Change in fair value of AEEEZIREN AR B

available-for-sale investments 1,248 - 1,248
Impairment loss on available-for-sale AR E 2 IRE R EE SR

investments transferred to BEZeRER

consolidated income statement 3,377 - 3,377
Fair value adjustments on the EERBSMELPHITA

derivative financial instruments M TANARERAE

designated as cash flow hedge 2,443 - 2,443
Total comprehensive income for the year € 2 E R 42%8 1,259,846 90,157 1,350,003
Dividends paid [SERiEs (573,664) - (573,664)
Dividends paid to non-controlling interests 215 T 3Fi ik fE2E 2 AL 2 - (28,049) (28,049)
Disposals of &

— Chinaford and Dolce Field —REREE 65,033 - 65,033

— a subsidiary ——FNEAR - (2,207) (2,207)
Changes in ownership interests in A f8 25 A% I 2 NC1 Sandhill

NC1 Sandhill without loss of control BT 12,064 (64) 12,000
Step-up acquisition of an associate BONYE — B E QR EA

and become a subsidiary —HMEAE - 9,305 9,305
At 31 March 2018 R-B-N\E=A=+—H 8,732,735 603,005 9,335,740

The notes on pages 82 to 204 are integral parts of these consolidated

financial statements.

BBn -
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

= AN ==
GEHERER
For the year ended 31 March 2019
BE_Z-NF=ZA=1T—HIFE

Operating activities
Cash generated from/(used in) operations
Interest paid
Profits tax paid
Profits tax refunded

KA/ (AR EEzRE
ERNHE

EANFISH
SRR

Net cash from/(used in) operating activities KB (FR) KL EE 2R EFE

Investing activities
Interest received
Dividends received from associates
Dividends received from joint ventures
Purchase of investment properties
Purchase of property, plant and equipment
Proceeds from disposals of property,
plant and equipment
Purchase of intangible assets
Net cash outflows from acquisitions of
— senior housing properties
— Silver Prosper
— Moon Colour
— other subsidiaries
Net cash inflows from disposals of
— Chinaford and Dolce Field
—NC1 Sandhill
— Talent Luck
Capital contributions by non-controlling
interests
Net cash inflow from step-up acquisition
of an associate and become a subsidiary
Advances to associates
Repayments from associates
Proceeds from disposal of an associate
Investment in a joint venture
Advances to joint ventures
Repayments from joint ventures
Payments for investments
Proceeds from disposals of investments
Decrease/(increase) in unpledged bank
deposits maturing after three months

REEK
EUFE
B A E 2R B
BEEEREZRE
BEREME
BEYE  RERRE
HEME - BEREREZ
FriS 38
BEEFAE
WEETHEE 2R e F58
—REREMHE
—REREE
—Moon Colour
— H AP B A
HETHIEE RS RAFE
—REREE
—NC1 Sandhill
—TFREEE
IR IR ERRA

EINYEE— RS AR E S
—EfB AR RERAFHE
[RIEEE N R FTYEZ B3R
BB RN R ZERRIA
& — R & N R 2 S FR0R
R—RaErEZRE
aa g EEZ ER
RERELEEETA
REZ N
HERE 2 RISFHIR
={EAREIEZ SR
RITEFORD, (42 0)

Net cash (used in)/from investing activities (FAR), HREREEK R L FE

39(a)

39(b)(i)
39(b)(ii)
39(b)(iv)

39(b)(vii)
39(b)(viii)
39(b)(ix)

39(b)(vi)

2019
—B-h%
HK$'000
BT
603,918 (102,526)
(123,239) (92,309)
(109,553) (214,001)
2,688 11,698
373,814 (397,138)
43,216 21,636
109,896 99,370
19,191 7,132
= (113,528)
(94,736) (238,975)
8,588 11,071
(118) (224)
(509,600) (257,785)
- (225,212)
= (360,272)
(694) (26,393)
- 1,517,829
- 12,000
- 608,499
2,003 -
- 8,736
(3,407) (3,590)
891 -
49 7,964
= (550,414)
(13,979) (16,724)
9,018 13,710
(42,287) (151,570)
16,571 11,206
56,066 (38,195)
(399,332) 336,271
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
/'V_\ é}E ﬁ /‘)%II;E% 1%

For the year ended 31 March 2019

HE-F-NF=A=+—ALFE

2019
—E-hEF
HK$°000
BT
Financing activities AE R
Dividends paid B E (120,771) (573,664)
Dividends paid to non-controlling interests B T IEERER 2 RS (18,092) (28,049)
Drawn down of bank and other borrowings IREVRTT R EL M fE R 8,130,395 2,339,943
Repayments of bank and other borrowings EBIRIT REMER (7,766,434) (1,791,236)
(Increase)/decrease in pledged bank deposits B AEERTTER (3E10),F 4 (550) 351,504
Net cash from financing activities REMEXEBZRERHE 224,548 298,498
Increase in cash and cash equivalents RERBLESEYEM 199,030 237,631
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning FUOZESRRSEEY
of the year 1,613,023 1,337,894
Effect of changes in foreign exchange rates JMNEEREE) 2 /2 (33,882) 37,498
Cash and cash equivalents at end FRZESRRSEEY
of the year 1,778,171 1,613,023
Analysis of balances of cash and ReERFASEBYZETIN
cash equivalents
Bank balances and cash RITHEFRES 32 1,833,084 1,723,452
Less: Pledged bank deposits B EEIRITIER (54,913) (54,363)
Less: Unpledged bank deposits maturing A =B A& R H 2 KR
after three months HRITIFR - (56,066)
1,778,171 1,613,023
The notes on pages 82 to 204 are integral parts of these consolidated F82BEE2048 7 Mz E4R A BTG HER 2 485K
financial statements. Hhp o
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e PR ERR M

For the year ended 31 March 2019
HE_Z-NF=A=T—HILFE

1

GENERAL INFORMATION

Chevalier International Holdings Limited (the “Company”) is a public
listed company incorporated in Bermuda with limited liability. The
addresses of the registered office and principal place of business of
the Company are Victoria Place, 5th Floor, 31 Victoria Street, Hamilton
HM10, Bermuda and 22nd Floor, Chevalier Commercial Centre, 8 Wang
Hoi Road, Kowloon Bay, Hong Kong respectively. The Company has its
shares listed on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited.

The principal activity of the Company is investment holding while
the activities of its principal subsidiaries are set out in note 50 to the
consolidated financial statements.

The consolidated financial statements are presented in Hong Kong
dollar, which is the same as the functional currency of the Company. The
consolidated financial statements have been approved for issue by the
Board of Directors on 26 June 2019.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

The principal accounting policies applied in the preparation of these
consolidated financial statements are set out below. These policies have
been consistently applied to all the years presented, unless otherwise
stated.

(a) Basis of preparation

The consolidated financial statements of the Company and
its subsidiaries (together, the “Group”) have been prepared
in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards
("HKFRSs") issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants ("HKICPA"). These financial statements also complied
with the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance (Cap. 622) and the applicable disclosure provisions of the
Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on The Stock Exchange
of Hong Kong Limited. The consolidated financial statements have
been prepared under the historical cost convention, as modified
by the revaluation of investment properties, staff quarters,
investments at fair value through other comprehensive income
("FVOCI") and financial assets and financial liabilities (including
derivative financial instruments) at fair value through profit or loss
("FVPL").

The preparation of consolidated financial statements in conformity
with HKFRSs requires the use of certain critical accounting
estimates. It also requires management to exercise its judgement
in the process of applying the Group’s accounting policies. The
areas involving a higher degree of judgement or complexity, or
areas where assumptions and estimates are significant to the
consolidated financial statements, are disclosed in note 5 to the
consolidated financial statements.

—RER

E+EBREEBRAGR(ARAD A—HEQ
AETMWEEREFMEALZBRAFR K
NEFMHEREREEEEME 2 it 5
A Victoria Place, 5th Floor, 31 Victoria Street,
Hamilton HM10, Bermuda & &7 158/ 72 7
ESHRETEEFRL221E - ERHNEBEHE
RGMABRAT LM °

ARARZEBXBRREER  MEATEM
BRABZEBEN A M RRMEEL0

WEHEaHBERRIAEE LS BARFZ
DEEEEHAR ARG AaMBRREN -F
—NEFERAZTRAEEESSIOERM -

EXSHBREE

RELAGE M BIMRMRAZ TR GFIE
HINT - BREAHBIN - LEBORE HE
ERNBRENNZEFE -

(a) MRBERE
ARAREMBRAR (SR ALE])
ZHEEMBRRIIREEBGIMAE
([BREGFRAE ) MBEM 2 EBHE
WEER ([ BEMBHRELED )RR -
UL EE K AT & BBCR FUERD (5
622F) ZBERENBELHMEISHME
RARES MR ERRERE -
UL AR A BT R T O 4% B L B AN D A
2o YREKEME - BTES  BA
REFAEME2EKE (EAREFIA
Hipzmilm ) RIE 2 REARIE DA
B AEm ([BARENAER]) ZIE
ZHBEENMBEE(RETEMBLT
B) ZEfEmMERT -

REBEEBMBREENRER 2456 8
HRBREMRLERGE LB
KEREENTARE ST K ZB12
hEMEAE - A M RANE S IE
THERERAB KGRI E AFE
HEAMBHRREFHEABRRREFZ
& o
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

HREHBEEME
For the year ended 31 March 2019
R E—NFZA=F—HIFFE

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

(a) Basis of preparation (continued)

(i

New standards, amendments, interpretation and
improvements to existing standards that are effective for
the Group’s financial year beginning on 1 April 2018

The HKICPA has issued the following new standards and
amendment which are effective for accounting period
beginning on 1 April 2018:

e HKFRS 9, “Financial instruments” (“HKFRS 9")

e HKFRS 15, “Revenue from contracts with customers”
("HKFRS 15")

e HKFRS 15 (amendment), “Clarifications of HKFRS 15
Revenue from contracts with customers”

The impact of the adoption of these standards and amendment
is disclosed in note 3 below.

The following amendments, interpretation and improvements
to existing standards, that are relevant to the Group’s
operation, are also mandatory for the financial year of the
Group beginning on 1 April 2018:

e HKAS 40 (amendment), “Transfers of investment
property”

e HKFRS 4 (amendment), “Applying HKFRS 9 Financial
instruments with HKFRS 4 Insurance contracts”

e  HK(IFRIC)-Int 22, "Foreign currency transactions and
advance consideration”

e Amendments to HKFRS 1 and HKAS 28 as part of the
Annual Improvements to HKFRS 2014-2016 Cycle

The adoption of these amendments, interpretation and
improvements to existing standards neither have significant
impact on the Group's consolidated results and financial
position nor any substantial changes in the Group’s accounting
policies and the presentation of the consolidated financial
statements.

EXETHEEE (8)

RELEE (F)

(i) EXEER=-Z-NFHNA—AH
MR EEERZHETER - R
BEAZBTER RERBE
EEEGHAMAGEEMATR-F
—N\FHA—BRBz G HRE
RHPHTRT LR RAERT A -

o EBUMBMEERFEIN - [H
BTA| ([EEHBEHREER
958 1)

o BBV mMEEAE IS
[BEAHZIWA] ([B&HEIMH
REFERE 16558 ])

o FRMBHEEF 165 (E
FIAS)  [BBMBREERS
15 REP A KA ZEE]

R SRR RS ST A 2 BB TS
H3HE -

THREER ZERTAR - RN E SR
AEEZEEH AR -—Z—/\F0OA
— ARG 2 A SR BB B SR i AR

o EBABIEAFEAFUERTA)
[ A ]

o  EAUBWEEAFEARERIA)
[RAEBUBIREERE 4RIRE
BRI —GHE BB IR E 2R
FORM B TH]

o BB (ERUBHEREZRS)R
BF 2258 [SVER S RIANKE]

o BAEMBHEEUF1RLEESG
FHERIE 285 2 BRI A (ER=F
—OFEE-T-RFRPFEUH
WELAZFEUEZ —#BD)

RNBERER 2 ZEEFTA - RERK
EEIREE 2 A A R AR &
EXPE NEHAKEZEHBER
REMBMR 2H T ERNEAEE -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RER IR T

For the year ended 31 March 2019
P —E-NF=A=1—HIFE

2

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

(a) Basis of preparation (continued)

(i) New standards, amendments, interpretation and
improvements to existing standards that have been issued
but not yet effective and have not been early adopted by the
Group
The following new standards, amendments, interpretation and
improvements to existing standards, that are relevant to the
Group's operation, have been issued but not yet effective for
the financial year of the Group beginning on 1 April 2018 and
have not been early adopted:

e HKAS 1 and HKAS 8 (amendment), “Definition of
material "2

e HKAS 19 (amendment), “Employee benefits"”!

e HKAS 28 (amendment), “Long term interests in
associates and joint ventures”!

e  HKFRS 3 (amendment), “Business combinations"?

e HKFRS 9 (amendment), “Prepayment features with
negative compensation”’

e HKFRS 10 and HKAS 28 (amendment), “Sale or
contribution of assets between an investor and its
associate or joint venture”*

e HKFRS 16, “Leases™!

e HKFRS 17, “Insurance contracts”®

e HK(IFRIC)-Int 23, “Uncertainty over income tax
treatments ™’

e Annual Improvements Project-Improvements to HKFRS
2015-2017 Cycle!

e  Conceptual Framework for Financial Reporting 2018 -
“Revised conceptual framework for financial reporting
2018"?

! Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2019
2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2020
s Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2021

4 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after a date to be
determined

2 ERSHERME ()

(a) MREEZE(H)

(ii)

B RER B AR EE L EIEA
RN ZHETER - BAEAZEHT
= BRERYE

TIEAREEBAR A E
Al BARERNZEFTA - 2fE ik
EOREM EEAEER_-F
—NFHA—BRRZFRFE
RAERR - TREARATERAN -

o EBEMENE1RELEES
FHERIZE SR (BRI AS) - [EXR
ZEE ]

o BB EREI19WER
) - [EEREA ]

. EAEIEAEBHE(ET
) RBEARRABOE
2 B
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o EAEMBRELERE W (BF]
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
HER BRI T

For the year ended 31 March 2019
R E—NFZA=F—HIFFE

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 2 BEASHERHSE(E)

(CONTINUED)
(a) Basis of preparation (continued) (a) WBEEZE(E)
(i) New standards, amendments, interpretation and (i) CEMERERBEAREELEIRA

improvements to existing standards that have been issued
but not yet effective and have not been early adopted by the
Group (continued)

HKFRS 16, “Leases” ("HKFRS 16”)

Nature of changes

HKFRS 16 will result in almost all leases being recognised
on the consolidated statement of financial position, as the
distinction between operating and finance leases is removed.
Under the new standard, an asset (the right to use the leased
item) and a financial liability to pay rentals are recognised. The
only exceptions are short-term and low-value leases.

Potential impact

The standard will affect primarily the accounting for the
Group’s operating leases. As at the end of the reporting period,
the Group has non-cancellable operating lease commitments
of HK$105 million as disclosed in note 44 to the consolidated
financial statements. Based on the preliminary assessment
undertaken to date, it is estimated that the adoption of HKFRS
16 would result in recognition of right-of-use assets and
financial liabilities in the consolidated statement of financial
position primarily arising from leases of land and buildings. The
interest expenses on the lease liabilities and the depreciation
expenses on the right-of-use assets under HKFRS 16 will
replace the rental charge under HKAS 17, “Leases” in the
profit or loss. The new standard is mandatory for financial years
commencing on or after 1 January 2019. The Group will adopt
the standard from 1 April 2019 and will not restate comparative
amounts for the year prior to first adoption.

The accounting for lessors will not significantly change.
The Group does not expect any significant impact on the
consolidated financial statements. However, some additional
disclosures will be required next year.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RERI BRI T

For the year ended 31 March 2019
E T AFZA=F—AIFE

2

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

(a) Basis of preparation (continued)

(i) New standards, amendments, interpretation and
improvements to existing standards that have been issued
but not yet effective and have not been early adopted by the
Group (continued)

HKFRS 17, “Insurance contracts” ("HKFRS 17”)

HKFRS 17 will replace the current HKFRS 4, “Insurance
contracts”. HKFRS 17 includes some fundamental differences
to current accounting in both insurance contract measurement
and profit recognition. The general model is based on a
discounted cash flow model with a risk adjustment and
deferral of unearned profits. A separate approach applies to
insurance contracts that are linked to returns on underlying
items and meet certain requirements. Additionally, HKFRS 17
requires more granular information and a new presentation
format for the statement of comprehensive income as well as
extensive disclosures. The Group is yet to undertake a detailed
assessment of the new standard. The standard is mandatorily
effective for financial periods beginning on or after 1 January
2021, however in November 2018, IASB proposed to defer
IFRS 17 and temporary IFRS 9 exemption available to insurers
until the financial period beginning on or after 1 January 2022.
The proposed deferral is subject to public consultation, which
is expected in 2019.

Other than the above, the Group anticipates that the
application of amendments, interpretation and improvements
to existing standards that have been issued but are not yet
effective may have no material impact on the results of
operations and financial position.

(b) Basis of consolidation
The consolidated financial statements incorporate the financial
statements of the Company and its subsidiaries made up to 31
March.

Subsidiaries are all entities (including structured entities) over which
the Group has control. The Group controls an entity when the Group
is exposed to, or has rights to, variable returns from its involvement
with the entity and has the ability to affect those returns through
its power over the entity. Subsidiaries are consolidated from the
date on which control is transferred to the Group. They are de-
consolidated from the date that control ceases.

2 ERSHERME ()
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

HREMBEEN T
For the year ended 31 March 2019
BE T NF=A=1+—HIFE

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

(b)

Basis of consolidation (continued)

The Group applies the acquisition method to account for business
combinations. The consideration transferred for the acquisition
of a subsidiary is the fair values of the assets transferred, the
liabilities incurred to the former owners of the acquiree and the
equity interests issued by the Group. The consideration transferred
includes the fair value of any asset or liability resulting from a
contingent consideration arrangement. Identifiable assets acquired
and liabilities and contingent liabilities assumed in a business
combination are measured initially at their fair values at the
acquisition date. The Group recognises any non-controlling interest
in the acquiree on an acquisition-by-acquisition basis, either at fair
value or at the non-controlling interest’s proportionate share in the
recognised amounts of the acquiree’s net identifiable assets.

Acquisition-related costs are expensed as incurred.

If the business combination is achieved in stages, the carrying value
of the acquirer’s previously held equity interest in the acquiree is re-
measured to fair value at the acquisition date; any gains or losses
arising from such re-measurement are recognised in the profit or
loss.

Any contingent consideration to be transferred by the Group is
recognised at fair value at the acquisition date. Subsequent changes
to the fair value of the contingent consideration that is deemed to
be an asset or liability is recognised in accordance with HKFRS 9
with the corresponding gain or loss was recognised in the profit or
loss. Contingent consideration that is classified as equity is not re-
measured, and its subsequent settlement is accounted for within
equity.

The excess of the consideration transferred, the amount of any
non-controlling interest in the acquiree and the acquisition-date fair
value of any previous equity interest in the acquiree over the fair
value of the identifiable net assets acquired is recorded as goodwill.
If the total of consideration transferred, non-controlling interest
recognised and previously held interest measured is less than the
fair value of the net assets of the subsidiary acquired in the case of
a bargain purchase, the difference is recognised directly in the profit
or loss.

Intra-group transactions, balances and unrealised gains or losses on
transactions between group companies are eliminated. Unrealised
losses are also eliminated. When necessary, amounts reported
by subsidiaries have been adjusted to conform with the Group's
accounting policies.

Transactions with non-controlling interests that do not result in a
loss of control are accounted for as equity transactions — that is, as
transactions with the owners of the subsidiary in their capacity as
owners. The difference between fair value of any consideration paid
and the relevant share acquired of the carrying amount of net assets
of the subsidiary is recorded in equity. Gains or losses on disposal
to non-controlling interests are also recorded in equity.

2 ERSHHERHME ()

(b)

SRERREER (F)
REBEFBEBE[EBEHAR - IR
B-HEARCHEENKERREH
PREENEE - MIRWBTTRTHEAR AP
EENABERETORAERZZ DA
B EENRBREIARELIR
EENERNEEXBENAAME - £
1A OF P B B A 38 Bl 1 2B 2 LA B P
EHNEERKARE  BEURENK
BEMRARERE - WRBRBELE
REB AR R 7 B IR IR AR R PG
WHEE S R RRIEEFEDEREREN
LEBI - FHERUREE Ty M FEE AR o

WEEARRI A AR R S8 o

B E GO R BOETT - RIS TRl
FA 2RI I 2 BRE E Y E AT
ERBBRZARE  ZEFAEEL
Z EfA B R T R S A TERR o

REBREE MR ARESELSE
BRAAERR BRE/EEREEZ
FRRBAREAREBELNEEMNES
RIRE B TS EERF OSTHER - AR
fEZ W RBENIBRNER - 2 EA
s ANREBEENE - MER
BENES AR

PR 2B - BT R IR AR
g ARRRED Z R EE R AT 2
RRE - BARBEAHNEEFER
REZHE - JAHE - JLEERED
= WAEEZRE  CHRIEERE
3SR A 2 ERT B Z ARIER AT
BAWMBAREEFEZAAE  ZE
HERARENER -

SEARRMZRS  Xp&EHBMEE
ERARRRSEL 2 AR ABIIEY
3 o REEEIETNTHE - B QRN
ERTHECEB2EHFE  RRA
REEEFBE 2 -

&G BUR PR 2 EIE R s
R HANERIIER R 5 — BB A R
BAEAANBRERFEEAZENETZR
2 o PR AR B A 5 (B AT U T8
AEZEEFEREEMRBSOEZZ
RN T AR o R FFEE R
EMELZ BB TR AR -

HI-EBEERRLF | F% 2019 g7



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RER IR T

For the year ended 31 March 2019
B2 =T NF=A=+—HIFE

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

(b)

(c)

Basis of consolidation (continued)

When the Group ceases to have control, any retained interest in
the entity is re-measured to its fair value at the date when control is
lost, with the change in carrying amount recognised in the profit or
loss. The fair value is the initial carrying amount for the purposes of
subsequently accounting for the retained interest as an associate,
joint venture or financial asset. In addition, any amounts previously
recognised in the other comprehensive income in respect of that
entity are accounted for as if the Group had directly disposed of the
related assets or liabilities. This may mean that amounts previously
recognised in the other comprehensive income are reclassified to
the profit or loss.

Goodwill/discount on acquisitions

Goodwill arising on an acquisition of a subsidiary, an associate
or a joint venture, representing the excess of the consideration
transferred over the Group's interest in net fair value of the
identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities of the
acquiree at the date of acquisition. The Group recognises any non-
controlling interest in the acquiree on an acquisition-by-acquisition
basis, either at the fair value or at the non-controlling interest’s
proportional share of the recognised amount of acquiree’s net
identifiable assets. If the Group recognises non-controlling
interest in the acquiree at fair value, goodwill includes the portion
attributable to the non-controlling interest.

Goodwill arising on an acquisition of a subsidiary is presented
separately in the consolidated statement of financial position.
Goodwill arising on an acquisition of an associate or a joint venture
is included in the cost of the investment of the relevant associate
or joint venture.

Separately recognised goodwill is tested for impairment annually
or more frequently if there is indication that goodwill might be
impaired. Goodwill on acquisitions of associates and joint ventures
is included in investments in respective associates and joint
ventures and is tested for impairment as part of the overall balance.
For the purposes of impairment testing, separately recognised
goodwill arising from an acquisition is allocated to each of the
relevant cash-generating units (“CGUs"), or groups of CGUs, that
is expected to benefit from the synergies of the acquisition. A
CGU to which goodwill has been allocated is tested for impairment
annually, and whenever there is an indication that the unit may
be impaired. For goodwill arising on an acquisition in a financial
year, the CGU to which goodwill has been allocated is tested
for impairment before the end of that financial year. When the
recoverable amount of the CGU is less than the carrying amount
of the unit, the impairment loss is allocated to reduce the carrying
amount of any goodwill allocated to the unit first, and then to
the other assets of the unit. Any impairment loss for goodwill
is recognised directly in the profit or loss and is not reversed in
subsequent periods.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

HREHBEEME
For the year ended 31 March 2019
BE =T NF=A=1+—HIFE

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

(c)

(d)

Goodwill/discount on acquisitions (continued)

On subsequent disposal of a subsidiary, an associate or a joint
venture, the attributable amount of goodwill capitalised is included
in the determination of the amount of profit or loss on disposal.

A discount on acquisition arising on an acquisition of a subsidiary,
an associate or a joint venture represents the excess of the share
of net fair value of an acquiree’s identifiable assets, liabilities and
contingent liabilities over the cost of the business combination and
is recognised immediately in the profit or loss.

Contingent liabilities of an acquiree are recognised at the date of
the acquisition if the fair value of the contingent liabilities can be
measured reliably. Contingent liabilities are initially measured at fair
value at the date of acquisition.

Interests in associates

The results and assets and liabilities of associates are incorporated
in the consolidated financial statements using the equity method
of accounting. Under the equity method, interests in associates are
carried in the consolidated statement of financial position at cost as
adjusted for post-acquisition changes in the Group’s share of the
profit or loss and of changes in the other comprehensive income
of the associates, less any identified impairment loss. Upon the
acquisition of the ownership interest in an associate, any difference
between the cost of the associate and the Group’s share of the
net fair value of the associate’s identifiable assets and liabilities is
accounted for as goodwill. When the Group's share of loss of an
associate equals or exceeds its interest in the associate (which
includes any long-term interests that, in substance, form part of the
Group's net investment in the associate), the Group discontinues
recognising its share of further losses. An additional share of loss
is provided for and a liability is recognised only to the extent that
the Group has incurred legal or constructive obligations or made
payments on behalf of the associate.

Unrealised gains on transactions between the Group and its
associates are eliminated to the extent of the Group's interest
in the relevant associate. Unrealised losses are also eliminated
unless the transaction provides evidence of an impairment of the
asset transferred. Accounting policies of the associates have been
changed where necessary to ensure consistency with the policies
adopted by the Group.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RERI IR T

For the year ended 31 March 2019
HE2—T—NF=A=+—HIFE

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(CONTINUED)

(e) Joint arrangements

A joint arrangement is an arrangement of which two or more parties
have joint control and over which none of the participating parties
has unilateral control.

Under HKFRS 11, investments in joint arrangements are classified
either as joint operations or joint ventures, depending on the
contractual rights and obligations of each investor.

Joint operations

Joint operations arise where the investors have rights to the assets
and obligations for the liabilities of an arrangement. Investments
in joint operations are accounted for such that each joint operator
recognises its assets (including its share of any assets jointly held),
its liabilities (including its share of any liabilities incurred jointly), its
revenue (including its share of revenue from the sale of the output
by the joint operation) and its expenses (including its share of any
expenses incurred jointly). Each joint operator accounts for the
assets and liabilities, as well as revenue and expenses, relating to
its interest in the joint operation in accordance with the applicable
accounting policies.

Joint ventures
A joint venture is a joint arrangement whereby the parties that have
rights to the net assets of the arrangement.

Under the equity method of accounting, interests in joint
ventures are initially recognised at cost and adjusted thereafter
to recognise the Group's share of the post-acquisition profits or
losses and movements in the other comprehensive income. Upon
the acquisition of the ownership interest in a joint venture, any
difference between the cost of the joint venture and the Group's
share of the net fair value of the joint venture’s identifiable assets
and liabilities is accounted for as goodwill. When the Group's share
of losses of a joint venture equals or exceeds its interest in the joint
venture (which includes any long-term interests that, in substance,
form part of the Group’s net investment in the joint venture), the
Group does not recognise further losses, unless it has incurred
obligations or made payments on behalf of the joint venture.

Unrealised gains on transactions between the Group and its joint
ventures are eliminated to the extent of the Group's interest in the
relevant joint venture. Unrealised losses are also eliminated unless
the transaction provides evidence of an impairment of the asset
transferred. Accounting policies of the joint ventures have been
changed where necessary to ensure consistency with the policies
adopted by the Group.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

HREHIBEEME
For the year ended 31 March 2019
BE =T NF=A=1+—HIFE

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

(f)

Financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised in the
consolidated statement of financial position when a group entity
becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the instrument.
Financial assets and financial liabilities are initially measured at
fair value. Transaction costs that are directly attributable to the
acquisition or issue of financial assets and financial liabilities (other
than financial assets and financial liabilities at fair value through
profit or loss) are added to or deducted from the fair value of the
financial assets or financial liabilities, as appropriate, on initial
recognition. Transaction costs directly attributable to the acquisition
of financial assets or financial liabilities at fair value through profit or
loss are recognised immediately in the profit or loss.

Financial assets are derecognised when the rights to receive cash
flows from the assets expire or, the financial assets are transferred
and the Group has transferred substantially all the risks and rewards
of ownership of the financial assets. On derecognition of a financial
asset, the difference between the asset’s carrying amount and the
sum of the consideration received or receivable and the cumulative
gain or loss that had been recognised directly in equity is recognised
in the profit or loss.

Financial liabilities are derecognised when the obligation specified
in the relevant contract is discharged, is cancelled or expires. The
difference between the carrying amount of the financial liability
derecognised and the consideration paid or payable is recognised in
the profit or loss.

(i) Financial assets
() Accounting policy applied since 1 April 2018

Classification
From 1 April 2018, the Group classifies its financial assets
in the following measurement categories:

e those to be measured subsequently at FVOCI,

e those to be measured subsequently at FVPL; or

e those to be measured at amortised cost.

The classification depends on the Group's business model
for managing the financial assets and the contractual
terms of the cash flows.

For assets measured at fair value, gains and losses will
either be recorded in the other comprehensive income or
the profit or loss. For investments in equity instruments
that are not held for trading, this will depend on whether
the Group has made an irrevocable election at the time of
initial recognition to account for the equity investments at
FVOCI.

The Group reclassifies debt investments when and only
when its business model for managing those assets
changes.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 March 2019
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

(f) Financial instruments (continued)
(i) Financial assets (continued)

()

Accounting policy applied since 1 April 2018 (continued)

Recognision and derecognition

Regular way purchases and sales of financial assets are
recognised and derecognised on trade-date, the date on
which the Group commits to purchase or sell the asset.
Financial assets are derecognised when the rights to
receive cash flows from the financial assets have expired
or have been transferred and the Group has transferred
substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership.

Measurement

At initial recognition, the Group measures a financial asset
at its fair value plus, in the case of a financial asset not
at FVPL, transaction costs that are directly attributable to
the acquisition of the financial asset. Transaction costs of
financial assets carried at FVPL are expensed in the profit
or loss.

e Debtinstruments
Subsequent measurement of debt instruments
depends on the Group's business model for
managing the asset and the cash flow characteristics
of the asset. There are three measurement
categories into which the Group can classify its debt
instruments:

— Amortised cost: Assets that are held for
collection of contractual cash flows where
those cash flows represent solely payments of
principal and interest are measured at amortised
cost. Interest income from these financial
assets, impairment losses, foreign exchange
gains and losses, and gain or loss arising on
derecognition are recognised directly in the
profit or loss.

- FVOCI: Assets that are held for collection
of contractual cash flows and for selling the
financial assets, where the assets’ cash flows
represent solely payments of principal and
interest, are measured at FVOCI. Movements
in the carrying amount are taken through the
other comprehensive income, except for the
recognition of impairment losses or reversals,
interest income and foreign exchange gains and
losses which are recognised in the profit or loss.
When the financial asset is derecognised, the
cumulative gain or loss previously recognised in
the other comprehensive income is reclassified
from equity to, and recognised in the profit or
loss.
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 2 BEASHERHSE(E)
(CONTINUED)

e Debt instruments (continued)
—  FVPL: Assets that do not meet the criteria for
amortised cost or FVOCI are measured at FVPL.
A gain or loss on a debt investment that is
subsequently measured at FVPL is recognised in
the profit or loss in the period in which it arises.

e  Equity instruments

The Group subsequently measures all equity
investments at fair value. Where the Group's
management has elected to present fair value
gains or losses on equity investments in the other
comprehensive income, there is no subsequent
reclassification of fair value gains and losses to
the profit or loss following the derecognition of
the investment. Dividends from such investments
continue to be recognised in the profit or loss
when the Group's rights to receive payments is
established.

Changes in the fair value of financial assets at FVPL
are recognised in the profit or loss. Impairment
losses (and reversal of impairment losses) on equity
investments measured at FVOCI are not reported
separately from other changes in fair value.

Impairment

From 1 April 2018, the Group assesses on a forward
looking basis the expected credit losses associated
with other debtors, amounts due from associates, joint
ventures and non-controlling interests, debt investments
measured at amortised cost and bank balances and
cash. The impairment methodology applied depends on
whether there has been a significant increase in credit
risk.

For trade debtors and contract assets, the Group applies
the simplified approach permitted by HKFRS 9, which
requires expected lifetime losses to be recognised from
initial recognition of the trade debtors and contract assets.

(f) Financial instruments (continued) (f) BEIAGE)
(i) Financial assets (continued) (i) BBEE(H)
(I)  Accounting policy applied since 1 April 2018 (continued) () B=F—NFMHA—HEERH
L EEHE ()
Measurement (continued) A1 E ()
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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E T AFZA=F—AIFE

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

(f) Financial instruments (continued)
(i) Financial assets (continued)

()

(1)

Accounting policy applied since 1 April 2018 (continued)

Impairment (continued)

Impairment on financial assets measured at amortised
cost other than trade debtors and contract assets is
measured as either 12-month expected credit losses or
lifetime expected credit losses, depending on whether
there has been a significant increase in credit risk since
initial recognition. If a significant increase in credit risk
of a debtor has occurred since initial recognition, then
impairment is measured as lifetime expected credit loss.

When there is a significant increase in credit risk or the
debtors are not settled in accordance with the terms
stipulated in the agreements, management considers
these debtors as under-performing or non-performing and
impairment is measured as lifetime credit loss.

When management considers that there is no reasonable
expectation of recovery, the financial assets measured at
amortised cost will be written off.

Accounting policies applied until 31 March 2018

The Group has applied HKFRS 9 retrospectively, but has
elected not to restate comparative information. As a
result, comparative information provided continues to be
accounted for in accordance with the Group’s previous
accounting policy.

Until 31 March 2018 the Group classified its financial
assets in the following categories:

e financial assets at FVPL;

e |oans and receivables; and
e available-for-sale financial assets.
Financial assets at FVPL

Financial assets at FVPL had two subcategories, including
financial assets held for trading and those designated at
FVPL on initial recognition. At the end of each reporting
period subsequent to initial recognition, financial assets
at FVPL were measured at fair value, with changes in fair
value recognised directly in the profit or loss in the period
in which they arise.
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HE-F-NF=A=+—AUFE

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 2 BEASHERHSE(E)
(CONTINUED)

Loans and receivables were non-derivative financial
assets with fixed or determinable payments that are
not quoted in an active market. At the end of each
reporting period subsequent to initial recognition, loans
and receivables (including amounts due from associates,
joint ventures and non-controlling interests, debtors and
bank balances) were carried at amortised cost using the
effective interest method, less any identified impairment
losses. An impairment loss was recognised in the profit
or loss when there was objective evidence that the
asset was impaired, and was measured as the difference
between the asset’s carrying amount and the present
value of the estimated future cash flows discounted at the
original effective interest rate. Impairment losses were
reversed in subsequent periods when an increase in the
asset’s recoverable amount can be related objectively to
an event occurring after the impairment was recognised,
subject to a restriction that the carrying amount of the
asset at the date the impairment was reversed does not
exceed what the amortised cost would have been had the
impairment not been recognised.

Available-for-sale financial assets

Available-for-sale financial assets were non-derivatives
that are either designated or not classified as any of
the other categories set out above. At the end of each
reporting period subsequent to initial recognition,
available-for-sale financial assets were measured at
fair value. Changes in fair value are recognised in the
other comprehensive income, until the financial asset is
disposed of or is determined to be impaired, at which
time, the cumulative gain or loss previously recognised in
equity is removed from the other comprehensive income
and recognised in the profit or loss. Any impairment loss
on available-for-sale financial assets were recognised in
the profit or loss.

Impairment losses on available-for-sale equity
investments will not be reversed through the profit or
loss in subsequent periods. For available-for-sale debt
investments, impairment losses were subsequently
reversed if an increase in the fair value of the investment
can be objectively related to an event occurring after the
recognition of the impairment losses.

Available-for-sale equity investments that did not have a
quoted market price in an active market and whose fair
value cannot be reliably measured were stated at cost
less any identified impairment losses at the end of each
reporting period subsequent to initial recognition. An
impairment loss was recognised in the profit or loss when
there was objective evidence that the asset was impaired.
The amount of the impairment loss was measured as
the difference between the carrying amount of the asset
and the present value of the estimated future cash flows
discounted at the current market rate of return for a
similar financial asset. Such impairment losses will not be
reversed in subsequent periods.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RER IR T

For the year ended 31 March 2019
B2 =T NF=A=+—HIFE

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

(f) Financial instruments (continued)

(ii)

(iii)

Financial liabilities and equity instruments

Financial liabilities and equity instruments issued by a group
entity are classified according to the substance of the
contractual arrangements entered into and the definitions of a
financial liability and an equity instrument.

An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a residual
interest in the assets of the Group after deducting all of its
liabilities. The Group's financial liabilities are classified into
financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss and other
financial liabilities. The accounting policies adopted in respect
of financial liabilities and equity instruments are set out below:

Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss

Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss are
financial liabilities held for trading on initial recognition. At the
end of each reporting period subsequent to initial recognition,
financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss are re-
measured at fair value, with changes in fair value recognised
directly in the profit or loss in the period in which they arise.

Other financial liabilities

Other financial liabilities including amounts due to joint
ventures and non-controlling interests, creditors and payables,
outstanding insurance claims, bank and other borrowings and
amounts due to subsidiaries of the Company are subsequently
measured at amortised cost, using the effective interest
method.

Equity instruments
Equity instruments issued by the Company are recorded at the
proceeds received, net of direct issue costs.

Derivatives and hedging activities

Derivatives are initially recognised at fair value on the date
a derivative contract is entered into and are subsequently
remeasured at their fair value at the end of each reporting
period. The accounting for subsequent changes in fair value
depends on whether the derivative is designated as a hedging
instrument, and if so, the nature of the item being hedged. The
Group designates certain derivatives as either:

e  fair value hedges, which are hedges of the fair value of
recognised assets or liabilities or a firm commitment; or

e cash flow hedges which are hedges of a particular risk
associated with the cash flows of recognised assets and
liabilities and highly probable forecast transactions.

At the inception of hedging, the Group documents the
economic relationship between hedging instruments and
hedged items, including whether changes in the cash flows
of the hedging instruments are expected to offset changes in
the cash flows of hedged items. The Group documents its risk
management objective and strategy for undertaking its hedge
transactions.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

HREHBEEME
For the year ended 31 March 2019
BE =T NF=A=1+—HIFE

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

(f) Financial instruments (continued)
(iii) Derivatives and hedging activities (continued)

The fair values of various derivative financial instruments
designated in hedge relationship are disclosed in note 31 to
the consolidated financial statements. Movements in the
hedging reserve in shareholders’ equity are shown in note 37
to the consolidated financial statements. The full fair value of a
hedging derivative is classified as a non-current asset or liability
when the remaining maturity of the hedged item is more than
12 months; it is classified as a current asset or liability when
the remaining maturity of the hedged item is less than 12
months. Trading derivatives are classified as a current asset or
liability.

(1)

Cash flow hedge

The effective portion of changes in the fair value of
derivatives that are designated and qualify as cash flow
hedges is recognised in the hedging reserve within equity.
The gain or loss relating to the ineffective portion is
recognised immediately in the profit or loss.

When option contracts are used to hedge forecast
transactions, the Group designates only the intrinsic value
of the options as the hedging instruments.

Gain or losses relating to the effective portion of the
change in intrinsic value of the options are recognised
in the hedging reserve within equity. The changes in the
time value of the options that relate to the hedged item
("aligned time value"”) are recognised within the other
comprehensive income in the costs of hedging reserve
within equity.

When forward contracts are used to hedge forecast
transactions, the Group generally designates only the
change in fair value of the forward contract related to
the spot component as the hedging instrument. Gains or
losses relating to the effective portion of the change in the
spot component of the forward contracts are recognised
in the hedging reserve within equity. The change in the
forward element of the contract that relates to the hedged
item ("aligned time value”) is recognised within the other
comprehensive income in the costs of hedging reserve
within equity. In some cases, the entity may designate the
full change in fair value of the forward contract (including
forward points) as the hedging instrument. In such cases,
the gains or losses relating to the effective portion of the
change in fair value of the entire forward contract are
recognised in the hedging reserve within equity.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

HREMBEEME
For the year ended 31 March 2019
B2 =T NF=A=+—HIFE

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

(f) Financial instruments (continued)
(iii) Derivatives and hedging activities (continued)

(iv)

()

(1)

Cash flow hedge (continued)

Amounts accumulated in equity are reclassified in the
periods when the hedged item affects the profit or loss, as
follows:

— Where the hedged item subsequently results in
the recognition of a non-financial asset (such as
inventory), both the deferred hedging gains and
losses and the deferred time value of the option
contracts or deferred forward points, if any, are
included within the initial cost of the asset. The
deferred amounts are ultimately recognised in the
profit or loss as the hedged item affects the profit or
loss (for example through cost of sales).

—  The gain or loss relating to the effective portion of the
interest rate swaps hedging variable rate borrowings
is recognised in the profit or loss within finance cost
at the same time as the interest expense on the
hedged borrowings.

When a hedging instrument expires, or is sold or
terminated, or when a hedge no longer meets the criteria
for hedge accounting, any cumulative deferred gain or
loss and deferred costs of hedging in equity at that time
remains in equity until the forecast transaction occurs,
resulting in the recognition of a non-financial asset such
as inventory. When the forecast transaction is no longer
expected to occur, the cumulative gain or loss and
deferred costs of hedging that were reported in equity are
immediately reclassified to the profit or loss.

Derivatives that do not qualify for hedge accounting

Certain derivative instruments do not qualify for hedge
accounting. Changes in the fair value of these derivative
financial instrument are recognised immediately in the
profit or loss.

Financial assets and liabilities are offset and the net amount
reported in the statement of financial position where the
Group currently has a legally enforceable right to offset the
recognised amounts, and there is an intention to settle on a net
basis or realise the asset and settle the liability simultaneously.
The Group has also entered into arrangements that do not
meet the criteria for offsetting but still allow for the related
amounts to be set off in certain circumstances, such as
bankruptcy or the termination of a contract.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

HERBREN

For the year ended 31 March 2019
BE T NF=A=1+—HIFE

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

(g)

Investment properties

Property that is held for long-term rental yields or for capital
appreciation or both, and that is not occupied by the Group, is
classified as investment property.

Investment property comprises land held under operating leases
and buildings held under finance leases. Land held under operating
leases is classified and accounted for as investment property
when the rest of the definition of investment property is met. The
operating lease is accounted for as if it was a finance lease.

Investment property is measured initially at its cost, including
related transaction costs. After initial recognition, investment
property is carried at fair value. Fair value is determined by
professional valuation conducted as at the end of the reporting
period. Changes in fair value are recognised in the profit or loss.

Subsequent expenditure is capitalised to the carrying amount of
the asset only when it is probable that future economic benefits
associated with the asset will flow to the Group and the cost of the
asset can be measured reliably. All other repairs and maintenance
costs are expensed in the profit or loss during the financial period in
which they are incurred.

Changes in fair values are recognised in the profit or loss as part of
the other gains, net.

If an investment property becomes owner-occupied, it is
reclassified as property, plant and equipment, and its fair value
at the date of reclassification becomes its cost for accounting
purposes. If an item of property, plant and equipment becomes an
investment property because its use has changed, any difference
resulting between the carrying amount and the fair value of this
item at the date of transfer is recognised in equity as a revaluation
of property, plant and equipment under HKAS 16. Any resulting
increase in the carrying amount of the property, plant and
equipment is recognised in the profit or loss to the extent that it
reverses a previous impairment loss, with any remaining increase
recognised directly to revaluation surplus within equity. Any
resulting decrease in the carrying amount of the property, plant and
equipment is charged to the profit or loss. Upon the subsequent
disposal of investment property, any revaluation reserve balance of
the property, plant and equipment is transferred to retained profits
and is shown as a movement in equity.

When an investment property undergoes a change in use,
evidenced by commencement of development with a view to sale,
the property is transferred to properties for sales at its fair value at
the date of change in use.

For a transfer from properties for sale to investment properties
(which is evidenced by a commencement of operating leases) that
will be carried at fair value, any difference between the fair value of
the property at that date and its previous carrying amount shall be
recognised in the profit or loss.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AR BN

For the year ended 31 March 2019
HE T NE=ZH="1—HIFEZE

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

2 ERSHERME ()

(h) Property, plant and equipment (h) % - BERRE

Property, plant and equipment are stated at cost less accumulated
depreciation and impairment losses except for staff quarters.

Staff quarters are measured at fair value less accumulated
depreciation and impairment losses recognised at the date of
revaluation. Revaluation are performed with sufficient frequency to
ensure that the carrying amount does not differ materially from the
fair value of a revalued asset at the end of the reporting period.

Changes in fair value are recognised in the other comprehensive
income. However, to the extent that it reverses a revaluation deficit
of the same asset previously recognised in the profit or loss, the
increase is recognised in the profit or loss. A revaluation deficit is
recognised in the profit or loss, except to the extent that it offsets
an existing surplus on the same asset recognised in equity.

An annual transfer from the asset revaluation reserve to the
retained profits is made for the difference between depreciation
based on the revalued carrying amount of the asset and original
cost. Additionally, accumulated depreciation as at the revaluation
date is eliminated against the gross carrying amount of the asset
and the net amount is restated to the revalued amount of the asset.
Upon disposal, any revaluation reserve relating to the particular
asset being sold is transferred to retained profits.

Leasehold land classified as finance lease commences depreciation
from the time when the land interest becomes available for its
intended use. Depreciation on leasehold land classified as finance
lease and other assets is calculated using the straight-line method
to allocate their costs or fair values less their residual values over
their estimated useful lives at the following rates per annum:
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lease term FHNBREE
Leasehold land classified Over the remaining lease term DEAMERE HRRsBZHEEFEH
as finance lease ZHETH
Leasehold improvements Over the remaining lease term HEYHEE LRz HEFH
Machinery 10% s 10%

Furniture, fixtures, office 10%-33"/:%
equipment and motor vehicles

Others 10%-20%

Assets held under finance leases are depreciated over the shorter

of the lease term and their expected useful lives on the same basis

as owned assets.

An asset's carrying amount is written down immediately to its
recoverable amount if the asset’s carrying amount is greater than its
estimated recoverable amount.

The gain or loss arising from disposal or retirement of an asset is
determined as the difference between the net sale proceeds and
the carrying amount of the asset and is recognised in the profit or
loss.

The assets’ residual values and useful lives are reviewed, and
adjusted if appropriate, at the end of each reporting period.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

HREHBEEME
For the year ended 31 March 2019
R E—NFZA=ZF—HIFFE

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

(i)

1)

(k)

)

(m

-

Other intangible assets

On initial recognition, intangible assets acquired separately and
from business combinations are recognised at cost and at fair value
respectively. After initial recognition, intangible assets with finite
useful lives are carried at costs less accumulated amortisation and
accumulated impairment losses. Amortisation for intangible assets
with finite useful lives is provided on a straight-line basis over their
estimated useful lives. Intangible assets with indefinite useful lives
are carried at cost less accumulated impairment losses.

Gain or loss arising from derecognition of an intangible asset is
measured as the difference between the net disposal proceed and
the carrying amount of the asset and are recognised in the profit or
loss when the asset is derecognised.

Properties under development

Properties under development are stated at the lower of cost and
net realizable value. Development cost of properties comprise
prepaid lease payments, development expenditure and borrowing
costs capitalised.

The net realisable value is the estimated selling price in the ordinary
course of business less selling expenses and costs to completion.

Impairment of investments in associates and joint ventures
Management regularly reviews whether there are any indications
of impairment of the Group’s investments in associates and joint
ventures primarily based on value-in-use calculations.

In determining the value in use, management assesses the present
value of estimated future cash flows expected to arise from their
businesses. Estimates and judgements are applied in determining
these future cash flows and discount rate. Management estimates
the future cash flows based on certain assumptions, such as
revenue growth.

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable
value. Cost is calculated using the first-in-first-out or weighted
average method. Net realisable value is determined on the basis of
anticipated sales proceeds in the ordinary course of business less
applicable selling expenses.

Properties for sale

Properties for sale, which comprise prepaid lease payments and
buildings held for resale, are stated at the lower of cost and net
realisable value. The costs of properties for sale comprise cost of
acquisition of properties and related development costs.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 March 2019
B2 =T NF=A=+—HIFE

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

(n)

(o)

(p)

(q)

Contract assets and contract liabilities

Upon entering into a contract with a customer, the Group obtains
rights to receive consideration from the customer and assumes
performance obligations to transfer goods or provide services to the
customer.

The combination of those rights and performance obligations gives
rise to a net contract asset or a net contract liability depending on
the relationship between the remaining rights and the performance
obligations. An item of assets is recognised as contract assets if
a contract's cumulative revenue recognised in the profit or loss
exceeds cumulative payments made by customers. Conversely, an
item of liabilities is recognised as contract liabilities if a contract’s
cumulative payments made by customers exceeds the revenue
recognised in the profit or loss.

Contract assets are assessed for impairment under the same
approach adopted for impairment assessment of trade debtors.
Contract liabilities are recognised as revenue when the Group
transfers the goods or services to the customers and therefore
satisfied its performance obligation.

The incremental costs of obtaining a contract with a customer are
capitalised and presented as contract related assets, if the Group
expects to recover those costs, and are subsequently amortised
on a systematic basis that is consistent with the transfer to the
customers of the goods or services to which the assets relate.
The Group recognises an impairment loss in the profit or loss to
the extent that carrying amount of the contract related assets
recognised exceeds the remaining amounts of consideration that
the Group expects to receive less the costs that relate directly to
providing those goods or services that have not been recognised as
expenses.

Assets held-for-sale

Non-current assets are classified as assets held-for-sale when
their carrying amount is to be recovered principally through a
sale transition and a sale is considered highly probable. They are
stated at the lower of carrying amount and fair value less costs to
sell if their carrying amount is to be recovered principally through
a sale transaction rather than through continuing use, except for
investment properties that are carried at fair value.

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents include cash in hand, deposits held at
call with banks with original maturities of three months or less and
bank overdrafts.

Pledged bank deposits are not included in cash and cash
equivalents.

Trade creditors
Trade creditors are recognised initially at fair value and
subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective
interest method.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

HEHIBEEME
For the year ended 31 March 2019
BE =T NF=A=1+—HIFE

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

(r)

Provisions and contingencies

Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present legal or
constructive obligation as a result of past events, it is probable that
an outflow of resources will be required to settle the obligation, and
a reliable estimate of the amount can be made. Provisions are not
recognised for future operating losses. Where the Group expects a
provision to be reimbursed, the reimbursement is recognised as a
separate asset when the reimbursement is virtually certain.

Where there are a number of similar obligations, the likelihood
that an outflow will be required in settlement is determined by
considering the class of obligations as a whole. A provision is
recognised even if the likelihood of an outflow with respect to any
one item included in the same class of obligations may be small.

Provisions are measured at the present value of the expenditures
expected to be required to settle the obligation using a pre-tax
rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of
money and the risks specific to the obligation. The increase in the
provision due to passage of time is recognised as interest expense.

A contingent liability is a possible obligation that arises from
past events and whose existence will only be confirmed by the
occurrence or non-occurrence of one or more uncertain future
events not wholly within the control of the Group. It can also be a
present obligation arising from past events that is not recognised
because it is not probable that an outflow of economic resources
will be required or the amount of obligation cannot be measured
reliably.

A contingent liability is not recognised but is disclosed in the notes
to the consolidated financial statements. When a change in the
probability of an outflow occurs so that the outflow is probable, it
will then be recognised as a provision.

A contingent asset is a probable asset that arises from past events
and whose existence will be confirmed only by the occurrence or
non-occurrence of one or more uncertain future events not wholly
within the control of the Group.

A contingent asset is not recognised but is disclosed in the notes to
the consolidated financial statements when an inflow of economic
benefits is probable. When inflow is virtually certain, an asset is
recognised.

The Group regards its financial guarantee contracts in respect
of mortgage facilities provided by banks to certain property
buyers, and credit facilities provided by financial institutions to its
subsidiaries, associates and joint ventures as insurance contracts.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 March 2019
B2 =T NF=A=+—HIFE

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

(s)

(t)

(u)

Unearned insurance premiums and unexpired risk reserves
Unearned insurance premiums represent the estimated portions
of the premiums written which relate to periods of insurance
subsequent to the end of the reporting period and are deferred to
subsequent accounting periods. Unearned premiums are computed
on the basis of net premiums written for all classes of insurance.
Net premium written represents gross premiums received or
receivable after deducting reinsurance premiums.

Provision is made for unexpired risks arising from the expected
value of claims and expenses attributable to the unexpired periods
of policies in force which, at the end of the reporting period,
exceeds the unearned premiums provision in relation to such
policies.

Insurance claims

Claims paid and outstanding comprise claims paid, claims reported
but not yet paid and an estimate of claims incurred but not reported
(“IBNR") as at the end of the reporting period which is calculated
with reference to foreseeable events, past experiences and trends.

Insurance claims are recognised when they are incurred and
reported. Incurred claims include the losses, related costs and
expenses paid during the year and the change in the reserve for
outstanding claims during the year. Reserves for outstanding claims
are reported on an undiscounted basis which include reserves for
reported claims and reserves for IBNR claims.

Every notified claim is assessed on a case-by-case basis. The
reserve of a reported claim is made by the claims handler based
on his experience and based on the information, documents and
the claim amount submitted by the claimant and is checked by the
officer before updating the information into the claims system.
The reserve is reviewed and revised regularly to reflect the
development of the claim and the change of the market practice.

At the end of each reporting period, the Group performs a liability
adequacy test to ensure the adequacy of the insurance claim
liabilities. In performing these tests, current best estimates of
all future contractual cash flows are made. Any deficiency is
immediately charged to the profit or loss.

Share capital
Ordinary shares are classified as equity.

Incremental costs directly attributable to the issue of new shares
or options are shown in equity as a deduction, net of tax, from the
proceeds.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
HER BN T

For the year ended 31 March 2019
BE =T NF=A=1+—HIFE

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 2
(CONTINUED)

EXETHHREE (F)

(v) Revenue and income recognition (v) WARWZER

HKFRS 15 establishes a comprehensive framework for determining
when to recognise revenue and how much revenue to recognise

RS ERE RN B IES
B MUBETERIBAREREE R

through a 5-step approach: (i) identify the contract(s) with a HEHESR : ()VHFBIEPEL : (&L
customer; (i) identify separate performance obligations in the FZEBBHED : (1) BEXSHER
contract; (iii) determine the transaction price; (iv) allocate the (V) BRGEERSREBHNES  RVK

transaction price to the performance obligations; and (v) recognise
revenue when a performance obligation is satisfied. The core
principle is that a company should recognise revenue when control
of a good or service transfers to a customer.

From 1 April 2018 onwards, the Group has adopted the following
accounting policies on revenues:

Revenues are recognised when or as the control of the goods or
service is transferred to the customer. Depending on the terms of
the contract and the laws that apply to the contract, control of the
goods or service may be transferred over time or at a point in time.

Control of the goods or service is transferred over time if the
Group's performance:

e provides all of the benefits received and consumed
simultaneously by the customer;

e  creates or enhances an asset that the customer controls as the
Group performs; or

e does not create an asset with an alternative use to the
Group and the Group has an enforceable right to payment for
performance completed to date.

If control of the goods or service transfers over time, revenue
is recognised over the period of the contract by reference to
the progress towards complete satisfaction of that performance
obligation. Otherwise, revenue is recognised at a point in time
when the customer obtains control of the goods or service.

The progress towards complete satisfaction of the performance
obligation of a construction contract is measured based on one of
the following methods that best depict the Group's performance in
satisfying the performance obligation:

e direct measurements of the value transferred by the Group to
the customer; or

e the Group's efforts or inputs to the satisfaction of the
performance obligation relative to the total expected efforts or
inputs.

Incremental costs incurred to obtain a contract, if recoverable, are
capitalised as contract assets and subsequently amortised when
the related revenue is recognised.

Income from sale of properties is recognised when the legal
assignment is completed or the property is accepted by the
customer, which is the point in time when the customer has the
ability to direct the use of the property and obtain substantially all of
the remaining benefits of the property.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 March 2019
B2 =T NF=A=+—HIFE

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

2 ERSHERME(#)

(v) Revenue and income recognition (continued) (v) WaERUWARER (&)

Income from sale of goods such as information technology
equipment, motor vehicles and food and beverage are recognised
when goods are delivered and title to the goods has passed to
the customers. Revenue is arrived at after deduction of any sales
return, discount and value-added tax.

Income from rendering of services such as provision of
maintenance and property management, warehouse and logistics
services and hotel and senior housing operations are recognised
over time when services are rendered. Receipt in advance of
provision of services are accounted for as contract liabilities.

Premiums for direct insurance business are recognised as income
when an insurance policy is accepted and the relevant debit note is
issued.

Interest income from a financial asset is accrued on a time basis,
with reference to the principal outstanding and at the effective
interest rate applicable, which is the rate that exactly discounts
the estimated future cash receipts through the expected life of the
financial asset to its net carrying amount.

Dividend income from investments is recognised when the Group’s
rights to receive payment have been established.

Rental income under operating leases is recognised on a straight-
line basis over the terms of the respective leases.

Presentation of contract assets/liabilities

The adoption of HKFRS 15 also resulted in changes in terminology
used. “Amounts due from/to customers for contract work”
previously used under HKAS 11 “Construction contracts” ("HKAS
11") in relation to construction contracts were reclassified as
“Contract assets/liabilities” under HKFRS 15. Contract liabilities
in relation to advance received from customers were previously
presented as deposits received within creditors, bills payable,
deposits and accruals. The accounting policy in relation to contract
assets/liabilities is detailed in note 2(n).

Financing components

The Group does not expect to have any contracts where the period
between the transfer of the promised goods or services to the
customer and payment by the customer exceeds one year, except
for retention receivables which may not be fully settled within 12
months after the end of the reporting period. As a consequence,
the Group does not adjust any of the transaction prices for the time
value of money.
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HEHIBEEME
For the year ended 31 March 2019
BE =T NF=A=1+—HIFE

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

(w) Leases

(x)

Leases are classified as finance leases whenever the terms of the
lease transfer substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership to
the lessee. All other leases are classified as operating leases.

The Group as lessor

Amounts due from lessees under finance leases are recorded as
receivables at the amount of the Group’s net investment in the
leases. Finance lease income is allocated to accounting periods so
as to reflect a constant periodic rate of return on the Group's net
investment outstanding in respect of the leases.

Rental income from operating leases is recognised in the profit or
loss on a straight-line basis over the terms of the relevant leases.
Initial direct costs incurred in negotiating and arranging an operating
lease are added to the carrying amount of the leased asset and
recognised as an expense on a straight-line basis over the lease
term.

The Group as lessee

Assets held under finance leases are recognised as assets of
the Group at their fair values at the inception of the lease or, if
lower, at the present value of the minimum lease payments. The
corresponding liability to the lessor is included in the statement
of financial position as an obligation under finance lease. Lease
payments are apportioned between finance charges and reduction
of the lease obligation so as to achieve a constant rate of interest on
the remaining balance of the liability. Finance charges are charged
directly to the profit or loss, unless they are directly attributable
to the acquisition, construction or production of qualifying assets,
in which case they are capitalised in accordance with the Group's
general policy on borrowing costs as stated in note 2(y) to the
consolidated financial statements.

Rental payables under operating leases are charged to the profit or
loss on a straight line basis over the terms of the relevant leases.
Benefits received and receivables as incentives to enter into
operating leases are recognised as a reduction of rental expenses
over the lease terms on a straight line basis.

Employee benefits

(i) Employee leave entitlements
Employee entitlements to annual leave are recognised
when they accrue to employees. A provision is made for
the estimated liability for annual leave as a result of services
rendered by employees up to the end of the reporting period.
Employee entitlements to sick leave and maternity leave are
not recognised until the time of leave.

(ii) Bonus plans
Provision for bonus plans is recognised when the Group
has a present legal or constructive obligation as a result of
services rendered by employees and a reliable estimate of the
obligation can be made.

(iii) Defined contribution plans
Payments to defined contribution retirement benefit plans
including the Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes are charged
as an expense as they fall due, net of forfeited contributions.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 March 2019
HE T NE=ZH="1—HIFE

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

(y) Borrowings and borrowing costs

(2)

Borrowings are recognised initially at fair value, net of transaction
costs incurred. Borrowings are subsequently stated at amortised
cost; any difference between the proceeds (net of transaction
costs) and the redemption value is recognised in the profit or loss
or capitalised over the period of the borrowings using effective
interest method.

Borrowings are classified as current liabilities unless the Group has
an unconditional right to defer settlement of the liability for at least
12 months after the end of the reporting year.

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition, construction
or production of qualifying assets, which are assets that necessarily
take a substantial period of time to get ready for their intended use
or sale, are capitalised as part of the cost of those assets, until such
time as the assets are substantially ready for their intended use or
sale. Investment income earned on the temporary investment of
specific borrowings pending their expenditure on qualifying assets
is deducted from the borrowing costs eligible for capitalisation.

All other borrowing costs are recognised in the profit or loss in the
period in which they are incurred.

Taxation
Taxation represent the sum of the tax currently payable and
deferred tax.

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for the period.
Taxable profit differs from profit as reported in the profit or loss
because it excludes items of income or expense that are taxable or
deductible in other years and it further excludes the profit or loss
items that are never taxable or deductible. The Group's liability for
current tax is calculated using tax rates that have been enacted or
substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period.

Deferred tax is recognised on differences between the carrying
amounts of assets and liabilities in the financial statements and
the corresponding tax bases used in the computation of taxable
profit, and is accounted for using the liability method. Deferred
tax liabilities are generally recognised for all taxable temporary
differences and deferred tax assets are recognised to the extent
that it is probable that future taxable profits will be available against
which deductible temporary differences can be utilised. Such
assets and liabilities are not recognised if the temporary difference
arises from goodwill or from the initial recognition (other than in a
business combination) of other assets and liabilities in a transaction
that affects neither the taxable profit nor the accounting profit.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable temporary
differences arising on investments in subsidiaries, and interests in
associates and joint ventures, except where the Group is able to
control the reversal of the temporary difference and it is probable
that the temporary difference will not reverse in the foreseeable
future.

2 ERSHERME(#)

(y)

(2)

ERRAERARE
BRE AR EREEE Y RBRA
WERR o (BRI S R AN - AT
BRE (IR R SMA) HEEEE 2
BRERDERER SR B R
RABFER -

BOEREEAEGITRNBEBZEE
EIEE S FERERD12(8 - BAI
EFENBRBEE -

RS BERAEFTEREREE
HRERMGRHECTERENEEL
BRKA - RERMEBASEEREZ
—&0 - EERFEEAR LD AMHE
RHEERL - BRASNARENEE
i AR IS 2 8 SR AL 18 R A6 B R
EAERBREMRIMZIKELA - IR
FHEEANMEZ SRR AR 0

FRAEMIERKA - Th B RELEHME
RIBEEARERR ©

B
TIRIEE HiME N B TR MR AR TR 2 48

B R IR O AR IR HA P 2 FE AR B4 A
FHH o BRTUEMNEBRBEANZ2 W4
MAMAR - R E R R B M 3 A
BENEACFEERT AT 2 BA
K HIER - B EMRRBERT X
AAHIf 2 ERIAR - AEEZE K
HABNRBRERRDBOREE B M
ZIEEHE o

BEEREDREBEMGHRRAEENEE
SR (B B2 51 5 M8 SR Bl 1 P ER PR AR FE T
EZERMER  URBEEEAK-
BEETRIEE BT A BRI Y 1
EZRMER - RLERIBREER N A IRE
Ptz 2E A a2 B A AR R ER TR
BT ARER - MEREERMEER
(TBIEEBEN) —BTLBERDE
M gtafle Xz EMEEREE
ZBRTEREL - AAEENBED
?’l)/(ﬁ@%,’m °©

BETIRAEDERMB AR ZRE -
PGB 2 RBIRA BRI REMESL
ERMEREERMER  BIEAEE
EGEREER MBEREREER
R TR R KA g @B

108 CHEVALIER INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS LIMITED | ANNUAL REPORT 2019



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 March 2019
BE T NF=A=1+—HIFE

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

2 ERSHEERME(#)

(z) Taxation (continued) (2) BE(E)

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at the end
of each reporting period and reduced to the extent that it is no
longer probable that sufficient future taxable profits will be available
to allow all or part of the asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax is calculated at the tax rates that are expected to apply
in the period when the liability is settled or the asset is realised.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a
legally enforceable right to offset current tax assets and liabilities
and when the deferred tax balances relate to the same taxation
authority. Current tax assets and tax liabilities are offset where the
entity has a legally enforceable right to offset and intends either to
settle on a net basis, or to realise the asset and settle the liability
simultaneously.

Deferred tax liabilities or deferred tax assets arising from
investment properties located in Hong Kong and Singapore are
determined based on the presumption that the carrying amount of
such investment properties will be recovered through sale with the
corresponding tax rate applied.

Current and deferred tax is recognised in the profit or loss, except
to the extent that it relates to items recognised in the other
comprehensive income or directly in equity. In this case, the tax is
also recognised in the other comprehensive income or directly in
equity, respectively.

(aa) Foreign currencies

In preparing the financial statements of each individual group entity,
transactions in currencies other than the functional currency of that
entity (foreign currencies) are recorded in its functional currency
(i.e. the currency of the primary economic environment in which
the entity operates) at the exchange rates prevailing at the dates
of the transactions. At the end of each reporting period, monetary
items denominated in foreign currencies are translated at the rates
prevailing at the end of the reporting period. Non-monetary items
carried at fair value that are denominated in foreign currencies are
translated at the rates prevailing on the date when the fair value
has determined. Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of
historical cost in a foreign currency are not retranslated.

Exchange differences arising on the settlement of monetary items,
and on the translation of monetary items, are recognised in the
profit or loss in the period in which they arise, except for exchange
differences arising on a monetary item that forms part of the
Group’s net investment in a foreign operation, which are recognised
in equity in the consolidated financial statements. Exchange
differences arising on the retranslation of non-monetary items
carried at fair value are included in the profit or loss for the period
except for differences arising on the retranslation of non-monetary
items in respect of which gains and losses are recognised directly
in equity, in which cases, the exchange components of that gain or
loss are also recognised directly in equity.

BIEBORAE 2 BEERE RSN
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-

EERRRIRAN B EAEREREE
HIE 2 BAREAE -

HAREMRIAERE BB ERRHEK
ERHIBMITE - RIRERIAA R —
IR RS - RIEPTIS A A
BEERE - BERBEAMORARGIHNT
BAUEEEEENFRTALEE - %A
REREERGETAER  EHHEER
EEBIRAE T AR -

EBEEMNEBRIINKEZIREWEE
EZRERIR B ERRERBEERT)
RER AR E Y% 2 BRI E A P8
ZHRER RS BEERD -

REFEHIBRFEER BN iR (2
AR IR OB ERR TR R E A 2 T
gzt 58 2 1A B A B X B B S A i
RZBEEARRIRIN - RELERT - B
B A E TR MR E N R RN E AL 2
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(aa) HhiE
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RER IR T

For the year ended 31 March 2019
B2 =T NF=A=+—HIFE

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

2 ERSHERME(#)

(aa) Foreign currencies (continued)

(aa) HhiHE (48)

For the purposes of presenting the consolidated financial
statements, the assets and liabilities of the Group's foreign
operations are translated into the presentation currency of the
Company at the exchange rates prevailing at the end of the
reporting period, and their income and expenses are translated
at the average exchange rates for the period, unless exchange
rates fluctuate significantly during the period, in which case, the
exchange rates prevailing at the dates of transactions are used.
Exchange differences arising, if any, are recognised in the other
comprehensive income as a separate component of equity, the
exchange fluctuation reserve. Such exchange differences are
recognised in the profit or loss in the period in which the foreign
operation is disposed of.

Goodwill and fair value adjustments on identifiable assets acquired
arising on an acquisition of a foreign operation are treated as
assets and liabilities of that foreign operation and translated at
the exchange rates prevailing at the end of the reporting period.
Exchange differences so arising are recognised in the exchange
fluctuation reserve.

(ab) Impairment of non-financial assets

Intangible assets that have an indefinite useful life, for example
goodwill, are not subject to amortisation and are tested annually for
impairment. Other assets are reviewed for impairment whenever
events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying
amounts may not be recoverable. An impairment loss is recognised
for the amount by which the asset’s carrying amount exceeds its
recoverable amount. The recoverable amount is the higher of an
asset’s fair value less cost to sell and value in use. For the purposes
of assessing impairment, assets are grouped at the lowest levels
for which there are separately identifiable cash flows (CGU). Non-
financial assets other than goodwill that suffered an impairment are
reviewed for possible reversal of the impairment at the end of each
reporting period.

(ac) Segment reporting

Operating segments are reported in a manner consistent with
the internal reporting provided to the chief operating decision-
maker. The chief operating decision-maker, who is responsible for
allocating resources and assessing performance of the operating
segments, has been identified as the chief operating decision-
makers that make strategic decisions.

Segment assets mainly consist of non-current assets and current
assets as disclosed in the consolidated statement of financial
position except prepaid tax, unallocated bank balances and cash,
deferred tax assets and other unallocated assets.

Segment liabilities mainly consist of current liabilities and non-
current liabilities as disclosed in the consolidated statement of
financial position except current income tax liabilities, bank and
other borrowings, deferred tax liabilities and other unallocated
liabilities.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e R BB T

For the year ended 31 March 2019
BE T NF=A=1+—HIFE

3 CHANGES IN SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 3 BEASHEEEH

(a) Impact on the consolidated financial statements (a) HEEHBRR2TE
The adoption of HKFRS 9 and HKFRS 15 from 1 April 2018 resulted BE-Z—N\FEMNA—BREAEEHH
in changes in accounting policies and adjustments to the amounts WMERERESH R BBV HEMEERE15
recognised in the consolidated financial statements. In accordance FER SRR EH L EFEAVBRE
with the transitional provisions in HKFRS 9 and HKFRS 15, NHERZ DEELAR - REFTBHH
comparative figures have not been restated. The reclassifications WMELERIEIN KA AN EHRELERZE 15
are therefore not reflected in the consolidated statement of SR BEMEN - WESIILRHT -
financial position as at 31 March 2018, but are recognised in the At r EFHETER-_ZF—N\F=A
opening consolidated statement of financial position as at 1 April =t —HZEEMBRARARE - H
2018. RZZB—NFHR—BZBEEM%

IR R NHER -

TRIRHE BRI B % R R B R
R WESA TR EEHZENUBR
RIER - BRABFRAT

The following table shows the adjustments recognised for each
individual financial statement line item. Financial statement line
items that were not affected by the changes have not been
included. The adjustments are explained in more details as below.

31 March 2018
As previously
reported

Effect on
adoption of
HKFRS 15

Effect on
adoption of
H KFRS 9

1 April 2018
As adjusted

AERI5E15 5%

NS k=7 AR
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
/Em:FTE B JT /’é’l’FFﬁ /%%:Fﬁ
Consolidated statement of SEBBERRE
financial position (extract) (F82)
Interests in associates NS e 468,411 - 314 468,725
Investments at FVOCI BARESINEM
PENEEEZIRE - 63,558 - 63,558
Investments at FVPL BARENAER
BREZIKE 430,805 193,380 - 624,185
Investments at amortised cost RBER TR
®E - 33,182 - 33,182
Available-for-sale investments e ZRE 265,766 (265,766) - -
Inventories e 344,577 - 15,498 360,075
Debtors, contract assets, RS - BREE -
deposits and prepayments FHRE R
BN FIA 1,466,445 (24,354) 78,570 1,520,661
Amounts due from customers BENTIREREP
for contract work W 2 FIE 88,563 - (88,563) -
Amounts due to customers RENTREREP
for contract work Xtz 50E 639,791 - (639,791) -
Creditors, bills payable, deposits, — JEfBRZR « ERZIE -
contract liabilities and accruals FAZE  A0AE
MIERER 1,642,245 - 660,887 2,303,132
Deferred income REIEUA 22,403 - (22,403) -
Current income tax liabilities EHMEHAR 69,028 - 1,124 70,152
Investment revaluation reserve BEEHEE 62,407 (28,596) - 33,811
Retained profits B A 6,505,177 28,596 6,002 6,539,775
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RER IR T

For the year ended 31 March 2019
HE-—FT-NFE=H="1—HIFE

3 CHANGES IN SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 3 EASHER2H(E)
(CONTINUED)

(b) HKFRS 9 and HKFRS 15 — Impact of adoption (b) BERMBRELEANFIFREBMBRE
EAEI5HE - Rz e
BAVBEREERNFIRBAETEE

H'J% 395 [T A : R &£ ((%

HKFRS 9 replaces the provisions of HKAS 39, “Financial
instruments: Recognition and measurement” (“HKAS 39") that

relate to the recognition, classification and measurement of GETHERIE 39 ) BV B A E KA
financial assets and financial liabilities, derecognition of financial i%ﬁFZﬁEw‘ DERAE - RIEER

MBI ARBBEERE - FTETHE

instruments and impairment of financial assets. The new

accounting policies are set out in note 2(f).

HKFRS 15 replaces both the provisions of HKAS 18, “Revenue”
("HKAS 18") and HKAS 11 and the related interpretations that relate
to the recognition, classification and measurement of revenue and
costs.

The total impact on application of HKFRS 9 and HKFRS 15 on the
Group's retained profits as at 1 April 2018 is as follows:

BUABEE2(F) ©

RN MEERF 15 MR EE SR
ERIF 18I I([EEEHERIFE 18
1) REBEFHERE 1SR ZRE AR
FUWARLA 2 R~ DR EZAE
R -

RMEBMITREENE R REENH
BEENF15FRAAEER _FT—\F

MA—BZREBANOZEEEZ|1M
=

HK$'000

BETT

Closing retained profits at 31 March 2018 =—Z—/\F=A=+—H2HK

1RE R 6,505,177
Reclassify investment revaluation reserve Mo BEIREAENRE (i)a) 28,596
Adjustments for unbilled revenue AR B EL AR (iii)(b) 6,812
Adjustment to interests in associates /N ol gk (iii)(a) 314
Tax effect MIBTZE (iii)(b) (1,124)
Opening retained profits at 1 April 2018 —E-N\FMA—-HZHYRGER -

- HKFRS 9 and HKFRS 15 BERPBMEERE KR
EBMBREERE5 5 6,539,775
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e R BB T

For the year ended 31 March 2019
BE T NF=A=1+—HIFE

CHANGES IN SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 3 EASHRREH (&)
(CONTINUED)

_ i ; (b) BERMBRELEAFIFREBUBRE
(b) HKFRS 9 and HKFRS 15 - Impact of adoption (continued) 9 B[ 55 15 5 — S04 B/ ()

(i) HKFRS 9 - Classification and measurement (i) E;ﬁﬂji%iﬁ%ﬁﬂﬂ%s%ﬁ—ﬁﬁ&a—l'
==}
RZZ—N\FMA—H AEHZ
EREEBEMEANALEREZ
MISEE 2 EBEN - WEFHMN
BIEDHEEEBMGEMEREAEI
FRTHEERER - ZEN D EMT

On 1 April 2018, the Group’s management has assessed
which business models apply to the financial assets held by
the Group and has classified its financial instruments into the
appropriate HKFRS 9 categories. The main effects resulting
from this reclassification are as follows:

RZEBFENMT :
Available- Amortised
for-sale FVOCI cost
BRARE

DIAE M IREESEAA

AT E HIAE LD G GIES

Financial assets HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000

BBREE BT T BT T BT T BT
Closing balance at —ZE—-N\§¥=A
31 March 2018 - HKAS 39 =+—BzH
RiEeh—FB
BT ERIZE39

i 265,766 430,805 - -
Reclassify investments from  #3& & At
available-for-sale to FVPL EEHHHEE
BARBEIIA

B (a) (202,208) 202,208 - -
Reclassify equity securities HE R ANFE Z R Al
from available-for-sale to HEESEHD
FVOCI BERRIRE
HIAEMEE

Wz (b) (63,558) - 63,558 -
Reclassify debt securities from #H{&#B 5 ML
FVPL to amortised cost NAEFIAE
wEFOEE
bize: izlpwndl

iR (c) - (33,182) - 33,182
Reclassify income provident A RTES H
fund from other debtors to HAbEIARR
FVPL E o S
DRETIAE

i (d) - 24,354 - -
Opening balance at —Z-\FMmA
1 April 2018 - HKFRS 9 —BZHNE
- BBHE
WELERE9

i - 624,185 63,558 33,182
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RER IR T

For the year ended 31 March 2019
BE T NF=HA=1+—HIFE

3 CHANGES IN SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 3 EASHER2H(E)
(CONTINUED)

(b) HKFRS 9 and HKFRS 15 - Impact of adoption (continued) (b) BERMBRELEANFIFREBMBRE
ERIFE155 - Rz E (&)
(i) HKFRS 9 - Classification and measurement (continued) (i) BEMBEHREENESRE - 28R
2 (&)
The impact (net of tax) of these changes on the Group's equity ZEEBE AR R FE (K
is as follows: BB -

Effect on
investment Effect on
revaluation investment
reserve revaluation Effect on
(available- reserve retained
for-sale) (FVOCI) profits

HREE
HIKEBMH fEGRAR
g EFAEAM
2 )

i

Opening balance - HKAS 39 YR -BRESHEAS

393 62,407 - 6,505,177
Reclassify investments from BRI HHEEN S
available-for-sale to FVPL BRAREIIAER (@) (28,596) - 28,596
Reclassify equity securities from R AE S B HEEER
available-for-sale to FVOCI DEERRANEIAEAM
2EME (b) (33,811) 33,811 -
Total impact HEBE (62,407) 33,811 28,596
Opening balance - HKFRS 9 & - BBMBRE
ZRIFE IR - 33,811 6,533,773*
*  The amount is before the adjustments from the application of HKFRS 15. * RRMNEBIBREENE 1AM SE -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

HEHIBEEME
For the year ended 31 March 2019
R E—NFZA=F—HIFFE

3 CHANGES IN SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

(b) HKFRS 9 and HKFRS 15 - Impact of adoption (continued)

U]

HKFRS 9 - Classification and measurement (continued)

Notes:

(a)

(b)

(e)

Reclassification from available-for-sale to FVPL

Certain investments were reclassified from available-for-sale
investments to financial assets at FVPL. Related fair value gains
(net of tax) of HK$28,596,000 were reclassified from investment
revaluation reserve to retained profits on 1 April 2018.

Equity securities previously classified as available-for-sale

The Group elected to present in the other comprehensive income
changes in the fair value of its equity securities previously
classified as available-for-sale, because these investments are
held as long-term strategic investments that are not expected
to be sold in the short to medium term. As a result, assets with
a fair value of HK$63,558,000 were reclassified from available-
for-sale investments to FVOCI and fair value gains (net of tax) of
HK$33,811,000 were recognised from the available-for-sale reserve
to the FVOCI reserve on 1 April 2018.

Reclassification from FVPL to amortised cost

Certain listed debt securities were reclassified from FVPL to
amortised cost. At the date of initial application of the Group's
business model is to hold these investments for collection of
contractual cash flows, and the cash flows represent solely
payments of principal and interest. The fair value of HK$33,182,000
as at 1 April 2018 approximated to the amortised cost of these
assets. There was no impact on retained profits at 1 April 2018.

Reclassification from other debtors to FVPL

The Group’s money placed in income provident fund in Mainland
China for car dealership business was reclassified from other
debtors to FVPL. It does not meet the criteria to be classified as
amortised cost and FVOCI because its cash flows do not represent
solely payments of principal and interest.

Other financial assets

Certain equity securities, debt securities, and mutual and hedge
funds — held for trading are required to be held at FVPL under HKFRS
9, but there was no impact on the amounts recognised in relation to
these assets from the adoption of HKFRS 9.

3 EXRSHEEEH(HE)

(b) BRUBRELENFINREBUBERSE
BERE155 — Rz & (8
EBIBREEREIN — D ERF

(i)

£ ()
B -
@ BRAREEERSEERASE

(b)

(c)

(e)

A8z
ETREHRITHLEZREEH D
BERRAABEIABSERE 2
KEE -R-_E—-\EWA—B "
HEAAERE(IRKE) B
28,596,000 JLEHIEE EfbFHEE
FOEERBEF -

SRR HNEZRAES

AEEEELHMEERE 2 RE
ERIDEAHEE ZRAFHFZ
AREZE - ERLZFEREER
REBREEZ A FHE - BHT
SHEEHEFHALE - At - A
ft B4 % 63,658,000 ;L2 A EHMH
AHEEZREEFNDPEERAAR
BEIAREMEERE - AnERS
(HBRFI8) %5 33,811,000 JTTEH
- )\FHA—BHAHEER

B ARAR B AR 2 ER
HfEf -

HIEARBEINABRET AR
BESHAARTIRR

ET EmEBESFHZAABEIA
BHEBEND AR LB HK AR -
PR RER B AEEHEKR
RNAEFHZERENRMEHRE
o MRETREEARRSRFIBZ
MR- RZTE—NFHA—HBZA
S EH# 33,182,000 JLEZE A
EZBHERAEE - HR TN
FHA— B Z R 5 FII AR5
#2 o

mEMmEREAER D AR AN
EFIAER
REERPEAMTERIBERZ
WARTREFIFMcESC mEM
USRS BN D BERAAEIIA
B o HYTHEDRRREHEK
AR RIR R ET AR 2 E Y
@2 2R YRR ARSI IFAL
BRAS RFEZ K -

HA & E
REEBHBRELAEINR 35
EEBEZETRAES - EHES
AR BEERE M ESERA AT
AB&@AAFFE - HERAT BT
HELAF 9 RHZFTEEER
Z e BT EEATE -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RERI IR T

For the year ended 31 March 2019
B2 =T NF=A=+—HIFE

3 CHANGES IN SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 3 BEASHER2H(E)
(CONTINUED)

(b) HKFRS 9 and HKFRS 15 - Impact of adoption (continued) (b) BEARAMBEBREEAFIRREBUERS
ZRFE155E - FP o2 E(®)
(i) BEMBREEAFEISN - MBEE

(ii) HKFRS 9 - Impairment of financial assets

The Group's significant financial assets which are subject to
HKFRS 9's new expected credit loss model include:

e trade debtors and contract assets;

e other debtors and amounts due from associates, joint
ventures and non-controlling interests;

e debt investments carried at amortised cost; and
e  bank balances and cash.

The Group was required to revise its impairment methodology
under HKFRS 9 for each of these classes of assets. The loss
allowances for financial assets are based on assumptions
about risk of default and expected loss rates. The Group uses
judgement in making these assumptions and classify the
inputs to the impairment calculation, based on Group's past
experience, existing market conditions as well as forward
looking at the end of each reporting period. The results of the
revision at 1 April 2018 are described below:

While bank balances and cash are also subject to the
impairment requirements of HKFRS 9, the identified
impairment loss was immaterial.

Trade debtors and contract assets

The Group applies the HKFRS 9 simplified approach to
measuring expected credit losses which uses a lifetime
expected loss allowance for trade debtors and contract assets.
The adoption of the simplified expected loss approach under
HKFRS 9 has not resulted in any additional impairment loss for
trade debtors and contract assets as at 1 April 2018. The loss
allowance as at 31 March 2019 and 1 April 2018 is disclosed in
note 4.1(b).

Other debtors and amounts due from associates, joint ventures
and non-controlling interests

The loss allowance for other debtors and amounts due from
associates, joint ventures and non-controlling interests as
a result of applying the expected credit risk model was
immaterial as there is no increase in credit risk during the year.

Debt investments carried at amortised cost

All of the Group’s debt investments at amortised cost are
considered to have low credit risk, and the loss allowance
recognised during the year was therefore limited to 12 months
expected losses. Management consider “low credit risk” for
debt investments when they have a low risk of default and the
issuers have strong capability to meet its contractual cash flow
obligations in the near term.

Accounting policies applied from 1 April 2018

The Group's new accounting policies applied upon adoption of
HKFRS 9 are set out in note 2(f).

A
REERETEBUBREERF
SR ERERER 2 ERUH
AERRE

o HSRUMEFRANEE

o EbEUERS YT E N E] -
BEDENIFHERERRN

o IEBERAIIIRZ BIRIRE K
o RITHEERES -

AEEAREERSAR L AER
BEBYBRTEAE0 HEITH
RUET % o B R E 2 SRR
RISGENERREABEE BR
MEtE - ABEE LS BRE
FYIET - R MR R IR A
2RSS - BETRRNE R
&R B - BB ABUR
S N=F—\EMA—A2{E
SRR

RITBEEFEMRE TP AETEBYB
EERIE9 HEREZFR - EE
ERREBELTERX -

REBRKETBIBIREELFE
SR AF BEMEREER 3
BHRKERRANEERRES
FEREERE - RESBMBE®RS
HERIZE9 SFRMBCIARAEIERTTE
WESHN —Z-\FOA—HZ
BZ MRS R A K EEHBRER
HIMNREEE - R-F—NF=A
=+—-BRZZE-NFEA—-RAZ
R EHIFE4.1(b) AIKREE

B EW IR REWH ERE] - &
MR FAEE RIS ER
BHERRREL G MR R
AR ERE - A& DR
ERERIRR Z BIRREL T ERX -

BEIEH TR Z (BRI E
REBIZ RN GIAR 2 P B R
REHHEBR/EEERR - BUtR
FRMER 2 EBIRREBERR 12 @A
EHEE - EERREENEARE
BBTAABRARNRTERNR
EREEZEBYES  MIBEER
RERRER [EEERR] -

B-E-NFAH—HEEHZ &
R

AEBERNE BT ISR ER
R 2 B st BORE R M RE 2(6) -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e RIBH M T

For the year ended 31 March 2019
BE —F—NF=A=1+—HIFE

3 CHANGES IN SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 3 BEASHRREH (F)

(CONTINUED)
(b) HKFRS 9 and HKFRS 15 — Impact of adoption (continued) (b) @%Eﬂﬁﬁ%—%ﬁﬂ%%ﬁ&ﬁ%ﬂﬂ%?ﬁ%
ERSE155 - HR 2L (E)
(iii) HKFRS 15 - Classification and measurement (iii) §}§Eﬁi§$ﬁ¢$ﬂﬂ% 15 - 28Rk
TE
The following table shows the adjustments made to the TRIFKR-ZZE-NFHA—-BE

AR RIER 2 S EATIE
2B RREBHTE T MK
HEWARBEEA °

amounts recognised in the consolidated statement of financial
position at 1 April 2018. Financial statement line items that
were not affected by the changes have not been included.

Effect on
adoption of
HKFRS 15

As previously
reported

1 April 2018
As adjusted

—N\F '%\ —z—

NEF
MA—H

: et
HK$’ OOO HK$'000
N Ll

BT T BT T

=A=+-~
IR 2%
HK$'000
BETT

Consolidated statement of REMBMRRE ()

financial position (extract)
Interests in associates =N (a) 468,411 314 468,725
Inventories FE (b) 344,577 15,498 360,075
Debtors, contract assets, MR - EHEE -

deposits and prepayments FHiiEe RIBMFHIE (b) 1,466,445 78,570 1,545,015*
Amounts due from customers for REHNIRERNER

contract work WE 2 5/I8 (b) 88,563 (88,563) -
Amounts due to customers for RAEHNIRERER

contract work T2 HIE (c) 639,791 (639,791) -
Creditors, bills payable, deposits, FERERR - R

contract liabilities and accruals GARS 648 E

RIERE R (©)&(d) 1,642,245 660,887 2,303,132

Deferred income PEIEUTA (d) 22,403 (22,403) -
Current income tax liabilities EHREHAE (b) 69,028 1,124 70,152
Retained profits {REB A (a)&(b) 6,505,177 6,002 6,511,179*%

* The amounts are before the adjustments from the application of

*

REMNE BT BRELAE 57

HKFRS 9. BRI o
Notes: Fff3E
(a) The net effect arising from the initial application of HKFRS 15 by (a) AEE—MEENRNYLERE

B RSRE XRS5 SRAEL T
2 BHRHA AR ZESEEE
AN # 314,000 JT 0 WIAMRE
FVEAERETIEE -

an associate of the Group resulted in an increase in the carrying
amount of interests in associates of HK$314,000 with corresponding
adjustment to retained profits.

(b) Under HKFRS 15, contract costs that related to satisfied (b)
performance obligations are expensed as incurred. The unbilled
revenue of HK$72,656,000 included as contract assets under
debtors, contract assets, deposits and prepayments were credited
to retained profits while contract costs of HK$65,844,000 incurred

BIEE BN BHRELEAE 15 5
HEBITEHETHEBZAEHNK
RREERZH REBWREHB
#72,656,000 TR EKEER - &
HEE - FLRe RBHAZETY)

under HKAS 11 were charged to retained profits. The related tax BRABKHNEE sTARBERN - m
effect of HK$1,124,000 was recognised in current income tax WIEEASHEREN HFEEL

liabilities and included in adjustment to retained profits. Construction
materials not yet delivered of HK$15,498,000 were reclassified from
amounts due from customers for contract work to inventories.

2 & KIR AN 7 85 65,844,000 TTE
FTARB R o AR BB
1,124,000 LE RS HAMEHAE
EEWL Iu‘l‘]\{%&l/ﬁﬁ%”ﬂ;;ﬂﬂ ;R
SREE 2 REYIREE T 15,498,000 JT
EHMRANIRERESKEZ K
BENHEEFE -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RER IR T

For the year ended 31 March 2019
BE T NF=HA=1+—HIFE

3 CHANGES IN SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 3 EASHER2H(E)
(CONTINUED)

(b) HKFRS 9 and HKFRS 15 - Impact of adoption (continued) (b) BERMBRELEANFIFREBMBRE
ERZE155 - FKMWz & (F)
(iii) HKFRS 15 - Classification and measurement (continued) (iii) ERMBHRELENES K- 2ER
& ()
(c)  The reclassification from amounts due to customers for contract (c) MBIBEBIBREERIES 5 1§
work to accrued contract costs under creditors, bills payable, RAHNTIREERESZNZHEE
deposits, contract liabilities and accruals under HKFRS 15. FOBERMNER  BNRE 7

AEZE  ANEBERRREMATZ
FERRAMIKA -

(d)  The reclassification from deferred income to contract liabilities under (d)  BIBEBIBREERES 5 1§
creditors, bills payable, deposits, contract liabilities and accruals BEEWAEFT D EEEMARR - B
under HKFRS 15 represented the Group's obligations to transfer NEE FAER:  AHAENKE
to the customers of the services and the Group has received REBEAAZENEE  BAEEE
consideration from the customers. EEREFRUABECRE - B

EEEUMBS I ZRIE -

The amount by each financial statement line items affected in Zliifg&:iﬁ%ﬂij\ﬁﬂzfjﬁf&%tﬂgs

the current year and year to date by the application of HKFRS Ezz’g;@i&%ﬂzgﬁg%flﬁif

15 as compared to HKAS 18 and HKAS 11 that were previously SR PRI o LT

15 SRATERN BB G ERE 18 KRB
in effect before the adoption of HKFRS 15 is as follows: %éﬁ%ﬁﬁgﬁ%ﬁfﬁ;gtgﬂﬂ'% . B

For the year ended 31 March 2019
BE_Z-NAGF=HA=1+—HLFE
Amounts
before the Effect on
adoption of adoption of Amounts as
HKFRS 15 HKFRS 15 reported

RAERUE RAEBHE

HEER HEER

5815 SRA0 %15 5%
ZEH 2 E2REHE
HK$°000 HK$°000 HK$°000
BT BT T BT IT

Consolidated income statement &R (%)

(extract)
Revenue WA 6,932,163 (39,449) 6,892,714
Cost of sales SHEMA (6,035,983) 30,550 (6,005,433)
Share of results of associates TN E S 118,454 6,549 125,003
Taxation Ti1E (141,948) 1,468 (140,480)
Profit attributable to AN B R R A S A

shareholders of the Company 655,443 (882) 654,561
Earnings per share FRAF

Basic and diluted (HK$ per share) BERREE (BRBE) 2.17 - 2.17
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e R BB

For the year ended 31 March 2019
BE2 T NF=A=1+—HIFE

Consolidated statement of
financial position (extract)

Interests in associates

Debtors, contract assets,
deposits and prepayments

Amounts due from customers
for contract work

Amounts due to customers
for contract work

Creditors, bills payable, deposits,
contract liabilities and accruals

Deferred income

Current income tax liabilities

Reserves

Consolidated statement of
cash flows (extract)
Profit before taxation
Adjustment for:
Share of results of associates
Changes in working capital:
Debtors, contract assets,
deposits and prepayments
Amounts due from customers
for contract work
Amounts due to customers
for contract work

Creditors, bills payable, deposits,

contract liabilities and accruals
Deferred income

3 CHANGES IN SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

(b) HKFRS 9 and HKFRS 15 - Impact of adoption (continued)

(iii) HKFRS 15 - Classification and measurement (continued)

SEMBERRE (FR)

Ll NS o
FEYRIR - BHIEE
FHEe RBENRIA
AL TIZERF S UER
ZA
HENTI—RERZS N
Z IR

AN NS SR TN
Be AanBERRREER

AU A

BHFSHARE

i@

SEREREBR (FER)

el

B

T

BAELRD
HURBESR - A AT -
FrittRg RIBH 3R
B TR B IR
2 H0E
BeOTRENES %N
2308

BB - AR 7 A
e AR ERARER
TTON

3 EXRSHEEEH(#E)

(b) BREMBRELENFIFNREBUBERS
RIS 155 - R ZHE (F)
(iii) ZERMBHEERE5 K- 28R
5t & (&)

At 31 March 2019
R=—B-h&E=HA=+—H
Amounts
before the
adoption of
HKFRS 15
BRipE B
&R
5515 SRAT
28
HK$'000
BT T

Effect on
adoption of
HKFRS 15
BN B
s ZEA|
%15 5%

Z%
HK$'000
BT T

Amounts as
reported

467,903 6,549 474,452
1,309,654 65,989 1,375,643
74,888 (74,888) -
(679,290) 679,290 -
(1,751,888) (771,159) (2,623,047)
(91,869) 91,869 -
(67,744) 1,468 (66,276)
(8,644,955) 882 (8,644,073)

For the year ended 31 March 2019
BE-Z-hF=A=1+—HLEFE
Amounts

before the Effect on

adoption of
HKFRS 15
BB R

adoption of
HKFRS 15
RABEBUE

Amounts as
reported

w5 A EER
%15 SRAT 515 5%
ot ] a7
HK$’000 HK$°000
BET T BT T

E2REHE
HK$’000
BETT

842,232 (2,350) 839,882
(118,454) (6,549) (125,003)
210,639 (65,989) 144,650
(74,888) 74,888 -
679,290 (679,290) -
(563,489) 771,159 207,670

91,869 (91,869) -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

A

BBt

For the year ended 31 March 2019

#HE—

E—NF=ZA=1+—HIFFE

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND
POLICIES

The Group's major financial instruments include investments at
FVPL and FVOCI, investments at amortised cost, available-for-sale
investments, derivative financial instruments, debtors and receivables,
creditors and payables, outstanding insurance claims, amounts due
from/to related companies and non-controlling interests, bank balances
and bank and other borrowings. Details of these financial instruments
are disclosed in respective notes to the consolidated financial
statements. The risks associated with these financial instruments
and the policies on how to mitigate these risks are set out below.
The management manages and monitors these exposures to ensure
appropriate measures are implemented on a timely and effective
manner.

4.1 Financial risk factors
(a) Market risk
(i) Interest rate risk
The Group's interest rate risk arises from derivative
financial instruments, bills payable, floating rates bank
and other borrowings and floating rates bank deposits.
Majority of the Group's bank and other borrowings
carry interests at floating rates and expose the Group to
cash flow interest rate risk. The management monitors
interest rate exposure and hedges significant interest rate
exposure by using financial instruments such as interest
rate swap contracts. Certain instruments are qualified for
hedge accounting.

As at 31 March 2019, if interest rates had been increased/
decreased by one percentage point and all other variables
were held constant, the post-tax profit of the Group,
excluding impact of fair value changes of derivative
financial instruments would decrease/increase by
HK$22,061,000 (2018: HK$16,398,000), resulting mainly
from the change in the borrowing costs of bank and other
borrowings and interest income of bank deposits.

(i) Foreign currency risk
The Group operates internationally and is exposed
to foreign currency risk arising from various currency
exposures. Foreign currency risk arises when the Group's
recognised assets and liabilities are denominated in
currencies that are not the entities’ functional currency.

R EE B ERBE

AEEz TEMBTABERAREIIAE
@m MR EINAELMEE RS EEZ &
ﬁ R AR 2R A TTﬁ%Z&

CPTAEMB T A - YRR EWGR
%H%m&%ﬁ B RRRBRRE %
HSZ/JT%HEE%E 7 M IR B AR AR AR ERAT
f&ﬁﬁ&ﬁ@km ZEFBITH 2

RER & SRR BB T HE - ZFH
WIEZW%H&M&M%&%H&Z&
HIWT - EREERERERZERR - U
R MBS BRI TEE 236

41 BIEEBEZR
(a) TERER
() FIEEE

REE 2 R E R R B 6T E R
BIA EAEE  FBERIT
REMERRZEBRITIFER
REBKREDRITREMIEFK
LUOFBIFIRETE - mASEEA
@ﬁ-ﬁﬁémuéﬂrﬁwﬁ © );E'EE
8 5 52 ) 3 [, B 3 1 AR 40 ) 2=
HEAENSY R TARHRER
FEREAR - ZEFITARKFA L

fhEg) -

RZZE—-NF=ZR=+— EI
1h7’rlfi*ﬁu/ﬁw\— B
2 mATE Ha A #EEY
WETE KEBZHER
MTBETEMETAZA
AEECZFE)ETBRE
?:I&Eﬁﬂhaa% fElTAﬁ)ZZ’K&
SRATIE e A B U AT 2 B
B 1 22,061,000
(2T — N&F: B8
16,398,000 7T) °

(i) SMEE SR
REBEEEABMEER - A
Y 2B EEER 3| B2 IMNE
Bk AEBOHRZEER
BENECEZIEEBAE
7zl - SELINERE -

120 CHEVALIER INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS LIMITED | ANNUAL REPORT 2019



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
HE BB

For the year ended 31 March 2019
BE T NF=A=1+—HIFE

4 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND 4 HMBEEREERRRBE(E)

POLICIES (CONTINUED)
4.1 Financial risk factors (continued) 4.1 PEREREZE(E)
(a) Market risk (continued) (a) TEER ()
(i) Foreign currency risk (continued) (i)  SMEESR ()
The Group's financial assets that are exposed to foreign AEBMEEINERR 2 HIEE

currency risk mainly comprise of investments in debt and
equity securities, accounts receivable balances arising
from sales to overseas customers, bank balances and
cash and amounts due from related companies and

ETBBRERERAFESER
A - [FESNEEE RS A
&2 FEWERRAERR - RITHET
&fﬁéﬁﬁgﬂﬂl@ﬁﬁ EINESE!

group companies (on entity level). The Group's financial R (EEEE) - NEME
liabilities that are exposed to foreign currency risk mainly EiT?\\EﬂﬁMZEﬁWEEIg
comprised of accounts payable balances arising from BERGIMEERE R L I T
purchases from overseas suppliers and amounts due to EEZENERESHREMNE

group companies (on entity level). It is the Group's policies
to ensure that the net exposure is kept to an acceptable
level by buying or selling foreign currencies at spot rates
where necessary to address short-term imbalances. The
management monitors foreign exchange exposure and
hedges significant foreign currency exposure by using

ERBRR(EEER) - A&
B 2 R T HEAR A R R B AR B
AR 2K I35 8 SARN
HEREHIIE (MBEFR) A
RIBEHAERER - E2E
& ’Lﬁl\EﬂfiﬁijllﬁﬁZZﬂLHMI\

financial instruments such as foreign currency forward AHEE T B E AN
contracts. Certain instruments are qualified for hedge Eﬂl‘“ cATIAFAR¥E TS
accounting. FTER ©

Financial instruments under foreign currencies (other than
the functional currencies of the Group's entities) that are
exposed to foreign exchange risk are mainly denominated
in Australian dollar, Canadian dollar, Euro, Hong Kong
dollar, Japanese Yen, Macau Pataca, Renminbi, Singapore

EERINE R B 2 INEBI TS T A
(TEREAEECEZTEE
’%)EE;J«A@TE =X
BZE B BE - R -
AREE g Eo([E

dollar, United States dollar (“US dollar”) and Vietnam T REEEREMN - AEE
Dong. The carrying amounts of the Group's foreign LASNEE B BB 2 B 75 & EE I B
currency denominated financial assets and financial BEERFEARZEEENT :

liabilities at the end of the year are as follows:

Assets Liabilities
BE 8f&

2019 2019

—E—-hEF —Z2-h&F

HK$’'000 HK$'000

BT T BT T
Australian dollar SETT 13,256 16,644 = -
Canadian dollar mEXxT 187,209 201,858 = -
Euro ERZE 26,446 9,756 (453) (1)
Hong Kong dollar Pt 36,970 31,987 (17,370) (9,054)
Japanese Yen H 2,105 15,176 (3,248) (590)
Macau Pataca SRPTEE - 1,344 (668,976) (628,237)
Renminbi AR 188,504 228,551 (12,275) (390)
Singapore dollar N TT 89,691 98,400 (2,355) (673)
US dollar E 1,493,555 1,492,824 (4,603) (6,359)
Vietnam Dong WA 48,452 65,708 = -
Others EA 13,895 17,276 (120) (562)
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HREH B LM
For the year ended 31 March 2019
BE T NF=HA=1+—HIFE

4 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

4.1 Financial risk factors (continued)
(a) Market risk (continued)
(i) Foreign currency risk (continued)

The following table details the Group’s sensitivity to every
percentage point increase and decrease in the functional
currency of corresponding group entity against the above
foreign currency. The sensitivity analysis includes only
outstanding foreign currency denominated monetary
items and adjusts their translation at the end of reporting
period for every percentage point increase in foreign
currency rates. Positive numbers below indicate an
increase in profit/investment revaluation reserve where
the above foreign currency strengthens every percentage
point against the functional currency of corresponding
group entity.

Increase in profit pialb=pill|

Increase in investment revaluation reserve %4 & {512 N

(iii) ~ Price risk
The Group are exposed to listed debt and equity securities
price risk because investments held by the Group are
classified on the consolidated statement of financial
position either as investments at FVOCI/available-for-sale
investments or investments at FVPL.

If the prices of the respective quoted debt and equity
instruments of the Group had been increased/decreased
by one percentage point and all other variables held
constant:

- the post-tax profit and investment revaluation
reserve of the Group for the year ended 31 March
2019 would increase/decrease by HK$2,118,000
and HK$393,000 (2018: HK$2,427,000 and
HK$555,000) as a result of the changes in fair values
of investments at FVPL and investments at FVOCI/
available-for-sale investments respectively.

4

I E R EE B R R ER ()

4.1 BIEmBREE(E)

(a)

miSEE (F)
(i) SNERSE (&)

TRFAFIAEE Z A EE D
EDREEHE N FoNE 2 BT
MER D — BB D Rz B
B - GURESMABER IS
HIRADLASNE B FE AL 2 14 R4S
HEWIEER - YERFRE
ERGEN—EaNHIHRE
FLAGHEE o AT EBEERIA L
SN IR SR B b 2 7 T BE
E¥gHE-EaOHZIER
TERMREEHRERBHE
e

PAONES]
—F-N\F

HK$'000
BT IT

13,444 14,177

472 1,142

(i) 1B E SR

REBEHE EHESRRARE
FERER - AR AKE
Fiis B 2 ARG AR
RPRBERBAABIAE
2 EURERIRIE 2 & ATt
HEZRESRAAEINAR
IR 2 B PR o

fh7 S8 B 25 T PR T B
BB 2 A S8 i — (B
A MAARLTREER
T - B

- AEEEREE-_ZT—hE
“A=+—BuLtHEEZ
Tt 18 0% | o 3% & & {1
BRI IR
#2,118,0007C K & ¥
393,000t (=ZF— )\ 4F :
75 2,427,000 7T N 7B
555,0007T) * b JhE MR
AREIIABRERE 2L
BERBEARBEIAELME
AW REZIRE /Al
HEZIREZ AREES
FTEk -
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HER BRI T

For the year ended 31 March 2019
BE =T NF=A=1+—HIFE

4 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND 4 HMBEEREERRRBE(E)
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

4.1 Financial risk factors (continued) 4.1 PEREREZE(E)
(b) Credit risk (b) FERME

Principal financial assets consist of investments at FVOCI,
investments at FVPL, derivative financial instruments, debtors,
contract assets and other receivables, amounts due from
related companies and non-controlling interests and bank
balances. The Group’s maximum exposure to credit risk in the
event of the counterparties’ failure to perform their obligations
at the end of the reporting period in relation to each class of
recognised financial assets is the carrying amount of those
assets as stated in the consolidated statement of financial
position.

Debtors of the Group may be affected by the unfavorable
economic conditions and the lower liquidity situation which
could in turn impact their ability to repay the amounts owed.
Deteriorating operating conditions for debtors may also
have an impact on management’s cash flow forecasts and
assessment of the impairment of receivables. To the extent
that information is available, management has properly
reflected revised estimates of expected future cash flows in
their impairment assessments.

The Group has established different credit policies for
customers in each of its core businesses. The average credit
period granted to trade debtors is 60 days, except for insurance
business where credit period granted to certain debtors is over
60 days.

The Group has three types of financial assets that are subject
to the expected credit loss model, including trade debtors
and contract assets, other debtors and amounts due from
associates, joint ventures and non-controlling interests,
and debt investments carried at amortised cost. While
bank balances and cash are also subject to the impairment
requirements of HKFRS 9, the identified impairment loss was
immaterial.

(1) Trade debtors and contract assets
The Group applies the HKFRS 9 simplified approach to
measuring expected credit losses which uses a lifetime
expected loss allowance for all trade debtors and contract
assets.

To measure the expected credit losses, trade debtors and
contract assets have been grouped based on shared credit
risk characteristics and the days past due. The Group
used expected loss rates based on the aging for classes
with different credit risk characteristics and exposures.
The expected credit loss rates are estimated based on
the historical credit losses experienced over the expected
life of the debtors and are adjusted to reflect current
and forward-looking information on macroeconomic
factors affecting the ability of the customers to settle the
receivables.

RUBEEREROAEBIAL
MEERREEZRE  BRARE
SINIEmBEZIRE  ITEMBT
B RUERT - AREEREME
YOk - PR B E A A I SRR AR M
R MIRITHEF - WRZEFEE
BITHEZEE  AEERREH
ARBERCOHAVBEEREAR Z
BAEERRAFEAMBHRARA
AR EFEEZ REE

REEZBEBARGZBTMEE
BRERESRBUEREBILE -
EimpEEEERREN - BHA
BRI s BB I [E S
Bene B &Y EKIERE
2 ERECREBEABZE
o R ER R E SRR EER]
ZTABARKBR S REMET -

REBEEIARLEBR TP BT
PRZEERE e T IRRET
ZETEBANEESRBB6E0X -
RTBEZBEBAZFHEEHR60
Ko

REEE =B EEREITIRY
FEEEEER - 8E8ZEUER
La®BE - B RUCRT K
BENE - AECERIFERER
BRAR o DA R R SH R AR D1 B 2 (B R
BE - RITBFELRSNBEREE
BT REERFE I 2 MEEL
BE#RHNEBIETTERX -

() EZEWREIREKEE
HEDEBEREANEEM
FARBEREBMBRE
HERIF 95 < ML T -
EREHEREREBEERE
BEMEREER -

RETBTRHIEEEE BFE
WIER R & HEEEREAR
EFERREHRBHAHED
8o AEBEMER 2 RHE R
ERBEABTREERBREE
MR AHE IR 2 3R 2 Bk
fRE - RAEEBEXTIR
BRIEWR R 2 TEE IR 92 3B
EEEERLERMmGE - WE
HABURREZ BT EEE
WRIARE N 2 BB BER R Z
RRERAGAELZER -
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HREM B LT
For the year ended 31 March 2019
BE T NF=HA=1+—HIFE

4 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

4.1 Financial risk factors (continued)
(b) Credit risk (continued)
(i) Trade debtors and contract assets (continued)
On that basis, the loss allowance as at 31 March 2019 and
1 April 2018 (on adoption of HKFRS 9) was determined as
follows for trade debtors based on the days past due:

Up to 60 days
60X A

HK$'000
AR

31 March 2019 —E-hE=A=1-H

Gross carrying amount  BRE{EAERE 461,537
Loss allowance EEEE (199)
Expected loss rate TEHRETIE R 0.04%

Up to 60 days

60X A
HK$'000
¥ T IT

1 April 2018 —E-\EMA—H
Gross carrying amount  BRIEI{E42%8 378,088
Loss allowance E R (39)
Expected loss rate TEEAEIR R 0.01%

Trade debtors are written off when there is no reasonable
expectation of recovery. Indicators that there is no
reasonable expectation of recovery include, amongst
others, the failure of a debtor to engage in a repayment
plan with the Group, and a failure to make contractual
payments for a period of greater than 90 days past due.

(i) Other debtors and amounts due from associates, joint
ventures and non-controlling interests
The loss allowance for other debtors and amounts due
from associates, joint ventures and non-controlling
interests as a result of applying the expected credit risk
model was immaterial as they have a low risk of default.

(i) Debt investments carried at amortised cost

All of the Group's debt investments at amortised cost are
considered to have low credit risk, and the loss allowance
recognised during the year was therefore limited to 12
months expected losses. Management consider “low
credit risk” for debt investments when they have a low
risk of default and the issuers have strong capability to
meet its contractual cash flow obligations in the near
term.

The Group has assessed the credit risk arising from
guarantees given to financial institutions for credit
facilities granted to certain property buyers, subsidiaries,
associates and joint ventures taking into consideration
the realisable value of the underlying projects/assets. The
Group does not expect any significant credit risk arising
from these guarantees.

4 BHEREERERBER (&)

4.1 BIEmEREE(E)
(b) FERE (&)
() EBSEREARAVEE (&)
RiBZELE & HEEER
RmE RZE-—NFE=A
=t—RAR-ZZE-NFMA—
B (RAEBHM I REERE9
S REBEBHABOEZER

BEEEIT

61-90 days  Over 90 days Total
61-90K HiBI0OK g
HK$'000 HK$°000 HK$°000
BT T BT T BT T
34,254 57,867 553,658
(198) (30,468) (30,865)

0.58% 52.65%
61-90 days Over 90 days Total
61-90:X HBBIOK “azE
HK$'000 HK$’'000 HK$'000
BT T BT T BT T
7,359 63,260 448,707
(87) (33,518) (33,644)

1.18% 52.98%

BORA A I MmO
B - EREIHE SRR - 8
BARIERHAIIKEIRIAZ ER
B (K e3m) BB ARagE
SBIFT BN B] - AR OREE
R HEIE R 90 REV A KINRK o

(if) BN R EY B 2 A ~
B BEE R IR
fERIA R EER BRI EEHE
1t FE LA BR R K B M i R )
BEPERIFERERRT
BRBBTTAEKR - BREE
HRBRIE -

(if) FEEIHN AT 2 (BT IRE
REBIZEHRAINRZ A
BBEREIRRREEER
B - B S U RERR 2 B R
WERR12EATRHEE - 2
BEFREZNRREKRETA
ABEBRNETEANRDR
BEEz%EE) - AIEEER
REBREZ [FERRE] -

FEECFHERETETYE
R MEBAR - BEARK
BEPEZEEREMM S
BEBRHERMELZEER
B - EEEEERER &
ENFZREE - ALETRY
IEERTGELEFNEKNE
SRk -
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For the year ended 31 March 2019
BE T NF=A=1+—HIFE

4 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

4.1 Financial risk factors (continued)

(b) Credit risk (continued)
The Group does not have any significant exposure to any
individual debtors or counterparties.

(c)

Liquidity risk

The Group aims to maintain prudent liquidity risk management
and flexibility in funding by keeping sufficient cash and cash
equivalents, readily realisable marketable securities and to
have committed short term and medium term credit lines
available.

The Directors believe that the Group has obtained sufficient
committed and uncommitted general credit facilities from
banks for working capital purposes.

The Group's liquidity position and compliance with loan
covenants are monitored closely by the management of

the

Company. The following table details the Group's

contractual maturity for its financial liabilities at the end of the
reporting period. The table has been drawn up based on the
undiscounted cash flows of financial liabilities based on the
earliest date on which the Group can be required to pay. The
table includes both interest and principal cash flows.

Less than
1year 1-2 years
PR-E -32F
HK$'000 HK$'000
BT BT
2019 ZE-nE
Amounts due to joint ventures  [ENAZREEN 6,490 -
Amounts due to non-controling  FEFTSEEBIERER
interests 259,713 118,137
Creditors and payables JER RS R B 3R 548,878 157,273
Qutstanding insurance claims RRRRERE 237913 -
Derivative financial instruments 7B T A
(gross settled) (BBLE)
—outflow =i 7,061 =
~inflow A (6,976) -
Bank and other borrowings FATREMAETR 718,316 728,203*
Financial guarantees in contingent A& BRI BIFER
liabilities 164,168 302,468

*

4 BEEREEBFERICK(H)

41 BIBmRER(E)
(b) EER (F)
A& B B FMEFERIEB AR
ZHFEREMNERNRR -

(c) EERBEAR
AEFRBRN@IHEERZESRDA
REREMEBRBRHRE LIRS
EEY ARRERAEERR
EAGHE N P B E B RS AR
BRI -

BERAE ARERRTHEZD
R R ARAGE—REERE - RN
N EEERME -

ARREREZVERAEE 2R
PESHN BT ERRZHER
TRAJIANEEDRE R EE
A2 EHEHBER - RIETIREAR
SEFRERERINZKRFHAMZ
BBaBEzRMRRESRER -
RRBENERAS ZRERE

Total
More than  undiscounted Carrying
2-5 years 5 years cash flows amounts

AERRE
it 1% BBRF REAR REE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
AETRT AETT BETT AETT

- - 6,490 6,490
- - 371,850 371,850
- - 706,151 706,151
- - 237,913 231,913
- - 7,061 7,061
- (6,976) (6,976)

2,074,975* 937,072 4,458,566 3,740,210

56,722 - 523,358 523,358

HK$214 million and HK$313 million disclosed under 1-2 years and
2-5 years of the contractual maturity respectively are classified as
current liability as at 31 March 2019 (see note 35).

* RBEZFR-ERAFANIEE
THRED R EE214E T KRB
BBELIR=ZE-NF=A=+—
BofERRBAME (RMH35) -
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For the year ended 31 March 2019
BE T NF=HA=1+—HIFE

4 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND 4 Bi¥EREREESERECK (&)
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

4.1 Financial risk factors (continued)

4.1 BIEmREE(E)

(c) Liquidity risk (continued) (c) BELREBEAM(H)
Total
Less than More than  undiscounted Carrying
1year AT 2-5 years 5 years cash flows amounts
RERRE
SR-F it ZZEE BBEE Viid-£i5] REE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BT BT BT BT BT BT
2018 —E-N\E
Amounts due to joint ventures  [ERA S £ 7,524 - - - 7,524 7,524
Amounts due to non-controlling R 3EEIRER B
interests 325,166 - - - 325,166 325,166
Creditors and payables ERERRERZE 528,259 145,721 - - 673,980 673,980
Qutstanding insurance claims FRRBEE 255,438 - - - 255,438 255,438
Derivative financial instruments ~ #74£8IBIA
(et setled) (BEH) 686 - - - 686 686
Derivative financial instruments ~ #74£8IB A
(gross settled) (2ErE)
- outflow =it 2,047 - - - 2,047 2,047
- inflow -hA (2,109) - - - (2,109) (2,109)
Bank and other borrowings FATREMER 862,246 735,962 1,446,373 918,078 3,962,659 3,376,502
Financial quarantees in contingent  S{/AE BRI BISER
liabilities 657,341 - 210,050 - 867,391 867,391

42 EXREBER
AEEEREA BEARERERR
Bz RREBREZEBHL
L BRI R AR E A LR

4.2 Capital risk management
The Group’s objectives when managing capital are to safeguard the
Group's ability to continue as a going concern while maximising the
returns to shareholders through the optimisation of the debt and
equity balances.

The Group regularly and closely reviews and manages its capital
structure to provide cost efficient funding to the Group and its
companies and make adjustments to the capital structure in light of
changes of economic conditions or corporate needs.

The Group monitors the capital on the basis of net debt to equity
ratio, which is expressed as a percentage of net debt (comprises
total debt less bank balances and cash) over total equity. Total debt
represents bank and other borrowings.

AEEFRRZ BN REREELRLE
B DAMAREE R EET RSB QAR
HakAmaEz e  WHERIRRAR
EEBRZECHENEBELAR -

IR B FHETS B an b R 2 HAEET AR
BAR RBEERFER (BREREEBRR
TR SRR AN - BIE
TEHRIRTT R EABLE K -
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BE T NF=A=1+—HIFE

4 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

4 BEEREEBFERICK(H)

42 EXEKREE (F)

4.2 Capital risk management (continued)

4.3

The net debt to equity ratio of the Group is as follows:

REE AR LS T AT

2019 2018
—E2-hE —E-N\F

HK$’000 HK$'000

BT BT T

Total debt (note 35) LRIERS (M7E35) 3,740,210 3,376,502
Bank balances and cash (note 32) BT KBRS (Fi5E32) (1,833,084) (1,723,452)
Net debt FET 1,907,126 1,653,050
Total equity B 9,642,073 9,335,740
Net debt to equity ratio TFES R R 19.8% 17.7%

Net debt to equity ratio increased from 17.7% as at 31 March 2018
to 19.8% as at 31 March 2019 mainly representing the increase of
the Group's bank and other borrowings for financing the acquisition
of new properties and projects during the year.

Pursuant to Chapter 41 of The Hong Kong Insurance Companies
Ordinance, all authorised insurance companies are required to
maintain an excess of assets over liabilities of not less than a
required solvency margin. For the years ended 31 March 2019 and
2018, the Group's relevant subsidiaries complied with the solvency
margin requirements as set out by the relevant authorities in Hong
Kong.

Fair value estimation

The table below analyses the Group's financial instruments carried
at fair values by level of inputs to valuation techniques to measure
fair values. Such inputs are categorised into three levels within a fair
value hierarchy as follows:

e Quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical
assets or liabilities (level 1).

e Inputs other than quoted prices included in level 1 that are
observable for the asset or liability either directly (that is, as
prices) or indirectly (that is, derived from prices) (level 2).

e Inputs for the asset or liability that are not based on observable
market data (that is, unobservable inputs) (level 3).

FEFEERLEER T \F=ZA
—t+—HZ177% EAZE-_ZT—NF=
A=1t—82198%  TEAREHE
TREMERAFAREFTYERIEE
KGR FTER ©

REFBRBARIGIEL - AEE
EERBRARHARKEEBLAGBZ
BETINREZENEES - BEZ
E-NER-_ZT-N\F=A=+—HIt
FE - ASERBENBARETELE
PR 2 BN ERERE -

4.3 AnfEME
TRERNTTEAARBEZGEEIERA
BABENER  OMAKEZRAE
FIRZ BT A - BEBAZBBEII DA
RARERERNZ THI=EREE

e FHARBEXABEERMEZZ
WECREE)(F—A) °

o FHEEXBBEZEABBEIEE
RE—RANZRE - R EE (AE
1%) Sk i (BN B BAR 5l ) B
(B~

s FAHEBEERABEZEABIERILIFK
BERBRZMSEE (TR E
ABUR) (=) -
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BE T NF=HA=1+—HIFE

4 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND 4 Bi¥EREREESERECK (&)
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

4.3 Fair value estimation (continued) 4.3 AAEME (&)
The following table presents the Group's financial assets and TEHIWR - NER-T—N\E=
financial liabilities that are measured at fair values as at 31 March A=+ RAEREAREFEZAEENK
2019 and 2018: BEMIBAE:
Level 3 Total
E£=& B
HK$'000 HK$'000
BET T BET T
2019 —E-hF
Assets EE
Financial assets at FVPL BARBEIIABSER
LB EE
— debt securities —EBES 206,309 112,233 363,335 681,877
— equity securities — A FEH 30,812 = 33,585 64,397
Derivative financial instruments {74 8% T A - 397 - 397
Financial assets at FVOCI BAREIIAKEMER
WS E G EE
— equity securities — PR 39,320 - 8,084 47,404
276,441 112,630 405,004 794,075
Liability an
Derivative financial instruments $74 817 T & - (66) - (66)
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
F— R B=H k]
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
T BT BT T BT T
2018 —E-N\F
Assets BE
Financial assets at FVPL BARBEIIABSER
A E
— debt securities —E%ES 224,447 76,016 - 300,463
— equity securities — R A FEFH 62,439 - - 62,439
— mutual and hedge funds —HERETES 7,245 - 60,658 67,903
Derivative financial instruments #7484 7 T & - 373 - 373
Available-for-sale financial AR E Y B EE
assets
— equity securities TN 55,458 - 8,100 63,558
— private funds —-LEES - - 50,638 50,638
— unlisted debts —3E ETRETS - - 151,570 151,570
349,589 76,389 270,966 696,944
Liability an
Derivative financial instruments $74 817 T & - (233) - (233)
The Group uses quoted market prices for financial assets included ME-—BRAZHBEEMS - ZAEEIEK
in level 1. The quoted price which is used, is the price within the ATS®E- - FANRELREEEZES
bid-ask spread that is most representative of the fair value. FEHERRAEZER -

128 CHEVALIER INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS LIMITED | ANNUAL REPORT 2019



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

HREHIBEEME
For the year ended 31 March 2019
R E—NFZA=ZF—HIFFE

4 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

4.3 Fair value estimation (continued)

The fair values of financial instruments that are not traded in
an active market (for example, over-the-counter derivatives)
are determined by using valuation techniques. These valuation
techniques maximise the use of observable market data where it is
available and rely as little as possible on entity specific estimates.
If all significant inputs required to fair value an instrument are
observable, the instrument is included in level 2.

If one or more of the significant inputs is not based on observable
market data, the instrument is included in level 3.

Specific valuation techniques used to value financial instruments
include:

e Quoted market prices or dealer quotes for similar instruments;

e  The fair value of interest rate swap contracts is calculated as
the present value of the estimated future cash flows based on
observable yield curves;

e The fair value of forward foreign exchange contracts is
determined using forward exchange rates at the end of the
reporting period with the resulting value discounted back to
present value;

e  For unlisted securities or financial assets without an active
market, the Group establishes the fair value by using
valuation techniques including the use of recent arm's
length transactions, reference to other instruments that
are substantially the same, reference to net asset value of
investee and discounted cash flow analysis, making maximum
use of market inputs and relying as little as possible on entity-
specific inputs; and

e  Other techniques, such as discounted cash flow analysis,
are used to determine fair value for the remaining financial
instruments.

There were no transfers of financial instruments between levels in
the hierarchy for the years ended 31 March 2019 and 2018.

B EREERBERBER (&)

43 A REME ()

WREERMS LEE cMBIA (5
SMTETR) 2 AR BERBEEREE
F o ZEMETEEERANER ™
SEIE(NAIEE)  WRESEBREE
BEMEr - Wt 2 LA A RBEMEZA
BEREEITER  AIZIABFAZE
e

i — AR ZIAERBIRIL IERE AR
SRR - AZTASTAE=M

AT T A E 2 B R E S 5
B

e BUTAZMBEHEXXZEW
&

o FREMAGZARBERETEE
EE MBI RRRERB LR
5

o EHYMEAKHZAARBEMANEE
HRZEHERET  WRERE
MR EIRE -

o BMIWMFEMISZIFLHEFKE
BEEMS  ARBERBMGHEDE
REEAAE - B BIEFN AL
RN¥RZG - 2REMABIERZ T
B Z2REBENFRZEEFER
MRBERESN  RANATS
EERBEELERBEEREES
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4 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

4

4.3 Fair value estimation (continued)
The following table presents the changes in level 3 fair value
hierarchy of financial instruments for the years ended 31 March
2019 and 2018:

At 1 April 2018
Reclassify from other
debtors

RZZT—\FMA—H
e F At MR R SR B HT  4E

Restated at 1 April 2018 RZZE—N\FHA—H

gl

Additions NE

Receipt for capital returns ~ Ug[@& 7R

Fair value loss recognised in  RE M2 E R HERZ
other comprehensive income R {EEE

Fair value gain/(loss) recognised R IE2RFER 2 A 1E
in profit or loss Wizs,/(E518)

Disposals &

Exchange realignment P& 54 SR

At 31 March 2019

RZZE—hF=A=1+—H

UHEREERBRRBEK (&)

AREMHEE ()
TRENE=ZHRAABERBOTBEL
BHE-_FT-NFR=ZZE—NF=A
=t+—HIFEzEE:

4.3

Debt Equity
securities securities Total
BEES IR A& 5 #az
HK$'000 HK$°000 HK$°000
BT T BT T BT T
216,119 54,847 270,966
24,354 - 24,354
240,473 54,847 295,320
138,806 - 138,806
(16,571) - (16,571)
= (16) (16)
2,688 (248) 2,440
(44) (12,914) (12,958)
(2,017) - (2,017)
363,335 41,669 405,004

Mutual and Equity Private Unlisted
hedge funds securities funds debt Total
HEER LE LM
HPES e & k]
HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000
BT T BT BT T BT T BT
At 1 April 2017 RZE—+FMHA—H 55,813 7,770 66,314 - 129,897
Additions nNE 19,135 234 745 151,570 171,684
Receipt for capital returns U [@&7x - - (12,241) - (12,241)
Fair value gain/(loss) REMEEREERZ
recognised in other AREWRE(EE)
comprehensive income - 96 (803) - (707)
Fair value loss recognised REBERERZARE
in profit or loss gic] (1,685) - - - (1,685)
Impairment loss recognised R IEEFER 2 FIEEE
in profit or loss - - (8,377) - (3,377)
Disposals & (12,605) - - - (12,605)
At 31 March 2018 RZZE—N\F
=A=+—H 60,658 8,100 50,638 151,570 270,966
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BE T NF=A=1+—HIFE

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND JUDGEMENTS

Estimates and judgements are continually evaluated and based on
historical experience and other factors, including expectations of future
events that are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances.

The Group makes estimates and assumptions concerning the future.
The resulting accounting estimates will, by definition, seldom equal to
the related actual results. The estimates and assumptions that have a
significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts
of assets and liabilities within the next financial year are discussed
below:

(a)

(b)

Fair values of investment properties and staff quarters

The valuations of investment properties and staff quarters held
directly by the Group are made on the basis of the “Market Value"
adopted by the Hong Kong Institute of Surveyors (“HKIS"). They
are performed in accordance with the HKIS Valuation Standards on
Properties published by HKIS. The valuations are reviewed annually
by qualified valuers by considering the information from a variety of
sources including (i) current prices in an active market for properties
of different nature, condition or location, adjusted to reflect those
differences; (ii) recent prices of similar properties in less active
market, with adjustments to reflect any changes in economic
conditions since the date of the transactions that occurred at those
prices; and (iii) rental income derived from existing tenancies with
due provision for reversionary income potential based on market
conditions existing at the end of the reporting period.

These methodologies are based upon estimates of future results
and a set of assumptions specific to each property to reflect its
tenancy and cashflow profile. The fair value of each investment
property reflects, among other things, rental income from current
leases and assumptions about rental income from future leases
in light of current market conditions including open market rents,
appropriate capitalisation rates and reversionary income potential.
For the year ended 31 March 2019, discount rate in the range of
2% to 6% (2018: 2% to 6%) were used in the discounted cash flow
analysis. The fair value also reflects on a similar basis, any cash
outflows that could be expected in respect of the property.

As at 31 March 2019, if the market values of investment properties
and staff quarters had been 10% (2018: 10%) higher/lower
with all other variables held constant, the carrying values of the
Group's investment properties and staff quarters would have been
HK$376,984,000 and HK$546,000 (2018: HK$379,125,000 and
HK$530,000) higher/lower respectively.

Impairment assessment for property, plant and equipment
Property, plant and equipment are reviewed for impairment
whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that
the carrying amounts may not be recoverable. The recoverable
amounts of property, plant and equipment have been determined
based on the higher of their fair values less costs to sell and value
in use, taking into account the latest market information and past
experience.
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5 CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND JUDGEMENTS
(CONTINUED)

(c)

(d)

(e)

(f)

Impairment assessment for goodwill and other intangible assets
The Group tests whether goodwill and other intangible assets have
suffered any impairment in accordance with accounting policies
stated in note 2(ab) to the consolidated financial statements.
The recoverable amounts of CGUs have been determined based
on value-in-use calculations or their fair values less cost to sell,
whichever are higher, and both bases require the Group to estimate
the future cash flows expected to arise from CGUs and a suitable
discount rate in order to calculate the present value. Where
the actual future cash flows are less than expected, a material
impairment loss may arise. The Group expects that any reasonable
change in the key assumptions on which the recoverable amounts
are based would not cause the carrying amounts of goodwill and
other intangible assets to exceed their recoverable amounts.
Please refer to notes 17, 18 and 40 to the consolidated financial
statements for details.

Fair values of unlisted investments at FVOCI and FVPL and
derivative financial instruments

The fair values of unlisted investments at FVOCI and FVPL and
derivative financial instruments that are not traded in an active
market are determined by using valuation techniques as detailed
in note 4.3. The Group uses its judgement to select a variety of
methods and make assumptions that are mainly based on market
conditions existing at the end of each reporting period, including the
purchase price paid by the Group, the investees’ financial position
and results, risk profile, prospects, including trend and other
factors. Any change in any of the key assumptions used would
result in increase or decrease in fair values.

Net realisable values of properties under development and
properties for sale

The Group writes down properties under development and
properties for sale to net realisable value based on assessment of
the realisability of properties under development and properties
for sale which takes into account cost to completion based on
past experience and net sales value based on prevailing market
conditions. If there is an increase in cost to completion or a
decrease in net sales value, the net realisable value will decrease
which may result in writing down properties under development
and properties for sale to net realisable value. Write-downs are
recorded where events or changes in circumstances indicate
that the balances may not be realised. The identification of write-
downs requires the use of judgement and estimates. Where the
expectation is different from the original estimate, the carrying
value of properties under development and properties for sale is
adjusted in the period in which such estimate is changed.

Determination of insurance liabilities

The Group's insurance liabilities mainly comprise provision for
outstanding claims. The Group determines these estimates on
the basis of historical information, actuarial analysis, financing
modeling and other analytical techniques. The estimated insurance
liabilities are affected by assessed net loss ratio. As at 31 March
2019, assessed net loss ratio was 39% (2018: 33%). Differences
resulting from reassessment of insurance liabilities are recognised
in subsequent consolidated financial statements. The Group
continually reviews the estimates and makes adjustments as
necessary, but actual results could differ from what is envisioned
when these estimates are made.
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5 CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND JUDGEMENTS
(CONTINUED)

(9)

(h)

(i

Construction contract

Revenue from construction works is recognised over time, and
is dependent on management'’s estimation of the total outcome
of the construction contract, as well as the work done to date.
The Group reviews and revises the estimates of contract sum,
contract costs, variation orders and contract claims prepared for
each construction contract as the contract progresses. Revenue
from construction works is measured in accordance with progress
towards complete satisfaction of the performance obligations.
Budgeted construction costs are prepared by the management
on the basis of correspondence between the Group and its major
contractors, suppliers or vendors involved and the experience of the
management. In order to keep the budget accurate and up-to-date,
the management conducts periodic reviews of the management
budgets by comparing the budgeted amounts to the actual amounts
incurred. A considerable amount of judgement is required in
estimating the contract sum, contract costs, variation works and
contract claims which may have an impact in terms of progress
towards complete satisfaction of the performance obligations and
recognition of profit.

Income taxes

As at 31 March 2019, deferred tax asset of HK$44,091,000
(2018: HK$48,435,000) in relation to unused tax losses had been
recognised in the consolidated statement of financial position. The
realisability of the deferred tax asset mainly depends on whether
sufficient future taxable profits or taxable temporary differences will
be available in the future. In cases where the actual taxable profits
generated are more or less than expected, additional deferred tax
assets or reversal of deferred tax assets may arise, which would
be recognised in the profit or loss for the period in which such an
addition or a reversal takes place.

Also, the Group, including associates and joint ventures, is subject
to income taxes in several jurisdictions. Significant judgement
is required in determining the worldwide provision for income
taxes. There are many transactions and calculations for which the
ultimate tax determination is uncertain during the ordinary course of
business. The Group recognises liabilities for anticipated tax audit
issues based on estimates of whether additional taxes will be due.
Where the final tax outcome of these matters is different from the
amounts that were initially recorded, such differences will impact
the income tax and deferred tax provisions in the period in which
such determination is made.

Control over investees accounted for as subsidiaries

Certain investees are considered to be subsidiaries of the Company
despite the equity interest therein are not more than 50% of the
relevant investees. Based on the contractual power pursuant to
the relevant shareholders’ agreement between the Group and
the other shareholder, the Group has the majority voting power in
the board of directors in the respective investees, by which the
relevant activities that significantly affect the return of the investees
are determined, and hence has control over these investees.
Accordingly, those investees are accounted for as subsidiaries of
the Company.
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5 CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND JUDGEMENTS 5 BRI RAE (&)

(CONTINUED)

(j). Consolidation of senior housing business in the United States of
America (“the US")
The Group's senior housing business in the US is operated
by different professional senior housing operators. Significant
judgement is required in determining whether Group is a principal
and similarly, whether the operator is an agent in this business.
Management considered the Group has exposure to the risks,
exposures and return associated with rendering of services and
therefore regarded the Group as the principal. Accordingly, the
financial results and operations of this business is consolidated in
the Group's financial statements.

SEGMENT INFORMATION

Management has determined the operating segments based on the
reports reviewed by the Directors, the chief operating decision-maker,
that are used to make strategic decisions. The Directors consider the
business from a product/service perspective.

Principal activities of the segments are as follows:

Construction and engineering: Construction and engineering work for
aluminium window and curtain walls, building construction, building
supplies, electrical and mechanical and environmental engineering, lift
and escalator and pipe technology.

Property investment: Properties rental business.

Property development and operations: Property development and
management, cold storage and logistics and hotel operations.

Healthcare investment: Senior housing business and medical office
building investment.

Car dealership: Retailing, trading and servicing of motor vehicles.

Others: Sale and servicing of information technology equipment and
business machines, food trading, general insurance business (except
aircraft, aircraft liabilities and credit insurance), investment in securities
and restaurant and bar.

Segment revenue is measured in a manner consistent with that in the
consolidated income statement, except that it also includes the Group's
share of revenue of associates and joint ventures on a proportionate
consolidated basis. The sales from associates and joint ventures to the
Group and sales between individual associates and joint ventures are not
eliminated.

The Directors assess the performance of the operating segments
based on a measure of segment results. This measurement includes
the Group's share of results of associates and joint ventures on a
proportionate consolidated basis. Unallocated corporate expenses,
finance income and costs, taxation and other major items that are
isolated and non-recurring in nature are not included in segment results.

Segment assets mainly consist of current assets and non-current assets
as disclosed in the consolidated statement of financial position except
prepaid tax, unallocated bank balances and cash, deferred tax assets and
other unallocated assets.

() BREMNZERE(ZEDNRZERS
EBEE AR
AEEREBENLZEREEBHTRAE
EMRERSLERLE  HEEARE
ERERREARRAE  ZEEBRE
REZEBHRBARE E2HELEAH
i - BIRE R AAEE R ERE R
FREAMER - MO kB - Fih A s
BIEAZRFA - Bt ZEBHPBE
BEREECRAKENMBERERTES
N

PEER

ERERBER(TRLEERRE) EEHMA
FHERBRE 2 EBELEN B - BEEN
B/ REAELEBES -

SZEDRZ BRI

BERMRTIE ARG MEE BT
£ EMEE BERRRIE  FEER
BRI BB

MERE - MEREET

MEBRRLE : WEBRRRER  LRBEA
[E R i KB s A -

REERKE  RERSEBRERRDKN
BRE -

TERIR  RETE  BHRRK -

Hip - BB RRELRAAKEZHE LR
% BRmEH  —REREREB(TBERE -
REEERERRR)  BHFRERERNE
g o

DRWAZFETREGEMRR 2R
B0 BRULASNR B R B A& B 8B
BRARAELEZULOIRAEEZIRA
BN E R A D EIEE T A K B R AE R
B AR A B DR 2 SHEWAREH -

BEERBEVBEEZFAENERENERZ
R o WA EBERBASEEHE AR
LagbRmt il aREZRE - ROE

CEXH - BBEARER  BIREREME
BEREEEE 2T R2ABUTEENDAE

DHREETZRBGRAVBMARAKEZ
REEENIERDEE - MHENTIE - KD
RRITHEERRS  BERBREEREMAK
DECEERID -
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SEGMENT INFORMATION (CONTINUED) 6 DEER(E)
Segment liabilities mainly consist of current liabilities and non-current PHABTIZEOREEMBIRARAKE L
liabilities as disclosed in the consolidated statement of financial position MBEBELIERBDERE WEHAMEHE
except current income tax liabilities, bank and other borrowings, B RITKEMER BEERIEEERHEM
deferred tax liabilities and other unallocated liabilities. RAOLBEBRIN
(a) Revenue and results (a) WAREE
Construction Property
and Property  development Healthcare Car
engineering investment and operations investment dealership Others
BEL NERR RE
BHIR WERE kEE #ERE RERE 2
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BT BT AETT BRI BT BRI
For the year ended 31 March 2019 HE-E-7E
ZA=T-BLFE
REVENUE WA
Total revenue BN 2,678,957 140,579 719,428 743,018 2,127,864 556,724 6,966,570
Inter-segment revenue HELERA - - (44,765) - - (29,091) (73,856)
Group revenue £BMA 2,678,957 140,579 674,663 743,018 2,127,864 521,633 6,892,714
Share of revenue of associates fEBe ARk
and joint ventures ABREMA 1,657,039 - 346,529 122,669 467,672 151,053 2,744,962
Proportionate revenue from a joint BHERE-TARLE
venture eliminated b2 adilN (74,387) - - - - - (74,387)
Segment revenue 2EBA 4,261,609 140,579 1,021,192 865,687 2,595,536 678,686 9,563,289
Revenue from contracts with customers: REANZHA
~recognised at a point in time -TE-BERR 34,33 - 366,104 - 2,113,721 349,072 2,863,232
- recognised over time -E-BRERR 2,644,587 - 301,535 743,018 - 28,966 3,718,106
Revenue from other sources EHRBELZHA 35 140579 7,024 - 14,143 149,595 311,376
Group revenue SEBA 2,678,957 140,579 674,663 743,018 2,127,864 527,633 6,892,714
RESULTS E
Segment profitloss| YRR/ (F8) 23763 269219 217,79 144,109 (9610) 46817 962,096
Included in segment profitloss) are: HERT/ (BR)2E:
Share of results of associates il N 127452 s 873 - - (3322) 125,003
Shate of reults ofjoint ventutes HiEastLs 18 - 17361 150487 3m - 171,448
Increase in fair value of investment REMEL DR BN
properties - 166,406 - - - - 166,406
Depreciation and amortisation, TERES  IRELL
net of capitalisation (8,254) (457) (55,555) (66,491) (20,921) (2,595) (154,273)
Unrealised loss on derivative B IEREHER
financial instruments (129) - - - - - (129)
Unrealised loss on investments at fai RAREIINERREY
value through profit or loss FANRERER - - - - - (12) (12)
Provision written back/lrecognised) for B/ (BRI HERE
inventories to net realisable value, net ZUEREE 5 28 - - - (1,182) n (1,225)
Provision written back/lrecognised) on trade 2 /(2EA) E5 R A
and other debtors, net RIS B 58 1497 - - (6,187) - 309) (4,999)
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6 SEGMENT INFORMATION (CONTINUED) 6 DEEH(E)
(a) Revenue and results (continued) (a) WAREELE(E)
Construction Property
and Property  development Healthcare Car
engineering investment  and operations investment dealership Others
i
i ) £y g S Hth b
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
AETT BT BB BET S F7 BT e
For the year ended 31 March 2018 BEo5-N\%
ZA=t-BLEE
REVENUE WA
Total revenue 10N 2,582,734 136,430 1,097,095 582,769 2,276,770 394,826 7,070,624
Inter-segment revenue PELEBA - - (41,662) - - (48,562) 90,224)
Group revenue SEBA 2,582,734 136,430 1,095,433 582,769 2,276,770 346,264 6,980,400
Share of revenue of associates FiEBERaR
and joint ventures AELEHA 1,607,212 - 4922 15,515 477488 186,762 2,336,199
Proportionate revenue from a joint BHHRE-HAELE
venture eliminated ZELFIA (15,456) - - - - - (15,456)
Segment revenue ARUA 4174490 136,430 1,104,655 598,284 2,754,258 533,026 9,301,143
RESULTS |
Segment profit AERA 172,173 278,834 859,516 3,098 4832 72,588 1,391,041
Included in segment profit are: PERNBE
Share of resuls of associates il N 56,789 - 9 - - 1,030 57918
Share of results of joint ventures i+ 25 - (29,730) (32,849) 1,854 - (60,490)
Increase in fair value of investment FEMEZ AR EEN
properties - 190,683 - - - - 190,683
Depreciation and amortisation, TERES RELRL
net of capitalisation (5512) (404) (40,089 (48,456) (21,447) (1,659) (117,567)
Impairment loss on property, plant nE - FERkEL
and equipment REEE (1572) - - - - - (157
Impairment loss on available-for-sale HE RERREESE
investments - - - - - (3377) (3377
Unrealised loss on derivative financial B IERER
nstruments lest | - - - - - (932) (932)
Unrealised gain on investments at fair EAREFINERREL
value through profit or loss FENRERIG - - - - - 13,161 13,161
Provision written back/lrecognised) for &E/ (B FERREE
inventories to net realisable value, net TEREE 58 3 - - - (3342 (761) 4,070
Provision written back/irecognised) on trade &/ (E#R) EHREM
and other debtors, net N2 B 58 8,993 (2,500) - 4,382) - (106) 2,005
Provision for impairment loss on properties ~ SENEMBEFERE
for sale - - (22,015) - - - (22,015)
Impairment loss on retention receivables FENREFENRESS 8,597) - - - - - 8,597)
Inter-segment revenue is charged at prices determined by EoE7EBRAZERHEEEBKET
management with reference to market prices. ISEBRET -
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6 SEGMENT INFORMATION (CONTINUED) 6 2EEHRE)
(a) Revenue and results (continued) (a) WARESE(E)
Total segment revenue are reconciled to the Group's revenue in the WO ABEREBRGERERAZ
consolidated income statement as follows: WAEBRIAT -
2019
—E-hEF
HK$'000
BET T
Total segment revenue BorEA 9,563,289 9,301,143
Add: Proportionate revenue from a joint o BEERE —HAgErES
venture eliminated EFIUA 74,387 15,456
Less: Share of revenue of associates and B TR AR A ERA
joint ventures
Construction and installation contracts BENTEAL 1,086,836 1,102,179
Sales of motor vehicles and others REREMZHE 467,672 477,488
Maintenance and other services REREHAMRF 570,573 527,362
Food and beverage ZER 151,053 164,709
Hotel operations 5 & 36,518 37,525
Sales and leasing of properties VISEEREE 432,310 26,936
2,744,962 2,336,199
Total revenue in the consolidated income RERAMWERR 2 BUA (FizE7)
statement (note 7) 6,892,714 6,980,400
Reconciliation of segment profit to profit before taxation is provided DR T ERTADEF 2 IR T ¢
as follows:
2019 PAONES]
—E-hEF —T—)\F
HK$'000 HK$'000
BET T R T
Segment profit DEEEF| 962,096 1,391,041
Unallocated corporate expenses ROMPZES T (42,191) (52,542)
Finance income B 43,216 21,636
Finance costs B8 A (123,239) (92,309)
Profit before taxation BR 75 A E A 839,882 1,267,826
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6 SEGMENT INFORMATION (CONTINUED) 6 DEER(E)
(b) Assets and liabilities (b) BEREE

Construction Property
and Property development  Healthcare Car
engineering  investment andoperations  investment  dealership Others Total

BER NERRE i

BHIR ESE KEgE #ERE RERE A 5
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BT BRI BT TR ARTR BT BT

At 31 March 2019 WZE-AE=F=+-H

ASSETS EE

Segment assets THEEE 1,584,159 4,295,194 5,521,114 2,806,904 1,015,704 1,456,845 16,679,920
Included in segment assets are: PEEERE:

Interests in associates BN R 431,656 - 1,381 - - 41415 474,452
Interests in joint ventures RELEER 12,506 - 516,578 651,060 78,174 - 1258318
Amounts due from associates FERBE AT 17,684 - - - - 687 18,371
Amounts due from joint ventures RARDEER 50 - 6 - - = 56
Additions to non-current assets (note) REFRDAE (W) 13,885 1,077 522,450 551,615 21475 9929 1120431
LIABILITIES af

Segment liabilities AEEE 1,615,001 68,067 462,093 223,650 403,534 460,688 3,233,033
Included in segment liabilities are: NEEERE:

Amounts due to joint ventures ERAEMEER - - 6,299 - 191 - 6,490
At31 March 2018 R-2-NE=A=t-R

ASSETS EE

Segment assets AHEE 1,528,440 4,399,842 5,041,482 2,319,674 1,126,680 1,096,737 15,512,855
Included in segment assets are: PEEERSE:

Interests in associates BENE R 425719 - 626 - - 42,066 468411
Interests in joint ventures REREER 12,076 - 500,494 516,452 83,464 - 1112486
Amounts due from associates FRBERTER 18575 - - - - - 18575
Amounts due from joint ventures EhREEREER 9,068 - 17 - - - 9,085
Additions to non-current assets (note) REERDEE (M) 51519 344,334 164,058 300,239 19,448 8,491 888,089
LIABILITIES 8

Segment liabilities AEEE 1,508,957 37,619 413,708 138,743 409,177 440,138 2,948,342
Included in segment liabilities are: PEEREE

Amounts due to joint ventures ERAEDEER - - 6,730 - 794 - 7,524
Note: Fff3E

In this analysis, the non-current assets exclude financial instruments (including ERDHH  ERBDEETBREHNBIA(R
interests in associates and joint ventures) and deferred tax assets. FEAEBE AR RAEECEI #R) RRER
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6 SEGMENT INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

(b) Assets and liabilities (continued)

(c)

Note: (continued)

Reconciliation of segment assets and liabilities to total assets and liabilities is
provided as follows:

6 2EERE)

(b) EERER(H)

fiaE - (&)
DEEERABREAERABZHERNT

Segment assets NEEE
Prepaid tax T8
Unallocated bank balances and cash ROBRITHEF RS
Deferred tax assets BB EE
Other unallocated assets HiRDBLEE
Total assets BEE
Segment liabilities AR
Current income tax liabilities BHFEHARE
Bank and other borrowings RITREMER
Deferred tax liabilities R BEE
Other unallocated liabilities Hin KD BB E
Total liabilities wai

Geographical information

The Group's operations in construction and engineering businesses
are mainly carried out in Hong Kong, Mainland China, Macau and
Australia. Property investment businesses are mainly carried out
in Hong Kong, Mainland China, Canada and Singapore. Property
development and operations businesses are mainly carried out in
Hong Kong, Mainland China and Canada. Healthcare investment
businesses are carried out in Hong Kong and the US. Car dealership
businesses are carried out in Mainland China and Canada. Other
businesses are mainly carried out in Hong Kong, the US and
Thailand.

The associates’ and joint ventures’ operations in construction and
engineering business are mainly carried out in Hong Kong, Mainland
China, Singapore and Macau. Property development and operations
businesses are mainly carried out in Hong Kong and Mainland
China. Healthcare investment businesses are carried out in the
US. Car dealership businesses are carried out in Mainland China.
Other businesses are mainly carried out in Hong Kong, Macau and
Australia.

(c)

16,679,920 15,512,855
23,069 9,138
351,116 524,647
29,916 42,171
9,330 15,730
17,093,351 16,104,541
3,233,033 2,948,342
66,276 69,028
3,740,210 3,376,502
362,864 340,329
48,895 34,600
7,451,278 6,768,801
HhEE R

AEBERENEMIBERIEAER
B mER - ORPISRNENRE - WE
REXBITEEEE  HEAML  NIE
REFINPENE - MEBRNEEEY
IZ2EEE  PEAMEINERERE-
REPERREEBERTBRERER -
MERIP BB AR INEKE
B BMEBUNTRAERE KB LF
BUELF

BERNARERCRZEEREW TE
EBETEETE  PEAM - KR
BPUEIE - MEZRLZEXBIEL
BFENTEAMEE - REEEREE
BaEXBIEE - TBEREEBEFEN
WEME - HWEBRET2ERE - BMA
KSRIMEE -
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6 SEGMENT INFORMATION (CONTINUED) 6 ZEEM(E)

(c) HEEH (H)

(c) Geographical information (continued)

Segment revenue by geographical areas

EHEES 2 AERA
Company  Associates Company  Associates
and and joint 2019 and and joint
subsidiaries ventures Total subsidiaries ventures
AAAR  BEMAR BN
WEAR  AELE #E A RERR
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BETR  AMTR BETR BETT  AETR -
Hong Kong Bl 2,809,371 905,084' 3,714,455 39 2960677 625298 3585975 39
Mainland China PESY 2115216 1284521 3,399,737 36 2666279 1353363 4,019,642 43
The US ESl 981,846 122,669 1,104,515 " 690,687 15,515 706,202 8
Macau P 418,897 34,261 453,158 5 85,968 27,102 113,070 1
Canada nex 390,443 - 390443 4 400740 - 400,740 4
Singapore i 12,101 295,666 307,767 3 11,949 270,509 282,458 3
Australia Y| 110,968 21,938 138,906 1 107,724 28,536 136,260 1
Thailand RE 53,872 - 53,872 1 56,376 - 56,376 1
Others £t - 436 436 - - 420 420 -
6892714 2670575 9,563,289 100 6980400 2320743 9,301,143 100

The proportionate revenue from a joint venture is eliminated.

U REREEREZILIMARREH -

The Group maintains a healthy and balanced portfolio of customers.
No customer is accounted for 10% or more of the total revenue of
the Group for the years ended 31 March 2019 and 2018.

The following is an analysis of the carrying amounts of non-current
assets other than financial instruments (including interests in
associates and joint ventures) and deferred tax assets analysed by

geographical areas:

FEERFEERTEHzEPHEA - X
BEEFEASERE—_T-NAFE-ZF
—NF=ZA=+—BLFEEEA10%
AL .

AT RER7H T A (BREERZERE R
AEMFEZ ) MRERIREEIMNE
B ZIEREE EREED -

Non-current assets

ERBEE

2019 2018
—2—h%E —F-N\F

HK$°000

BETT
Hong Kong &5 3,462,181 3,555,346
Mainland China AR A 1,988,859 2,168,161
The US E3E1 2,021,488 1,511,024
Singapore T hnsg 475,082 469,146
Canada mEx 215,542 207,764
Macau JEFT 48,814 45,189
Thailand Z=H 8,171 8,502
Others Hih 348 431
8,220,485 7,965,563
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6 SEGMENT INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

(d) Assets and liabilities related to contracts with customers

(e)

The Group has recognised the following assets and liabilities related
to contracts with customers:

Contract assets AWEE
— construction and engineering —BERM TR
Contract liabilities EHBaE
— construction and engineering —REE R T2
— property development and operations —EERREE
- healthcare investment —(RIZEERE
— car dealership —ARBERE
— others —Efth

Contract assets have decreased as the Group has performed less
construction and engineering works ahead of the certified progress
by customers and/or their consultants.

Contract liabilities from property development and operations
have decreased due to less pre-sale of residential properties in
Changchun.

Revenue recognised in relation to contract liabilities

The following table shows the amount of the revenue recognised
in the current reporting period relates to contract liability balance at
the beginning of the year and the amount relates to performance
obligations that were satisfied in previous period.

PRER (&)

(d)

(e)

HEFENEHNEERAR
AEEBEBATEEFPANERNEE
KEfE

31 March 2019 1 April 2018
—T—)\F

mA—H

HK$’000 HK$'000
BT BEETIT
61,702 78,570
5,075 6,340
43,809 67,413
5,700 4,758
24,804 24,444
18,043 13,584
97,431 116,539

BHEBERIZTHNAKENRER
Ko/ SR G R B R E M E AT ITR A
RENERTIR -

KEMEBHRRZEZANEERIE
HRRENEEWEEERD -

BRENEEZCERARA
TREINAREHAS R ALEF
MaHeBEREAENSERENEE
HIFETHENETERNSEE -

Revenue recognised that was included in the contract
liability balance at the beginning of the year

SEAFIIE B EREZCERKA

— construction and engineering —ERE R TR 6,015

— property development and operations —EHEREE 67,413

— healthcare investment —REZEIBIRE 4,166

— car dealership —RERE 24,008

- others —HAh 10,732
112,334

Revenue recognised from performance obligations RERBESRBET o EITHEL
satisfied/partially satisfied in previous period HEEZBRERBA
— construction and engineering —REREWIRE 57,140

HIEBRKEERAIT | 8/ 2019 141



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RER IR T

For the year ended 31 March 2019
BE T NF=HA=1+—HIFE

6 SEGMENT INFORMATION (CONTINUED) 6 DEEH(E)
(f) Unsatisfied performance obligations (f) ERBITHBHNET
The following table shows the amount unsatisfied performance TREHRFBHHAR B —F LA LD
obligations resulting from construction and engineering for BHREENHE TEEEN N KRBT
contracts with an original expected duration of one year or more: BHEANESEE -
2019
—E-hEF
HK$°000
BET T
Expected to be recognised within one year TEEIR —F NFERR 3,348,254
Expected to be recognised after one year TEHRR —F 14 TER 2,536,307
5,884,561
For all other contracts with an original expected duration of one [RIEEREARR A — FH S —FLARBIFT A
year or less or are billed based on time incurred, as permitted under H & 4 SR 45 35 A B 8 B W B RS 3R
HKFRS 15, the transaction price allocated to these unsatisfied I RBEEBMBIREERE 155 o
contracts is not disclosed. IEEZEARATNE NN S ERAITE
W o
(g) Assets recognised from costs to fulfill a contract (g) BERAXNMERERAZEE
As at 31 March 2019, there is no asset recognised from costs to R-E-NF=ZA=+—H ¥TEAEZT
fulfill a contract. AT ENAERZEE °
7 REVENUE 7 WA
2019
—E-hF
HK$°000
BET T
Revenue represents amounts received and WAFEREUTRIEZ
receivable from: B e RIA
Construction and installation contracts BERTZEAN 2,505,795 2,399,483
Sale of information technology equipment, BB RS - ABE R EA
motor vehicles and others ZHHE 2,233,628 2,462,214
Senior housing operations REREEE 743,018 582,769
Sales and leasing of properties YEHEERTEE 437,519 843,978
Warehouse and logistics services BE YRR 372,176 214,570
Maintenance and property management services RERYEERRS 392,207 355,012
Hotel operations HIEEE 50,146 47,953
Insurance premium R E 133,413 33,601
Interest income from investments REJE 2 FBHA 13,040 14,747
Dividend income from investments RERE ZIREWA 2,555 18,974
Leasing of vehicles and equipment AE RS 9,217 7,099
Total revenue (note 6) A (KizEe) 6,892,714 6,980,400
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OTHER INCOME, NET

Gain on investments at fair value through

8 HlA

BARBEIIABRERZIRE

B

PAONES]
—F-N\F

HK$'000
BT

profit or loss EolE 887 11,912
Loss on derivative financial instruments PTHEMB IR EE (590) (993)
Sales and marketing services income from an KE—EEE A R ZHE

associate (note 46) N EHEERSUA (T 46) 31,901 29,906
Management fee income from an associate and KE—EBERARIRE AR

joint ventures (note 46) ZEBBWA (KMi5E46) 22,936 22,664
Other investment gain/(loss) Hap Bz (Ei8) 2,263 (1,893)
Others EHih 10,930 12,282

68,327 73,878
OTHER GAINS, NET 9 Hikz BE

Increase in fair value of investment properties

WAEMFEZ AR ELN(HE15)

2019
—=-n%

HK$°000
BETT

PAONES]
—T—)\F
HK$'000
BRI

(note 15) 166,406 190,683
Remeasurement gain on transfer from properties HFEMEELEREME Y

for sale to investment properties (note 15) EFETEWE (HFE15) 25,838 -
Gain/(loss) on disposal of property, plant HEME - BEREH 2

and equipment ez, (&18) 105 (3,721)
Provision (recognised)/written back on trade and (BHER),/BEE 5 & E b EUERFR

other debtors ZBE (4,999) 2,005
Gain on disposal of an associate & — A A R 2 e - 4,848
Deemed disposal loss on step-up acquisition of BANUREE — B S A R E A

an associate and become a subsidiary —fEf B AR 2R AT EEE - (3,004)
Impairment loss on property, plant and WE - BB MERE 2 RERE

equipment (note 16) (&£ 16) - (1,672)
Remeasurement of goodwill (note 17) B ERE (MEE17) - 4,686
Impairment loss on interest in an associate R —EEE S A A= 2R B E 1B

(note 19) (FH5E19) - (18,101)
Impairment loss on available-for-sale investments A H & ~ 1% & HRI{EE 1B - (3,377)
Provision for impairment loss on properties for sale &Y MR EGIBREE - (22,015)
Impairment loss on retention receivables FEUIREE I8 2 BB S 1 - (8,597)
Exchange (loss)/gain FE (B518), Iz (4,950) 12,649

182,400 154,484
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9 OTHER GAINS, NET (CONTINUED) 9 Hfbz - FHE(E)
Gain on disposals of subsidiaries HEMB D T E
2019 PAONES]
—E-hEF ZE-N\F
HK$°000 HK$'000
BET T R IT
Gain on disposals of HE T & Bz
— Chinaford and Dolce Field (note 39(b)(vi)) — R N BB (BT 39(b) (vii)) - 619,941
- Talent Luck (note 39(b)(ix)) —RFEEHLEE (MFE39(b)(ix)) - 92,927
— other subsidiaries — H A E AR 231 2,207
231 715,075
10 FINANCE COSTS, NET 10 BIKER 38
2018
—E-N\F
HK$'000
SRS T
Interest expenses on bank overdrafts and bank RITIB S RIRTT R EABE K
and other borrowings KA B 142,500 100,323
Less: Amounts capitalised to properties W BIERERYE 5
under development (note) (M%) (19,261) (8,014)
123,239 92,309
Less: Interest income from bank deposits and BRI ER R —EAERE
ajoint venture KRB A (43,216) (21,636)
80,023 70,673
Note: PR -
The capitalisation rate applied to funds borrowed and used for the development of ERARKERSRIEBIEMERRZESHNERNL
properties was between 1.6% and 3.0% per annum (2018: between 5.5% and 5.8% FENT1.6%E3.0%(=ZF—\F : FENT55%
per annum). £58%) °
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e R BB T

For the year ended 31 March 2019
R E—NF=A=1—HIFE

11 PROFIT BEFORE TAXATION

Profit before taxation has been arrived at after
charging/(crediting) the following:

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment
(note 16)
Less: Amounts capitalised to contract work

Staff costs (note a)
Less: Amounts capitalised to contract work

Operating lease payments in respect of leasing of
— premises (note b)
— equipment

Auditors’ remuneration
— audit services
— non-audit services
— under-provision in prior years

Amortisation of other intangible assets (note 18)
Provision for inventories to net realisable value, net

Provision recognised/(written back) on trade
and other debtors, net

Provision for impairment loss on properties for sale

Gross rental income of HK$156,322,000
(2018: HK$148,236,000) from properties less
direct operating expenses (note c)

Notes:

11 BREEAEF

BB AnE A2, (GEA) T3

HE :

ME  BERRBZITE
(Mf3E16)
B BEAH IR E

BTHX (MH5ta)
B BERHN IR 2R

MEL TR 2 2 BREER
—i25 (i3 b)
— 3%

ZERIH &
— REBRTS
— IR BRTS
—BEFERETR
Hib & E#E (fE18)
FEREEAEEFE - F8

BRER,(BE) B 5Kk Ef
MR Z Bl - 5

FEMENBERERE

YIRS EUAEEE 156,322,000 7T

(ZZ—/\F : #¥%148,236,0007T)

IMEREE S (HiiEc)

(a)  Details of Directors’ emoluments included in staff costs are disclosed in note 41

to the consolidated financial statements.

Included in staff costs are amounts of HK$1,244,000 (2018: HK$2,266,000)
in respect of termination benefits made to staff and HK$35,509,000 (2018:
HK$30,176,000) in respect of contributions to defined contribution retirement

benefit schemes, net of forfeited contributions.

(b)  No contingent rental is included in operating lease payments in respect of

leasing of premises (2018: HK$nil).

(c) Included in rental income is an amount of HK$6,802,000 (2018: HK$6,494,000)
less outgoings of HK$895,000 (2018: HK$759,000) from a joint operation.
Included in rental income is a gross amount of HK$147,924,000 (2018:
HK$131,842,000) derived from investment properties less direct operating

expenses of HK$21,638,000 (2018: HK$23,388,000).

PAONES]
—F-N\F

HK$'000
BT T

137,290 111,880
(2,002) (2,085)
135,288 109,795
1,148,752 1,034,119
(186,154) (206,121)
962,598 827,998
15,108 54,168
2,832 2,290
17,940 56,458
14,115 14,741
4,314 3,194
470 1,098
18,899 19,033
18,985 7,772
1,225 4,070
4,999 (2,005)
- 22,015
(134,479) (124,252)

FEE -

(a)

(b)

BEXEMLEREEETIRXA  HFBERS
BITSSRRMIGE 41 PR EE -

EBIMYBERE TIEL 2 EBKILEFBE
1,244,000 75(=Z— /\4F : % 2,266,000 7T)
RENKRE QKR R e HE R K8 FIET
B 308 % 35,609,000 7L (= F — )\ F : HEE
30,176,000 7T) °

HERFEEREEATRERAER (=
Z—)\F: BBET) °

AEWARER—BHAagE Rz AeH
#6,802,000 7T ( =F — J\4F : % 6,494,000
JL) RS H B R 895,000 T (= F — )\ &« AH
759,0007T) - WA BFEREREMEZ
@S U 147,924,000 L (=2 — \F -
75 #131,842,000 JT) M E B L E T HEK
21,638,000 7L (= Z — /\4F : 5% 23,388,000
JT) e
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RER IR T

For the year ended 31 March 2019
BE T NF=HA=1+—HIFE

12 TAXATION 12 B8
2018
—Z—)\F
HK$'000
BT
Current tax REERIE
Hong Kong B 52,552 48,390
Mainland China AR A 20,046 195,767
Overseas I 25,926 23,502
(Over)/under-provision in prior years BEFERE (BREE)  BETR (8,366) 3,421
90,158 271,080
Deferred tax EIETIE
Origination and reversal of temporary differences TR R 2 E A B
(note 38) (Bt 38) 50,322 25,264
140,480 296,344
Hong Kong profits tax is calculated at the rate of 16.5% (2018: 16.5%) &S 13 BTy k4 5T FE SR B R A IR B R
on the estimated assessable profits. Taxation on Mainland China and 16.56% (ZZF—/\F 1 165%)7TE - FENR
overseas profits has been calculated on the estimated assessable profits 3 K28 SN B FR T 0 iR N R IE IR T & A
for the year at the rates of taxation prevailing in the countries in which IRAREBEEEEFERR 2RI R E -
the Group operates.
Details of deferred taxation are disclosed in note 38 to the consolidated RIEFLTA 2 FHIB ARG B B TR R MY 52 38
financial statements. -
Taxation for the year can be reconciled to the profit before taxation per A WEE TR AR T RS M B AR F E R I8 2
consolidated income statement as follows: SHLOR -
2019
—ZT-hFE
HK$°000
BET T
Profit before taxation B3 iazIbeell 839,882 1,267,826
Adjusted for: P
Share of results of associates FriGHt & A RIZEE (125,003) (57,918)
Share of results of joint ventures & & bREsE (171,448) 60,490
543,431 1,270,398
Tax at the domestic income tax rate of 16.5% BTSRRI 16.6%
(2018: 16.5%) (ZZ—N\F 1 16.5%) st B ZFE 89,666 209,616
Effect of different tax rates on subsidiaries EHMAEERREE 2B AR
operating in other jurisdictions EFER TR E & (1,876) 79,022
Changes in applicable tax rates AR R E 345 15,415
Tax effect of non-deductible expenses AR 2 R 2 12,798 23,987
Tax effect of non-taxable income BERBRBAZHETE (24,994) (49,795)
Tax effect of tax losses not recognised ATHERBRBEE 2 HIEZE 40,609 27,386
Tax effect of deductible temporary difference AFHERATREREER
not recognised ZBHIETE 27,515 (167)
Tax effect of utilisation of tax losses and deductible BB &k FHER 2 B E B &
temporary difference not previously recognised AIREREER 2 RIEE (12,610) (12,298)
(Over)/under-provision in prior years BEFFE (B, BETR (8,366) 3,421
Others HAh 17,393 (243)
Taxation for the year FERIER 140,480 296,344
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e R BB T

For the year ended 31 March 2019
BE T NF=A=1+—HIFE

13

14

EARNINGS PER SHARE

The earnings per share is calculated by dividing the profit attributable
to shareholders of the Company by the weighted average number of
ordinary shares in issue during the year ended 31 March 2019.

13 BRER

08 2 L YR A 2 R B i IR LA
E-T-Af=A=t—BILEEND R
B T O -

2019
L

HK$°000
BETT

Profit attributable to shareholders of the Company

KR BRI ET

654,561 907,929

Weighted average number of ordinary shares in

Basic and diluted earnings per share (HK$)

There were no potential diluted ordinary shares in existence for the
years ended 31 March 2019 and 2018.

DIVIDENDS

Interim dividend of HK$0.15 (2018: HK$0.10)
per share paid

Final dividend of HK$0.35 (2018: HK$0.25)
per share proposed

Special interim dividend of HK$nil (2018: HK$1.40)
per share paid

Final dividend of HK$0.35 per share totaling HK$105,675,000 has been
proposed by the Directors and is subject to approval by the shareholders
in the forthcoming annual general meeting. The amount will be reflected
as an appropriation of retained profits for the year ending 31 March
2020.

BEITE B T8
issue ('000 shares) (FB)

BRERNETRN CEH)

BIRFPER B ZIREE0.15 7T
(ZZ—N\F : B¥o0.107m)

BRARHR S BB 0.35 T
(ZZ—N\F : B¥0.2570)

BIREFR R B B BB T T
(ZZ—\F : BE1.407T)

301,928 301,928

2.17 3.01

Hze-_Z-hEr T N\F=ZA=+—H

14 RE

I R B -
2019 2018
S = )\F
HK$'000 HK$'000
BT BIETF T
45,289 30,193
105,675 75,482
- 422,700
150,964 528,375

ESHRARBEREGREK 0357 /B
#5105,675,000 7T * HERREARA KRR
FRG FERRIER  FAEE - 8B
REBE-_ZTZ-_ZTFE-A=+—HLEFEIE
REBHEF 2 DR °
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RERI BRI

For the year ended 31 March 2019
BE T NF=HA=1+—HIFE

15 INVESTMENT PROPERTIES

At beginning of the year
Exchange realignment
Addition
Acquisition of
— Silver Prosper (note 39(b)(ii))
— other subsidiaries
Transfer from properties for sale
Transfer from/(to) property, plant and equipment
Transfer to assets held-for-sale (note 47)
Increase in fair value (note 9)
Remeasurement gain on transfer from properties
for sale to investment properties (note 9)

At end of the year

The Group's investment properties at their carrying values are analysed

as follows:

Hong Kong

On long-term leases (over 50 years)

On medium-term leases (10 to 50 years)
Mainland China and overseas

Freehold

On long-term leases (over 50 years)

On medium-term leases (10 to 50 years)

15 REYE

2018

—T—N\F

HK$'000

BRI

F4 3,791,245 3,832,583

FE 3 F R (90,127) 130,857

RE = 113,628

g

—SREREE (M3 39(b)(ii) - 228,000

—EAME AR = 2,292

HEAGEmE 21,037 -

BEE(2)DE - BERRE 1,436 (706,698)

EERSREREEE (M5E47) (146,000) -

AAREEMN(HIEE9) 166,406 190,683
MESEMEBRIREMEY

EHarE s (ME9) 25,838 -

FR 3,769,835 3,791,245

REE 2 REYEZREEZ DNT

Notes:

(a)  The fair value of the Group's investment properties in Hong Kong, Mainland
China and overseas as at 31 March 2019 had been arrived at on the basis
of valuation carried out on that date by CHFT Advisory and Appraisal
Limited, which is an independent firm of qualified valuers having appropriate
qualifications and experience in the valuation of properties in the relevant
locations. The valuation, which conforms to the HKIS Valuation Standards on
Properties published by HKIS, was arrived at with reference to market evidence
of transaction prices of similar properties or calculated on the net income
allowing for reversionary potential. For all investment properties, their current
use equates to the highest and best use.

(b)  Investment properties in Hong Kong with a total carrying value of
HK$67,667,000 (2018: HK$62,667,000) represented the Group's share of
interest in a joint operation.

(c)  Charges were created on the investment properties with a total carrying value
of HK$1,521,169,000 (2018: HK$1,225,611,000) for the purpose of securing
banking facilities granted to the Group.

2019 2018
—E—-hEF —T-N\F
HK$'000 HK$'000
BT T BT T
&5

UG (A+EULE) 205,000 195,000
FHEN(+tER+HF) 1,864,477 1,930,082

R B R K S
KA FERE 562,329 537,558
EHMAO(A+EFULE) 1,038,918 1,071,655
FHEIRAN (2R +F) 99,111 56,950
3,769,835 3,791,245

i

(@) AEEEINEE  TEAN RGN REDE
R-Z-NF=A=t—RZRAETREH
EURATEERAR (L ABL S BRI
BT TR EREEAETHEGLELS
EER MR R RET Z MEREREMS
H e ZEEDETEBUEMBGMRHZE
BRSMBGMEGERILE2RT S LR
UmE 22 SEEE - SIRRNFEAE - X
FARBEREN - AEREYEMNE - LB
REEREESMEERR

b MRBFBZEAMEZEEDREER
67,667,000 7T (—F —/\4F : 8% 62,667,000
TO) RASRE AT R B E 2 e

(c) BREI4A(EH%1,621,169,0007T(=Z— )\ 4 :
VK 1,225,611,0007T) Z R E Y B AEER -
EARFALBIRITEREZER -
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e R BB T

For the year ended 31 March 2019
R E—NF=A=1—HIFE

15 INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (CONTINUED) 15 REY* (&)

Notes: (continued) BiE : (48)
(d) Valuation of investment properties (d BEWMEZHE
The following table presents the changes in level 3 fair value hierarchy of TREVNE=RANEEENRENERE=

investment properties for the years ended 31 March 2019 and 2018: T-NERZT-N\FZA=+—HLEEFEZ

Commercial properties

[EEIES

Mainland
Hong Kong China Overseas  Hong Kong
Bt FE R =2 Bk
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BT BT BT BT

Residential properties
EE2ES
Mainland
China  Hong Kong Overseas
FEIRH BE f=3)
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$000
BETT BT BB

Industrial properties

TEME

HK$'000
BT

At 1 April 2018 RZE-\FmA—AH 453,127 28,250 34,290 232,270 1,060,887 1,439,685 542,736 3,791,245
Exchange realignment B 5% - (4,808) (1,178) - (67,897) - (16,244) (90,127)
Transfer from properties for sale ~ EHEFENE - 21,037 - - - - - 21,037
Transfer from property, plant BRENE  BERX

and equipment - - - - - 1,436 - 1,436
Transfer to assets heldforsale ~ EAZH{EHELE

(note 47) (MizE47) = = = - - (146,000) - (146,000)
Increase in fair value (note 9) RABEM () 9,990 1,544 3343 12,045 35,252 66,925 317,307 166,406
Remeasurement gain on transfer /A& EERREY %

from properties for sale to ZEHE 8 (M5E9)

investment properties (note 9) - 25,838 - - - - - 25,838
At 31 March 2019 RZE-NE=A=+-H 463,117 71,861 36,455 244,315 1,028,242 1,362,046 563,799 3,769,835

Hong Kong

HK$'000
BT

Overseas

HK$'000
BB

Residential properties

Mainland

China
R
HK$'000
Bm %Tf{

Hong Kong

HK$'000
BETT

Industrial properties

IEM%

Hong Kong

HK$'000
BETT

Overseas
851
HK$'000
BT

HK$'000
BETT

At 1 April 2017 RZF—+FMA—AH 1,120,749 25312 32,064 31,700 862,215 1,259,686 500,857 3,832,583
Exchange realignment BN A% - 384 1,372 - 94,460 - 34,641 130,857
Addition AE - - - - - 113,628 - 113,528
Acquisition of e

- Silver Prosper (note 39(b)(ii) — SRR (F5E3900)(i)) - - - 228,000 - - - 228,000

- other subsidiaries ~EHBAR - - - 2,292 - - - 2,292
Transfer to property, plant BENE  BERRE

and equipment (706,698) - - - - - - (706,698)
Increase/(decrease) in fair value DA AR/ (HA)

(note 9) (Hfi9) 39,076 2,554 854 (29,722) 104,212 66,471 7,238 190,683
At 31 March 2018 RZE-\E=A=+-H 453,127 28,250 34,290 232,270 1,060,887 1,439,685 542,736 3,791,245
The Group includes a team that reviews the valuations performed by the AEEDEENHEBE A EMRVBERE B
independent values for financial reporting purposes and reports directly to the FEBEZEEK BEZEBRERRRREEA
senior management. Discussions of valuation processes and results are held BfE - aREBABELENEA (A%
between the senior management and valuers at least once every six months, in EREIRFERE B A —B) E AN T —
line with the Group’s interim and annual reporting dates. RIGERIE R AR ©
At the end of each reporting period, the Group: REREHAR - AKEH :

o verifies all major inputs to the independent valuation report; ° ﬁf‘%“fiﬂ% MAEERENATE ERE AR
=
. assesses property valuation movements when compared to the prior year ° §$1?W¥13@§3i¢§13@$ﬁ%tbﬁ—|:
valuation reports; and RES &
o holds discussions with the independent valuers. ° B T RGBT TR
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For the year ended 31 March 2019
P E - NF=A=1+—HIFE

15 INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (CONTINUED) 15 REWE(E\)

Notes: (continued) BiE - (48)

(d)  Valuation of investment properties (continued) d HBEMEZ(GEGE)
Fair values of commercial, residential and industrial properties in Hong Kong, S PEIRMEEIINEE FERTEDE
Mainland China and overseas are generally derived using the direct comparison ZARE—REAEELEE - RRNEREA
method and wherever appropriate, by the income capitalisation method. Wk BEAME AR ESE - EELBURTIER
Direct comparison method is based on comparing the property to be valued HSEMEZ MERSR B 52 Al
directly with other comparable properties, which have recently transacted. EEEELLE - R - EREMEME %
However, given the heterogeneous nature of real estate properties, appropriate BEE - BEARTAA T EEREZTH
adjustments are usually required to allow for any qualitative differences that MEFEZERNEREEZELEEAE - K
may affect the price likely to be achieved by the property under consideration. HEMUEDERBREFAEE ZEAME
Income capitalisation method is based on the capitalisation of the net income BN FERIMAESFSENTUAERME - &
and reversionary income potential by adopting appropriate capitalisation rates, RMEERTBIBEIEER 5 2 DA TR &
which are derived from analysis of sale transactions and valuers' interpretation & E 7 BRI EIERIRMRMEE - 158
of prevailing investor requirements or expectations. The prevailing market rents FERAZRATSHES DRBEHZYME R
adopted in the valuation have reference to recent lettings, within the subject Al EYE 2 T E R RIS R MAEE o

properties and other comparable properties.

There were no changes to the valuation techniques during the year. HEFENFANLEEE) -

Significant unobservable inputs used to determine fair values BT BATHZEAT JBREA
Prevailing market rents are estimated based on recent lettings for investment WITMSEHES HENREME - NEZHER
properties, within the subject properties and other comparable properties. The MEREMAME L EYENZ SITBHEBER
lower the rents, the lower the fair values. &5t - HEME - AIAREBE -

Prevailing market rents used in the income capitalisation method: FRWREENME T ENBRITMSHEE ¢

Residential properties FEmE
— Mainland China (per square meter ("sq. m.”) per — AR (BASFAKFA%K])  HK$154 to HK$911  HK$1571 to HK$916
month) B4 TE BB LR
B9 T B 916 7T
Commercial properties [EE3ES
— Overseas (per square feet ("sq. ft.”) per month) —BINEBABFERR[FHR]) HK$33 B¥%33 T HK$30 &% 30 7T
Capitalisation rates are estimated by valuers based on the risk profile of the BAREETYREMEREEZIREMEZ
investment properties being valued. The higher the rates, the lower the fair FERBRARIEET o LR - BIARERIE -
values.
Capitalisation rates used in the income capitalisation method: FRAKRSENMEFENERNMEE ¢

Residential properties FEmE
— Mainland China — R A 2.0% to 6.0% 2.0% t0 6.0%
2.0% £6.0% 2.0% £6.0%
Commercial properties [BEXZES
- Overseas —8sh 6% 6%
Comparing price per sq. ft. or per sq. m. with other recently transacted L EA A LB RN T T RKEF KA
comparable properties formed the inputs under direct comparison method, X S EREREELEE TOEBAZE  ©
which is in average of approximately amounted to HK$10,100 per sq. ft., ZE-NF=A=+—BEARTEAMEE
HK$18,800 per sq. m., HK$15,000 per sq. ft. and HK$6,100 per sq. ft. (2018: M BEETEMERBBIEMEZBRT
HK$10,000 per sq. ft., HK$22,500 per sq. m., HK$14,500 per sq. ft. and BES K AEFHREE10,1007T - BFH
HK$6,200 per sq. ft.) for commercial properties in Hong Kong and Mainland KABH18,8007T » F 75 WHE 15,0007t M &
China, residential properties in Hong Kong and industrial properties in Hong FHRAEE 6,100 (ZF—N\F : FFHRE
Kong respectively as at 31 March 2019. #10,0007T « 5K 22,5000t « HF 5

RS 14,500 7T K B 5 R 6,200 7T ) ©
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e R BB T

For the year ended 31 March 2019
BE T NF=A=1+—HIFE

Cost or valuation
At 31 March 2017
Exchange realignment
Acquisition of senior housing properties
(note 391l
Acaquisition of other subsidiaries

Step-up acquisition of an associate and become

a subsidiary (note 39(o)ivil)
Additions
Disposals
Disposal of Talent Luck (note 39(blfix))
Reclassifications
Decrease in fair value

At31 March 2018

Exchange realignment

Acquisition of senior housing properties
(note 39(o)(i)

Acquisition of subsidiaries

Additions

Disposals

Reclassifications

Increase in fair value

At31 March 2019

Accumulated depreciation and impairment

At 31 March 2017

Exchange realignment

Charged for the year (note 11)
Impairment loss (note 9)

Disposals

Disposal of Talent Luck (note 39(bl(ix))
Decrease in fair value

At31 March 2018

Exchange realignment
Charged for the year (note 11)
Disposals

Reclassifications

Increase in fair value

At 31 March 2019

Carrying value
At31 March 2019

At31 March 2018

16 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

RASE
R-E-+EZf=1-H
B
YERERANE

(F3E 39(b)i)
WEEHHEBAA
- ERLARTEA

—BIHE A (HE300bIvi)
HE
e
EREEE (M 30biM)
T

MERY

R-E-NFZA=1-H

EiRE

WEZERENE
(FSEE39001)

LE)

g

ZirFERAE
RB-tE=A=t-F
EXAE
ERFE(EN)
REBREY)

&
HERERE (2300

LARERD

RE-NFZA=1-A
EiRE
EEREMEN)

ihE

BHAE

DAEEN

RE-NE=R=t-F

KA
RIF-NEZA=T-R

RZZ-)\FZR=1-B

Cold storage
warehouse

REER
HKS$'000
8T

16 % BERFRE

Furniture,

fixtures,

Plant, office

machinery equipment

Hotel Other Staff and and motor
properties properties quarters equipment vehicles
il 2B

BE BE  BOERR

BIEE e k&
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
¥ ¥R BT

EENE
HKS'000
BETT

bz
HK$'000
BRI

239,038 142,466 1,606,093 603,130 105,924 340,821 3037472
- 5312 46,635 - 5,062 8,278 66,187

- - 184,487 - 7,409 - 191,89

- - 2,078 - - - 2078

- - - - 308 1632 1,940

- 164 134,558 42,000 10,97 51,292 238975

- - (9,169) - (6,651) (14,0401 29.860)

- - - (608,000) - - (608,000

- - 706,698 - - - 706,698

- - - (31,830) - - (31,830)
239,038 147,932 2,693,280 5,300 123,023 387,983 3,596,556
- (4,257) (26,204) - (3.613) (4:340) (38,414)

- - 445,351 - - 13,289 458,640

- - 4 - - - 4

- 116 14,306 - 19,720 60,594 94,736

- - (75) - (26,878) (12,342) (39,295)

- - (1515) - - (31) (1,546)

- - 1,287 160 - - 1,447
239,038 143,191 3126474 5,460 112,252 445,153 4,072,168
928% 61619 235,077 - 51,587 266,167 707,345
- 1,866 3325 - 1715 4,560 11,466

6,126 2,037 53,060 5377 18,123 27,158 111,880

- - - - 623 949 1572

- - (2,556) - (2,260) (10.252) (15,068)

- - - (2,640) - - (2,640)

- - - (2,731) - - (2,737)
99,020 65,522 288,906 - 69,788 288,582 811,818
- (1,608) (2,009) - (954) (2593) (7,164)

6,125 1,884 86,084 181 15,214 21,802 137,290

- - (15) - (22,394) (8,343) (30812)

- - (19) - - (29) (108)

- - - (181) - - (181)
105,145 65,798 312,821 - 61,654 305,419 910,843
133,893 77993 2,153,641 5,460 50,598 139,734 3,161,325
140,018 82410 2,404,374 5,300 53,235 99,401 2,784,738
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RER IR T

For the year ended 31 March 2019
BE T NF=HA=1+—HIFE

16 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (CONTINUED)

Notes:

(a)  The carrying value of properties comprise:

16 ¥% - BERKE (R)

(@ MEZREESLE

2019
—T-NhEF

HK$000
BT

Freehold land and buildings thereon
Leasehold land and buildings thereon

(b)  Charges were created on the properties, plant and equipment with a total
carrying value of HK$1,336,947,000 (2018: HK$921,540,000) for the purpose of
securing banking facilities granted to the Group.

(c)  Revaluation of staff quarters

The Group had measured the staff quarters under the revaluation model. The
fair value of staff quarters as at 31 March 2019 had been arrived at on the
basis of valuation carried out on that date by CHFT Advisory and Appraisal
Limited, which is an independent firm of qualified valuers having appropriate
qualifications and experience in the valuation of properties in the relevant
locations. The valuation, which conforms to the HKIS Valuation Standards on
Properties published by HKIS, was arrived at with reference to market evidence
of transaction prices of similar properties.

Fair value of staff quarters are generally derived using the direct comparison
method. Direct comparison method is based on comparing the property to
be valued directly with other comparable properties, which have recently
transacted. However, given the heterogeneous nature of real estate properties,
appropriate adjustments are usually required to allow for any qualitative
differences that may affect the price likely to be achieved by the property under
consideration.

If the staff quarters were measured under the cost model, the carrying value
would be as follows:

Cost PR
Accumulated depreciation BEtiE
Carrying value BRAEE

IKAKRELH R ERE 28T
HE T RENE E 28T

1,356,114
1,614,879

943,637
1,688,565

2,970,993 2,632,102

(b) FREIAB{EIEH 1,336,947,000 7T (—F—/\4F :
781 921,640,00070) 2 )% ~ HiE Rk ED1E
R ERETAKBBRITEREZER -

0 EFHBRIES

AEECREGEAGEETES - BIHES

ECE-NF=ZA=T—RAZARETRE
EY AR EERAR (L ABILA BTG
BT - WA BRIREAETNEMAEZEE
ER RSB RZRETZMEMSH - &
BETETEBRISEME G AN 2 BB 2Mm
SEMEHEENNCL2RTS LALYEL
L ESH -

BTEEZANE-REMBERLEETES
H o EERLBADERKE[EZMEERT
BRPzHEMARERMEFERLE - A
- ERFEENE SRS - BRAR
ERA B ERATOYEMEZ BROE
EERFHEERE -

it AR AEAGFEETEE - AIREEN
T

2018
—T—N\F

HK$'000
BT

165
(132)

165
(143)

22 33
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e R BB T

For the year ended 31 March 2019
BE T NF=A=1+—HIFE

17 GOODWILL 17 BHE
PAONES]
—ZT-)\F
HK$'000
PEEEFIT
At beginning of the year F4) 681,839 629,741
Exchange realignment IE 5 AR - 6,030
Acquisition of other subsidiaries W B P A 7 2,299 -
Acquisition of senior housing properties Wi EZREYE
(note 39(b)(i)) (B 39(b)(1)) - 36,439
Step-up acquisition of an associate and BANUEE — RIS N RS A
become a subsidiary (note 39(b)(vi)) — M8 2 & (B EE 39(b)(vi)) = 4,943
Remeasurement (note 9) BHEE (W79) - 4,686
At end of the year FR 684,138 681,839
Details of the impairment assessment of goodwill are disclosed in note BB RENEFBERENGE VB REMN
40 to the consolidated financial statements. 40
18 OTHER INTANGIBLE ASSETS 18 HitEFEE
Cold storage
Roads,  and public
drainage and bonded
waterworks ~ warehouse Lease-in-
license licenses place Others Total
BE R REEE
Rk RAR
IEMR REEEER REHE Htt am
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BETT BETT BETT BETT BETT
Cost BA
At 31 March 2017 R-E—+&=A=1+—H 26,534 3,000 5,206 15,358 50,098
Exchange realignment L - - 203 531 734
Acquisition of senior housing properties YRR Y%

(note 39(b)(i)) (PR &E39(0) () - - 29,396 - 29,396
Additions NE - - - 224 224
At 31 March 2018 R-Z—\&=ZA=1+—H 26,534 3,000 34,805 16,113 80,452
Exchange realignment B A% - - 64 (283) (219)
Acquisition of senior housing properties WL ER EYE

(note 39(b)i)) (Fi#3E 39(b)i)) - - 50,960 - 50,960
Additions NE - - - 18 18
Disposal & - - - (208) (208)
At 31 March 2019 RZE-NE=A=1—H 26,534 3,000 85,829 15,740 131,103

Accumulated amortisation and impairment 23t &R
At 31 March 2017 RZB—+F=A=+—H 26,534 3,000 5,206 5,972 40,712
Exchange realignment R - - 93 523 616
Charged for the year (note 11) FEME(MEE11) - - 7,757 15 7,772
At 31 March 2018 R-ZE—-\&=A=1+—H 26,534 3,000 13,056 6,510 49,100
Exchange realignment M5 FHE - - 24 (321) (297)
Charged for the year (note 11) FERE M) - - 18,883 102 18,985
Disposal HeE - - - (206) (206)
At 31 March 2019 R-Z-NE=A=1+—H 26,534 3,000 31,963 6,085 67,582
Carrying value IREE
At 31 March 2019 RZE-NE=A=1+—H - - 53,866 9,655 63,521
At 31 March 2018 RZE-\E=A=1+—H - - 21,749 9,603 31,352
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For the year ended 31 March 2019
BE T NF=HA=1+—HIFE

18 OTHER INTANGIBLE ASSETS (CONTINUED) 18

Other intangible assets (other than roads, drainage and waterworks
license (“License”)) are amortised on a straight-line basis over the
shorter of following estimated useful lives or license period:

Cold storage and public bonded warehouse licenses
Lease-in-place

10 years
3 years

The Directors are of the opinion that the upkeep of this License is at
minimal cost and the Group would renew this License continuously.
This License is considered by the management of the Group as having
an indefinite useful life and will not be amortised until its useful life is
determined to be finite upon reassessment of its useful life annually by
the management of the Group. The amount was fully provided in prior
year.

The lease-in-place of senior housing business was purchased as part
of business combination. The lease-in-place is considered by the
management of the Group as having finite lives of 3 years. The lease-in-
place will be tested for impairment whenever there is an indication that
is may be impaired particulars of impairment testing are set out in note
40 to the consolidated financial statements.

19 INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES 19

FERE -

Interests in associates, including goodwill iRl

Non-current:

Bl HEm - BERE

Amount due from an associate (note b)

Current:
Amounts due from associates (note b)

:zkib .
L N
e N BIBR AR (Bt b)
The movements in the Group's interests in associates during the year
are analysed as follows:

£ REFER

At beginning of the year, as previously reported

Impact of change in accounting policy (note 3) IR B (1:E3)
At beginning of the year, restated FH) - 18E5

Exchange realignment (RS

Disposals HE

Share of results FriG &

Dividends [iEes)

BARHE QRS REN
UeiE— MR = AR E S

Deemed disposal of an associate through
step-up acquisition of an associate and

become a subsidiary —FEMI B AR
Impairment loss (note 9) BEREE (31 9)
At end of the year FR

JE Y — G & A B RRSR (MTRED)

Htv B EE (R)

HibmIPERE (BRI « R Mok TR
(ThEBR D) oM ToA B AREIR T FIfh 5t I E B 4R
Hg BRI E 2 SR E TR

AREBERARRHA LR 4
RIFAE =
EERA BENEREABESE KX

SETEFU BB ER - AEEEEE
R AAERAERFENS Bt re
WS EEEAKBEEEREAERF
HEFERFEE  BEETERFHAR
Bl RCRBEFE 2R -

REREEBZREFREDERER A —
BOMEA - AEEEEER/SREFREZ
ERAEAFERR/=F - REHEEREH
KRR B IR ERETREN - RE
AAFHE RN R A MR ML 40 -

BEnFzER

2019 2018
S i L i
HK$°000 HK$'000
BT BT
471,732 468,411
2,720 -
474,452 468,411
18,371 18,575
ARBRERFEBERTNZREL D2 H
BT -
2019 2018
S i =z \F
HK$°000 HK$'000
BT BT
468,411 518,705
314 -
468,725 518,705
(12,051) 24,830
(49) (3,116)
125,003 57,918
(109,896) (99,370)
- (12,455)
- (18,101)
471,732 468,411
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For the year ended 31 March 2019
R E—NF=A=1—HIFE

19 INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES (CONTINUED)

Notes:

(a)  Particulars regarding the principal associates as at 31 March 2019 were set out
in note 51 to the consolidated financial statements.

(b)  Amounts due from associates are unsecured, interest-free and repayable on
demand, except for the balance of HK$3,407,000 (2018: HK$nil) which bears
interest at 8% per annum.

The carrying amounts of amounts due from associates under current assets
approximate their fair values.

The carrying amounts of amounts due from associates are denominated in
Hong Kong dollar.

(c)  Chevalier (HK) Limited and its subsidiaries (together, “CHK Group”), Toshiba
Elevator (China) Co., Ltd. (“TCE") and Toshiba Elevator (Shenyang) Co., Ltd.
("STE") which have a similar risk profile, are engaged in similar business
activities and related to each other which, in the opinion of the Directors, are
material to the Group. Set out below is the summarised financial information
for CHK Group, TCE and STE. CHK Group, TCE and STE are engaged in the
manufacturing, marketing, installation, repair and maintenance of the lift and
escalator business and are accounted for using equity method.

Summarised consolidated statement of financial position

19 BE QT2 ER (R)

B

@ RIZBE-AF=A=+—BFTEMERFZ
AR DB A M REMES

(o) EWEERRRKAEER 2B REREKX
(Bi2 - W85 3,407,000 T (=Z— \4F : B
TIT) 2 RIBRIN - AARBIREE 8% RTE ©

ME)E TR T Y A BRI BRE [ S
RAEREE -

JEUTEE R RIBRRZ BREE T AB B EHE

© HE(FEB)BRARLEMBARGEIEL
TERE])  RZEH(FE)ARAB (R
B (PE) ) RRZER CES) BBRAR (TR
ZEH CER) D BBRURBIL - #ERUR
EEBRBMUBRERY  EFERR HA
SEMEBEEN - ATHRHINELTEEE - R
CERB(FE) RRZEROER) 2 MBEE R
B HLEBER RZEVH(PE)RRZE
BORS) WET R ERBELE & %
5 BERREER  EREASR -

GEMBRREME

Non-current assets FFRBEE
Current TRE
Assets BE
Liabilities aff
Net current assets MEVEEFE
Non-current liabilities FRBEME
Net assets EEFE

Summarised consolidated statement of comprehensive income

Revenue A

Profit before taxation B8 A1 v A

Taxation g

Profit/(loss) for the year FEBRA(FHE)

Other comprehensive (expenses)/income FEHMEE (RH) WS
for the year

Total comprehensive income/(expenses) FE2EKE (ZH) 858
for the year

Dividends received from associates BlE R A ERE

246,760 286,754
3,480,002 3,676,544
(2,729,299) (2,900,729)

750,703 775,815
(1,129) 917)
996,334 1,061,652
HARERBREE

2018

/)-l\ ‘EE

HK$'000

BT

5,470,759 5,576,441
246,197 24,953
(49,559) (140,407)
196,638 (115,454)
(14,083) 26,763
182,555 (88,691)
109,896 83,137
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For the year ended 31 March 2019

#HE—

—NF=A=1—HIEFE

19 INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES (CONTINUED)

Notes: (continued)

(c)

(d)

(continued)

The information above reflects the aggregated amounts as presented in the
consolidated financial statements of the associates, adjusted for differences
in accounting policies between the Group and the associates. The information

above is the amount before inter-company eliminations.

Reconciliation of summarised financial information

Reconciliation of the summarised financial information presented to the carrying

amount of the interests in associates is provided as follows:

Net assets at beginning of the year,
as previously reported
Impact of change in accounting policy

Net assets at beginning of the year, restated

Exchange realignment

Profit/(loss) attributable to shareholders

Other comprehensive (expenses)/income
attributable to shareholders

Dividends

Net assets at end of the year

Interests in associates®
Goodwill, net of impairment loss

At end of the year

FHZEERE  BRENER

B BREDTE

FUIZEERE  KED

[ 3 52
B R (LR R, (E518)

MR FEM R 2 (), as

[l ¢5)

FRZEEFE

Ll PNk i 33
A %ﬂﬁ?ﬁ%@%ﬁa

FR

# As at 31 March 2019, the interests held by the Group in CHK Group, TCE
and STE as associates were 49%, 20% and 20% respectively (2018: 49%,
20% and 20% respectively).

The aggregate summarised financial information of Group’s associates that are

not individually material is set out below:

The Group's share of total comprehensive
(expenses)/income

Aggregate carrying amount of the Group's
interests in these associates

AEBFTAEE (X)W

AEE G FH S QRS

HERE(E

19 BELQFzER (&

Wi -

(c)

(d)

)

()

()

AR RS A R A SR R 2 5
iAA/‘\

MR Tt AN B Ry

VNS

S BETRAM

fEHAAE - FMEM IR AREEHEAT 2

MRERBE 2 H R

P 27815 & IR R A N

ZHERFIIT ¢

Az ERREE

2019
—Z-hE
HK$'000
BT
1,061,652 1,278,644
640 -
1,062,292 1,278,644
(24,235) 57,048
196,638 (115,454)
(14,083) 26,763
(224,278) (185,349)
996,334 1,061,652
416,513 410,392
14,694 14,694
431,207 425,086

t RZBE-AFE=ZA=+—R0 K&£ED
ABEHTEEEE  RZEH(FE)
&%E%ﬁ(%&%)(ﬁﬁﬂéﬁ%@ﬂ)z
49% ~ 20% }.20% —NE: 53l
$H549% 20%&20%)*&/\0

BRI NEARZ AR EE

o

2019
—s-n%E

HK$’000
BETT

(3,711)

N

ARHBARNME

3,112

40,525

43,325
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HE BB

For the year ended 31 March 2019
R E—NF=A=F—HIFE

20 INTERESTS IN JOINT VENTURES

Non-current: FERE -
Interests in joint ventures, including goodwill & &M% 7 % - BiERgE
Amounts due from joint ventures (note b) R A SRR (FitEb)
Current: nE

Amounts due from joint ventures (note b) JEUA SRR (MiEED)

e & 2R (HREb)

Amounts due to joint ventures (note b)

The movements in the Group's interests in joint ventures during the year
are analysed as follows:

PAONES]
—F-N\F

HK$'000
BT

828,811 695,935
429,507 416,551
1,258,318 1,112,486
56 9,085
(6,490) (7,5624)

REBRFAMEAELEEREZH 2

e -

2019 PAONES]
—B-hF —E-N\F
HK$°000 HK$'000
BET T R T
At beginning of the year F1) 695,935 182,772
Exchange realignment PE H #a % (19,381) 30,371
Addition NE - 550,414
Share of results Frib & 171,448 (60,490)
Dividends i (19,191) (7,132)
At end of the year FR 828,811 695,935
Notes: FIEE -
(a)  Particulars regarding the principal joint ventures as at 31 March 2019 were set (@) E(\:gfn%zﬂ =t EI?.IE%%TE%Z
out in note 52 to the consolidated financial statements. BRERRERE M HRRMEL2 -
() Amounts due from joint ventures under non-current assets of HK$264,078,000 b) ERBEEBRTZEKREZEDLEERIBE

264,078,000 7T.( =Z —/\4F : /&% 264,177,000
TO)HRAR B R A 1B B 5 165,429,000 7T.( =
T—)\4 : B4 162,374,000 7T ) HAN —F 15
fRAEE -

(2018: HK$264,177,000) are considered equity in nature and HK$165,429,000
(2018: HK$152,374,000) are not repayable within one year.

MBAERT 2 BIRAEDERFSEIER
REREERTRYEN —FAKE RIZERET
HREBERFI R B - EE#IER50,0007T
(ZZ— N5 : #%09,068,0007T) BES. °

Amounts due from joint ventures under current assets are unsecured,
repayable on demand or expected to be recovered within a year and bear
interest at rates mutually agreed between relevant parties except for the
balance of HK$50,000 (2018: HK$9,068,000) which is interest-free.

REBEE(BE)ETZER (BN a8

The carrying amounts of amounts due from/(to) joint ventures under current == -
¥R EREERE AR ERE -

assets/(liabilities) approximate their fair values.
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For the year ended 31 March 2019
BE T NF=HA=1+—HIFE

20 INTERESTS IN JOINT VENTURES (CONTINUED)

Notes: (continued)
(b)  (continued)

The carrying amounts of amounts due from/(to) joint ventures are denominated
in the following currencies:

B
ARE

Hong Kong dollar
Renminbi

(c)  Seavest Core Fund I, LLC and its subsidiaries (together, “Seavest Group”), the
three medical office buildings in the US which, in the opinion of the Directors,
are material to the Group. Set out below is the summarised financial information
for Seavest Group and accounted for using equity method.

Summarised consolidated statement of financial position

Non-current assets FREBEE
Current E
Assets BE
Liabilities afE
Net current assets EVEEFE
Non-current liabilities FERBAE
Net assets EEFE

Summarised consolidated statement of comprehensive income

Revenue ON

Profit/(loss) before taxation KRB ATE T (&5E)

Taxation 1|

Profit/(loss) and total comprehensive income/ FE#F,/(FE) R2H
(expenses) for the year WA () 458

Dividends received from a joint venture Bl—MEEaErEZRE
The information above reflects the amounts presented in the consolidated
financial statements of a joint venture, adjusted for differences in accounting
policies between the Group and the joint venture. The information above is the
amount before inter-company eliminations.

20 SEhx &R (H)

FiEE - ()
(b) ()
[EU (e & R RBRR 2 BREE YA T 51
BN
—F—N\F
HK$'000
AT
429,563 425,636
(6,490) (7,524)

©) EERA MNREBEN=-"MEENAEKNE
(Seavest Core Fund |, LLC &2 H KB A 7] (478
[SeavestSE ) HAEEMEBERL ° AT
&5l Seavest RE 2 B ERMEE - WiEFARE
AN ©

HERBRAREE

- H K$;OOO

BT

1,570,385 1,374,905

29,730 14,654

(6,823) (11,748)

22,907 2,906

(895,037) (834,178)

698,255 543,633
HE2ERERHE

2018

N

HK$'000

BT

129,126 16,322

216,231 (34,578)

(44,911) -

171,320 (34,578)

16,071 —

A PERRR—F & & bR EAFMBREANZ
S EER - I AEE RS S ERBERT
RM{ELFE - Bl &R IR A RREEHTE
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HE BB

For the year ended 31 March 2019
R oE—NF=F=+—HIFE

20 INTERESTS IN JOINT VENTURES (CONTINUED)

Notes: (continued)
(c)  (continued)

Reconciliation of summarised financial information

Reconciliation of the summarised financial information presented to the carrying
amount of the interests in joint ventures is provided as follows:

AR ER (H)

FiEE - (48)
(c) (&)
M ERBLE 2 H iR

P27 AR R RS S0 X7 EaikEE
ZHEHIT -

Net assets at beginning of the year FUZEERE
Addition NE

Exchange realignment IE 5 J 5

Profit/(loss) attributable to shareholders AR PR, (E518)
Dividends A% S

Net assets at end of the year FRZEETFE
Interest in a joint venture* —HEErE IR
At end of the year FR

# As at 31 March 2019, the interest held by the Group in Seavest Group as
joint ventures was 95% (2018: 95%).

(d)  The aggregate summarised financial information of Group's joint ventures that
are not individually material is set out below:

The Group's share of total comprehensive
income/(expenses)

Aggregate carrying amount of the Group's REBATGLES SRR
interests in these joint ventures BIRTE(E

21 AMOUNTS DUE FROM/(TO) NON-CONTROLLING
INTERESTS

Amounts due from non-controlling interests under current assets are
unsecured, interest free and repayable on demand.

Amounts due to non-controlling interests as at 31 March 2019 under
current liabilities is unsecured, interest-free and repayable on demand
(2018: except for the amount of HK$65,003,000 which bears fixed
interest rate at 10% per annum).

Amount due to a non-controlling interest as at 31 March 2019 under non-
current liabilities is unsecured which bears fixed interest rate at 10%
per annum and not repayable within one year from the end of reporting
period.

AEEMEEERA (X)) 2%

543,633 -
- 578,388

219 (177)

171,320 (34,578)
(16,917) -
698,255 543,633
651,060 516,451
651,060 516,451

RZTE—NEF=ZA=+—8 A%E
EQ’:.\ ¥ Seavest Group FiiEiE=RA
95% (ZZF—\F : 95%) °

(d) ERTERZASESECEEIMBTEREE
W

2019
—E2-hF

HK$000
BT

20,966 (27,641)

177,751 179,484

21 B () FERESRR

MENE FE 2 B WOE R B AE s BRSNS R
RERBIRBRER -

RZE-—NF=ZA=+—HIARHERE

ZFEH;lH ESERAEIRE 2B K
BREKEE(ZE—N\F: EeBAEE
65,003,000 TTIZEFE FFZ 10% 5T.2.) °

—NEF=ZA=+—RAIRFERBDEE
Zﬁﬁ MFF R R R IR - R
EFEFEI10% TR - WHERREBAREFT
—FEREE -
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For the year ended 31 March 2019
BE T NF=HA=1+—HIFE

22 INVESTMENTS AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH OTHER 22 RAAESIARMEZARSREZR

COMPREHENSIVE INCOME/AVAILABLE-FOR-SALE & /AftHEZRE
INVESTMENTS
2019 2018
—E-hfF —TN\F
HK$'000 HK$'000
BT BT
Listed investment, at fair value: LETiRE - BARE
- equity securities listed overseas (note a) — BN EMZBRAES (Kitta) 39,320 55,458
Unlisted investments, at fair values: FELTIRE  HRARE
— equity securities —RAFH 8,084 8,100
— private funds (note b) —fEED (WiEb) - 50,638
- unlisted debt (note c) —JIEEWER (MiEc) - 161,670
8,084 210,308
47,404 265,766
The carrying values of investments at FVOCl/available-for-sale BRAREIAHRMEERSEE ZEE 7]
investments are denominated in the following currencies: HPEZIRE ZEMETIA TGS, BB
2019 2018
—E-hF —TN\F
HK$'000 HK$'000
BT BT

Hong Kong dollar T - 151,570

US dollar E 7,850 46,760

Vietnam Dong WEE 39,320 55,458

Others HAh 234 11,978

47,404 265,766

Notes: B -

(@)  The fair value of the listed investment of the Group is determined based on the (a) ZAEBEEFHEREZARBEINIREERSETHR
quoted market bid prices available on the relevant exchange. ZHISBAGBET -

(b)  The fair values of the private funds of the Group were primarily determined b) AEBZAEESZARBEIITFEILEBLED
based on the quoted market prices of the underlying listed investments. They WEZHEREET - NELWNE B SmEAE
are reclassified to the investments at FVPL upon the adoption of HKFRS 9. BI5E95R%E  EBEHMoBAKARENAR

W IRE o

(c) The unlisted debt represented the amount granted in relation to the () FEITEEKEEEAEEZENRERMBERE
development of a church building and senior citizen facility and is reclassified to ZERTELE NERABBMIEME LR F5H
the investment at FVPL upon the adoption of HKFRS 9. % EEBEFOEAEARLBEINAEBRZE
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For the year ended 31 March 2019
BE T NF=A=1+—HIFE

23 INVESTMENTS AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH PROFIT OR LOSS 23 RAAEIIANERREZRE

2018
—ZT—)\F
HK$'000
BB T T
Listed investments: ETREA
— debt securities —BEBESH 206,309 224,447
— equity securities listed in Hong Kong — BB LM ZRAEES 17,270 43,094
— equity securities listed overseas —BIN ETH 2 IRAEE 13,542 19,345
— mutual and hedge funds —EEREFES - 7,245
237,121 294,131
Unlisted investments: FELmEE -
— debt securities —E%E S 475,568 76,016
- equity securities — AR FHEFH 33,585 -
— mutual and hedge funds —BEREFES - 60,658
509,153 136,674
746,274 430,805
Analysed for reporting purposes as: RMEREDWNA
Non-current assets EMENEE 331,013 -
Current assets MENE B 415,261 430,805
746,274 430,805
The fair values of the listed investments of the Group are determined REEZ FHREZ AR BIVIREBRX S0
based on the quoted market bid prices available on the relevant FzmEBEAEBMET  MAEEZIE L
exchanges and the unlisted investments of the Group are determined TIREZ AR BENIRMEEAET  H2E
based on financial models or with reference to quoted prices from WEEMIEHEZRE -
relevant financial institutions.
The carrying amounts of investments at FVPL are denominated in the BARBEIABREEZREZEREETIA
following currencies: THIEE BB
2019
=E-NF
HK$°000
BT T
Euro BT 25,584 7,068
Hong Kong dollar pitecd 261,727 43,094
Japanese Yen =] 1,420 2,106
Renminbi ARHE 93,991 6,264
Swiss Franc I AR 5,707 -
US dollar ED 351,129 364,849
Vietnam Dong WA 6,716 7,424
746,274 430,805
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24

25

INVESTMENTS AT AMORTISED COST

Listed corporate bonds: FHREES
Non-current assets IERBEE
Current assets MEVEE

The carrying amounts of investments at amortised cost are denominated
in USD.

Note:

The listed corporate bonds are classified as investments at FVPL before the
adoption of HKFRS 9. Their fair values below are determined by reference to the
published price quotations in an active market.

24 BHBERAIIRRE

PAONES]
—T—N\F

HK$'000
BT T

30,851 -
3,970 -

34,821 -

EERASIR 2 REZ REENETRE
fiL °

Pt

RSB B HEMERERFE AT - MR EUESFH

DERBRAAENABRIRE - WTITERARETD
2IREERM IS AFRRELETE

EHRARIES

Listed corporate bonds

PROPERTIES UNDER DEVELOPMENT

At beginning of the year =)
Exchange realignment IE H s
Additions NE

Acquisition of Moon Colour (note 39(b)(iv))
Transfer to properties for sale
Transfer to assets held-for-sale (note 47)

WEGEME

At end of the year FR
Analysed for reporting purposes as: RBEREINA -

FERBEE
mEBEE

Non-current assets
Current assets

As at 31 March 2019, the balances are related to property development
projects in Changchun, Mainland China and Hong Kong.

The borrowing costs capitalised to properties under development is
disclosed in note 10 to the consolidated financial statements.

U 8 Moon Colour (Fff5E39(b)(iv))
EEEHEHE A E (H7E47)

34,782 33,182

25 BETRYE

PAONES]

—ZT—)\F

HK$'000

BRI

2,128,294 1,076,944
(38,344) 87,578
491,245 1,275,177

- 357,084

- (668,489)
(367,498) -
2,213,697 2,128,294
434,051 642,713
1,779,646 1,485,581
2,213,697 2,128,294

RIB-NAF=ZA=+—0  ZEHREHE
NRETREENYEERIABEH

BRAPYEENE 2 BREARRERE 53R
RHFE 10 EE -
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25 PROPERTIES UNDER DEVELOPMENT (CONTINUED)

Properties under development are classified as current assets unless
the construction period of the relevant project is expected to complete
beyond normal operating cycle. The amount of properties under
development classified as current assets expected to be recovered after
one year is HK$1,779,646,000 (2018: HK$1,485,581,000). The remaining
balance is expected to be recovered within one year.

Charges were created on the properties under development with total

carrying value of HK$1,082,664,000 (2018: HK$nil) for the purpose of
securing banking facilities granted to the Group.

26 OTHER NON-CURRENT ASSETS

Deposits paid for a property development

Charges were created on the other non-current assets with total carrying
value of HK$22,114,000 (2018: HK$22,112,000) for the purpose of
securing banking facilities granted to the Group.

Note:

The balance represents deposits paid for a property development project in
Changchun, Mainland China.

27 INVENTORIES

EN—BY¥EEEE 2IED
project (note) (B 5E)
Others HAh

25 FEFYE(R)

BRIPMEHSERARBEE - RIEEHIE
B2 ERIE B EREEHEBTK -
BRAVESEARDEEERN —FEI
B> &% AB%1,779,646,000 T ( —F— N\
£ 1 B ¥1,485,581,0007T) » SREEFEHA A —
FRYE -

BRI 42{E 51 1,082,664,000 T( —F— /\4F -
BEEIL) 2 HRTPECIERR  (ERET
REEPBITEEZER

26 HitFEREBEE

2019 2018

o —F)\E
HK$'000 HK$'000
BT T BETT
28,946 30,925
78,669 58,611
107,615 89,536

BRMEAEEB 122,114,000 T (= —/)\F :
#22,112,00070) 2 b 3ER B EE D 1B
B AEARTAEEBTEEZER -

B -

ZEHATERNBEED AMEERREAR ZEN
BE o

Raw materials R
Finished goods g

FERIEL

Consumables

The cost of inventories recognised as an expense and included in cost
of sales amounted to HK$2,051,000,000 (2018: HK$1,998,169,000).

Charges were created on the inventories with total carrying value of
HK$90,956,000 (2018: HK$77,619,000) for the purpose of securing
banking facilities granted to the Group.

27 B&
2019
—B-hE
HK$°000
BT T
12,193 7,597
313,290 336,033
1,382 947
326,865 344,577

CHRATHIINABHERRZFERAS
7 #2,0561,000,0007C( — T — )\ : B
1,998,169,000 7T) °

SR 4B 90,956,000 7T (ZF— N\F : B
%% 77,619,0007T) 2 T EEAFEIR - {ERET
AEEPITEEZER -
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28 PROPERTIES FOR SALE

2018
—F-N\F

HK$'000
BT T

Unamortised prepaid land leases REETEN T EE
- Hong Kong —BB 15,882 15,882
— Mainland China — A 84,525 105,377
Development costs BERAKA 266,212 457,406
366,619 578,665

FEYERERDAMEAE18,129,000 7T
(== — \4F : /8% 18,129,0007T) 7 NEE

FriE—MaERE -

Properties for sale included the Group's share of a joint operation with
an aggregate book value of HK$18,129,000 (2018: HK$18,129,000).

BEEUINAHERNAZMREARBE
204,792,0007T (=% —/\4F + /& 495,065,000
L) e

The cost of properties sold and included in cost of sales amounted to
HK$204,792,000 (2018: HK$495,065,000).

29 DEBTORS, CONTRACT ASSETS, DEPOSITS AND 29 BUIRN  GHNEE  FHERER
PREPAYMENTS BANRE

2019
L

HK$°000
BETT

Trade debtors & Z IR 553,658 448,707
Less: Provision for impairment B RERE (30,865) (33,644)
Trade debtors, net EE2) G L R 522,793 . 415,063
Retention receivables FEMARE FIE 297,254 288,760
Less: Provision for impairment R ORERE (9,186) (9,186)
Retention receivables, net PRl R R AR 288,068 279,574
Contract assets awmeE 61,702 -
Other debtors, deposits and prepayments HitgliRsr - Filize k@gmE 503,080 771,808

1,375,643 1,466,445

The Group has established different credit policies for customers in
each of its core businesses. The average credit period granted to trade
debtors is 60 days, except for insurance business where credit period

granted to certain debtors is over 60 days.

AEBHEREZLEBEPEEL AR ZE
EHmE - Bia TRREBZETEBANE
EHIBBO0R R TESEBAZTHEE

HR60K °
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29 DEBTORS, CONTRACT ASSETS, DEPOSITS AND

PREPAYMENTS (CONTINUED)

The ageing analysis of trade debtors, net of impairment provision, is
presented based on the invoice date as follows:

29 BWIRF - GHNEE  FHEER

BRARE ()

RSHEUER MR ERE - RERAY
232 AT

0 - 60 days 0—60X
61 - 90 days 61—90 K
Over 90 days 890K

The Group applies the HKFRS 9 simplified approach to measuring
expected credit losses which uses a lifetime expected credit loss
allowance for trade debtors. The movement in the provision for
impairment for trade debtors during the year is as follows:

2019 2018
—2-nE —=)\%
HK$°000 HK$'000
BT BT
360,692 366,832
74,611 12,719
87,490 35,612
522,793 415,063

REERMNE BN GRS ERNF KBS
FITERHEREER  RESRURRER
EHEREEERRE RFANESEUE

At beginning of the year F1)

Exchange realignment P& 5 S
Impairment loss recognised BRI (EEE
Provision written back [RAETE g4
Uncollectable amounts written off WEET A E 2 £58
At end of the year FR

The carrying amounts of the Group's trade debtors are denominated in
the following currencies:

KR ER B2 EEINT
2019 2018
—E-hF =T N\%
HK$000 HK$'000
BT BETT
33,644 45,948
(17) 264
4,608 5,558
(1,983) (17,013)
(5,387) (1,113)
30,865 33,644

REEE S REERZ REETIA TG
REA

Australian dollar JRTT
Hong Kong dollar T
Macau Pataca SRS
Renminbi AR
US dollar E7T
Others E At

The carrying amounts of retention receivables, contract assets and other
debtors as at 31 March 2019 and 2018 were mainly denominated in
Hong Kong dollar and Renminbi.

The carrying amounts of debtors and receivables as at 31 March 2019
and 2018 approximated their fair values.

2019

e

HK$°000

BET R
8,773 21,346
375,712 295,118
19,497 1,241
60,600 39,545
47,649 41,472
10,562 16,341
522,793 415,063

WoE-NER-—F—\E=A=+—8
B RE IR - & KA B R T2
PR B BB AR AL -

R-E-NER-_ZT-N\F=_A=+—8"
EUBE R R BB BREEEE AR EN
=,
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29 DEBTORS, CONTRACT ASSETS, DEPOSITS AND
PREPAYMENTS (CONTINUED)

Retention receivables amounted to HK$57,576,000 (2018:
HK$103,509,000) are expected to be settled within 12 months after the
end of the reporting year.

Included in debtors, contract assets, deposits and prepayments was the
Group's share of receivables of HK$2,882,000 (2018: HK$2,219,000) in
relation to joint operations.

Charges were created on the debtors, contract assets, deposits
and prepayments with total carrying value of HK$55,237,000 (2018:
HK$69,251,000) for the purpose of securing banking facilities granted to
the Group.

30 AMOUNTS DUE FROM/(TO) CUSTOMERS FOR CONTRACT
WORK

29 BWHRF - GHNEE  FHEER
BRAFE ()

FEUR{RBE /18 A1 57,676,000 T (ZF— N\
£ % 103,509,000 7T) EEHIR 2HRFE R
BI12EARNEE -

BUWERER - 6HEE  FTiHiiRe RIEMFHIE
BREAEEREBEELEEN G ZEEKE
K BB 2882000 (=F —/)\F : Bk
2,219,000 7T) °

BRI 421881 55,237,000 T (— 22—\ : 8
#69,251,0007T) Z EWERF - BREE - 17
HiRe RBEMRBEEIERT  (EARTAE
BIRITEE ZER -

30 HENIREQAEFUE (X2

|

PAONES]
—F-N\F
HK$'000
BT
Contracts in progress at end of the year: RERZELFEL :
Contract costs incurred BEEZ ALK 8,541,240
Recognised net losses B R E IR F R (207,951)
8,333,289
Less: Progress billings R EERIE (8,884,517)
__ (551,228
Analysed for reporting purposes as: MBEREANA
Amounts due from customers for contract work ERERRBEEARELN
included in current assets TREREFPWE 2 I8 88,563
Amounts due to customers for contract work ERERREEEAREL
included in current liabilities TRERRFPZNZHKIE (639,791)
(5651,228)

Advances received from customers for contract work amounted to
HK$325,000 as at 31 March 2018 and included in creditors.

REZE-NF=ZA=+—B stafIiel
B PIENR BB 325,000 LB BIERER
BRAA -
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31 DERIVATIVE FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

Financial (liabilities)/ assets in respect of
derivative financial instruments
— interest rate swap contracts (note a) — R B4 (FizEa)
— foreign currency forward contracts (note b)  —&ERHASNES XY (MizEb)

— cross currency swap — RN E R
Analysed for reporting purposes as: RMEREDWNA

Current assets MEVEE

Current liabilities mEIBE

The derivatives are measured at fair value at the end of each reporting
period. Their fair values are determined with reference to fair
values of comparable instruments in the market or quoted prices
from counterparties. The net carrying amounts of derivatives are
denominated in the following currencies:

TTHEMBTAZHE (AR) EE

TEBKIA

PAONES]
—F-N\F

HK$'000
BT

- (171)
(47) 99
378 212
331 140
397 373
(66) (233)
331 140

TETAEREMEMRZAAENE - ITE
TEZARBETDREAHERTAZmEA
REXEHTWEMTE - TETARZREF
BETATIIERE BB -

Euro (¢
Hong Kong dollar ks
US dollar E
Others Efih
Notes:

(a) Interest rate swap contracts of the Group with a total notional amount of HK$nil
(2018: HK$426,666,000) were entered to swap floating interest rate to fixed
interest rate or to swap between different floating rates. These contracts were
matured on 10 October 2018.

(b)  Foreign currency forward contracts of the Group with a total notional amount up
to HK$9,107,000 (2018: HK$56,621,000) were entered to swap various foreign
currencies to other cross currencies. These contracts will mature within the
period from 1 April 2019 to 14 May 2019 (2018: period from 4 April 2018 to 3
January 2023).

2019
—E-NF
HK$'000
BETT

(66) (1)

- (171)

378 212

19 100

331 140

FEE -

(@) AEBARKIZBFNEEHREEFNELAT
FEZEFERMzimAmal L R BHE4
HBERSHEABBTL(ZT—\F : A%
426,666,000 7T) © WWEELIGR T —/\F+
A+BE5-

(b)) AEBEABETRIINEIEHAE MR X EE M
RINEEIINESR  HBEESHEAABNE
9,107,0007T ( —F — J\F : 75 ¥ 56,621,000
L) e WEAHER _ZE—HENA—BE=
T-AFREATHBAHMA(ZZE—NF: R
—E-)\FMNANAE-_ZE_=F—HA=2H
FEIA) BIE -
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32 BANK BALANCES AND CASH

Bank balances and cash comprise cash held, short-term bank deposits
with an original maturity period over three months, short-term bank
deposits with an original maturity of three months or less and cash
placed with financial institutions. The carrying amounts of these assets
approximate their fair values.

32 BITEERRE

RIOTEFLASREMBRS - REIHHY
PRiB® =187 2 BRITIFK - RE DI HH
PR 73 = fE A sk A R 2 58 BRER 1T 17 SR B F A B
BHEZRE HWEEEZREEREAR
ERE -

Bank balances and cash BITETFRES
Pledged bank deposits BEEMIRITER

Unpledged bank deposits maturing after
three months

The carrying amounts of bank balances and cash are denominated in the
following currencies:

=B A REHZ BAERIRITER

1,778,171 1,613,023
54,913 54,363

- 56,066
1,833,084 1,723,452

RITEFRRSZREETATIHER RE

fif :

Australian dollar JETT
Canadian dollar g
Euro Rz
Hong Kong dollar B
Macau Pataca SR
Renminbi AREE
Singapore dollar Frhnsg T
US dollar Ev
Others b

As at 31 March 2019, the Group's bank balances of HK$54,913,000
(2018: HK$54,363,000) were pledged to banks for the purpose of
securing banking facilities granted to the Group.

As at 31 March 2019, the effective interest rates on short-term bank
deposits of the Group were 1.8% (2018: 1.2%) per annum; and these
deposits had an average maturity of 33 days (2018: 26 days).

As at 31 March 2019, bank balances and cash of HK$846,264,000 (2018:
HK$476,225,000) were held in Mainland China and are subject to local
exchange control regulations, under which the balances could not be
exported freely out of Mainland China. The repatriation of funds out
of Mainland China is possibly conducted by way of dividends or other
means as complied to the regulations.

73,156 22,245
38,529 40,611
862 2,687
620,238 852,828
9,090 3,043
809,913 476,238
5,312 4,117
226,495 261,167
49,489 60,516
1,833,084 1,723,452

R-ZE-AFE=A=+—0 A&EEZET
1B #54,913,000C( = — )\F : B
54,363,000 7T) BEEA TIRIT - tEARTARE
ERITEE ZEIR -

R-ZZE—AFZA=Z+—H8  A£EZEH
BRI ERFEFNEE1.8% (ZT—N\F :
12%) + WEFHRZFHREA AR (ZE
—\F 1 26K) °

RZZE—AF=ZA=+—H0 BERFTER
2 SR 4517 M IR & 755 846,264,000 7T (=
ZT— )\ & : B 476,225,000 7T ) BEEE
HINEBHIRTE Bt KEEFEIBERAE
HAREA o ES A E RS REtETIR
TE 277 B R B A o
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33 CREDITORS, BILLS PAYABLE, DEPOSITS, CONTRACT
LIABILITIES AND ACCRUALS

3B ENRN BARE FARE

BRNEERERER

B RNBERRENRE

Trade creditors and bills payable

Retention payables FEIHMREBFIAE
Deposits received BRTFAES
Contract liabilities aratE

TAERA HIARA
HEMNERRIERER

Accrued contract costs
Other creditors and accruals

The ageing analysis of trade creditors and bills payable is as follows:

287,318 282,234
208,431 202,491
177,441 96,399
97,431 -
1,246,367 578,798
506,059 482,323
2,523,047 1,642,245

BIRNERRENREZREOITNT

0 - 60 days 0—60X
61 -90 days 61—90K
Over 90 days 90K

The carrying amounts of the Group’s trade creditors and bills payable are
denominated in the following currencies:

2019
—E-hF
HK$'000
BET T
265,795 257,687
6,261 6,628
15,262 18,019
287,318 282,234

AEEEFRERNERRENRREZEEET
AT SIE® REMA

Hong Kong dollar pitecd
Macau Pataca SBPIHE
Renminbi AR
US dollar =T
Others E At

The carrying amounts of retention payables, contract liabilities and other
creditors as at 31 March 2019 and 2018 were denominated in Hong
Kong dollar, Macau Pataca and Renminbi.

The carrying amounts of creditors and payables as at 31 March 2019 and
2018 approximated their fair values.

Retention payables amounted to HK$51,158,000 (2018: HK$56,770,000)
are expected to be settled within 12 months after the end of the
reporting year.

Included in creditors, bills payable, deposits, contract liabilities and
accruals are the Group's share of payables of HK$14,960,000 (2018:
HK$1,408,000) in relation to joint operations.

2019
—g-NnE
HK$°000
BT
147,354 149,809
7,325 13,022
94,915 88,491
29,099 21,391
8,625 9,521
287,318 282,234

N=F-NEFR=F—\F=A=+—8
RS RE IR - & 0B R AR 2
FREELUBIE - HPI% A RA R -

R-ZE-NFR-_FT-NF=ZA=+—H"
EAERREMFBZERAEEL QAL ER
%=,

JERHREE T A7B% 51,158,000 L (—ZE— N\
F 1 156,770,000 7T) TBHIR 2R FERE
12fAANEHE -

ERER - BNRE - BAKS  A0AE
REREANEREASEREELCEMNE
2 FERBR 3k A7 14,960,000 T ( —F — )\
4 ¢ #%1,408,0007T) ©
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34 OUTSTANDING INSURANCE CLAIMS

Insurance claims of the following business classes are not usually
settled within one year:

34 RRREBRE

TIRBERZRBRE-RIE—FAE

/B

- Employee compensation - EERE
- Motor third party liability — REFE=-FHEMF
- Public liability - AREHE

The claims development, net of reinsurance, are disclosed as follows:

2009 and before
“ESNERMA

2010
Z%-%F
HKS'000
BT

201
i
HKS'000
TR

2012
—E-C&
HK$'000
AT

213
-g-:

HK$'000

BT

HK$'000
ERTT

2014
-2-n%
HK$'000
et

FRlE SR (R BRR) BN T

2015
ZE-1f
HK$'000
BRI

2016
ZE-5E
HK$'000
BRI

2017
ZE-tE
HK$'000
BRI

2018
ZE-N\E
HK$'000
BRI

2019
=
HKS'000
ERTT

HKS$'000
BRI

Estimate of cumulative claims ~ fisf Z5EE
At end of accident year BIERLER 39,575 57,615 87,099 131582 155800 175730 161549 140,112 122,198 86,471 90,284
One year later —Ef 50,541 57,145 54009 105091 122921 139,004 109443 109,851 84,489 78,493 -
Two years later Mk 45,852 52,207 67192 113,384 137,083 152,912 114523 114990 79,651 - -
Three years later —E 40,146 46,556 63,648 91456 120451 122,227 96,156 89,178 - - -
Four years later Bk /OB 4336 62724 87170 112573 113887 90,229 - - - -
Five years later kR 39,814 42,636 60,170 8,145 111218 111,349 - - - - -
Six years later N 40427 4259% 60,086 85231 110,068 - - - - - -
Seven years later iR 40438 43119 59886 85231 - - - - - - -
Fight years lter Nt 086 476 598 - - - - - - - -
Nine years later nEk 396900 42726 - - - - - - - - -
Ten years later TER 40,256 - - - - - - - - - -
Cumulative claims S 40256 42,726 59,888 85,231 110,058 111,349 90,229 89,178 79,651 78,493 90,284 877,343
Less: Cumulative payments - ZHTAFUE 39772 42726 59,888 85231 107677 109217 76154 61480 27954 19638 9693 639,430
Claims outstanding at RZF-NE
31 March 2019 ZA=+-H
LRRER 484 = - - 231 2132 14075 27698 51697 58855 80591 237913
Claims outstanding at RZE-N\E
31 March 2018 Zh=t-H
LRRZE 336 - - - 4,054 6,805 32,810 71,740 65,080 74,613 - 255438

The risk under an insurance contract is the risk that an insured event will
occur including the uncertainty of the amount and timing of any resulting
claim. The principal risk the Group faces under such contracts is that
the actual claims and benefit payments exceed the carrying amount
of insurance liabilities. This is influenced by the frequency of claims,
severity of claims, actual benefits paid which are greater than originally
estimated and subsequent development of long tail claims.

The Group manages its insurance risk through underwriting limits,
approval procedures for transactions that involve new products or
that exceed set limits, pricing guidelines, centralised management of
reinsurance and monitoring of emerging issues.

The Group manages the variability of risks by careful selection and
the implementation of underwriting strategies, arrangements of
reinsurance, strict claim review policies to assess all new and ongoing
claims as well as the investigation of possible fraudulent claims. The
Group also enforces a policy of actively managing and promptly pursuing
of claims, in order to reduce its exposure to unpredictable future
developments that can negatively impact the Group.

The Group's underwriting strategy seeks diversity to ensure a balanced
portfolio and is based on a large portfolio of similar risks over a number
of years and, as such, reduces the variability of the outcome.

REAHBETZERIELETAREFZR
% BESEZTEERERERAES
ZRERRH  AEERBUEFSNEK T
ZEBABRRERBNEBEBARRAE
REE - R EIREER - RERER
B BRENBHRAGE RBERIEERE
BREZE

REBBBEGIRREE  SIEESHER
FEBHBRER G2 EBRLIERF - AL EBIE
5|~ SR EIE BRI R B NOER B A
EEAERRER -

REBEATHAERRABRZZHIE - (T4
BERERARER - RFEDR - BB
RIERARHE P 287 RSB A 2 RS
ARAEEHFHREZRE - AEETRET
TR ETE N BN IR RAE 2 R - DARA ]
BEHAEKBEER M E 2 TR FRHARRE
‘B -

REE A RRI BZH— @D A -FEH
A RFEE S RSN — kR AL
[EB AR VA S LURE IR MEEE ©
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35 BANK AND OTHER BORROWINGS

Bank and other borrowings are repayable as #2717 R E M EZEEENT

follows:

Within one year —FR

More than 1 year but not exceeding 2 years ~ —EJA HE R BIBRFE
More than 2 years but not exceeding 5 years M4 LA FETHBBAEFE
Exceeding 5 years e ERakeS

Less: Amount due within one year disclosed & : FERBIABEAFEEIL R —FR

under current liabilities BIE &%
Represented by: 255
Secured BHER
Unsecured R

As at 31 March 2019, the Group has secured bank loans for certain US
senior housing businesses with a carrying amount of HK$508 million,
of which HK$453 million was without recourse to the Group. These
loans are subjected to covenant clauses. The Group did not fulfill certain
required financial performance ratios associated with these secured
bank loans. The entire outstanding loan balances were classified as
current liability as at 31 March 2019.

The carrying value of the bank and other borrowings approximate their
fair values as majority of the borrowings carried interest at floating
rate. The bank and other borrowings are denominated in the following
currencies:

Canadian dollar MEXIT
Hong Kong dollar T
Renminbi AREE
US dollar ES

35 MITREAMER

PAONES]
—F-N\F

HK$'000
BT

1,109,840 767,670
691,080 663,446
1,328,053 1,358,261
611,237 587,125
3,740,210 3,376,502
(1,109,840) (767,670)
2,630,370 2,608,832
2,023,420 1,275,995
1,716,790 2,100,507
3,740,210 3,376,502

RZZE-AFE=ZA=+—8 A&£EHDHE
FTERALZERSXBHFRRIFRTER
BREEABEL.0818 T HAEKA3ET
BEAEEBROERN - ZERBEBTHRHA
&8 NEBMW AT EE THZEHEMR
TEFEENPTBRRALE - RZT—NF
ZA=Z+—H 2PREBEZERHBEIE
BREARE -

EAREMERTIAZ B AR B - RITRE
fbfER 2 EEEREAARERSE - RITRE
MAERTIA T ERE R ENL

PAONES]

—F-N\F

HK$'000

EEEFIT

15,233 7,331
2,163,378 2,095,205
128,790 132,913
1,432,809 1,141,053
3,740,210 3,376,502
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For the year ended 31 March 2019
BE T NF=HA=1+—HIFE

35 BANK AND OTHER BORROWINGS (CONTINUED) 35 BITRHEMER(E)
The effective interest rates per annum of the bank and other borrowings R=ZA=+—8 ' fTEEMERZEERFE
as at 31 March were as follows: FZT

Canadian dollar neXT 3.2% 2.8%
Hong Kong dollar bt 3.1% 2.4%
Renminbi AR 5.8% 2.6%
US dollar ES 3.6% 4.3%
Bank and other borrowings of HK$2,023,420,000 (2018: $R1T M E b 5 FE 5 2,023,420,000 0 (=&
HK$1,276,000,000) were secured by charges on the assets of the Group — )\ : &% 1,276,000,000 7T ) JH A A £ &
as set out in notes 15, 16, 25, 26, 27, 29 and 32 to the consolidated BEERR - RREHBIREME15 16
financial statements. 252627+ 29 & 32 N FE o
36 SHARE CAPITAL 36 A
Number of
shares Share capital
rghE¢E! [N
HK$'000
PEMET T
Ordinary shares of HK$1.25 each EIREEBE1.25 L2 T@mRk
Authorised: EERA :
At 1 April 2017, 31 March 2018 and RZZT—+FMA—H -
31 March 2019 - \E=A=1+—HK
—E-NE=A=+—H 540,000,000 675,000
Issued and fully paid: ERTREBERAE :
At 1 April 2017, 31 March 2018 and RZT—tFMA—R -
at 31 March 2019 - \F=ZA=t+—A8k
—E-NF=A=+—H 301,928,440 377,411
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HE BB

For the year ended 31 March 2019
BE T NF=A=1+—HIFE

37 RESERVES

At 1 April 2018, as previously reported
Impact of change in accounting policy (note 3)

Restated at 1 April 2018

Profit for the year

Change in fair value of investments at fair
value through other comprehensive
income

Change in fair value of properties for own use

Exchange difference on translation of
operations of overseas subsidiaries,
associates and joint ventures

Fair value adjustments on the derivative
financial instruments designated as cash
flow hedge

Total comprehensive (expenses)fincome for
the year

Dividends paid
Change in ownership interests in a subsidiary

without loss of control

At 31 March 2019

R--NERA-H - RA2R
gitmREgE (M)

R=%-NEDA-BEES

=Rt
AR EIARNR BN
BEMAMEED

BRNENLLER
BREBINEBLAR BEAAR
REMRZRBAELL

EAEE
EEARERENINIE
FRTANLLESE

FRREAR)/ RalE

BffRE
TEREEHEZ-RHELR
WiEARELS

R-B-NEZR=1-8

37 %

Attributable to shareholders of the Company
ARARREE

Capital Investment Otherassets  Hedging  Exchange
Share Capital redemption revaluation revaluation revaluation fluctuation  Retained
premium  reserve  reserve  reserve  reserve  reserve reserve profits Total
&% k& HfEE Hh HERR
KRR ErEE RORE EMRE  ERRE  EARE  YERE  REE L
HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HKS'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000
EWTn  ERTn  ERTn  BBTn  BMTR EMTn  E%Tn EBTn B%Tx
(note)
(H3E)
704,087 371,863 8,785 62407 221,103 216 475686 6505177 8,355,324
- - - (2859%) = = = 34598 6,002
704,087 371,863 8,785 33811 221,103 216 475686 6539775 8,361,326
- - - - - - - 654561 654561
- - - (16154) - - = - (16,154)
- - - - 1,447 - - - 1,447
- - - - - - (233,056) - (233,056)
- - - - - 162 - - 162
- - - (16,154) 1447 162 (233,056) 654561 406,960
- - - - - - - (1201m)  (12077)
- - - - - - - (3.442) (3.442)
704,087 371,863 8,785 17,657 222,550 378 242630 7,070,123 8,644,073
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For the year ended 31 March 2019
BE T NF=HA=1+—HIFE

37 RESERVES (CONTINUED) 37 f&f& (&)

Attributable to shareholders of the Company

ADRRRIER

Capital Investment  Otherassets ~ Hedging  Exchange
Share Capital  redemption  revaluation revaluation revaluation  fluctuation  Retained
premium reserve reserve reserve reseve  reseve  reserve profits
Y IR = ‘

x

i 3

; #

= AARR  BORE & ; i
HK§'000  HK$'000 HK§'000  HKS'000 [ HK$'000
jai*%?-’!';_ L U Em%r[ s%‘m%ﬁ ?Ti[

At 1 April 2017 RZE-tEmA-A 704,087 365,799 8,785 57,782 702,043 2,227) 43357 5712419 7,592,045
Profit for the year FRRF - - - - - - - 907929 907,929
Change in fair value of properties forownuse ~ ERIEHAL EZE - - - - (6479) - - 408 (2447)
Disposal of Talent Luck HERERE - - - - (454,465 - - 454465 -
Exchange difference on translation of REBINBAA BEAT

operations of overseas subsidiries, ReebE ERAELL

associates and joint ventures NEXREE - - - - - - 36729 - 36729
Change in fair value of available-for-sale HE CREANA L EED

investments - - - 1,248 - - - - 1,248
Impairment loss on available-for-sale HE RENRESE

investments transferred to consolidated BRSRANGR

income statement - - - 33717 - - - - 3317
Fair value adjustments on the derivative EEARTEHMNITE

financial instruments designated as cash BBIEMAREAR

flow hedge - - - - - 2443 - - 2443

Total comprehensive incomeflexpenses) for — EE2ENE /(B @8

the year - - - 4625 (480,940) 2443 367296 1366422 1,259,846
Dividends paid Bfikg - - - - - - - [673664)  (673,664)
Disposal of Chinaford and Dolce Field LERERDT (H3E300)vii)

note 39(bl vil) - - - - - - 65,033 - 65,033
Change in ownership interests inNC1 Sandhil %2 £251:2 NC1 Sandhill &

without loss of control EREERES) (H390)vii)

(note 39(bvil) - 12,064 - - - - - - 12,064
At31 March 2018 H2-NEZA=t-B A0S SIS 875 G407 2103 26 47568 6506177 836
Note: The balance arose mainly from various Group reorganisations in the past e - ABETEREBEAZHEEEEHEER  25F

including redomicile of the Company, spin-offs and privatisation of group RATEM - KEGEZHHEILAL -
entities.
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For the year ended 31 March 2019
BE —F—NF=A=1+—HIFE

38 DEFERRED TAXATION 38 EELEHIE

TXFREIAERFELBEERFERER
ZEBREBAEAE (BE) REEY

The followings are the major deferred tax liabilities/(assets) recognised
and movements thereon during the current and prior reporting years:

Amortisation

At 1 April 2018

Exchange realignment

Charged to consolidated
income statement
(note 12)

Transfer to assets held-for-
sale (note 47)

At 31 March 2019

At 1 April 2017

Exchange realignment

(Credited)/charged to
consolidated income
statement (note 12)

Credited to other
comprehensive income

Acquisition of Moon Colour
(note 39(b)(iv)

Disposal of Talent Luck
(note 39(b)(ix))

At 31 March 2018

RZE—/\ENWA—A

BN AR

REERERAMGR
(FzE12)

BREHELELE
(BzE47)

RZE—NF
=A=+-8

RZE—+&FNA—H
(5 HEE
RERA K ERA
(FTA)/ 1k
(3£ 12)
REMZEREAFA

18 Moon Colour
(BiH3E39(b)iv))

HEFREE
(BEE39(b)ix))

RZE—)\F
=A=+-H

Accelerated of goodwill
tax and Revaluation
depreciation trademarks  of properties Tax losses Others Total
InEHE HomE
HE REg Eft= BEARE Hity k]
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BETT BETT BYETT BETT BETT BYETT
34,401 50,511 275,522 (48,435) (13,841) 298,158
(87) " (17,351) 14 (1,147) (18,560)
3,228 9,007 24,402 650 13,035 50,322
(652) = - 3,680 - 3,028
36,890 59,529 282,573 (44,091) (1,953) 332,948
39,373 58,141 316,744 (61,727) (6,854) 345,677
29 855 26,546 (407) (440) 26,583
(2,786) (8,485) 28,682 14,400 (6,547) 25,264
- - (6,646) - - (6,646)
(2,215) - - (701) - (2,916)
- - (89,804) - - (89,804)
34,401 50,511 275,522 (48,435) (13,841) 298,158
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BE T NF=HA=1+—HIFE

38 DEFERRED TAXATION (CONTINUED) 38 EALHIIE (K)

For the purposes of consolidated statement of financial position
presentation, certain deferred tax assets and liabilities have been offset.
The following is the analysis of the deferred tax balances for financial
reporting purposes:

REGFEAMBARKRZEINAN  HTE
ERBPEERBRECFRE - BEVAS
BRIEMTERER B 2 AN

BRI IAERE
RERIAEE

Deferred tax assets
Deferred tax liabilities

As at 31 March 2019, the Group had unused tax losses of
HK$2,776,784,000 (2018: HK$2,693,965,000) available for offset
against future taxable profits. A deferred tax asset had been recognised
in respect of HK$212,173,000 (2018: HK$215,003,000) of such
losses. No deferred tax asset had been recognised in respect of the
remaining HK$2,564,611,000 (2018: HK$2,478,962,000) due to the
unpredictability of future profit streams. Included in tax losses were
losses of HK$104,371,000 and HK$97,953,000 (2018: HK$94,970,000
and HK$103,284,000) of subsidiaries in Mainland China and the US that
will gradually expire until December 2023 and March 2038 respectively;
the remaining tax losses may be carried forward indefinitely.

As at 31 March 2019, deferred tax liabilities of HK$127,758,000 (2018:
HK$84,033,000) had not been recognised for the withholding tax that
would be payable on the unappropriated earnings of certain subsidiaries.
Such amounts were expected to be reinvested.

As at 31 March 2019, the Group had unrecognised deductible temporary
differences of HK$137,395,000 (2018: HK$8,560,000). No deferred tax
asset had been recognised in relation to such deductible temporary
differences as it is not probable that future taxable profits will be
available against which the deductible temporary differences can be
utilised.

(29,916) (42,171)
362,864 340,329
332,948 298,158

RZZE—AF=ZA=+—H8 AEEXHH
2 FRIB K518 A B #2,776,784,000 T ( = &
— J\4F : 8% 2,693,965,0007T) * A] FA{EIE
SH IR 2 FERR T m Al o AR5 212,173,000
T(=Z — )\F : ##215,003,0007C) Z
HEBEECHERAECHBERE - BAK
i FEEDATER M EBLH T 2 RIEE B
75 2 664,611,000L( — T — \F: H
2,478,962,0007T ) R ABIREFHBE E -
FRIEE B EET B R & ERH B AFE A
PO E T ZF+ AT )N\F=
A 2 7% % 104,371,000 7T X 7% % 97,953,000
TT(ZZF—)\F : % 94,970,000 7T & & &
103,284,0007T) : M&R T 2 i 1E E1E 1% °] #&
[RHpAEES o

R-ZE—AFZA=+—8  KEHFETH
BRARIARDIRAFMAfe 4 2 BN ER
IEFCFEIE B (F8 % 127,758,000 T ( —Z— )\
F ¢ B184,033,0007T) - FEEAEHIAE A
ERRE -

R-ZZE—AEFZA=+—8 AEBEZkE
2 AT F0ORCE B M 2 2 BB 5 137,395,000 7T
(ZZ— )\ : #%8,560,0007T) ° FBHER
R AE B2 ERBLEFI AR IERE B2
AR E R 2 B - A R R AR 2 A
BIEERIEEE -
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For the year ended 31 March 2019
BE T NF=A=1+—HIFE

39 NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH 39 MERERERMT

FLOWS
(a) Cash generated from/(used in) operations (a) RE/(AR)EEZES
2019 PAONES]
—E-NF —E)\F
HK$'000 HK$'000
BET T BT
Profit before taxation FR 75 AT g ) 839,882 1,267,826
Adjustments for: R
Share of results of associates PGB A RIZEE (125,003) (67,918)
Share of results of joint ventures & E s (171,448) 60,490
Interest income from bank deposits anda  RITIFR KL —EA L EN
joint venture FEMA (43,216) (21,636)
Interest expenses on bank overdrafts and  $R7TiE S K R1T M EMER
bank and other borrowings HF B 123,239 92,309
Depreciation e 135,288 109,795
Amortisation of other intangible assets H A A B 18,985 7,772
Increase in fair value of investment WEYEZ AR BN
properties (166,406) (190,683)
Remeasurement gain on transfer from REAEMEBSAIREMEY
properties for sale to investment B ERE
properties (25,838) -
(Gain)/loss on disposal of property, plant HEWE  BEIREZ
and equipment (Wezs),/ 598 (105) 3,721
Gain on disposals of HENL T AR Z K
— Chinaford and Dolce Field —RERED
(note 39(b)(vii)) (B 5= 39(b) (vii)) - (619,941)
- Talent Luck (note 39(b)(ix)) —FEBEFLEE (MEE39(b)(ix) - (92,927)
— other subsidiaries — H A E AR (231) (2,207)
— an associate —— A AT - (4,848)
Deemed disposal loss on step-up BN — B E QR E A M
acquisition of an associate and become MEAE 2R ALERSE
a subsidiary - 3,004
Gain on investments at fair value through  3ZRA A EHIAERERIE 7 &S
profit or loss (887) (11,912)
Loss on derivative financial instruments PTHEMBIAZEE 590 993
Provision for inventories to net realisable FERBBZEEFE  F8
value, net 1,225 4,070
Provision recognised/(written back) on DRER,(BE) B 5 K E b EUREE R
trade and other debtors, net 2 REHE - FRE 4,999 (2,005)
Impairment loss on property, plant and M - BEREEZRERE
equipment - 1,572
Remeasurement of goodwill EETERE - (4,686)
Impairment loss on interest in an R A AR 2 R EETE
associate - 18,101
Impairment loss on available-for-sale AR E 2 IRERREEE
investments - 3,377
Provision for impairment loss on FEMENREEBEH
properties for sale - 22,015
Impairment loss on retention receivables — JEUIR B FIE 2 B KIS - 8,697
Operating cash flows before movementsin ~ &EESE BRI 2K LWL RE
working capital 591,074 594,879
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BE T NF=HA=1+—HIFE

39 NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH 39 GMEBERERKT (F)
FLOWS (CONTINUED)
(a) Cash generated from/(used in) operations (continued) (a) RB(AR)EEZRS (&)
2019 PAONES]
—Z=—hE —T—)\F
HK$°000 HK$'000
BET T BT
Changes in working capital EBESH
(Increase)/decrease in amounts due from  FEUWSFIEAREZRER T (8 00), 8
non-controlling interests (4,810) 35,637
(Increase)/decrease in investments at fair ~ ZAABEIIABREE 2 18E (1#i0),/
value through profit or loss, net B FEE (122,841) 135,878
Decrease/(increase) in inventories wFERL, () 13,411 (49,648)
Decrease in properties for sale HEMERD 153,671 492,377
Increase in properties under development — ZXE 2L N (491,244) (1,275,177)
Decrease in debtors, contract assets, IR - BB E THEZRe Kk
deposits and prepayments TEf FRIER 144,650 214,285
Decrease in amounts due from customers  FtA #) T2 fE M1 & P U ELZ ZIE R
for contract work - 28,317
Cash paid upon maturity of derivative PTEMB T A ZEMNRE
financial instruments (619) (1,567)
Increase in amounts due to non-controlling &1~ FE5° B i 25 BR FXAE N
interests 69,334 64,202
Increase in amounts due to customers for  FLA K TRREMRE P SN 2 ZIEE I
contract work - 84,279
Increase/(decrease) in creditors, bills ERERR - BNEE  TARS
payable, deposits, contract liabilities and ERBERBIRERLINCHL)
accruals 207,670 (369,868)
Increase/(decrease) in unearned insurance  IEIL{REG B MoK B HAR R &N,
premiums and unexpired risk reserves CR) 46,386 (14,842)
Decrease in outstanding insurance claims AR R{RE R ER (17,525) (49,834)
Increase in deferred income IEIEWAIE N - 1,245
Other non-cash items HiIER LA 14,761 7,411
Cash generated from/(used in) operations ~ RE,(FAR) LEZES 603,918 (102,526)
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For the year ended 31 March 2019
BE T NF=A=1+—HIFE

39 NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH
FLOWS (CONTINUED)

(b) Acquisitions and disposals

(i

Acquisitions of senior housing properties

On 25 May 2018, the Group announced the acquisition
of ten senior housing properties in the US at the
consideration of US$65,000,000 (equivalent to approximately
HK$509,600,000). The transaction completed in January 2019.

EREBRME ()

g B £

WERERSWE
RZZE—N\FREA-+HA &%
ESHhRERERNTRZERS
Y% - KRB /565,000,000ETT(HHE
#7488 509,600,0007T) © A5
ER-ZE—HNFE—A%K -

Purchase consideration satisfied by:
Cash paid ReTHt
Fair value of net assets acquired:
Property, plant and equipment (note 16) Y - BB RE

Intangible assets (note 18)

Acquisition related expenses (included in
administrative expenses)

Net cash outflow arising from the acquisition:
Cash consideration paid

The acquired business contributed revenue of
HK$122,617,000, earnings before interest, tax, depreciation
and amortisation (before deducting the acquisition related
expenses of HK$11,342,000) of HK$4,454,000 and net loss of
HK$35,684,000 to the Group for the period from 1 July 2018 to
31 March 2019.

If the acquisition had occurred on 1 April 2018, pro-forma
revenue and net loss for the year ended 31 March 2019 of
the acquired business would have been HK$214,352,000 and
HK$48,488,000 respectively, resulting in consolidated pro-
forma revenue and profit for the year ended 31 March 2019
of the Group to be HK$6,984,449,000 and HK$686,598,000
respectively. The information is for illustrative purpose only and
does not represent actual results for the year.

BEREBEZNAA

FEWE%QE@TEZ“LME

mREE (MisE18)

WEEARRE S (REATTERSZH)

Wl 2 IR HF AR
EfBRENRE

509,600

458,640
50,960

509,600

11,342

(509,600)

Fﬁﬂﬁz%%a‘iﬁfy —NFtHA—H
E_T-NFZA=+—AHHMA
A E g E A 122,617,000
T OARFRE S BHE TERE
SHAT AR (F05R Y BB AR A 2 B
11,342,000 JL A ) &% 4,454,000 7T
N FES 188 35,684,000 7T ©

WM EBEER T \FNA—AH
£ ATEEBEE TN
FZA=+—BHUEFEZHEERA
NOFEE 5 B BB 214,352,000
71&,% # 48,488,000 7T © & H &
—hWEZA=Z+—HILFE
ZKEEZFN%%H&)\&/MUH‘”‘
55 156,984,449,000 7T & i
686 598,0007T ° thé“w%t 22
B UIFZFEERER
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For the year ended 31 March 2019
P E - NF=A=1+—HIFE

39 NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH 39 MERERELXMT (F)
FLOWS (CONTINUED)

(b) Acquisitions and disposals (continued) (b) WEBRHE (&)
(i) Acquisitions of senior housing properties (continued) (i) WBZERSWEE)
On 3 April 2017, the Group entered into an agreement to RZE—tFWMA=AH - NEEF]
acquire 100% interest in two senior housing properties located S AR R EE B BRI 2
in Michigan, the US, at the consideration of US$33,000,000 MIBZ Zl &Y% 2 100% # -
(equivalent to approximately HK$257,400,000). The transaction R 1B /A533,000,0003 7T (HHERL975
completed in June 2017. #257,400,00070) ° WX HER =

T LEAARR

Purchase consideration satisfied by: BEREIZMAAN

Cash paid BE&E 257,785

Fair value of net assets acquired (as shown below) FrUiiE & EFE Y A E (FHHIT) (221,346)
Goodwill (note 17) P (M5E17) 36,439
Fair value of net assets acquired: FrEEEFE 2 ANE -

Property, plant and equipment (note 16) W - R K&k (M 16) 191,896

Intangible assets (note 18) mREE (H:E18) 29,396

Debtors, deposits and prepayments FEURERSK - FHIRS RTENFRIA 54

221,346

Acquisition related expenses (included in IWIEARR S B (T AT )

administrative expenses) 2,293
Net cash outflow arising from the acquisition: WIEETEEA NIRRT FHE -

Cash consideration paid BERNBREERE (257,785)
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BE T NF=A=1+—HIFE

39 NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH 39 MERERELXMT (F)
FLOWS (CONTINUED)

(b) Acquisitions and disposals (continued) (b) WERHE (E)

(ii) Acquisition of 100% equity interest in Silver Prosper (i) WIEEREEERLAA(HERBRE
Holdings Limited (“Silver Prosper”) [ ) #9100% AR #E
On 18 May 2017, the Group entered into a provisional R-ZZE—tFRHA+NA K&
agreement to acquire 100% equity interest in Silver Prosper 51 3 e B 17 sk A UR B GR A% &=
where the principal asset is the property located at Davis B H100% R - REH /B
Street, Hong Kong, which is for residential and commercial 228,000,0007T ° 2 AR Z X BEE
use at a consideration of approximately HK$228,000,000. The BURBBERTEHZME &Y
transaction completed in August 2017. XRETEREERR - BRFHE

MRZZE—tFNATHK -

PAONES]
—T\F
HK$'000
BT
Purchase consideration satisfied by: BEREZIAAR -
Cash paid ReTft 225,212
Fair value of net assets acquired: Il EEFEZ AN E
Investment property (note 15) LEWZE (FHFE15) 228,000
Debtors, deposits and prepayments FEWERESR « PR e RIENFRIE 59
Creditors, deposits and accruals R - FAKERTERER (2,768)
Current income tax liabilities EHFMEHARE R )
225,212
Acquisition related expenses (included in WBEABR S B GT AT )
administrative expenses) 2,630
Net cash outflow arising from the acquisition: WIESETEEA MRS M FE -
Cash consideration paid BREERE (225,212)
(iii) Acquisition of development right for the land (iii) WeBE 1 opREAE
On 13 June 2017, Urban Renewal Authority (“URA") notified R-ZE—+FEA+=H m&
the Group that URA has accepted the offer submitted by and sER(MER]D MAEEEM
awarded the development right in respect of the development TEREEMNAIESHRE I
site at Fuk Chak Street/Li Tak Street at Tai Kok Tsui, Kowloon BAEXAEERE FEEHE
at a consideration of HK$680,000,000. EEBRLREE REABEK

680,000,000 7T °
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39 NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH
FLOWS (CONTINUED)

(b) Acquisitions and disposals (continued)
(iv) Acquisition of 100% equity interest in Moon Colour Holdings

(v)

Limited (“Moon Colour”)

On 10 August 2017, the Group entered into an agreement
to acquire 100% equity interest in Moon Colour where the
principal asset is the property located at Tai Yip Street,
Kowloon, which is an industrial building at a consideration of
approximately HK$360,000,000. The transaction completed in
August 2017.

39 ZERERERME (F)

(b) WHE R HE ()

(iv)

W% Moon Colour Holdings Limited
(TMoon Colour ) 7 100% &
RZZ—+FNA+AH  KEEF]
ST 7 3% LAY EE Moon Colour#9100%
B # - (B 49 A% % 360,000,000
T RARZEBEERNRNE
REHZYE ZYWERILER
FoRHERZZ—EFNARE
Bk o

PAONES]
—ZT—)\F

HK$'000
BT

Purchase consideration satisfied by: BEREZIAAR -
Cash paid ReTft 360,272
Fair value of net assets acquired: Rl EEFEZ A RE
Property under development (note 25) BERAPYE (MFE25) 357,084
Deferred tax assets (note 38) RERITEA E (KX 38) 2,916
Debtors, deposits and prepayments FEURBRSK - TP iRS RTENFRIB 272
3600
Net cash outflow arising from the acquisition: W EIBEA IR R F5E -
Cash consideration paid BERESRE (360,272)

Acquisition of residential properties at Nos. 292A-D Prince
Edward Road West, Kowloon

On 3 November 2017, the Group submitted the offer to
acquire the residential properties at Nos. 292A-D Prince
Edward Road West, Homantin, Kowloon at a consideration
of HK$333,800,000 through public tender process. The
transaction completed in November 2017.

(v)

W NEERFEREF292A-DRHE
EE

RZZE—tF+—A=H F&H
BRAFBERETFRIZHUWENL
B XX A A FIBPI S 292A-D SRHI(E
EW - KB R/ 333,800,000
T WRSGERZE—tF+—A
TR
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e R BB T

For the year ended 31 March 2019
BE T NF=A=1+—HIFE

39 NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH
FLOWS (CONTINUED)

(b) Acquisitions and disposals (continued)

(vi) Step-up acquisition of Chevalier AOC Freight Express
Holdings Limited (formerly known as “AOC Limited”)
(“AOC") and become a subsidiary
On 13 December 2017, the Group exercised its option
to acquire additional 30% equity interest in AOC at a
consideration of HK$9,450,000. AOC became a 60%
subsidiary of the Company since then.

BREZNFH

Total consideration satisfied by:
Fair value of the previously held equity interest

ZAREN—HEBER

39 GERERERME (F)

WERHE (E)
(vi) BMBBETETHEEERERD
Al EDEE (X)) £EBER
AF]) (TAOC)) MEE — B E L
il
R-ZE—+F+-_A+=0 K&
(5] 77 {5 E B U BB AOC R BB SN 30%
JAE - (B AE1E9,450,0007T ° B
Itk - AOC BB A AlH) — [ 60% Bt
BRA] -

(b)

2018
—T—)\F

HK$'000

BT

AzEREBERN

in an associate at the acquisition date DNRE 9,450
Cash paid Reft 9,450
18,900
Fair value of net assets acquired: FrEFEE 2 ANE -

Property, plant and equipment (note 16) Y%~ RS KR (BT 16) 1,940
Debtors, deposits and prepayments FEUERES - PR e RIENFIE 19,060
Bank balances and cash WITHEF RS 18,186
Creditors, deposits and accruals BRBER - TARERERER (15,924)
Non-controlling interests IR A e (9,305)
13,957
Goodwill (note 17) mE (fEE17) 4,943

Net cash inflow arising from the step-up acquisition: BHNUEEEEHSFIRERA -
Cash consideration paid BESRE (9,450)
Bank balances and cash BITEFRES 18,186
8,736

The non-controlling interest of AOC was determined based on
proportionate of net assets of AOC.

AOC Z F¥E Rk s THIR B FE(S AOC
BEFEZLHEE -
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RER IR T

For the year ended 31 March 2019
BE T NF=HA=1+—HIFE

39 NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH 39 MERERELXMT (F)
FLOWS (CONTINUED)

(b) Acquisitions and disposals (continued) (b) WEBRHE (&)
(vii) Disposal of Chinaford Investment Limited (“Chinaford”) and (vii HEREREERQAGA(RE]) R
Dolce Field Limited (“Dolce Field”) HEERAT(HRD
On 1 June 2017, the Group entered into a framework R_Z—tFA—8 KNEEFT
agreement to dispose of the entire issued share capital in VIEEBZEANERERBE (FE
Chinaford and Dolce Field (investment holding companies REETEHEZEREER AT EE
which hold the entire interest in KEE LRIMEZRERA w2 IREERRE]) 2 2EE BT
7] and assignment of debt at an aggregate cash consideration BRAREREZE  RREREAA
of RMB1,570,000,000 (equivalent to approximately R #1,570,000,000 7T (FAZE R 4778
HK$1,815,000,000). The transaction completed in August #1,815,000,000 7T) ° LtXZZHER
2017. —T—tFN\ATK °
2018
—ZT—)\F
HK$'000
BT
Cash consideration RERE 1,815,109
Less: professional fees and other expenses B BEBAREMTH (44,616)
1,770,493
Net assets disposed of: EHEZEEFE
Assets held-for-sale BELEEE 1,233,787
Liabilities directly associated with assets HIHMEHEEEEREEZB8E
held-for-sale (148,268)
Exchange fluctuation reserve released HE B BRRR 2 INE KT BN R
upon disposal (note 37) (Fg5E37) 65,033
1,150,552
Gain on disposal (note 9) HE& 2 Weas (FFE9) 619,941
Taxation Fi1E (160,196)
Gain on disposal, net HeEZ ks JFEE 459,745
Net cash inflow arising from the disposal: HEFBEELENRESRAFRE
Cash consideration received BYERESRE 1,554,256
Professional fees and other expenses HEEBERARKEMT T (36,427)
1,517,829
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For the year ended 31 March 2019
BE T NF=A=1+—HIFE

39 NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH 39 HERERERMET ()

FLOWS (CONTINUED)
(b) Acquisitions and disposals (continued) (b) WERHE (E)
(viii) Disposal of 40% interest in NC1 Sandhill Limited (“NC1 (viii) tH & 3 % 5 £ 2 4# 2 NC1 Sandhill
Sandhill”) without loss of control Limited (TNC1 Sandhill]) #40%
xR

On 25 September 2017, the Group disposed of 40% interest in R-ZZE—+tFNA-+HB A&
NC1 Sandhill at a consideration of HK$12,000,000. The effect BHENCT Sandhill #940% s -
of change in the ownership interest of NC1 Sandhill on the R & & % #12,000,0007T > NC1
equity attributable to shareholders of the Company during the Sandhill Z B HEE B F AR
year is summarised as follows: NEIRRE R 2 AR T

(ix)

Consideration received from non-controlling EWSFERR i a2 (B
interests 12,000
Less: Net liabilities of 40% interest disposed B BEHE40% s BEFRE 64
Gain on disposal recognised within equity (note 37) MWz AHER L E 2 Was (H3E37) 12,064
The transaction completed in September 2017 and the Group REERZZT—tEFNATKEAR
continues to possess the control over NC1 Sandhill. E@EEFBHNCT Sandhill 212
i o
Disposal of Talent Luck Limited (“Talent Luck”) (ix) HEFERESRAR(HERE])
On 30 August 2017, the Group entered into a framework RZZ—tFNA=1+AH " KEH
agreement to dispose of the entire issued share capital in AUYEEHREEEEEENE
Talent Luck at a cash consideration of HK$610,000,000. The HenmhkEy RERERBEK
transaction completed in October 2017. 610,000,000 ° IR ZHERZE
—+F+AFEK -
2018
—N\F
HK$'000
FE¥EFIT
Cash consideration ReERE 610,022
Less: Professional fees and other expenses W BEEBERAREME N (1,517)
____ 608505
Less: Net assets disposed of: B EHEZEEFE:
Property, plant and equipment (note 16) Y% - BB KR (FisE16) 605,360
Debtors, deposits and prepayments EUERES - TR e RIENFIE 97
Bank balances and cash WITHETFERES 6
Creditors, deposits and accruals R - FAKREREREA (81)
Deferred tax liabilities (note 38) BRIERHIE A F (5 38) (89,804)
515,578
Gain on disposal (note 9) HE 2 e (FEE9) 92,927
Net cash inflow arising from the disposal: HESHEEANRSRAFE
Cash consideration received BHHEERE 610,022
Professional fees and other expenses BEERREMT (1,517)
Bank balances and cash WITEF RS (6)
608,499
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RER IR T

For the year ended 31 March 2019
P E - NF=A=1+—HIFE

39 NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH 39 MERERELXMT (F)
FLOWS (CONTINUED)

(¢) Reconciliation of liabilities/(assets) arising from financing (c) BMEZBFELERE (BE) ZHE

activities

Bank and other Pledged bank

borrowings deposits

SRITR 2HEH

HiE™R RITER

HK$'000 HK$°000

BT T BT T
At 1 April 2018 RZZE—\FHA—AH 3,376,502 (54,363)
Cash flows BEME 363,961 (550)
Exchange realignment [E 5 A% (8,506) -
Others HAh 8,253 -
At 31 March 2019 RZZE—NF=A=+—8H 3,740,210 (54,913)
At 1 April 2017 Wo_ZE—tFHA—H 2,790,439 (405,867)
Cash flows Ren:E 548,707 351,504
Exchange realignment (ERRIEE 34,397 -
Others Hih 2,959 -
At 31 March 2018 RZE—-N\F=A=+—H 3,376,502 (54,363)
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HE BB

For the year ended 31 March 2019
BE T NF=A=1+—HIFE

40 IMPAIRMENT TESTING OF GOODWILL AND OTHER 40 BERAMBELEE 2RENR
INTANGIBLE ASSETS

For the purpose of impairment testing, goodwill acquired in business BETHRENR  REBEHBACZEE
combinations, lease-in-place and others are allocated, at acquisition, to R HE R EM TR KRS B 2 T8 A4
the CGUs that are expected to benefit from such intangible assets. The ZENEEFIBEZRESELEM - RZF
respective carrying amounts as at 31 March 2019 and 2018 had been —hWFErR-E—N\FE=ZA=+—H 882
allocated as follows: FREEEEDRIT -
Goodwill Lease-in-place
mE RIFHE
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BT T BT BT
Cost 2%
Construction and engineering B R TR
— roads, drainage and waterworks —EK - BB RKBIE - - 26,534
Property development and operations M3 248 K &8
- cold storage and public bonded —REEERABRBIE
warehouse (note a) (FffzEa) 66,027 = 3,000
Senior housing (note b) Tk a (MitEb) 612,330 85,829 =
Insurance and investment R RIEE - - 4,235
Others HAh 7,242 - 11,505
685,599 85,829 45,274
Accumulated amortisation/ E-GE: £
impairment loss RIEEE
Construction and engineering SRER K MR T A2
— roads, drainage and waterworks —EK - REROKE IR - - (26,534)
Property development and operations ¥ %5 R & &8
— cold storage and public bonded —RERERAZRBAE
warehouse (note a) (ffzEa) (1,461) = (3,000)
Senior housing (note b) b (HisEb) - (31,963) -
Insurance and investment R RIEE - - (4,126)
Others HAh - - (1,959)
(1,461) (31,963) (35,619)
Net book value at R-Z—-hE=A=+—H
31 March 2019 ZREFE 684,138 53,866 9,655
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For the year ended 31 March 2019
BE T NF=HA=1+—HIFE

40 IMPAIRMENT TESTING OF GOODWILL AND OTHER
INTANGIBLE ASSETS (CONTINUED)

40 HERHMELEE ZRENR (&)

Goodwill Lease-in-place Others
S REHE Efih
HK$'000 HK$’'000 HK$’'000
BT T BT T BT T
Cost 2%
Construction and engineering B TR
— roads, drainage and waterworks —EK - BB RKEIE - - 26,534
Property development and operations )32 E & &E
— cold storage and public bonded —REEERABREE
warehouse (note a) GEE)) 66,027 - 3,000
Senior housing (note b) ZEhE (H5b) 612,330 34,805 -
Insurance and investment R RIEE - - 4,660
Others Efth 4,943 - 11,453
683,300 34,805 45,647
Accumulated amortisation/ E-GE: 5o
impairment loss RIEEE
Construction and engineering RER R MR T A2
— roads, drainage and waterworks — 8 B RKETRE - - (26,534)
Property development and operations #)5 %5 R & &8
— cold storage and public bonded —RERERAZRREE
warehouse (note a) (Mf7Ea) (1,461) - (3,000)
Senior housing (note b) b & (HisEb) - (13,056) -
Insurance and investment R RIEE - - (4,595)
Others HAith - - (1,915)
(1,461) (13,056) (36,044)
Net book value at R-Z—NE=A=+—H
31 March 2018 ZREFE 681,839 21,749 9,603

AEBESFHAHBERTHIVNE =X
ERREDSE  EATETAR

The Group tests goodwill annually for impairment, or more frequently if
there are indications that they might be impaired.

REEB P H & E A LR G AT AL R EDT
FEETRERR -

The Group tests other intangible assets for impairment whenever there
is an indication that they might be impaired.

Determining whether goodwill and other intangible assets are impaired
require estimations of the higher of the value in use or fair value less
cost to sell. Both approaches require the entity to estimate the future
cash flows expected to arise from CGUs and suitable discount rates in
order to calculate present value.

ErEmEhEBELEES A RERBE
RAREEIAAEIRBEER A ZREE
i Mz mERT B - ZhEFBEFZR
SEABUELZARRRSREREEWR
Ko PEEHRE-
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HREHBEEME
For the year ended 31 March 2019
BE =T NF=A=1+—HIFE

40 IMPAIRMENT TESTING OF GOODWILL AND OTHER
INTANGIBLE ASSETS (CONTINUED)

(a)

(b)

Cold storage and public bonded warehouse business

Changes in selling prices and direct costs are based on past
practices and expectations of future changes in the market.
Management determined budgeted growth rates and gross
margins based on past performance and market expectation. The
discount rates reflect specific risks relating to the relevant CGUs.

Goodwill, after impairment, of HK$64,566,000 (2018:
HK$64,566,000) is allocated to the Group's cold storage and public
bonded warehouse business. The estimated recoverable amount
is determined based on value-in-use approach. The calculation
uses post-tax cash flow projections based on financial budgets
approved by management covering a one-year period. Cash flows
beyond the period are extrapolated using a 3% (2018: 3%) growth
rate per annum and a 9% (2018: 9%) discount rate per annum.

Senior housing business

The key assumptions require the entity to estimate the discount
rates and net operating income. Management estimates appropriate
discount rates that reflect current market assessments of the time
value of money and the risks specific to the CGUs.

Goodwill, after impairment, of HK$612,330,000 (2018:
HK$612,330,000) and lease-in-place, after amortisation, of
HK$53,866,000 (2018: HK$21,749,000) are allocated to the
Group’s senior housing business. The estimated recoverable
amounts are determined based on value-in-use approach. The
calculation uses pre-tax cash flow projections based on financial
budgets approved by management covering three to four-year
period. Cash flows beyond the period are extrapolated using a 3%-
4% (2018: 3%) growth rate per annum and a 10.0%-10.5% (2018:
10.5%) discount rate per annum.

The senior housing business operate in a heavily regulated
environment which are subject to numerous laws and regulations
of federal, state, and local government. These laws and regulations
relate to, among other things, such as government healthcare
program participation requirements, regulations regarding
reimbursement for patient services and related billing, fraud and
abuse. Violation of certain laws and regulations could result in the
expulsion from government healthcare program. Management was
not aware of any actions or potential actions as at 31 March 2019.

40 BHERHEMELEE ZRENR(E)

(a)

(b)

REEERRIBRBUAES
EEMERRAZECRBBEBL K
HHIsRKREE 2 RHME  ERER
BREXRB LT SRNEEREERE
REMNE - BRERRREBHRESESE
BAMERZFERR

SR EEE Y 64,566,000 7L ( —Z— )\
i BM64,566,000 7T) 5 AL 2 AN E E
ZRBRBERABRBMAEER o hatal
WEl&EIYRERTREEELETE - BH
AEFERRBEEREMZ Y —FHB
TBEBBRESRETEN - BRHR
Z2HEEREBEBFI% (ZE—NF:
3%)MEERI% (ZFE—)\F : 9%) 8L
BERHEH o

ZERE RS
TERRBELEMGHURERLFZE
WA - EEER-TERRBEAMTSEHE
BeRHEEERRSELBMEFRAR
ZEERRE -

B R REE 612,330,000 T( —F—
J\SE @ % 612,330,0007T) M #5128
FHEH 53,866,000 T(—T—/\F :
7B #521,749,000 T ) A B EANEE 2
ZEREE o At A RSB IEE
AHEELET FETEFERARES
BEMZ ZENFHRUEBE 2B
AR e RETEN - BBHRZESRE
BIBEF3INE4% (ZT—N\F :3%)
BREE10.0% £10.5% (—ZZ— \F :
10.5%) B3R FRHH -

ZEREEBRNBERZRENEHR
S BEREBRZEERD MR
BFHDER AR » MEDERIER S
R (H e B1F) B R IEE IR 82850
E - BERBERBIBERE - KF

BERERY o B RETIRE KRG
BERR TR IEEIR AT B - BIRER
TE-NF=Z A=+ HUEMEER
THREETH -
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RERI BRI T

For the year ended 31 March 2019
BE T NF=HA=1+—HIFE

41 BENEFITS AND INTERESTS OF DIRECTORS AND
EMPLOYEES

(a) Directors’ emoluments
Emoluments paid and payable to the Directors are as follows:

41 ELEREEZFEANRER

(a) EBME
BN RENEEMESNT

Directors’

fee

Retirement
scheme
contribution

RIRETEIZ

Salaries
and other

benefits Total

HER

EEMe HAthiEF ; B
HK$°000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BETT BETT BT BT T
2019 —ZE-hEF
Executive Directors BITES
Kuok Hoi Sang e
(Chairman and Managing (XFEHRES
Director) fage) - 15,600 720 16,320
Tam Kwok Wing BRI
(Deputy Managing Director) (BlEEBLIE) - 12,200 503 12,703
Ho Chung Leung A SRR - 3,800 240 4,040
Ma Chi Wing HEL - 7,000 330 7,330
Lily Chow IEESE] - 2,100 157 2,257
Non-Executive Directors FHITES
Yang Chuen Liang, Charles® HiEnt 350 - - 350
Poon Chung Kwong' ERA 305 - - 305
Irons Sze* it Y 300 - = 300
Chow Vee Tsung, Oscar JEHEE 350 - - 350
Ko Chan Gock, William S 100 - = 100
Sun Leland Li Hsun** BB 28 - - 28
Chow Ming Kuen, Joseph*™* JERRME 350 - - 350
1,783 40,700 1,950 44,433

Directors’

fee

Retirement
scheme
contribution

REIEIES
and other
benefits

RIRETEIZ

E= HAbig
HK$'000 HK$'000
BT BT T
2018 —E-N\E
Executive Directors BITES
Chow Yei Ching JE TR
(former Co-Chairman)™* (BBt E) ™ - - - _
Kuok Hoi Sang e
(Chairman and Managing (FERES
Director) Hacss ) - 14,300 698 14,998
Tam Kwok Wing EEES
(Deputy Managing Director) (BlEEBLELE) - 11,800 488 12,288
Ho Chung Leung BERES - 3,600 232 3,832
Ma Chi Wing Eahs - 6,500 300 6.800
Lily Chow JAFIH - 2,000 150 2,150
Non-Executive Directors FHITES
Chow Ming Kuen, Joseph* JEI R HE 350 - - 350
Yang Chuen Liang, Charles* HiEz 350 - - 350
Poon Chung Kwong* FERAE 300 - - 300
Irons Sze* it e 250 - - 250
Chow Vee Tsung, Oscar JB#EIE 300 - - 300
Ko Chan Gock, William SEE 100 - - 100
1,650 38,200 1,868 41,718

# Independent Non-Executive Director

Appointed as an Independent Non-Executive Director of the Company on

26 February 2019
Deceased on 13 October 2018

Retired as Co-Chairman and Executive Director on 30 August 2017

BN IERITES

: R-TB—-hE-_A-+AEZEAK
NEIZ M IERITES
RZZE—N\F+AT=BFH
R-B—+tE N A=+ BEEBFETE
R$iTES
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For the year ended 31 March 2019
BE T NF=A=1+—HIFE

41 BENEFITS AND INTERESTS OF DIRECTORS AND 41 EERES BN RER (F)
EMPLOYEES (CONTINUED)

(b) Employees’ emoluments (b) EEME

The five highest paid individuals include three (2018: three)
Directors, details of whose emoluments are set out above. The total
emoluments paid to the remaining two (2018: two) highest paid
individuals are as follows:

Salaries, allowances and benefits in kind e o EBL R HE MR
Performance-based bonus BRI Z LA
Contributions to retirement scheme BIRETEIZ R

The emoluments of the remaining two (2018: two) highest paid
individuals fall within the following bands.

HK$4,000,001 - HK$4,500,000
HK$4,500,001 - HK$5,000,000
HK$7,000,001 - HK$7,500,000

The above emoluments paid and payable to Directors and
employees also represent only benefits paid to the Group’s key
management during the years ended 31 March 2019 and 2018.

Directors’ material interests in transactions, arrangements or
contracts

No transaction, arrangement or contract of significance in relation
to the Group's business to which the Company or its subsidiaries
was a party or were parties and in which a Director of the Company
or any entities connected with a Director had a material interest,
whether directly or indirectly, subsisted at the end of the year or at
any time during the year.

5 4,000,001 7T — 75 4,500,000 7T
7515 4,500,001 JT — 5% 5,000,000 7T
717,000,001 7T — &% 7,500,000 7T

REGERFMALEE=2("F—N\
FZRESR REZHeFBCEHT
Wt INTFEGME(CT—\F W
R)REHFMALZ BFMWR

HK$'000

BT

7,066 6,888
2,273 5,002
18 34
9,357 11,924

HBpME(ZE—N\F : MB) R HH
ZATARE RS A TIER

2018

—ZT—)\F

FmEERES D REMZBE IR
FREZEZ—E—NEFrk-_FE—N\F=7
=t HALFERNRAEEETEERE
S ZE—EF -

ESENRS  REREHPZEAER

AR ESRE KB A R R LA A
BEXFRERARBDAGFE - MEAR
AERRIAHEZEFTAMENETER
BETEZARAEREEARSAGHAAN
SEEBNERRS - 2HHAH -
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For the year ended 31 March 2019
BE T NF=HA=1+—HIFE

42 CONTINGENT LIABILITIES 42 HREE
The Group had contingent liabilities in respect of guarantees issued for REBACEBRABRMEL ZER 2K
utilised borrowings in relation to: RBER:
2018
—Z—)\F
HK$'000
PE¥EFIT
Banking facilities granted to associates RYBERRZRITEE 1,398 3,008
Banking facilities granted to a joint venture BT —HEaEt¥2RTEE - 318,645
Guarantees given to banks and housing retirement %A FIRTRERABEESHOMRE T
fund management centres for mortgage facilities ETMEER ZIRBEEMER
granted to certain buyers of properties 521,960 545,738
523,358 867,391
The Group's share of contingent liabilities of its joint ventures was as REBEEALMESARBEN
follows: T
2019 2018
ZE-NF —E-N\F
HK$°000 HK$'000
BETT PEEEF T
Guarantees given to banks for mortgage facilities HTRITERTEEREIYEN
granted to certain buyers of the joint ventures’ ETERZEBEENER
properties 287 2,739
43 COMMITMENT 43 EiE
The Group had commitment as follows: ARSRE 2 AT

2019
—E-NF

HK$°000
BETT

Contracted but not provided for in the consolidated ~ #t N3 B 2551 A HVERELS

financial statements in respect of WIS mRAFHR 2 AR
— property development projects R EL 342,284 733,446
— acquisition of property, plant and equipment —EAME - WEREE 1,083 5,773
343,367 739,219
The Group's share of commitment of its joint ventures was as follows: REBAEEALDE ZREDNT ¢

Contracted but not provided for BELBRER 8,699 12,381
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For the year ended 31 March 2019
BE T NF=A=1+—HIFE

44

45

OPERATING LEASES 44 EEHE

The Group as lessee AEEERFBAA

The Group had commitments for future minimum lease payments under AEBBEFHERBEIURBEzEERE
non-cancellable operating leases in respect of renting of premises which MARRRE N 2 REBERE - BAER
fall due as follows: BT

Within one year —FR 15,994 12,748
In the second to fifth year inclusive F_ERAFA(BREEERT) 48,331 29,304
Over five years AFLAE 40,380 29,498
104,705 71,550
The Group as lessor AEBESHBA
As at 31 March 2019, investment properties and properties for sale R-E—NE=F=+—H0 UZLEHRESS
with carrying values of HK$3,064,680,000 and HK$36,855,000 (2018: AR EYERGEYEIETES A
HK$3,174,547,000 and HK$41,044,000) respectively were rented out 5 3 064,680,000 7T, & % % 36,855,000 7T
under operating leases. These properties have committed tenants —T— \4E : PH63.174,547,000 I & i #E
within the next five years. The future minimum lease payments 41,044,000 70) ° IS %R AN F R
receivable by the Group under non-cancellable operating leases for each RERNHR - NEBR TH LRI E R AT
of the following periods is as follows: Bl S ERETNARER Y SEAES
REOOT -
2019 PAONES]
—E-hF —T—N\F
HK$°000 HK$'000
BT 5 BHF
Within one year —FR 156,336 101,633
In the second to fifth year inclusive E_ZRFAN(RIEEEMF) 337,276 25,979
Over five years BBRAF 53,641 39,185
547,253 166,797
RETIREMENT BENEFITS 45 EHREF
The Group has established various retirement benefit schemes for the ASERERERGIMER ZBHRLZ TR
benefit of its staff in Hong Kong and overseas. RIEFIEHE] o
In Hong Kong, the Group participates in both defined contribution REE $§@ﬁ%ﬁﬁ<ﬂ%¥ﬁ%§j¥”1‘%ﬂ>
schemes which are registered under the Occupational Retirement Sz O ARG E (ﬁfﬁﬁ%%ﬁﬁ(aﬂéﬂj‘) )53
Schemes Ordinance (the “ORSO Schemes”) and Mandatory Provident R=_ZERE+ - AR(AMIER RSB
Fund Schemes (the “MPF Schemes") established under the Mandatory 1‘%1§|J>>#i%§§ il '|¢Q%ﬁﬁt§” (M&fE e st
Provident Fund Schemes Ordinance in December 2000. The assets g- Ez%ﬁ+§UZ§EE$1EﬁAi§%|JZ§
of the schemes are held separately from those of the Group and in ﬁffﬁ CEAEEEESFEE c BBER
funds under the control of trustees. The ORSO Schemes are funded RatE "@E\t&$%‘@ﬂ %1@55%?25%
by monthly contributions from both employees and the Group at rates E7.5% R HE ﬁ?EEm@%@Zﬁi
ranging from 5% to 7.5% of the employee's basic salary, depending BWE ° Zl»‘%ﬁ%‘ﬁ%ﬁﬁ%ﬂ\z&ﬁ ¥R
on the length of service with the Group. For members of the MPF BRBBAARZO%HE(HE—T—NF
Schemes, the Group contributes 5% of the relevant payroll costs per 5)5]*\:+*E‘IJJ:$J'§TWH %%%}%MLSOO
employee, at a maximum of HK$1,5600 per month during the year ended JO) ptoRTERFT BIEH SR BN -

31 March 2019, to the mandatory contribution of the MPF Schemes.
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45 RETIREMENT BENEFITS (CONTINUED)

45 RHKEF ()

46

The Group also participates in the employee pension schemes in
countries or locations where the Group operates. The Group is required
to make defined contributions at rates calculated as a certain percentage
or sum of the monthly payroll.

Where there are employees who leave the ORSO Schemes prior to
vesting fully in the contributions, the contributions payable by the
Group are reduced by the amount of forfeited contributions. As at 31
March 2019 and 2018, there were no forfeited contributions, which
arose upon employees leaving the ORSO Schemes and which would
be available to reduce the contributions payable in future years. No
forfeited contributions utilised in this manner during the year ended
31 March 2019 (2018: HK$nil). As at 31 March 2019, contributions of
HK$3,154,000 (2018: HK$3,088,000) due in respect of the reporting
period were paid over to various schemes in April 2019.

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

Details of the material transactions entered into during the year with
related parties are as follows:

Contract income from a joint venture
Contract fee to an associate
Management fee income from an associate (note 8)

Management fee income from joint ventures (note 8)
Maintenance fee to an associate

Management fee to an associate

Building management fee income from an associate

Rental income from an associate

Rental expenses to an associate

Sales and marketing services income from an
associate (note 8)

Secondment fee income from an associate

Interest income from a joint venture

Insurance premium from associates

46

AEET2ERERLCEEE 2 BRSIBE
ZRERAREE - REEBRIAEHZHH
ZETADLSRBEBFEZ SRIEFEMRRK -

fis 2 B P 51 2 B 57 B A IR ) B 2R IR 5T
B B R UL SR AT 1E B AN 5 B R FE A
R - RZE-—NFRZTE—NF=A
=t+—B  TEEESRHEERKRTEIT
RERFIR AR 2 B8R - BEZ
Z-AEZA=+t—HLEFERLENALFE
RBAZERRER(ZZ—N\F: BEZ
L) e RZE—AE=A=1+—08  ®BEH
FIEfT 2 ST BB 3,154,000 T (=
— \4E : B#3,088,0007T) BN - E—HE
mASf -

BREALZXS
RENEEMEAL 2 EEXFRBMT -

2019
—g-nE

PAONES]
—T-N\F
HK$’'000
BT T

HK$°000
BETT

RE—EEETEZELRA 153,330 30,912
BT —EBERRIZENER (7,473) (3,606)
RE A AR 2 EEBIA

(Mf5E8) 19,800 19,800
REEETEZEEBRA (HFES) 3,136 2,864
BT —HEBE QR ZREEA (4,133) (5,981)
BT —HEBERRZEEER (347) (347)
RE—MBE AR ZETERE

LON 705 1,032
RE—MEE Q2B RA 20,793 19,052
R 1) vl —l/N=] I 12 et (147) (150)
RE—MBAARZHER

TS HEERBGUA (KizE8) 31,901 29,906
ke — SRR ZEARIRA 1,577 1,444
RE—MEATEZFISWA 13,055 -
REBE QR ZIRBE 8,254 8,929
RE—HEECEZRBRE 2,456 1,554

Insurance premium from a joint venture

The above transactions were entered at terms mutually agreed between
all parties involved.

The emoluments of the Directors, who are also considered to be key
management of the Group, during the year is set out in note 41 to the
consolidated financial statements.

b3z 5 ThiR A A B T KRREE 2 1R5K

5T

RNEREE(RETPRANEETREEE
KB 2 FME R A I RA M4 -
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47 ASSETS HELD-FOR-SALE/LIABILITIES DIRECTLY

ASSOCIATED WITH ASSETS HELD-FOR-SALE

In December 2018, the Group entered into a sale and purchase
agreement with an independent third party to dispose of the Group's
entire interest in Moon Colour and its wholly owned subsidiaries
(together, “Moon Colour group”, the group engaged in the property
development project located at Tai Yip Street, Kwun Tong), at a
consideration of HK$540 million as disclosed in note 48(a).

In March 2019, the Group entered into an option agreement with an
independent third party. Under the option agreement, the counterparty
has right to acquire New Rise Properties Limited (“New Rise”, a wholly
owned subsidiary of the Group which holds the interest in the property
situated at the Ground Floor of Block A and the Ground Floor of Block B,
East Sun Industrial Centre together with Car Park Space Nos. 23 and 24,
Ground Floor, East Sun Industrial Centre, Kwun Tong), at a consideration
of HK$187 million as disclosed in note 48(b).

As a result of these transactions, the assets and liabilities of Moon
Colour group and New Rise were reclassified as assets and liabilities
held-for-sale respectively as at 31 March 2019.

47 HEHEEE ERFLEEEER

HEz&E

R-B-NE+-F AEEE—-ZBIF
ZHAN—HEERHE WEEAEER
Moon Colour X &&= &ME 2 7] (458 [Moon
Colour &£E ] - Bl RN EEREENY
¥RREB2EE) 22 - REASE
5.40 87T  FFIEN M 48(a) K EE o

RZT—NF=R AEEE-—FHILE=
RN — 1 BT - IRIRZ AR - o
FERBBEFASERRAR(FA] &A%
Er—Ha2EHBAR  HEauREER
ST ERLARM T RB it N EER
TBAETEPROMTE23 K24 SiEEL 21
) - RIBABEE1.878IT - FHIEHKIFE48(b)
WEE -

R FiltZx 5 - Moon Colour (2B M#FTH2
BAENBESIR=_ZE—NF=ZRA=+—H
BNOEARBELEZEEREE -

2019
—E-hE
HK$'000
BT
Assets BE

Investment properties (note 15) A (71 15) 146,000
Properties under development (note 25) BERERAPYE (MFE25) 367,498
Deferred tax assets (note 38) IRIEFR IR & B (F17E38) 3,028
Debtors, deposits and prepayments FEUWERSR - TR RTEN R 23
Assets of subsidiaries reclassified as held-for-sale B EARELEZWNBRARIZEE 516,549

Liabilities of subsidiaries reclassified as held-for-sale BEFOBARIELEZNBARIZAEE
Creditors, deposits and accruals AR - FAKSREREAR (34)
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48 EVENTS AFTER THE END OF THE REPORTING PERIOD

(a)

(b)

(c)

Disposal of the entire equity interest in a property development
project located at Tai Yip Street, Kwun Tong

In December 2018, the Group entered into a sale and purchase
agreement with an independent third party to dispose of the
Group's entire interest in Moon Colour group at a consideration of
HK$540 million. The transaction completed in April 2019, resulting
in a gain on disposal of approximately HK$165 million (net of
transaction costs) recognised in the consolidated income statement
for the year ending 31 March 2020.

Disposal of the entire equity interest in a property located at
Kwun Tong

In March 2019, the Group entered into an option agreement with
an independent third party. Under the option agreement, the
counterparty has right to acquire New Rise. In June 2019, the
counterparty has exercised the option to acquire New Rise at a
consideration of HK$187 million. The transaction completed in the
same month, resulting in a gain on disposal of approximately HK$39
million (net of transaction costs) recognised in the consolidated
income statement for the year ending 31 March 2020.

Disposal of the entire equity interest in a property located at
Davis Street, Hong Kong

In June 2019, the Group entered into a provisional agreement with
an independent third party to dispose of the Group's entire interest
in Jumbo Rainbow Limited and its subsidiary at a consideration of
HK$280 million. The transaction will be taken place on or before
31 October 2019 subject to the due diligence investigation by the
purchaser. Upon completion, the gain on disposal of approximately
HK$71 million (net of transaction costs) will be recognised in the
consolidated income statement for the year ending 31 March 2020.

48 HERRKEE

(a)

(b)

(c)

HE-BURBEREHNYERESE
B2 IR

RIB—NF+-F AEEE—ZF
NEZREN—HEEWE  URES
#&5.4018 7T 1 & A& E 5 5 Moon Colour
SENEEBRE - RFHERZZZE—N
FUARK  BREHE—_ZT_TF=A
—+—HLEFEZHEAREXRERLE
U ZE 497888 1 .65 BT IR S A) °

HE BV RBRENENZIRRE

RZZE—NF=F AArE—BEL
FE-RRIMN— RS - BIEZE
B BHAERRENFA - RZF
—NEFERA BHETEHEURES
¥ 87RITKEHA - RBERAAR
BB E_E-_TF=A=+—H
IEFEZEERERBEROE RSB
3,900 87T (B ZEA) -

HE-—BUREBRERLTHNYENS
R E

RZZ—NERA AEBHE—FE
NEZ AR DB E S ARE
BH280B T EAEEF A Jumbo
Rainbow Limited X EKIB A B2
B THTER_E—hEFE+A=+—
Bk 2 AT HACEHETERA
& o RTERKTE - HERESHAEE7,1008
T(HBRZZEA) BRBE_S_FF
AT+ BLHEFEZHEAWRESRARE

N
27
e ©
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MOVEMENT OF THE COMPANY

Company statement of financial position
As at 31 March 2019

49 STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION AND RESERVES 49 RARMBRARFESE K

PAONES]
—FT-N\F

HK$'000 HK$'000
BT BETT

Non-current assets REBEE
Interests in subsidiaries )= ey 2,774,489 2,832,954
Interests in associates i dl/N o =t 89,594 89,594
Other intangible assets Hib\mpEE 599 599
Investments at fair value through profit or loss BARBIANEREIEZIEE 54,134 -
Investments at amortised cost BB AT R 2 18 30,851 -
Available-for-sale investments AEREZRE - 50,638
2,949,667 2,973,785
Current assets REBEE
Amounts due from subsidiaries FEUSHI B 2 RIBR K 5,030,293 4,464,166
Amounts due from associates FEUHS: & R RIBR SR 17,685 18,5675
Investments at fair value through profit or loss BARBEIABREE 2IEE 7,858 45,452
Investments at amortised cost RESER NS BR 2 188 3,970 -
Debtors, deposits and prepayments FEUER - PR e RIENRIE 2,627 12,159
Bank balances and cash RITHEGFRBRS 375,927 484,746
5,438,360 5,025,098
Current liabilities REaE
Amounts due to subsidiaries FEFBT B A RIBRER 4,166,759 3,677,432
Derivative financial instruments PTERBITA - 171
Creditors, deposits and accruals AR - FAKSRERER 9,793 9,591
Bank borrowings AT - 248,368
4,176,552 3,935,562
Net current assets REBEETFE 1,261,808 1,089,536
Total assets less current liabilities HEERRBARS 4,211,475 4,063,321
Capital and reserves BARFEE
Share capital (E&N 377,411 377,411
Reserves (note a) & (Mata) 2,246,064 2,239,173
Total equity RS 2,623,475 2,616,584
Non-current liability FEREBAE
Bank borrowings RITIE 1,588,000 1,446,737
Total equity and non-current liability BERRFRBEE 4,211,475 4,063,321
Approved by the Board of Directors on 26 June 2019 and signed on its KEFER _T—AFNA-TBiE

behalf by:

KUOK Hoi Sang
A
Director

EE

WA TFIEEFRRESE

HO Chung Leung
R
Director

EBEZE
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49 STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION AND RESERVES
MOVEMENT OF THE COMPANY (CONTINUED)

Notes:

(a)

Reserves movement of the Company

At 1 April 2018, RZZ-N\F
as previously reported mA—H -
LAIZH
Impact of change in accounting SHBEE
policy (Note c) FE (i)
Restated at 1 April 2018 RZZ—N\F
mA—A
&7
Profit for the year FERT
Fair value adjustments on the EEARETE
derivative financial instruments HRITER
designated as cash flow hedge TARNDRE
Total comprehensive (expenses)/  FEZ2E (XH)/
income for the year et
Dividends paid BEARE
At 31 March 2019 RZZ-NF
=A=+-H
At 1 April 2017 RZZ—+F
mA—A
Profit for the year FERT
Change in fair value of AENEZRE
available-for-sale investments AR EEE

Impairment loss on available-for-sale ATt HE 7 RE
investments transferred to income  AJJHERE

statement BRZKGE
Fair value adjustments on the EEARERE
derivative financial instruments HAROTEN S
designated as cash flow hedge TARNDRE
Total comprehensive (expenses)/  FEZ2E ()
income for the year st
Dividends paid BRRE
At 31 March 2018 RZZ—-N\F
=A=+-H

HK§000
BETT

Contributed

Capital
redemption

HK$'000
BETT

49 ARFMBRARREZBR (R)

i

(&) ARTRHERS

Investment
revaluation
reserve
HffGEE
HK$'000
BRI

Hedging

reserve
Epad
HK$'000
BT

Retained

HK$'000

HK$'OO(5
BRTT

704,087 95,413 8,799 29,665 3 1,401,206 2,239,173
- - - (29,665) - 29,665 -
704,087 95,413 8,799 - 3 1,430,871 2,239,173
- - - - - 127,665 127,665
- - - - @ -
= = = = (3) 127,665 127,662
- - - - - (120,771) (120,771)
704,087 95,413 8,799 - - 1,437,765 2,246,064
704,087 95,413 8,799 30,468 (1,544) 1,212,360 2,049,583
- - - - - 762,510 762,510
- - - (4,180) - - (4,180)
- - - 3,377 - - 3,377
_ i, . . 1547 - 1,547
- - - (803) 1,547 762,510 763,254
- - - - - (573,664) (573,664)
704,087 95,413 8,799 29,665 3 1,401,206 2,239,173
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49 STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION AND RESERVES 49 KAFHBRRAREESER (F)
MOVEMENT OF THE COMPANY (CONTINUED)

Notes: (continued) BE - ()

(b)  Contributed surplus represents the difference between the value of net (b) BABBIIREAMBENB AR 2 EEFER
assets of subsidiaries acquired and the nominal amount of the Company’s WEERS FTEE T A R RIS 2 EEM 2 25 - 1R
shares issued for their acquisition. Under the Companies Act of 1981 BERE(—NN\—FRQRNE) » ARRZHA
of Bermuda, the contributed surplus of the Company is available for BT AR AR o
distribution to shareholders.

(c) The Company's fund investments with carrying value of HK$50,638,000 () ARBRZZT—/\FHRA-—HNESKRERT
as at 1 April 2018, previously accounted for as available-for-sale B /A5 50,638,000 LA ATIZ AT ERE A
investments, were reclassified to investments at fair value through profit ik BEMHEARARBIIABREZRE -
or loss. The corresponding accumulated fair value gains of HK$29,665,000 TREM 25T A /o BB 29,665,000 TTH =
as at 1 April 2018 were transferred from investment revaluation reserve to T-N\FUNA-—BHEEEFHREERERE
retained profits. Al e

50 PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES 50 FEMBEAF
Percentage of
Issued and issued share
Place or country paid up capital/registered
of incorporation or share capital/ Effective percentage of issued capital held by
registration/ Class of registered Number of  share capital/registered capital non-controlling
Name of company operation shares held capital shares held by the Company interests  Principal activities
I TR FEREGHE
RIZR/ BRfTRER R/ GfRAL BRfiR%/
NG EESETTEES FiRHEH A/ A Rf%A BEREA HREAZEAL FEEE
Directly ~ Indirectly
E# B
% %
Almax Company Limited Hong Kong Ordinary HK$20,000 20,000 - 100 - Property development
Bk il 8200007 UELES
Ample Trade Limited Hong Kong Ordinary HKS1 1 - 100 - Property development
ZERRAT % i BT ELHE
Changchun New Star Universe Mainland China NA RMB675,000,000 NA - 9 4 Property development
Sheng Chi Real Estate hER &R ARE675,0000007C TER VIEES

Development Co,, Ltd. note a)

RERETZURAERIARAL

27 (ita)
Chevalier (Aluminium Engineering) ~ Hong Kong Ordinary HKS? 2 - 100 - Supply and installation of
Hong Kong Limited B il eI aluminium windows and
Hr(RIR)ERERAA curtain walls
HERREEEREE
Chevalier (Aluminium Engineering) ~ Hong Kong Ordinary HKS100 100 - 100 - Supply and installation of
Limited [note bl Bt L4 BEI00T aluminium windows and
= § 0 AZ \ﬁ‘ :
Hr(BRIR)ERAF (i) Defered s ) ) o ) #%ggggélgﬁ e
Eit BT e
Chevalier Automobiles Inc. Canada Common CAD101 200 - 100 - Sale and senvicing of
nex il 101 MEAT automobiles
EHEREERE
Chevalier (Building Supplies & Hong Kong Ordinary HK$20,000,100 20,000,100 - 100 - Supply and installation of
Engneeringl Limited (note b) &% i 200001007 bulding materials
b=t 0 A ([HE el W
AT (RITTR)ERAR (W) Defered M ) ) 0 | REREREENH
i Ly
Chevalier Cali Holding (Cal) Inc. Us Common US84,012,000 4,012,000 - 100 - Grocery trading
£ il 40120007 BHES
Chevalier (Chengdu) Investment ~ Mainland China N/A RMB250,000,000 N/A - 100 - Investment holding and
Menagement Limited (note ¢) ~~ REIHg TER AR 250,000,007 TER provision of management
Hr (A8 REERERLA senie
(Bske) REBRRRHERRS

HI-EBEERRLF | F% 2019 199



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RER IR T

For the year ended 31 March 2019
BE T NF=HA=1+—HIFE

50 PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES (CONTINUED) 50 FEMEAR (E)
Percentage of
Issued and issued share
Place or country paid up capital/registered
of incorporation or share capital/ Effective percentage of issued capital held by
registration/ Class of registered Number of  share capital/registered capital non-controlling
Name of company operation shares held capital shares held by the Company interests  Principal activities
ADTREERN FERRRRE
N BRRMR R/ GfRAZ BRRA
DeER g ;i FiisR&EH R/ Rf&A EREAY HfREzES TEEE
Directly Indirectly
BR [
% %
Chevalier Chrysler Inc. Canada Common CAD101 200 - 100 - Sale and servicing of
nex i 01084 automobiles
FEHE R GRS
Chevalier Cold Storage and Logistics  Hong Kong Ordinary HKS2 2 - T 25 Operation of a cold storage
Limited 5 i iy warehouse and logistic
HtREMTARAR businss
EERBEERITER
Chevalier (Construction] Company Hong Kong Ordinary HK$60,500,000 60,500,000 - 99,67 0.33 Building construction and
Limited &% i 7605000007 maintenance
At (BE)ERAT BFRERRE
Chevalier Construction (Hong Kong)  Hong Kong Ordinary HK$409,990,000 40,999,000 - 100 - Building construction
Limited (note b) 3] il 7409990,000 BFR%
B (A NS
ALEA(BEAROA(HED Defered 10,000 1,000 - 100 -
i 5100007
Chevalier (Corporate Management] Hong Kong Ordinary HKS2 2 - 100 - Provision of corporate
Limited B4 il UL management servioes
Er(h5ER)ERAT RECZERRE
Chevalier Development (S) Pte Ltd ~ Singapore Qrdinary $$2,500,000 2,500,000 - 100 - Property investment
i il 250,000 1085 VESE
Chevalier (E & M Contracting) Hong Kong Ordinary HK$69,200,000 69,200,000 - 100 - Installation of electrical and
Limited B i 769,200,000 mechanical equipment
AT(BETR)ARAA and provision of project
management semvice
ERERRREMEA SR
%
Chevalier (Envirotech] Limited Hong Kong Ordinary HK$148,600,000 148,600,000 - 100 - Environmental engingering
B+ (RERINERAA i i A 1485000007 RRIE
Chevalier (Insurance Brokers| Hong Kong Ordinary HK$1,000,000 1,000,000 100 - - Insurance brokerage
Limited 3 il 51,000,000 FRER
A (RBERN) ERAT
Chevalier Insurance Company Hong Kong Ordinary HK$200,000,000 200,000,000 100 - - Insurance underwriting
Limited B ia 200000000 RRER
ETRBAERAA
Chevalier iTech Services Limited ~ Hong Kong Ordinary HK$2 2 - 100 - Trading and servicing of
AHRTEERAA B4 i BT computers and business
machings
ERREZHERIREL
Chevalier iTech Thai Limited (note d) ~ Thailand Ordinary BAHT18,980,000 189,800 - 100 - Trading of computers and
(W) %8 5 18.980,000%:4 business machines
B
Preference BAHT1,020,000 10,200 - 100 - SHRERBARA
& 1,020,000 5%
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50 PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES (CONTINUED) 50 FEMBELF (A)

Name of company

AER

Place or country
of incorporation or
registration/
operation

Issued and

paid up

share capital/

Class of registered
shares held capital

BRRAR

FRRARA B/

shares

it

Effective percentage of issued
Number of  share capital/registered capital

held by the Company

ALARRCER
B /a2
RAREAL

Directly ~ Indirectly
13 Bk
% %

Percentage of
issued share

capital/registered

capital held by
non-controlling
interests  Principal activities
FERERER
BRfTRE/

iMkAzAS TERE

Chevalier (Macau) Limited Macau Ordinary MOP100,000 4 - 100 - Bulding construction
HE (8 ERAR 3 il BFE100,00070 and installation of air-
conditioning systems,
aluminium windows and
curtain walls
BFREARELREN &
ERBE
Chevalier (Network Solutions) Hong Kong Ordinary HK$2 2 - 100 - Network systems and solution
Limited B 5l YT senvices
H (B4R ERAT BRASRUERE
Chevalier Network Solutions Thai Thailand Ordinary BAHT15,000,000 150,000 - 100 - Trading of telecommunication
Limited 74 i 16,000,000k equipment
EbGLY
Chevalier Pacific Limited Hong Kong Ordinary HK$200,000,000 200,000,000 - 100 - Property development
AT ERAT B i 7520000000072 VELES
Chevalier Property Development ~ Hong Kong Ordinary HK$360,000,000 360,000,000 - 100 - Property development and
Limited note b) ) il 360,000,000 investment
H+4s Nl (fi ; n>
S HHEREAROT i) s e . _ . _ WERERRA
it BEBIT
Chevalier Property Management ~ Hong Kong Ordinary HK$100 100 - 100 - Property management and
Limited fnote ) B i ERI007 securiy Services
HS R EEBER NG (i $EE 00
ETEEMFERERLA (M) Defered HKs1002 10 ) 0  MEREERRRI
£ 10027
CIH (BV) Limited British Virgin Islands ~~ Ordinary Usst 1 100 - - Investment holding
ZEARRES i 157 RAMR
CPC Construction Hong Kong Hong Kong Ordinary HK$415,284,200 4,152,842 - 100 - General construction and
Limited (note b) ) g B 4152842007 trading business
# : A (I - 3
ALERRERRLA (i) Deferred HK$25,936,200 259,362 - - 100 BEARAARH
it 25,936,200
Full Ascent Development Limited ~Hong Kong Ordinary HKS2 2 - 75 25 Property investment
REERERDT Bt il b VESE)
Goldyork Investment Limited Hong Kong Ordinary HK$100 100 I 51 - Property investment
SRREARAA Bt i L1007 nERE
Keysford 1 Limited Hong Kong Ordinary HK$100,000 100,000 - 100 - Property development
B4 5l BE100,0007T L
Kwai Hei Investments No.1 Limited  Hong Kong Ordinary HKS1 1 - 75 25 Property investment
Bt i BRI VESES
Lac Kar Investment Company Hong Kong Ordinary HK$3,600,000 3,600,000 - 100 - Property investment
Limited B il 536000007 VESE
NMEXERLR
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50 PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES (CONTINUED) 50 FEMEAR (E)
Percentage of
Issued and issued share
Place or country paid up capital/registered
of incorporation or share capital/ Effective percentage of issued capital held by
registration/ Class of registered Number of  share capital/registered capital non-controlling
Name of company operation shares held capital shares held by the Company interests Principal activities
. ARAREERA FERRERE
RY R BRTRAR Ra/imbEz Efike/
gk EXHETER FiReER R/ bukE ERAM ifRAz AL TERE
Directly Indirectly
BR [}
% %
Macleh (Chevalier) Limited (anada Common CAD10,100 10,100 - 100 - Investment holding of property
nex il 10,100MEAT investment and hotel
operation
NERERAERE A
7
Macont Developments Inc. Canada Common CADT,000 1,000 - 100 - Property investment
JIEYN il 1,000MEAT NERE
Matterhorn Properties Limited British Virgin Islands/  Ordinary US$1 1 - 100 - Property investment
Hong Kong i3 £ UESE
ABdAnEs/
Bt
MI4 Ashford, LLC US NA 596,980,000 N/A - 100 - Operation of senior housing
%4 T 6,980000%7 TR BenzRs
NV4 Cheyenne, LLC Us N/A 595,940,000 N/A - 100 - Operation of senior housing
e TR 5.40000%7 TR FenzRs
NC4 Alogmarlg, LLC US NA US$10,041,476 N/A - %6 14 Operation of senior housing
2 TR 10041476570 TR FenzRs
NC4 Covington, LLC Us N/A S$5,087,122 N/A - 956 14 Operation of senior housing
A TR 50871247 TR fenzhs
NC4 Kingsbridge, LLC Us N/A 586,056,405 NA - 956 14 Operation of senior housing
8 i 6,056,405 %7 TR fezehs
NC4 Mageresk, LLC US NA US$3,464.273 N/A - %6 14 Operation of senior housing
8 TR 3464213 TR fezzhs
NC4 Magnolia, LLC Us N/A 1S$4,464,085 N/A - 9.6 14 Operation of senior housing
7 T 446408557 TR BenzRs
NC4 Qliver, LLC Us N/A US$2,794,319 N/A - 9.6 14 Operation of senior housing
= TR 2T 319%T TR BenzRs
NC4 Wellington, LLC Us N/A US$3,674,901 N/A - %6 14 Operation of senior housing
! TR IEMTET TR FevzRs
Proud Rich Limited (note bl Hong Kong Ordinary HKS$20 2 - 100 - Property investment
ELERAT (ko) Bt il Aur HESE
Deferred HK$20 2 - 100 -
i Aur
LBETNEEEERA A notecl  Mainland China NA /583,650,000 NA - 100 - Property management and
(Mikc) B TER 365000057 TER provision of property
management consultation
NEERRRRNFERE
Silver Prosper Holdings Limited Hong Kong Ordinary HKS1 1 - 100 - Property investment
FEEEARAT Bt i BT VES
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For the year ended 31 March 2019
BE T NF=A=1+—HIFE

50 PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES (CONTINUED) 50 FEMEAR (E)
Percentage of
Issued and issued share
Place or country paid up capital/registered
of incorporation or share capital/ Effective percentage of issued capital held by
registration/ Class of registered Number of  share capital/registered capital non-controlling
Name of company operation shares held capital shares held by the Company interests  Principal activities
. ADTREERT FERERNE
NER BRRAR R /A2 BRfRE/
N2 CESETTE FiisR&EH T/ R k%A BEREAY HfRAz AL TEEE
Directly  Indirectly
B B
% %
Shanghai Chevalier Trading Co, Ltd.  Mainland China N/A S86,500,000 NA - 100 - Trading of lfts, escalators,
fnote RERL TR 6,500 00057 TR electrical and mechanical
HEELESERAR (Hikc) equipment
TE# ERRREER
2%
Shanghai Chonmain Real Estate ~ Mainland China N/A 15$18,000,000 N/A - 80 20 Property development and
Development Co,, Ltd. (ote )~ FERA TR 18,000,007 TER nvestrment
PEARRHERRERAT NEERRRE
(Hfsta)
Tai Tung Industrial Equipment Hong Kong Ordinary HK$30,000,000 30,000,000 - 815 125 Logistics services
Limited B Bl 300000007 it
AAIEREERLE
Winfield Development Limited Hong Kong Ordinary HKS2 2 - 100 - Property investment
FAERERAT B4 5l BT VES ¢
Xinyang Chevalier Hotel Co, Ltd. ~ Mainland China N/A RMB55,000,000 N/A - 10 30 Hotel operation
[note c) hER TER ARE55,0000007C TER il
ERETREERRA (Mitc)
757040 Ontario Limited Canada Common CAD10 10 - 100 - Property investment
JIEY i 10MEAT VES
B)EGAEE AERAT Mainland China N/A RIVIB15,000,000 NA - ) - Trading of motor vehicles and
hER TER AR 15,0000007 TER provision of maintenance
senices
FEEARRARERE
RAREENSEHERBARAE  Mainland China N/A RIVIB30,000,000 NA - 40 - Trading of motor vehicles and
hER TER ARE300000007 TER provision of maintenance
services
RS RRRRERE
HAERHE TEEEREERAT Mainland China N/A RMB22,000,000 N/A - 40 - Trading of motor vehicles and
hER TER AE22,0000007 TER provision of maintenance
senices
FEEARRARERE
HEERRR TEEEREERAT Mainand China NA RMB10,000,000 NA - 40 - Trading of motor vehicles and
hERE Bl ARE10,0000007 AER provision of maintenance
services
RS RRRRERE
Notes: B3E -
(a)  Established in Mainland China as sino-foreign owned equity joint ventures. (@) MPBEAMKLZ FINEERE -
(b)  All deferred shares are non-voting and practically have no rights to participate in (b) FTERERMNE|IREE - MER CIREEE
any distribution upon winding up. NRBEFHESERNDIR
(c) Established in Mainland China as wholly-foreign owned enterprises. (c) RARBEAMKSZZINEBEERE -
(d)  Preference shares are 10% non-cumulative and every four preference shares of (d) BEBRAIERT10%  MZAFZEUREL
this company carry one vote. fRAEE — IR RHE -
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RERI IR T

For the year ended 31 March 2019
BE T NF=HA=1+—HIFE

51 PRINCIPAL ASSOCIATES

Name of associate

BENT AW

Place or country
of incorporation
or registration/
operation

AR,
FETEE

Effective percentage of
issued share capital/
registered capital

held by the Company
AATRE
BRITRE
HERRECERBAL
%

Class of
shares held

sk 451

51 TEBRE LT

Measurement

Principal activities method

FERK sTEAE

Cafe Deco Holdings Limited British Virgin Islands/  Ordinary 25.28 Investment holding Equity
Hong Kong L@ RBER Ex
RELARHS/
Chevalier (HK) Limited Hong Kong Ordinary 49 Marketing, installation and Equity
HL (B8)BRAH } Ll maintenance of lifts and escalators 155
and security devices
B RERREAEE  TRER
RERE
RZER(PE)BRAR Mainland China N/A 20 Manufacturing, sales, installation, ~ Equity
Bt TEA repair and maintenance of lifts and &z
escalators
BT TR BERREABE
REHR
Toshiba Elevator (Shenyang) Mainland China N/A 20 Manufacturing, sales, installation, Equity
Co., Ltd. RE A NEH repair and maintenance of lifts and #z5

R2EH(ER)BERAA escalators
Bk HHE  TE BERRETEE
LK

Note: The Group's entitlement to share of the profit or loss in these associates is in
proportion to its ownership interest.

52 PRINCIPAL JOINT VENTURES

Name of joint venture

RELELH

Place or country
of incorporation
or registration/
operation

EXh AN

Effective percentage of
issued share capital/
registered capital

held by the Company
XAERE
BRITRE/
dfRAzERED
%

Class of
shares held

iR &R

MRt AEREZEEERS L PITEEMEZE
B R FZBEKEE -

52 TELE ¥

Measurement

Principal activities Method

Lam Woo & Company Limited ~ Hong Kong Ordinary 50  Civil engineering Equity
BRREERAR EE Ti® TAIR e
Rosy Value Limited Hong Kong Ordinary 50 Property development Equity
EEARAR B L& MEERE fEm
Seavest Core Fund |, LLC us N/A 95 Medical office building investment  Equity
%6 A BERAZAERE fE
T RERER R ERE Mainland China N/A 44 Property development Equity
BRAR FEA TEA MEERE e
REEGERLEMAHHEE Mainland China N/A 2133 Trading of motor vehicles and Equity
FRBERAR REIA TiEA provision of maintenance %
services
HEE S RIRBRERE

Note: The Group's entitlement to share of the profit or loss in these joint ventures
is in proportion to its ownership interest.

Miak - AREZEHEAED 2 PR EEMEZE
BEMEENHERE
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